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To Jim Michaels /or training me as a reporter; 

To Forbes for standing firm, 

To Musa /or her support 
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Things fall apart; the center cannot hold; 

Mere anarchy is loosed upon the world, 

The blood-dimmed tide is loosed, and everywhere 

The ceremony of innocence is drowned; 

The best lack all conviction, while the worst 

Are full of passionate intensity. 

W. B. YEATS 





PREFACE 

Whenever I met important Russians over the past decade I always 

taped our conversations. Unless otherwise noted, the assertions 

made in this book are based on tape-recorded interviews with the 

businessmen and politicians who ruled Russia in the 1990s. 

In Russia the truth has long been fluid, and I found that my in­

terlocutors often made use of this fluidity. Usually, they were telling 

not so much the whole truth as only part of it. The challenge of this 

book has been to piece together the fragments of truth, weigh them 

against one another, and arrive at a complete picture. I found that 

the task became easier with time. The more a person knows, the less 

likely he is to be lied to. 

In telling this story, I have tried to be conservative in asserting 

what I believe to be true. Throughout, my sources are noted to allow 

the reader to judge for himself their solidity or lack thereof. I have 

left a trail of my research, so that the reader may be in a position to 

decide for himself what to believe and what not to believe. 

So much of contemporary Russian history is conveyed by word 

of mouth, asserted by people who "were there." Often, these people 

report things they do not know. That is the minefield any journalist 

must navigate. But many agreements in Russian business and politics 

xi 
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are made with a handshake. Seldom is anything written down. Often 

these contracts are much more solid than the written ones, so a de­

termined analyst of contemporary Russia must not be discouraged 

by the lack of Western-style documentation. 

Nevertheless, many of the key elements of this story are docu­

mented-from publicly available annual reports, registration doc­

uments, or investment banking analyses, to more closely held copies of 

contracts and boardroom minutes. I have also used a number of gov­

ernment documents, both classified and unclassified, to clarify the na­

ture of the relationships among the various protagonists of this story. 

In many respects, Russia under Yeltsin was still a police state­

the telephones were tapped, confidential documents were exposed, 

individuals were subject to intense surveillance-albeit a police state 

that had been privatized. Huge numbers of specialists from the old 

Soviet security and law-enforcement apparatus (KGB, GRU, MVD, 

and so on) took jobs in the private sector. Every large financial­

industrial group created its own mini-KGB, usually known as the 

"analytical department," staffed with people who were good at 

collecting information, eavesdropping on rivals, and stealing docu­

ments. The intelligence dossiers compiled by these analytical depart­

ments invariably took the form of the standard briefs that went into 

the files of the old Soviet security services. Often, the data were in­

accurate, but I occasionally found these reports to be a useful source 

of background information. Some of the information collected by 

these private intelligence agencies would later be confirmed by pub­

lic events or by law-enforcement agencies. 

Among my sources were former members of the Presidential Se­

curity Service (SBP). Before it was disbanded in 1996, the SBP was 

one of the most powerful institutions in Russia. It employed approx­

imately 500 specialists-from commandos trained in special opera­

tions, to intelligence analysts equipped with the latest surveillance 

technology. The SBP's mission was not only to guard Yeltsin but also 

to investigate allegations of corruption or espionage among high 

government officials. 



Pre/ace xili 

During the Yeltsin era, there was a great deal of leakage from the 

law enforcement agencies. There seemed to be no clear policy about 

what information could be released to the public. Many individuals 

took it upon themselves to share documents (videotapes, audiotapes, 

and printed matter) with me. For the most part, these individuals 

were frustrated by the inability of the Russian legal system to bring 

criminals to justice. They believed that when the court system does 

not work, glasnost-public exposure-can provide some kind of 

tonic against the epidemic of crime. 

Many of the people who talked to me about the events described 

in this book spoke only on the basis of a prior agreement that they 

would not be quoted. These interviews served only as background 

information. If I have included the events these anonymous sources 

described to me, I have done so only if I have confirmation from an 

on-the-record source. In the rare cases when an anonymous source 

was the only one for the material, I have cited him in the notes (as an 

anonymous source). The most important of these is referred to in the 

notes as a "RUOP source." This man is a former high-ranking officer 

in the Moscow RUOP (the police organized-crime squad). I have 

confidence in the reliability of his information because he has been 

in a position to know the events he describes. Moreover, I have re­

lied on this man since 1993 and, over the years, he has provided me 

with a lot of information that would later be proved correct by 

events. Individuals he identified as gangster bosses, for instance, 

would later be revealed as such by their involvement in shoot-outs or 

by their arrest and conviction by Western law-enforcement agencies. 

I have tried to avoid relying on newspaper sources as the founda­

tion for my narrative. The times when I do cite newspaper sources, I 

do so only for their role as a daily chronicle of public events or for 

their verbatim interviews with one of my protagonists. Most of the 

times when I felt I had to use an interview conducted by another jour­

nalist, the latter did not share the tape of his conversation with the 

subject. However, I still believe these printed interviews to be accu­

rate, both because of the good reputation of the newspapers in which 
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they appeared and because the interview subjects themselves would 

often return to the same newspaper to grant another interview 

months or years later. I am assuming, in other words, that if a person 

was misquoted in a given newspaper he would not go back to that 

publication again. 
The best sources for this book are the protagonists themselves. 

In writing this documentary and oral history of the Yeltsin era, I am 

sure that I have missed a lot. There will almost certainly be books 

that expose the lives of my protagonists in more revealing detail. But 

I had the opportunity to catch these men in the early 1990s, in their 

"age of innocence," when they spoke frankly-often boasting of 

their criminal exploits-and, equally frankly, lied. 



GODFATHER 
OF THE KREMLIN 





INTRODUCTION 

In February 1997 Forbes magazine was sued by a man named Boris 

Berezovsky. This individual had risen out of nowhere to become the 

richest businessman in Russia and one of the most powerful individ­

uals in the country. I had profiled Berezovsky in a December 1996 

article entitled "Godfather of the Kremlin?" He hired English litiga­

tors and sued for libel in London High Court. As of the publication 

of this book, the litigation is still pending. Forbes was not intimidated 

by the prospect of a libel trial and I continued to publish articles on 

Berezovsky. 1 

I noticed that his shadow loomed over many of the great events 

that have shaken Russia throughout the past decade. I started going 

through the tapes of my earlier interviews with the robber barons of 

Russia's new era, men whose careers intersected with Berezovsky's: 

commodities traders who briefly controlled the Russian economy; 

factory bosses lording over sprawling industrial empires; young 

bankers, unscrupulous and tough, who made fortunes from their po­

litical connections. These men were great when Berezovsky was 

small; they were in the spotlight while he was backstage, waiting. 

Many of Russia's business magnates had inherited their wealth 

from the old Soviet Union-they were authorized millionaires-but 

Berezovsky built his empire from scratch. While many individuals 

contributed to Russia's decline in the 1990s, Berezovsky exemplified 

the spirit of the era. No man was as versatile in negotiating the rap­

idly changing situation; with each new twist in Russia's agonizing 

transition to a market economy, Berezovsky reinvented himself to 

profit from the change. And when he turned to politics, he domi­

nated his peers. Having privatized vast stretches of Ru5sian industry, 

Berezovsky privatized the state. 

1 
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Russia's decline from a global superpower to an impoverished 

country is one of the most curious events in history. The collapse oc­

curred during a period of peace and took only a few years. In its ra­

pidity and magnitude, the collapse is unprecedented in world history. 

When Mikhail Gorbachev launched perestroika and when Boris 

Yeltsin emerged as Russia's first democratic president I expected that 

Russia would get the same burst of energy that had invigorated China 

after the reforms of Deng Xiaoping. I expected the same kind of na­

tional economic revival that had followed the decollectivization of 

agriculture by Russian prime minister Pyotr Stolypin almost a century 

earlier. But soon I understood that Russia was falling apart. When 

Yeltsin's government freed prices, it unleashed hyperinflation, which 

instantly impoverished the majority of the population. The introduc­

tion of the free market did not produce a more efficient economy­

it produced relentless economic decline. Privatization enriched only 

a small number of insiders. The country was being looted and de­

stroyed by the new property owners. 

How could everything have gone so wrong? All trails seemed to 

lead to Russian organized crime. I wrote articles about the grotesque 

lifestyles and lurid violence of the new gangsters. While investigating 

the Russian Mafiya, I was always given the same advice: If you want 

to write about Russian organized crime, don't focus on the colorful 

Mafiya chiefs, but on the government. Russia was a gangster state, I 

was told, and its political system nothing more than a government of 

organized crime. 

The FBI definition of organized crime is "a continuing criminal 

conspiracy, fed by fear and corruption, and motivated by greed." The 

definition includes the following: "They [organized crime groups] 

commit or threaten to commit acts of violence or intimidation; their 

activities are methodical, systematic, disciplined, or secret; they insu­

late their leadership from direct involvement in illegal activities 

through an intricate bureaucracy; they attempt to influence govern­

ment, politics, and commerce through corruption, graft, and legiti­

mate means; and their primary goal is economic gain, not only from 

patently illegal enterprises ... but also from such activities as launder­

ing illegal money ... and investment in legitimate businesses. "2 
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A clear history of criminal activity during the Yeltsin era is diffi­

cult to establish. Almost none of the most famous murders have been 

solved. Even past convictions have been difficult to identify-a 

major problem for law-enforcement agencies was the ability of well­

connected ex-convicts to pull their files, thus erasing any trace of 

past crimes. The Russian legal code was full of ambiguities and loop­

holes. Many financial operations that in the West would be classified 

as crimes (certain types of bribery, fraud, embezzlement, and racke­

teering, for instance) are not necessarily crimes in Russia.3 

Russian gangsters could ignore the police because they had pro­

tection at the top. The typical gangster organization in Russia began 

with street-corner thugs who extorted money from local businesses; 

these men answered to a citywide criminal organization; this orga­

nization, in turn, was subject to mob bosses functioning on the 

national level. At each level, the gangsters had allies in the govern­

ment-beginning with the local police precinct or tax inspectorate, 

proceeding to the mayors and governors, and ending with the en­

tourage of President Yeltsin himself. 

Typically, any successful Russian businessman had to deal with 

these two chains of command. The Russian power structure was a 

three-sided pyramid, composed of gangsters, businessmen, and gov­

ernment officials. 

Behind every historic process stand specific individuals. I wanted 

to know who Russia's real bosses were. Who had brought the coun­

try to such a state? Who stood at the top of the pyramid? 

In the autumn of 1996, I began looking into the affairs of Boris 

Berezovsky. No man stood closer to all three authorities at once: 

crime, commerce, and government. No man profited more from Rus­

sia's slide into the abyss. 

It was on a trip to the Volga town of Togliatti, 700 miles east of 

Moscow, home of Russia's largest auto company, Avtovaz, that I first 

learned of him. I was writing an article on the Russian car industry and 

had heard that Avtovaz was somehow connected with an entrepreneur 

named Berezovsky. (In fact, the tycoon had made his first big fortune 

at the auto factory.) 

When I asked Avtovaz president Alexei Nikolaev about Berezovsky's 
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holding company Logovaz, the auto executive and his aides ex­

changed worried glances. I saw a flash of fear in the faces across the table. 

"We no longer have direct links with Logovaz," he mumbled. "They 

have some sort of business of their own over there [in Moscow]. "4 

Who was this businessman whose very name brought on silence? 

As I looked into Berezovsky's meteoric career, I discovered a history 

replete with bankrupt companies and violent deaths. The scale of 

destruction was extraordinary, even by contemporary Russian stan­

dards. He had soaked the cash out of the big companies he dealt 

with, leaving them effectively bankrupt, kept afloat only by lavish gov­

ernment subsidies. He seemed to gravitate to the most violent corners 

of Russia-the car-dealership business, the aluminum industry, the 

ransoming of hostages in Chechnya. Many of his business ventures­

from the takeover of Russian Public Television to that of the Omsk Oil 

Refinery-were marred by the assassination or accidental death of 

key players. Shortly after his interference in the management of the Na­

tional Sports Fund, there was an attempt to assassinate the charity's ex­

president. There is no evidence that Berezovsky was responsible for 

any of these deaths. Although he was briefly under suspicion for the 

Yeltsin era's most famous assassination, in 1995, he has never been 

charged with any crime relating to these events. 

I met Berezovsky in the autumn of 1996 in Moscow. It was im­

mediately evident that he was highly intelligent-he holds a Ph.D. in 

mathematics. He spoke nervously, articulately, waving a hand scarred 

from an assassination attempt in the early years of the Yeltsin regime. 

He was unapologetic about the violence of the Russian business 

world and quickly took the moral high ground. "The Western press 

portrays Russia unfairly," he declared. "Russian business is not syn­

onymous with the Mafiya." 

I asked why the government was incapable of bringing the mob­

sters to justice. "Because in the government there are many people who 

are criminals themselves," he replied. "They are not interested in 

having these crimes solved. "5 

A month later Berezovsky would be appointed to a key govern­

ment post: deputy secretary of the Security Council. 
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The disintegration of Russia allowed Berezovsky a unique chance to 

realize his designs on a grand scale. And as he grew stronger, Russia 

grew weaker. 

Incredible as it may seem, the foundations of the country's eco­

nomic and demographic decline were laid by the "young reformers" 

and "democrats," led by Yegor Gaidar and Anatoly Chubais. First, in 

1992, the democrats freed prices and unleashed hyperinflation be­

fore they privatized Russia's assets. In just a few weeks the savings of 

the vast majority of the population were wiped out, instantly de­

stroying the hope of building the new Russia on the foundation of a 

strong domestic market. 

Second, the democrats subsidized the traders-well-connected 

young men who made fortunes by assuming the role of the old state 

trading monopolies and arbitraging the vast difference between old 

domestic prices for Russian commodities and the prices prevailing 

on the world market. 

Third, Chubais's voucher privatization in 1993-94, following the 

hyperinflation that had destroyed the Russians' savings, was mis­

managed. Most Russians simply sold their vouchers for a few dollars 

to securities traders or unwittingly invested them in pyramid 

schemes that later collapsed. Instead of creating a broad class of 

shareholders, Chubais's privatization gave away Russia's industrial 

assets to corrupt enterprise managers or to the new Moscow banks. 

Fourth, Chubais and his allies subsidized these new banks by 

providing them with Central Bank loans at negative real interest 

rates, handing them the accounts of government institutions, and 

rigging the government securities market in their favor. 

Finally, in the rigged loans-for-shares auctions of 1995-97, Chu­

bais sold the remaining jewels of Russian industry to a handful of in­

siders at nominal prices. 

The crony capitalism that emerged under Yeltsin was not an ac­

cident. The government deliberately enriched Berezovsky and a 

handful of men in return for their political support. Both the Yeltsin 

clan and the crony capitalists remained in power, but they presided 

over a bankrupt state and an impoverished population. The young 
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democrats were supposed to clean up Russia, devise a proper legal sys­

tem, and foster a market economy. Instead they presided over one of 

the most corrupt regimes in history. 

No one benefited from the arrangement more than Berezovsky. 

He loved to boast of his accomplishments. He once told the Finan­
cial Times that he and six other financiers controlled 50 percent of the 

Russian economy and had arranged Yeltsin's reelection in 1996.6 

Godfather of the Kremlin is not a biography of Boris Berezovsky. 

It is not a book about his childhood, upbringing, outlook, or per­

sonal life. Neither is it a work of political analysis or a consideration 

of Russia's changing role in the world. It is an investigation into 

Berezovsky's business and political career. This book charts two par­

allel developments-Berezovsky's rise and Russia's decline. It is also 

a story of the abuse of Western democratic principles: personal lib­

erty, free speech, electoral government, protection of minority rights, 

market economics, self-reliance, and the opportunity to make an 

honest living. In the early 1990s, foreign well-wishers thought that by 

dismantling communism and enshrining these principles, Russians 

would transform their country into a Western-style democracy. Billions 

of dollars of aid and enormous amounts of time were spent to help 

the transition. If it is hard for Westerners to understand how the in­

troduction of democratic principles could have been so poisonous to 

Russian society, Berezovsky's career holds one of the keys. 

Winston Churchill famously characterized the political intrigues 

of Joseph Stalin's Russia as "bulldogs fighting under a carpet." It 

was still the same in Yeltsin's Russia. This is a story of corruption 

so profound that many readers might have trouble believing it. 

Yet Berezovsky and the other Russian businessmen often did not 

bother to disguise their depredations. General Aleksandr Lebed ac­

curately described their attitude: "Berezovsky is the apotheosis of 

sleaziness on the state level: This representative of the small clique 

in power is not satisfied with stealing-he wants everybody to see that 
he is stealing with complete impunity."7 



CAST OF CHARACTERS 

This is a select list o/ names. It does not include such internationally known figures as 
Boris Yeltsin or Mikhazl Gorbachev. Neither does it include lesser figures whose status 
or role is made clear at each mention. 

Roman Abramovich: Berezovsky's partner in the oil business and 

part owner of the oil company Sibneft. 

Vagit Alekperov: deputy minister of fuel and energy in the last Soviet 

government; later boss of Russia's largest oil company, Lukoil. 

Pyotr Aven: minister of foreign trade, 1991-92; president of Alfa 

Bank, 1992-2000; a friend of Berezovsky's. 

General Mikhail Barsukov: chief of the Main Security Administration, 

1992-95; head of the FSB, 1995-96. 

Shamil Basayev: a Chechen warlord and terrorist commander. 

Boris Berezovsky: a businessman. 

General Philip Bobkov: first deputy chairman of the KGB until 

1991; thereafter, one of the directors of the security service of 

Vladimir Gusinsky's Most Group. 

Oleg Boiko: founder of Natsionalny Kredit Bank and the trading 

company Olbi; a business partner of Berezovsky's. 

Pavel Borodin: head of property management in the Presidential 

Administration under Yeltsin; currently under investigation in 

Switzerland and Russia for bribery and money-laundering. 

Konstantin Borovoi: chairman of the Commodities and Raw Mater­

ial Exchange; later a member of parliament. 

7 
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Viktor Chernomyrdin: boss of the natural gas monopoly Gazprom 
until1992; prime minister of Russia, 1992-98. 

Anatoly Chubais: chief of the "young reformers"; first deputy prime 

minister in Yeltsin's government; manager of Yeltsin's election cam­

paign in 1996; architect of Russia's privatization campaign, 1991-97. 

Yves Cuendet: a managing director of the Swiss commodities trading 

company Andre & Cie. 

Oleg Davydov: minister of foreign trade, 1994-97. 

Leonid Dyachenko: Yeltsin's son-in-law; a commodities trader doing 

business with Berezovsky's oil company, Sibneft. 

Tatyana (Tanya) Dyachenko: Yeltsin's youngest daughter. 

William Ferrero: general director of Berezovsky's Swiss financial 

company Andava S.A. 

Yegor Gaidar: the first of the "young reformers"; acting prime min­

ister, 1991-92; architect of the 1992 price reform and economic 

"shock therapy." 

Nikolai Glushkov: a founding member of Berezovsky's holding 

company Logovaz; head of finance and foreign relations for the 

automaker Avtovaz, 1989-95; deputy general director of the national 

airline, Aeroflot, 1995-97. 

Vladimir Gusinsky: founder of Most Bank and NTV; Berezovsky's 

archrival, 1993-96; his ally, 1996-97; then his rival again, 1998-2000. 

Alexei llyushenko: acting prosecutor-general, 1994-95; fired in 1995 

in connection with the Balkar Trading scandal and the privatization 

of Sibneft. 

Vladimir Kadannikov: chairman of Avtovaz, Russia's largest auto 

manufacturer; a founding member of Berezovsky's Logovaz. 

General Oleg Kalugin: former head of foreign intelligence (First 

Chief Directorate) of the KGB. 

Mikhail Khodorkovsky: former Communist Youth League activist; 

founder of Menatep Bank; chairman of the oil company Yukos; a 

business partner of Berezovsky's. 

Sergei Kiriyenko: minister of fuel & energy, 1997-98; prime minister, 

1998. 
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Alfred Kokh: one of the "young reformers"; first deputy chairman 

of the State Property Committee (responsible for privatization), 

1995-96; deputy prime minister, 1997. 

General Aleksandr Korzhakov: Yeltsin's bodyguard, 1987-91; chief 

of the Presidential Security Service, 1991-96; member of parliament 

since 1997. 

General Aleksandr Lebed: paratroop commander; presidential can­

didate, 1996; head of the Security Council1996. 

Sergei Lisovsky: entertainment and advertising magnate; head of ad­

vertising at ORT; one of the coordinators of Yeltsin's 1996 election 

campa1gn. 

Vladislav Listyev: Russia's most successful TV producer and talk­

show host; general director of ORT; assassinated in 1995. 

Yuri Luzhkov: mayor of Moscow since 1992. 

Christian Maret: head of Russian operations for the Swiss commodi­

ties firm Andre & Cie. 

Asian Maskhadov: president of Chechnya since 1997. 

Alain Mayor: head of Russian operations for the FINCO depart­

ment of Andre & Cie; the primary intermediary between the Swiss 

company and Berezovsky; since 1997, a director of Berezovsky's 

Swiss financial companies Porus and Andava. 

Boris Nemtsov: one of the "young reformers"; first deputy prime 

minister, 1997-98. 

Valery Okulov: Yeltsin's son-in-law; general director of Aeroflot 

since 1997. 
Badri Patarkatsishvili: a founding member of Logovaz; member of the 

board of directors of ORT and Sibneft; intermediary in Chechen 

hostage negotiations 1999; suspected of links with organized crime. 

Vladimir Potanin: founder of Onexim Bank and MFK; controlling 

shareholder of the oil company Sidanco, Norilsk Nickel, and the 

telecommunications giant Svyazinvest; inventor of the loans-for­

shares auctions; since 1997, a rival of Berezovsky's. 

Yevgeny Primakov: head of foreign intelligence, 1991-96; foreign 

minister, 1996-98; prime minister, 1998-99. 
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General Vladimir Rushailo: head of the Moscow RUOP (police or­

ganized-crime squad), 1993-96; minister of internal affairs since 1999. 

Yuri Skuratov: prosecutor-general, 1995-2000. 

Aleksandr Smolensky: founder of Stolichny Bank (later renamed 

SBS-Agro); a dose business partner of Berezovsky's. 

Oleg Soskovets: first deputy prime minister until 1996; a political 

patron of Berezovsky's. 

Colonel Valery Streletsky: Moscow police veteran; head of Depart­

ment P (anticorruption) of the Presidential Security Service, 1994-96. 

Movladi Udugov: first deputy prime minister of Chechnya since 

1996; leader of the extremist wing of the Chechen government; Bere­

zovsky's primary negotiating partner. 

Grigory Yavlinsky: one of the authors of Gorbachev's 500-Day plan 

of economic reform in 1990; head of the liberal Yabloko faction in the 

Russian parliament; presidential candidate in 1996 and 2000. 

Valentin Yumashev: deputy editor of the magazine Ogonyok; the 

ghostwriter of Yeltsin's memoirs; Yeltsin's chief of staff, 1997-98. 

Glossary of Russian Law-Enforcement and Security Agencies 

FSB: Federal Security Service (the name of the domestic arm of the 

KGB since 1995). 

FSK: Federal Counterintelligence Service (the name of the domestic 

arm of the KGB in 1993-95 before it was renamed FSB). 

KGB: Committee of State Security (the domestic and foreign intelli­

gence service of the U.S.S.R.). 

MVD: Ministry of Internal Affairs (responsible, among other things, 

for the police). 

RUOP: Regional Administration for Organized Crime (the organized­

crime squad, subordinate both to the MVD and the local govern­

ment). 

SBP: Presidential Security Service (Yeltsin's "mini-KGB," headed by 

General Korzhakov). 



CHAPTER ONE 

THE GREAT MoB WAR 

The Shoot-out at the Kazakhstan Cinema 

The funeral took place on Saturday at noon. It was a typical July day in 

Moscow: high clouds, noisy traffic, a yellow haze of smog and dust 

shrouding the city. At the Church of the Archangel Michael on Ver­

nadsky Prospekt, the cars began to pull up, parking on the sidewalks and 

on the grass-not just the ubiquitous Russian sedans, but also sleek 

BMWs, Mercedeses, and Volvos. The mourners entering the church in 

groups of three or four were big guys dressed in black jackets, unbut­

toned casual shirts, tracksuits. They had come to pay their respects to 

Igor Ovchinnikov, a former wresder who had served as the treasurer 

and chief lieutenant of a large Moscow crime family that, according to 

Moscow police, was allied to a powerful organization called the Solnt­

sevo Brotherhood. Inside the church, the mourners filed by the open cof­

fin and gave a respectful nod to Ovchinnikov's boss, nicknamed 

"Cyclops"-a former boxer whose nom de guerre referred to an eye he 

had lost in a batde with some Chechen gangsters several years before.1 

Ovchinnikov had been killed in a gun batde with a Chechen gang 

outside the auto showroom of Boris Berezovsky. A forty-seven-year­

old man who had spent most of his professional life designing com­

puter software, Berezovsky was hardly the type one would expect to 

11 
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succeed in the world of gangsters; yet in just four years, he had par­

layed an obscure joint venture into a major fortune in the car dealer­

ship business-one of the most criminalized segments of the Russian 

economy. According to Russian law-enforcement officials, Berezov­

sky had built his dealership, Logovaz, in conjunction with organized­

crime groups from the southern republic of Chechnya. He had used 

the fearsome Chechens for protection; they were his krysha, his 

"roof" in the auto market. Berezovsky's fortune made him a target for 

organized-crime groups. He would not survive in this business unless 

he could protect his gains physically. With the Russian government in 

disarray, the most effective "security services" available to business­

men was the Mob.2 

In July 1993, Ovchinnikov's gang began to move onto Bere­

zovsky's turf. One Moscow police detective, charged with tracking 

Ovchinnikov's movements, described the negotiations as follows. 

When Ovchinnikov's men approached Logovaz about a partnership, 

Berezovsky said that he "already had a roof" and that they should 

"speak to the Chechens." The decisive "conversation" occurred out­

side the Logovaz showroom in the Kazakhstan Cinema on Lenin 

Prospekt. Ovchinnikov and his gang pulled up in three cars and 

began shooting. The Logovaz men shot back. Within minutes three 

men were dead (including Ovchinnikov) and six had been wounded. 

It was one of the bloodiest gang battles in Moscow in 1993.3 

When I asked General Vladimir Rushailo, head of the Moscow 

RUOP (the organized-crime squad of the police), about the incident, 

he replied obliquely. "Many believe that businessmen get killed 

simply because they are businessmen," he said. "Not so. Investiga­

tions of cases involving contract killings have shown that the victims 

were involved in some sort of unclear relationship, to put it diplo­

matically, with the very people who either ordered or carried out the 

hits against them. No one kills the law-abiding citizens-those who do 
not violate the law, who pay their taxes .... The cause of the shoot-out 

was that the business you and I were discussing [Logovaz] had its 
own security service and another gang arrived and wanted to collect 

money from them as well. The result was entirely predictable. "4 
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Berezovsky told me that he remembered the shoot-out, but did 

not know what it was about. He went on to say: "Today we are wit­

nessing a redistribution of property on a scale unprecedented in his­

tory. No one is satisfied: neither those who became millionaires 

overnight-they complain they didn't earn enough millions-nor 

those who received nothing and are naturally discontented. There­

fore, I do not think the extent of crime exceeds the scale of the trans­

formation process."5 

The Chechens 

The Chechen gangsters had arrived in Moscow in the late 1980s. 

Suddenly, restaurants, hotels, banks, and new private businesses (co­

operatives) became victims of Chechen extortionists. If they were 

lucky, recalcitrant managers received a warning; the second time they 

resisted, they were murdered. Established Moscow criminal gangs, 

many of their leaders still in prison in the late 1980s, were summarily 

pushed aside. The Chechens terrorized their competitors-their thirst 

for vengeance was frightening, their brutality awesome. Moscow 

was so traumatized that many unexplained crimes were blamed on 

"the Chechens." The names of Chechen gang leaders-Ruslan At­

langeriev, Khozha Nukhaev, Lechi the Bearded One, Lechi the Bald, 

the Talarov brothers, Sultan Daudov, Khozha Suleimanov-were 

mentioned with dread in the Moscow underworld. Less well known 

were the names of future Chechen terrorist commanders, such as 

Shamil Basayev, who were earning money as "businessmen" in 

Moscow in those years. The number of Chechen bandits in Moscow 

was, even by generous estimates, less than 1,000 men. Yet, in just a few 

years, they succeeded in taking the Russian capital by storm.6 

No one seemed to know how the Chechen "commune" worked 

or how one Chechen gangster related to another. Russians knew the 

Chechens mostly from historical lore-as a mountain people, 

renowned for their blood feuds, their celebration of banditry, and 

their fierce fighting spirit. One of the strengths of the Chechen com­

munity in Moscow was its clannishness-no matter how fierce their 
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internal blood feuds, their quarrels never went beyond the com­

mune. Moscow police officers admitted that they could not handle 

them; whenever the police closed in on a particular Chechen crime 

boss, he quickly fled to Chechnya. 

Nominally part of the Russian Federation, the Republic of 

Chechnya had long been striving toward independence. The Yeltsin 

administration offered little resistance; in fact, it left a large arms 

depot in place for the local Chechen government when Russian 

troops withdrew in 1991. For the first three years of the Yeltsin era, 

Chechnya existed in a legal gray zone. Since it was still part of Rus­

sia, it benefited from Russian government subsidies and from partic­

ipation in the Russian financial system. At the same time, it was 

beyond the reach of Russian customs control and law enforcement. 

One of the Chechen government's first moves after the fall of the 

Soviet Union was to open the doors of the prisons, releasing an esti­

mated 4,000 professional criminals. Many of the gangster bosses be­

came part of the Chechen government, while maintaining contact 

with Chechen groups in Moscow and other Russian cities. A good 

part of the money these groups earned from their rackets was sent 

back to Chechnya. Grozny Airport became a trans-shipment point 

for smuggling operations. Chechnya emerged as a hub of the inter­

national heroin trade. One smuggling route began in the Golden 

Triangle (Burma, Thailand, and Laos). The opium and heroin were 

transported to the Russian naval base at Cam Ranh Bay (where it was 

handled by Vietnamese drug traders), then shipped to the Far East­

ern port of Nakhodka (where it was handled by Chechen and Russian 

gangs), flown to Grozny, and then distributed (via Russia, Ukraine, 

and Turkey) to markets in Europe and the United States. Another 

smuggling route originated in the Golden Crescent (Afghanistan, 

Pakistan, and Iran); in this case the narcotics passed through the Cen­

tral Asian republics or Iran and Azerbaijan, before reaching Chechnya, 

and were then shipped to markets in the West. If the drugs were 

shipped through Russia, their destination was usually Germany; the 

contraband was shipped on military transports to Russian army bases 

in East Germany and then sold to local drug gangs.7 
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In Moscow, the Chechen gangsters quickly took control of the 

state-owned chain ofBeryozka stores, Soviet-era luxury supermarkets 

that catered to foreigners and the Soviet elite. Next, they set up extor­

tion rackets to cover shops, restaurants, and other businesses around 

the city. They moved into the wholesale trade when a particularly 

powerful band of Chechens, led by Khozha Suleimanov, took control 

of the Southern Port, Moscow's most important river terminal and a big 

open-air market for automobiles, auto parts, and other big-ticket con­

sumer items. This allowed the Chechens to establish themselves in one 

of the most important cash businesses in Russia: sales of automobiles 

(both new and used). They also took over dealerships and repair shops, 

especially those specializing in foreign cars. Another Chechen gang 

pushed the Azerbaijani gangsters out of the burgeoning drug trade.8 

When casinos began appearing in 1992-93, the Chechens 

quickly took control of many of the best ones. Hotels were also a 

prime target. The gangster takeover of a hotel usually followed the 

same pattern: First, control the hotel's prostitution racket, then its 

shops and restaurants, and, finally, the cash flow of the hotel itself. Sub­

sequently, the Chechens moved into the financial markets, taking 

dozens of banks under their control.9 

The seven main Chechen gangs in Moscow (Central, Belgrad, 

Ukraina, Lazaniya, Ostankino, Salyut, and the Southern Port) 

fielded a force of approximately 500 fighters in the early 1990s. Many 

fighters of the Central Group (under the command of Lechi the 

Bearded One) lived at the giant Rossiya Hotel, across from the 

Kremlin. From this Chechen-controlled hotel, every destination in 

the center of Moscow was within easy striking distance. Once their 

business empire became too large to manage directly, the Chechens 

began operating through proxies, enlisting gangsters from Georgia, 

Dagestan, Ingushetia, and Russia itself.10 

Thieves-Professing-the-Code 

As Chechen gangsters moved into Moscow and other Russian cities, 

they were not entering virgin territory. The criminal world of the 
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Soviet Union had old traditions, developed over decades in the pris­

ons and gulags. In the slang of the penal colonies, the code of laws gov­

erning the professional criminals was known as the "thieves' world" 

(vorovsky mir). The chief of the traditional criminal underworld was 

a person called the thief-professing-the-code (vor v zakone), the clos­

est Russian equivalent to the godfather of the Sicilian and American 

Mafia. He was typically a hardened criminal, "crowned" by other 

thieves-professing-the-code while in prison; one of his duties was to 

mediate between competing gangs. There were several hundred 

thieves-professing-the-code in the former Soviet Union. Most were 

members of one of Russia's ethnic minorities. Out of the sixty or so 

thieves-professing-the-code in Moscow in 1993, for instance, more 

than half were from the Republic of Georgia, a country which in So­

viet times was famous for its people's penchant for good living and 

black-market trading. Another dozen came from neighboring coun­

tries in the Caucasus Mountains. 11 

Berezovsky's primary emissary to the traditional underworld was 

his partner Badri Patarkatsishvili, one of the cofounders of Logovaz. 

Whenever Berezovsky's business career led him into particularly vio­

lent terrain, he would turn to his partner to sort things out. Badri was 

a Georgian and had good ties with many important Georgians in 

Moscow. According to the Presidential Security Service, the FSB­

KGB, and at least one major private security agency, Badri also had 

close contacts with organized-crime groups from the Caucasus.12 

"The official position of Badri at that time [1993-94] was 

deputy chairman of the board of directors of Logovaz," recalls Gen­

eral Aleksandr Korzhakov, former head of the Presidential Security 

Service. "In fact, his responsibility was to ensure the repayment of 

debts and to provide protection against gangsters. In Soviet times 

Badri Patarkatsishvili was one of the directors of an auto-repair net­

work in Georgia. One of his brothers, Merab, is a thief-professing-the­

code; another brother, Levan, is an 'authority' of a Georgian 

organized crime group. Badri also has an alias, like any gangster. In 

the criminal underworld he is known as 'Badar.' "13 

In the 1970s, the most notorious thief-professing-the-code was a 
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Russian ex-convict named Vyacheslav Ivankov, also known as "the 
Jap" (Yaponchik). Having been crowned as a thief-professing-the­

code during a brief stay in prison in the early 1970s, theJap developed 

an extensive operation extorting money from black-market entrepre­

neurs and corrupt officials; he also smuggled narcotics, jewelry, 
icons, and antiques. He had a reputation for flamboyant brutality, 

often taking recalcitrant black marketeers into the woods outside 

town and torturing them. According to one legend, when the Jap 

was crossed by a Moscow restaurant manager, he had the man buried 
alive and a road paved over him. "Killing someone is as easy as light­

ing up a cigarette," he apparently liked to say. From Riga to Sverd­

lovsk, from Kazan to Moscow, he left a trail of fear. Yet, despite his 

loud criminal career, the Jap did only two short stints in prison-one 

for carrying false documents and one for carrying a gun. Only in 

1981 did a combined KGB-MVD operation succeed in netting him. 
He was convicted of banditry and sentenced to fourteen years in 

prison.14 

The Mafiya chief had friends in high places. In November 1991-
as the Soviet Union was falling apart-the Supreme Court of the 

Russian Federation freed the Jap, officially because of his bad health. 
Among those who allegedly petitioned for his release were the fa­

mous nightclub singer Iosef Kobzon, the world-renowned eye sur­

geon Svyatoslav Fyodorov, and the venerable campaigner for human 
rights (and old colleague of Andrei Sakharov's) Sergei Kovalyov. 15 

"[The Jap's] wife came and petitioned me," Fyodorov recalled 
laconically. "[The Jap] was in bad health and an extra four years [in 
prison] wouldn't do him any good." 

Fyodorov perhaps had weightier reasons for dabbling in such af­
fairs. In addition to his famous hospital in Moscow and the clinics he 
had opened abroad, he also had equity stakes in two big Moscow ho­
tels and the Casino Royale (a rival of the Chechen-controlled Cherry 
Casino). One theory about theJap's premature release was that Rus­
sian law-enforcement authorities, including the former KGB, were 
anxious to produce a counterweight to the Chechen gangs dominat­
ing Russian streets in 1991,16 
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The Jap did not remain in Russia for long. In 1992 he went to New 

York to establish a criminal network there, preying on the burgeon­

ing Russian emigre community. But he retained strong links with the 

gangsters back home, mostly through the international narcotics 

trade.17 

One of the custodians of the Jap's interests in Russia was Otari 

Kvantrishvili ("Otarik"). This dark, bearlike man was not a thief­

professing-the-code; he was what the police termed "an authority" in 

the underworld. "[The Jap] is one of the most honest people 

around," Otarik gushed to me in 1993. "Even if he was a criminal, he 

was only a private criminal. And private criminals today are nothing 

in comparison with the state criminals who have bankrupted Russia 

and are ... buying themselves homes in Florida." 

As a young man, Otarik had been a talented wrestler, with a good 

shot at making the Olympic tP.am. But in 1966, when he was eighteen 

years old, he participated in a gang rape. He was treated leniently 

by the authorities. After four years in prison, he was diagnosed as a 

schizophrenic, transferred to a psychiatric hospital, and freed soon 

after. In the early 1980s, he got a job as a wrestling coach for the pres­

tigious Dinamo sports complex in Moscow. He trained many of the 

boxers, wrestlers, martial-arts specialists, and weight lifters who would 

later join the various crime gangs of Moscow. 

By the early 1990s, he had become a highly visible entrepreneur 

and philanthropist. His official position was chairman of the Lev 

Yashin Charitable Foundation for the Social Rehabilitation of Ath­

letes. Funded largely by lucrative customs-tax exemptions, this 

foundation was a job-placement program for Russian athletes. 

Otarik claimed that he channeled his athletes into clean professions. 

"I do not let my lads go out and start robbing and killing people," 

he declared. 

His office was a row of suites on the top floor of the Intourist 
Hotel, where the KGB used to have its offices. I managed to speak 

to him in August 1993. He was remarkably candid about his gangster 
connections. "I do not pay money to any Mafiya organizations," he 

said. "On the contrary, they give me money." 
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Otarik ran several commercial operations. His main company 

was called 21st Century, co-owned with another entrepreneur and 

the singer Iosef Kobzon. Whether through this company or other 

commercial entities, Otarik owned equity stakes in some shady en­

terprises, including the Gabriella Casino and the U Lis'sa Disco­

theque (founded by advertising magnate Sergei Lisovsky). He was 

also believed to have interests in automobile dealerships and oil trad­

ing firms such as Hermes. He was reported in the newspapers to 

have been involved in a bloody battle to take over an oil refinery in 

the Volga town of Samara.18 

Otarik claimed that the profits from his commercial operations 

funded stadiums, sports programs, and training centers. "Our coun­

try is being overrun with drug addicts and homosexuals," he de­

clared. "Sport is the only means of saving the nation. That's why I am 

building sports schools and encouraging the love of sports-to divert 

young people away from drugs and from screwing each other up the 

" ass. 
Moscow police considered Otarik the epitome of a Mafiya god­

father, networking between different criminal groups, receiving a cut 

from their operations, and arbitrating their disputes. "I have a large 

organization of friends and comrades, some of whom are strong and 

some of whom are weak," he told me. "I burden the strong with tak­

ing care of the weak." 

He was quick to attack Russia's political leaders, whom he called 

"state criminals"; the politicians enriched themselves, but did not 

give a penny to help the children or the elderly, he fumed. The gang­

sters, on the other hand, could be relied upon to contribute to 

worthy charitable causes. "For you they are gangsters," he stated. 

"For me they are decent, honorable people."19 

Both Otarik and the Jap were intent on rolling back the Chechens. 

But neither they nor any other traditional organized-crime bosses 

had much influence with the Chechen gangs. (The Chechens 

spurned the established rules of the Russian underworld and only a 

few thieves-professing-the-code were Chechen.) When the Chechen 

gangsters began arriving in Moscow, the city's established mob 
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bosses tried to put the newcomers in their place. The first showdown 

occurred in 1988, when a dozen thieves-professing-the-code sum­

moned top Chechen leaders to Cafe Aist for a dressing-down. The 

Chechens, despite being outnumbered, fell upon their hosts; two 

thieves received serious knife wounds (this was before the Moscow 

underworld had obtained firearms) and the rest fled. Ultimately, 

the thieves-professing-the-code in Moscow would split over the 

Chechens; some would join the Chechen cause whereas others 

would join their rivals.20 

The leading role in the emerging anti-Chechen coalition was 

taken not by the Jap, Otarik, or any other traditional gangster boss, 

but by a new organization: the Solntsevo Brotherhood. Named after 

a grim, sprawling suburb of Moscow, the Solntsevo Brotherhood was 

established in the 1980s as a series of "sports clubs" by a former 

waiter, black marketeer, and cardshark named Sergei Mikhailov 

(nickname: "Mikhas"). During the perestroika years, according to 

Moscow police, Mikhailov turned his sports clubs into a powerful 

criminal empire, controlling protection rackets, prostitution rings, 

narcotics smuggling, and auto-theft rings. A member of the younger 

generation, Mikhas was not a thief-professing-the-code; he called 

himself a businessman. In 1989, Mikhas and other top Solntsevo 

bosses were arrested on suspicion of "banditry" and imprisoned. 

Several Chechen gangs seized the opportunity to take control of 

parts of the old Solntsevo territory. But after the Soviet Union col­

lapsed, Mikhas was freed from prison; he was determined to reassert 

his authority in the city.21 

In 1992, according to Moscow police sources, Berezovsky ap­

proached Mikhas to buy the Orbita, a Solntsevo-controlled super­

market on Smolensk Square, next to the Foreign Ministry building; 

he wanted this prestigious site for one of his car dealerships. The 

price Mikhas demanded was supposedly $1 million; Berezovsky ap­

parently found the price too high. Whether on the advice of his part­

ner, Badri, or on his own initiative, Berezovsky ultimately teamed up 

with the enemies of the Solntsevo Brotherhood: the Chechens. 
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Meanwhile, Berezovsky's rivals in the auto market, beholden to other 

organized-crime groups, were jealous of his success. They resented his 

inside deal with Russia's largest auto company, Avtovaz, and his suc­

cessful lobbying of the Ministry of Foreign Trade to impose high cus­

toms duties on imported automobiles.22 

Thus Berezovsky found himself in the middle of a war between 

Moscow's predominant gangster families. The shoot-out at the Ka­

zakhstan Cinema was just the beginning. Throughout the next year, 

Logovaz would be subjected to violent attacks. Berezovsky himself 
would come within two feet of losing his life. 

The War Begins 

Gangsters had been fighting and killing each other throughout the 

Gorbachev and Yeltsin years, but the bloodshed that was unleashed 

in 1993-94 was special. The "Great Mob War" was fought mostly in 
Moscow, but its echo was heard as far as Vladivostok, Krasnoyarsk, 

Sverdlovsk (Yekaterinburg), Samara, St. Petersburg, Tbilisi, Grozny, 
London, and New York. The root of the conflict was economic. 

Dozens of top gangster bosses had come out of prison after Com­
munism fell, and they found the nation's prime economic assets up 
for grabs. Huge industrial companies, mines, and oil fields were 

being privatized. Anyone ruthless enough could attain unimaginable 

wealth almost overnight. One popular analogy of what was happen­
ing in Russia at this time was that of a car wreck-a vehicle stuffed 
with dollar bills crashes, the money is scattered on the ground, and 

the bystanders push one another away, trying to grab the biggest 
bundle. Both the older mob bosses (the thieves-professing-the-code) 

and the younger "gangster-businessmen" engaged in a savage 
struggle with one another to stake their claim. 

Though the mob war was largely a free-for-all, the main 
organized-crime groups generally adhered to one of two rival al­
liances. On one side were the Chechens and the thieves-professing-the­
code allied with them. On the other side-loosely termed the Slavic 
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alliance-was the Solntsevo Brotherhood and its allies. The Jap, from 

New York, lent his support to the anti-Chechen cause, as did Otarik. 

Another key ally of the Solntsevo Brotherhood was a young mobster 

recently freed from prison: Sergei Timofeyev (nicknamed "Sylvester" 

because of his resemblance to Sylvester Stallone).23 

The war began with the assassination of a mob boss named 

"Globus." His real name was Valery Dlugach; he was a thief-professing­

the-code, controlling the Bauman organized-crime group. In Moscow, 

Globus also represented the interests of the Kazan Tatar gangs. The 

precise reason for Globus's assassination is unclear. Some say he was 

exploring an alliance with some of the Chechen gangs; with their 

support, he was moving into the Solntsevo Brotherhood's narcotics 

and automobile markets. Globus was also apparently struggling with 

Solntsevo-connected mob boss Sylvester over control of the Arlechino 

nightclub. Others say that Globus was not yet committed to a con­

frontation with the Solntsevo Brotherhood and was merely playing a 

complicated game, maneuvering between the Chechens and the Slavic 

gangs.24 

On the night of AprillO, 1993, Globus went to a disco called U 

Lis 'sa. This establishment supposedly belonged to advertising mag­

nate and future Yeltsin campaign manager Sergei Lisovsky; in fact, it 

was owned, at least partly, by Otarik and the Solntsevo Brotherhood. 

As Globus left U Lis 'sa and walked to his Chevrolet Caprice in the 

parking lot, he was killed by a sniper.25 

Two days later, the chief enforcer of the Bauman Group, a man 

known as "Rambo," was killed in front of his apartment house. The 

next day, another key member, Viktor Kogan (nicknamed "the Kike"), 

was ambushed in his car in central Moscow and riddled with bullets. 

Nine months later, the new boss of the Bauman Group, Vladislav 

Vanner, was assassinated as well. 

As the Bauman Group was being obliterated, the Solntsevo 

coalition began to move in on a prime Chechen protectorate, Bere­

zovsky's Logovaz. The shoot-out at the Kazakhstan Cinema was 

followed several months later by other attacks. On at least two occa-
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sions, Logovaz dealership lots in Moscow were attacked by men with 

grenades. Logovaz refused to cooperate with police detectives inves­

tigating the attacks. One detective told the press that the attacks 

were "a continuation of the war among organized-crime groups over 
the auto market. "26 

Berezovsky chose to spend most of that winter in the West. In No­

vember he went to Israel and obtained Israeli citizenship; he resided 

in a Tel Aviv suburb with his then wife, Galina, and his two youngest 

children.27 

"In 1993 I was experiencing tremendous pressure from people 

whom I don't want to name," Berezovsky would later tell a Russian 

newspaper. "I was not the only one who was under pressure. Many 

were. And that is when I went to Israel for several days ... and asked 

for Israeli citizenship, which was granted to me. "28 

But exactly who was pressuring him and why remains unclear. 

According to some Russian reports, Berezovsky also traveled to the 

United States at this time and obtained a "Green Card."29 

In Lausanne, Switzerland, his business partner, the big com­

modities trading firm Andre & Cie., was alarmed at the gangster war 

raging in Moscow and the travails of its Russian partner. When 

Andre & Cie. teamed up with Berezovsky, it had not reckoned on 

getting involved in a wave of bombings and assassinations. But 

Andre's point man for Russia, Alain Mayor, managed to soothe the 

nerves of his colleagues. 

"It was something that was happening in Russia; it wasn't something 

that was happening in Switzerland," he explained. "We established 

the facts and ... my superiors at the company accepted the facts. That 

was all. There was no alternative. Obviously the alternative at that 

time could have been to say: We stop all relations. But that didn't 

happen. 

"At that time, there were very strong rivalries in the automotive 
milieu in Moscow, that's for sure," he continued. "People used very 

violent methods. It wasn't very reassuring. In fact, it was painful, dis­

agreeable to see, of course. "30 
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Andre & Cie. decided to stick by Berezovsky. 

When I arrived in Moscow in the summer of 1993 to report a 

story on organized crime, I unwittingly found myself in the middle of 

the mob war. Virtually every day the newspapers carried stories of a 

shoot-out in the city. One morning Nezavisimaya Gazeta carried a 

photograph of an unidentified man strung up on a lamppost, with a 

crowd of passersby looking up in astonishment. 

I often found my protagonists being killed before I could inter­

view them. I tried to meet Valery Vlasov, a crime boss who was part 

of the Solntsevo Brotherhood. Vlasov's base was the Casino Valery, a 

rather grim establishment in southwestern Moscow. I telephoned 

and introduced myself. 

"I am an American journalist writing an article about Russia's 

new entrepreneurs and I would like to interview Mr. Vlasov." 

"He's not here. He will be in tomorrow afternoon. Call then." 

The next day I called again and asked to speak to Vlasov. 

"Who are you?" I was asked. Again I introduced myself­

American journalist, covering new entrepreneurs, I was promised an 

interview, etc. I heard frantic whispers. Then another voice came on 

the line: 

"I'm sorry, Mr. Vlasov will not be able to do the interview. He died 

last night." 

I later discovered that Valery Vlasov had been shot down by a 

sniper as he was leaving his casino the night before. 

I had much the same experience with Otarik. I had an interview 

scheduled with him one day in August, but the Mafiya boss was ab­

sent. He was arranging the funeral of his older brother, who had just 

been killed in a gunfight with the Chechens. A month later, I asked 

Otarik who had been responsible for his brother's death. "Don't 

touch that subject!" he shouted. "Never ask those kinds of questions 

of a member of the family!" 

Otarik's older brother, Amiran, had gone to talk to a Chechen 

gang at the offices of a trading company five minutes from the Krem­

lin. He was accompanied by an allied crime boss named Fyodor Ishin 
("Fedya the Possessed") and three members of the Lyubertsy 
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organized-crime group. As Amiran was leaving, gunfire erupted; he 

and his four friends were killed. 

The Cherry Casino 

This was an exciting time for Russia's gangsters. They featured promi­

nently in the pages of the newspapers, appeared in photographs with 

government ministers and big-city mayors. Russian citizens began to buy 

dictionaries of prison slang, laborious analytical works about the crim­

inal world, and cheap novels about the exploits of mob heroes. Russians 

were curious about the new authorities in their lives. Hundreds of 

Western-style cafes, overpriced restaurants, and glittering nightclubs 

had opened throughout Moscow. Members of the new ruling class­

with their Rolex watches, Italian shoes, gold bracelets, cellular phones, 

and wives or girlfriends draped in Versace-sulked over their drinks. 

The most beautiful girls of provincial Russia were available for a rel­

atively low price-the best of them became Mafiya molls. 

The first and most important consumer purchase for any mob­
ster was the automobile. The streets of Moscow sprouted an im­

pressive array of expensive imported cars. In 1993, the preferred 

model was a Mercedes S-600 sedan (retailing for around $100,000 in 

the United States, double that in Russia); the Chechens and the 

Georgians seemed to like BMW s and such large American cars as 

Lincoln Continentals and Buicks. A few years later the vogue he­

came a predatory-looking sport-utility vehicle: a Toyota Land Cruiser, 

Jeep Grand Cherokee, Land-Rover, Mitsubishi Montero, or lsuzu 

Trooper. The gangsters drove their cars fast and hard, often on the 

wrong side of the road, ignoring traffic signals and policemen. The 

typical gangster caravan was a big black Mercedes with tinted win­

dows and a Land Cruiser "doing the bodyguard drive." Many ex­

pensive cars roared around the streets of the capital without license 

plates. No policeman stopped them. 

The most visible architectural symbol of the new Russia was 

the casino. Within two years after the fall of Communism, scores of 
casinos had opened around Moscow; the Russian capital began to 
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resemble a tawdry version of Las Vegas. Some casinos were garish 

gambling palaces, others were squalid little operations hiding behind 

neon stgns. 

One summer night in 1993, I visited the Cherry Casino, on 

Moscow's main shopping avenue, Novy Arhat. It had opened in July 

and was the hottest place in town; it was home to young Russian 

businessmen, a few Americans and Europeans, dozens of high-class 

prostitutes, and lots of professional criminals. The gangster bosses 

were middle-aged men dressed in black-one had his jacket draped 

debonairly over his shoulders-each surrounded by half a dozen 

subordinates. By their looks, almost all the bosses seemed to be from 

the Caucasus. 

The gaming tables were crowded, with the players gleefully slap­

ping down piles of chips. Many players were nonchalantly betting 

more than $1,000 a shot. These men enjoyed showing that such 

colossal sums meant nothing to them. Commenting on this strange 

phenomenon, the casino's British-born floor manager, Dave Sayer, 

told me: "Most of these people have little confidence in tomorrow, so 

they spend everything they earn." 

The casino itself was making out very well. "Heavy profits," 

gloated Sayer. "If we keep going like this, we will have earned back 

our original investment [$5 million] within four months. "31 

Upstairs, in the disco, music boomed and strobe lights flashed. 

Gorgeous women twisted and turned, their faces flushed from danc­

ing and drugs. To the side of the dance floor I noticed a delicate man 

in his thirties surrounded by thugs. His hair was painted red and he 

wore a bright orange jacket; he looked like Alex, the protagonist of 

A Clockwork Orange. I noticed that this man seemed to know many 

people in the discotheque; an endless number of thugs approached 

him and respectfully whispered in his ear. Later, when the fellow re­

turned to his side table with only two aides, I went up and intro­

duced myself. 

He identified himself as "Sergei" and he said he was a doctor 

specializing in neuropathology. Considering that doctors were 

among the worst-paid members of the impoverished Russian edu-
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cated elite, how did he have the money to come to a club that 

charged a $30 door fee and $10 drink prices? "I manage my own 

business," he said. "You meet a lot of friends in a place like this." 

Perhaps a businessman like Sergei could afford it, but where do 

all the big boys in leather jackets get such cash? "They steal it," 

Sergei said, grinning. 

Sergei was contemptuous of the new Russian banks because they 

had been started with Communist Party funds and had participated 

in the "Great Chechen Bank Fraud." This was a famous scandal. In 

1992-93, using a network of corrupted officials inside the Russian 

Central Bank, several organized-crime groups and gangster-connected 

banks carried out the biggest bank fraud in Russian history. Incred­

ibly, it was a simple check-kiting scheme. There was so much chaos 

in the Central Bank's payments department and the bank's employ­

ees were so susceptible to bribery that the criminal organizations 

were able to make a fortune. 

The typical scheme involved two shell companies, usually regis­

tered banks. Using codes purloined from the Central Bank, the first 

bank would send a fake wire transfer to the second. The second 

bank would then present the wire transfer to one of the 1,400 Cen­

tral Bank payment centers and receive the money in cash. By the 

time government officials realized what was happening, both banks 

had disappeared along with the Central Bank's money. 

This bank fraud was one of the biggest disasters of the 

"reformist" government of Acting Prime Minister Yegor Gaidar. Ac­

cording to the Russian government, the amount successfully em­

bezzled in 1992-93 was $500 million (a third of the credit line the 

International Monetary Fund-IMP-granted to Russia that year). 

Many analysts estimated the losses in the billions. Chechen organized­

crime groups, acting partly for themselves and partly on behalf of the 

treasury of the self-styled Chechen Republic, took a lot of the pro­

ceeds. (Chechnya was the ideal place to register fake banks.) The 

bank fraud, however, would not have been possible without the par­

ticipation of many of Russia's leading commercial banks and trading 

companies.32 
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I asked Sergei, my acquaintance at the Cherry Casino, about for­

eign organized-crime groups. Was it true, as some people were say­

ing, that foreign gangsters were moving into Russia? "The Italian 

Mafia sniffed around here, but then they went back home," Sergei 

said. "Our boys were too tough for them. Now, the Colombians are 

a different matter." 

Moscow was full of Colombian narco-dollars invested in real 

estate and various businesses, Sergei claimed. The Russians who 

arranged the purchases had received big payments in the West. "A 

lot of people here are living off those dividend payments," he noted 

with pride. 

Who owned the Cherry Casino? "The Chechens," said Sergei 

blithely. Later, a RUOP officer confirmed that a large portion of the 

take from the casino went to one of the Chechen Mafiya groups. 

When asked about the casino's ownership, the manager, Dave Sayer, 

mentioned four equity partners: the city of Moscow (the landlord), a 

closely held Swedish company specializing in casino operations, a 

Russian foreign-car dealership called Trinity Motors, and a private 

Russian holding company called Olbi.33 

Of the four, Trinity Motors, a dealer in Chrysler and other imports, 

had the most notorious reputation as a gangster-connected business. 

Trinity's primary showroom was in one of the best locations in 

Moscow: across the street from the Bolshoi Theater. One of the offi­

cial cofounders of the dealership, and a frequent patron of the 

Cherry, was Vladislav Vanner, Globus's successor as boss of the 

Chechen-controlled Bauman organized-crime group.34 

Trinity Motors's connection with the Cherry Casino was perhaps 

predictable, but Olbi was a surprising shareholder. The company be­

longed to a thirty-year-old entrepreneur named Oleg Boiko-the 

name Olbi stood for Oleg Boiko Inc. He was one of Russia's most fa­

mous new millionaires. He owned a chain of upmarket electronics 

stores called Olbi-Diplomat, and one of Russia's largest banks, Nat­

sionalny Kredit. He was the main outside investor in Russia's leading 

newspaper-Izvestia. He was also the primary financier of the polit-
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ical party of his friend Yegor Gaidar, the former prime minister, hero 

of the Western media, and leader of the "young reformers." Boiko was 

the chairman of Gaidar's party, Russia's Choice. 

Years later, I asked Gaidar why he chose to work with an entre­

preneur who, among other things, was a major investor in a Chechen­

controlled casino. 

"I knew to a certain extent about his business," Gaidar an­

swered. "At that time he was a pretty large businessman and was 

considered a solid one." 

Did Gaidar know about Boiko's dealings with the underworld? 

"No." 

"Would you choose him again to work for your party?" 

"Of course not. This was still at a time when we had many more 

illusions about the new Russian business world, about the sense of so­

cial responsibility [of these people]. "35 

Superpower of Crime 

Barely two years into Russia's democratic experiment, most Russians 

understood that the country had fallen into the hands of a criminal 

caste. A foreign term was used to describe the new authorities: 

Mafiya. The popular view was that Russia was run by killers and 

crooks, and everyone in government was an accomplice. In the 

spring of 1993, Russian president Boris Yeltsin claimed in a speech that 

two thirds of all commercial structures in Russia were linked to or­

ganized crime and that organized crime represented the largest 

threat to Russia's national security. A year later, Yeltsin would again 

air his concerns, declaring that Russia was becoming the "super­

power of crime." The Ministry of Internal Affairs (MVD) tried to be 

more precise, estimating that 40 percent of all private businesses, 60 

percent of all state-owned companies, and up to 85 percent of all 

banks had links to organized crime.36 

In 1993, the MVD identified about 3,000 organized-crime 
groups in Russia. A year later, a special United Nations conference on 
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international crime counted 5,700, with 3 million members. But the 

frightening thing about Russian organized crime was not the rapid 

increase in the number of gangster organizations, but the degree to 

which the gangsters dominated Russia's economy.37 

Economic liberalization had led, not to black-market operations 

evolving into legitimate businesses, but to newly incorporated busi­

nesses being sucked into the black market. Russia's new businesses 

were pushed into the world of organized crime by the corruption of 

the government apparatus, which meant that commercial success 

was overwhelmingly dependent on political connections. Business­

men were hampered by a crushing tax code-which impelled enter­

prises to conduct business off the books-and the absence of an 

effective legal system, which meant that contracts were unenforce­

able and debts uncollectible without the use of mob enforcers. 

At the dawn of Yeltsin's Russia, thousands of new banks were 

established. Sometimes these institutions boasted sparkling marble 

offices, sometimes they resembled shabby grocery stores with pistol­

toting guards. Banking was one of the most lucrative activities in the 

early years of the Yeltsin regime. The key was access to government 

funds. If bankers had the right connections, they could make huge 

profits without knowing anything about finance or credit policy. The 

biggest source of income for Russian banks was loans from the Cen­

tral Bank at negative real interest rates. In February 1993, for in­

stance, a well-connected commercial bank could borrow money 

from the Central Bank at a monthly rate of 7 percent. That same 

month, however, the consumer price index rose 25 percent. The 

bank simply had to turn the Central Bank's rubles into something 

that would hold its value (marketable commodities, for example, or 

dollars) and reconvert it into cash at the end of the month, netting a 

real profit of 15 percent or so in just a few weeks. Well-connected 

banks earned equally large profits by handling the deposits of central 

government ministries, local government departments, and the big 

state-owned oil companies and arms exporters. Here again, they 

would pay the government an interest rate far below the inflation 
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rate, while using the government funds to make enormous profits on 

commodities trading or foreign exchange operations.38 

Not surprisingly, banks were among the most frequent targets of 

organized-crime groups. Dozens of top bank executives were assas­

sinated. The state-owned Rosselkhoz Bank, Russia's third-largest, 

was the biggest institution to be affected; its chairman was killed in 
December 1993.39 

In 1993, I visited one of the young Russian bankers in his luxuri­

ous offices on Novy Arhat in central Moscow. A large man with 

lizard-like eyes, Vladimir Sipachev was the chairman of Aeroflot 

Bank (40 percent owned by the airline, 60 percent by six individuals). 

Sipachev, thirty-five, told me that he had made his career as the "fi­

nancial manager" of an engineering firm called Atommash in the 

southern city of Rostov-on-Don. In 1989, he began building a busi­

ness empire. By 1993, he owned Aeroflot Bank, a big marble quarry, 

a small aircraft-production company, a metal trading company, and a 

network of radio stations. Sipachev boasted of his skills as a financier, 

noting that his businesses would produce about $100 million in rev­

enues that year. I decided to pitch him some standard questions. 

"What do you think of the IMF austerity program Russia re­

cently adopted?" 

He was genuinely surprised: "The IMF? What's that?" 

I tried again. "As a prominent Russian banker, are you worried 

about all those bank managers being murdered?" 

"Why should I be?" he answered. "There is nothing abnormal in 

this. Bank managers get killed in the West all the time. "40 

One of his business parmers-Aleksandr Petrov, chairman of 

Moscow Profbank-was murdered outside his apartment in Decem­

ber 1991. But nothing, it seemed, could shake Sipachev's cavalier at­

titude. One British businessman related how Sipachev gave him a 

ride in his unmarked Mercedes S-600. Instead of driving on the 

street-the busy shopping avenue of Novy Arhat-the banker's 

chauffeur drove the car briskly along the sidewalk, through the af­

ternoon crowds, scattering pedestrians and street vendors.41 
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Russia's lucrative export industries were also targeted by organized 

crime. In 1993, directors of state enterprises undergoing privati­

zation-oil refineries, aluminum smelters, timber companies-were 

being assassinated en masse. One of Russia's most respected busi­

nessmen, Ivan Kivelidi, a major chemicals industrialist, chairman of 

Rosbusiness Bank, and founder of the Russian Business Roundtable, 

was disposed of in particularly gruesome fashion. Someone rubbed 

an obscure nerve toxin onto the telephone receiver in his office; he 

collapsed, frothing at the mouth, and died three days later.42 

Murder had become a form of dealing with business competi­

tion. "Businessmen, instead of deciding their differences in the mar­

ket or in court, are hiring professional killers and deciding their 

differences with guns," lamented Georgi Khatsenkov, a former Tass 

news agency employee who had started a chain of jewelry stores.43 

Hundreds of shoot-outs were occurring in Moscow, often in 

broad daylight. The battles (razborki) included handguns, Kalash­

nikov automatic rifles, car bombs, even rocket-propelled grenades. 

"We are witnessing a veritable flood of sophisticated weaponry," 

noted General Rushailo.44 

The 29,200 murders committed in 1993 represented an official 

murder rate twice that of the United States at the height of its own 

murder wave that year. In Moscow the number of murders rose 

eightfold between 1987 and 1993. As horrifying as these figures 

seem, they represented only a fraction of the actual number of 

people being killed in Russia. Many murder victims were listed in the 

official statistics under other cause-of-death categories: suicides, ac­

cidents, disappearances. The "disappeared" category was particu­

larly voluminous. Andrei Pashkevich, spokesman for the Moscow 
RUOP, observed that, in addition to the 30,000 people murdered an­

nually, another 40,000 people had "disappeared." The majority of 

those, he said, were almost certainly murder victims. Hence, while 
official statistics put Russia's murder rate at 20 per 100,000, or twice 

the level of the United States, the real rate was three or four times 
higher than in the United States. Well-known and important people 
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were being assassinated in Russia, and law-enforcement authorities 

apparently found it impossible to catch the killers.45 

Though the police were incapable of stemming the violence, 

many policemen died trying. In 1994, 185 policemen were killed and 

572 wounded in shoot-outs with the organized-crime gangs. The 

police did not have a sufficiently powerful investigative unit to com­

bat the mob. The primary force, RUOP, was understaffed, badly 

equipped, and insufficiently insulated from political pressures.46 

The judicial system was worse. Russia had no judges specializing in 

organized crime; there were no provisions for plea bargaining; there 

was no witness-protection program. Moreover, Russia's judges were 

notoriously malleable-trained to follow the dictates of political lead­

ers and vulnerable to bribes and threats. Police officers complained 

that even when they arrested the worst mobsters, key witnesses usually 

withdrew their testimony and judges dropped the case.47 

There were statutes against extortion and banditry, but these 

were useful only against criminals caught red-handed. There was 

no statute against racketeering, making it illegal to belong to an 

organized-crime group. Laws against such white-collar crimes as 

bribery, embezzlement, money laundering, and fraud were inade­

quate; to get a conviction on fraud charges, for instance, prosecutors 

had to prove that the accused knew that he was committing fraud 

(ignorance of the law, in other words, was an excuse). Russia had 

nothing to match the RICO (Racketeering-Influenced and Corrupt Or­

ganizations) statute that had broken the back of the Mafia in the 

United States. In 1995-96, the lower house of parliament finally 

passed a bill on organized crime, only to have it voted down by the 

upper house, the Federation Council, which contained Russia's re­

gional bosses and members selected by President Yeltsin; it was not 

until1997 that the organized-crime bill was finally passed and signed 

by the president. A money-laundering bill was passed by the parlia­

ment only in the summer of 1999, but President Yeltsin vetoed it.48 

In 1996, CIA director John Deutch informed the U.S. Congress 
that Russian organized crime had strong links to the country's parliament. 
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Congressional committee chairman Benjamin Gilman speculated 

that these links were the reason for the delay in the passage of effec­

tive crime legislation. The greatest resistance to passing effective 

anti-Mafiya provisions came not from the parliament but from the 

Kremlin itself-from the group of men (and women) advising Boris 

Yeltsin.49 

"I feel like a person sitting in a pile of shit with his hands and legs 

tied-he can smell everything, he can see everything, but he can't do 

a damn thing," grumbled one Moscow detective.50 

Men with scarred faces, broken noses, thick necks, and bulging 

biceps were seemingly everywhere in Moscow. These were the en­

forcers, graduates of the formidable Soviet athletics apparatus or un­

employed members of the KGB or the Soviet army special forces­

victims of the drastic reductions in military spending, professional 

killers with nowhere to go. They had trained as weight lifters, gym­

nasts, wrestlers, hockey players, boxers, karate experts, professional 

snipers, or explosives experts; some were even members of the old So­

viet Olympic Team. The vision of socialist glory and Olympic gold 

medals had vanished. More often than not, the only possible em­

ployment for many of these soldiers and athletes was as a security 

guard or mob enforcer (not always separate vocations). The total 

number of privately employed "security guards" in Russia was esti­

mated at 800,000-these were not old guys, keeping watch over 

some parking lot, but highly trained professionals.51 

The army proved a particularly fertile recruiting ground for the 

mob. When Russian units returned from Eastern Europe, more than 

100,000 officers found themselves without housing; they and their 

families often lived in tents and other makeshift shelters. The offi­

cers' meager salaries were routinely paid several months late. As the 

Russian army shrank, nearly 1 million professional soldiers were sent 

home without pensions. "To be an officer used to be a post of the high­

est prestige," Grigory Ivanchenko, a recently demobilized lieutenant 

colonel, complained to me. "Now what are we supposed to do, be­

come janitors or night watchmen?" 
It was not surprising that so many professional soldiers found 
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employment with organized-crime groups. Aleksandr Lebed, the for­

mer paratroop general who had become one of Russia's leading politi­

cians, described the process. "[The demobilized soldier] says: 'I 

served for twenty years, ruined my health, sacrificed myself for my 

country .... Why did they just throw me out like garbage?' He goes to 

the criminal organization and there he is received with open arms: 

'My dear comrade colonel, look at what a career you had in the Spets­

naz [special forces] ! Why have you been orphaned with a one-time pay­

ment of 900,000 rubles [$150]? Here, take $3,000 and let's roll.' "52 

To ensure the loyalty of the military and to guard against the pos­

sibility of a coup d'etat, President Yeltsin closed his eyes to the cor­

ruption of the army high command. "The top generals are corrupt," 

General Lebed observed. "[Defense Minister] Pavel Grachev both 

gave them huge cash payments and allowed them to use military re­

sources to build private castles for themselves. Then they were told: 

Remember why you were given these privileges-now, obey. "53 

As corruption and anarchy spread, Russia's enormous nuclear 

stockpile was left dangerously exposed. Over the course of four 

decades, the Soviet Union had produced more than 50,000 nuclear 

warheads. Even after most of the U.S.S.R's nuclear weapons were 

decommissioned, the key components-the plutonium or enriched­

uranium pits-remained. One Western inspector saw 23,000 pluto­

nium pits stored in two sheds in a formerly secret city; the sheds were 

secured by a barbed-wire perimeter and ordinary padlocks on the 

door. Pieces of Russia's nuclear arsenal soon began appearing on the in­

ternational black market. In 1993-94, alone, German and Czech po­

lice made at least half a dozen busts of Russian organized-crime groups 

exporting nuclear weapons components to the West.54 

Even the former KGB was incapable of preventing the infiltration 

of organized crime into the most sensitive parts of the military­

industrial complex. The Russian security service itself had been 

corrupted. When General Aleksandr Korzhakov, Yeltsin's security 

chief, inspected the KGB's elite Alfa antiterrorist squad in 1993, he 

found that the unit had gone freelance. "There was no discipline in 

the group at all," Korzhakov noted. "The officers earned money on 
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the side, sometimes by working for the mob. There were cases when 

a shopkeeper would be approached by Alfa men from two different 

detachments, each group demanding money for his protection. Pro­

tection against whom? Against their own comrades. One group 

came in the morning with threats, the second group came in the 

evening promising protection. "55 

When I asked Konstantin Borovoi, chairman of the Russian Com­

modities and Raw Materials Exchange, how he would define the 

Mafiya, he replied: "The Mafiya is an attempt to imitate the govern­

ment. It has its own tax system, its own security service and its own 

administrative system. Any entrepreneur, in addition to paying taxes 

to the government, has to pay taxes to this shadow government: 

bribes to the health inspectors, local police, tax inspectors, government 

landlords, and, of course, protection money to the gangsters guaran­

teeing his security. "56 

"The power of the government has completely collapsed, but 

individual bureaucrats retain control over the nation's resources," 

explained Georgi Khatsenkov, who ran a small publishing and gem­

trading business. "They want to profit from their position, but to do 

that on a big scale they need an organization-allies in the bureau­

cracy, commercial structures to handle the money, and professional 

[hitmen] to enforce their will. So they ally themselves with the crim­

inal groups. "57 

The main reason for the explosion of organized crime in Russia, 

in other words, was neither poverty nor unemployment. It went 

back to the earliest days of Communism. Lenin and his heirs under­

stood the gangster mentality, and their secret police had used gang­

ster methods to intimidate or eliminate political opponents. With 
privatization, Russia's political bosses and industrial managers found 

themselves in control of the nation's prime industrial enterprises. To 

operate these companies in their own interests (rather than the inter­

ests of the Party or the state), they needed protection. 

"Under the old system, the different power centers [the local 

Party organizations, the KGB, big state-owned enterprises, and so 

on] protected their particular rackets by jailing any whistle-blowers 
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or nonconformists," Borovoi observed. "Today, these power centers 

do not have such an ability to protect themselves, so they use pro­
fessional criminal groups instead. "58 

I asked the liberal parliamentary leader Grigory Yavlinsky why vir­

tually all small businesses in Russia had to pay off one gangster or­

ganization or another. "Because the government promotes that," he 
replied. "They work together, after all. It's an oligarchy. In Russia 

there are two groups of people who are especially contemptuous of 
the law: the very top of society and the very bottom. When the top 

and the bottom unite, you get a blanket that covers everything. "59 

When I asked Berezovsky about the reasons for Russia's crime 

epidemic, he, too, pointed to the collusion of top government officials 

with the gangsters.60 

Two years after the establishment of the Yeltsin regime, the 

racket was operating at the highest levels of the state apparatus. 

James Moody, head of the organized-crime division of the FBI, ob­
served that a corrupt government was the single most important fac­

tor allowing organized crime to flourish. "Organized crime always 
tries to penetrate the government," Moody noted. "If the govern­
ment is corrupt, who is going to stop organized crime?"61 

The Bombing of Logovaz 

It was in this lawless environment that Berezovsky was building his 
empire. Alone among the big businessmen who would come to be 

known as "the oligarchs," Berezovsky found himself personally in­
volved in the war between Chechen and Slavic gangs. Mter his car 
dealerships were attacked on three different occasions by heavily 

armed gunmen, he spent much of the winter of 1993-94 abroad. Re­
freshed from his travels, he returned to Moscow to find the mob war 
still raging. He was targeted almost immediately. The door of his 
apartment was booby-trapped with a grenade. Fortunately, it failed to 
explode.62 

The Slavic gangs, meanwhile, were being subjected to much 
worse. On the afternoon of April5, 1994, Otarik left his office near the 
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Krasnaya Presnya Bathhouses, not far from Russian government head­

quarters. Before he got to his car, he was shot three times by a sniper 

in an apartment house across the street. He died within minutes. 

From his perch in New York, theJap was watching the mob war 

in Russia with increasing alarm. Otarik, one of his best friends and the 

central figure in the war against the Chechens, had been killed. Rus­

sia was turning into a chaotic battleground, with too many criminal 

bosses dying and too much bad publicity being shed on the gangster 

organizations. After Otarik's death, the Jap reportedly called an as­

sembly of Mafiya bosses in Vienna to discuss who would lead the fight 

against the Chechens. The choice fell on the mob boss Sylvester.63 

In the late afternoon of June 7, 1994, Berezovskywalked out of the 

new Logovaz headquarters in central Moscow and got into the back seat 

of his Mercedes. His bodyguard sat in front, next to the chauffeur. As 

the car pulled out, the neighborhood was shaken by a massive explo­

sion. Someone had parked an Opel sedan filled with explosives on the 

narrow street and detonated the car bomb by remote control as soon 

as Berezovsky's car passed by. Berezovsky saw his driver decapitated by 

the blast. The bodyguard was severely wounded-he would lose an 

eye. Half a dozen passersby were injured. Berezovsky stumbled out 

of the car, his clothes smoldering; his bums were severe, requiring 

months of treatment in a Swiss clinic. A few days later, the headquar­

ters of his Obyedinyonny Bank was also bombed. 

Like the other famous contract killings in those years, the Logo­

vaz car bombing remained unsolved. Berezovsky blamed his com­

petitors in the auto industry. One of his colleagues at Logovaz told the 

newspaper Kommersant that the assassination attempt was linked to 

the aggressive pricing policy pursued by Logovaz. Months later, in 

private conversations with Yeltsin, Korzhakov, and other authorities 

in the Kremlin, Berezovsky implicated TV magnate Vladimir Gusin­

sky (and his patron, Moscow mayor Yuri Luzhkov). When I asked him 

in late 1996 who was responsible for the bombing, Berezovsky 

replied: "This organization [that commissioned the bombing] con­

tinues to operate today. "64 



The Great Mob War 39 

Wasn't he concerned that the assassins would try again? "No," he 

answered. "They understand I know who stood behind this deed 

and this gives them pause." 

Then, after a menacing silence, he added: "But I am not one of 

those people who seek vengeance. "65 

Investigating the Logovaz bombing, Moscow police focused on 

the business dealings of Sylvester. The police discovered that he 

and Berezovsky had had the kind of "unclear relations" that General 

Rushailo had mentioned to me a year earlier. In March 1994, a 

Berezovsky-led investment fund called Avva had placed money with 

Mostorg Bank, buying two 500-million-ruble short-term promissory 

notes. Mostorg Bank was controlled by Sylvester; the bank did not 

pay back the obligation on time, having transferred the money 

abroad.66 

The assassination attempt put Berezovsky into the national spot­

light for the first time. The police declared that it was "the most 

powerful explosion in Moscow that year." President Yeltsin ordered 

his security forces to cleanse the country of its "criminal filth." 

Within a few days, Mostorg Bank finally made its payment (with in­

terest) on the promissory notes it had sold to Avva. Berezovsky went 

to Switzerland and left his old associate at Logovaz, Badri Patarka­

tsishvili, to sort out relations with the gangsters.67 

The mob war continued. In August, the Slavic gangs struck a 

fatal blow against one of the strongest Chechen gangs-the Lazaniya 

Group-by ambushing and killing Gennady Lobzhanidze (known 

as "Gena the Scar"). Within a year, one of the other leaders of the 

Lazaniya would be arrested by the police, while a third fled to 

Turkey. 

But the Slavic gangs could not exploit their victories. In the early 

evening of September 13, there was a powerful explosion just off 

Tverskaya Street (Moscow's most elegant shopping district). Police 

found a Mercedes S-600 sedan that had been destroyed by a remote­

controlled bomb attached to the underside of the car. A charred 

corpse was pulled from the wreckage. It was Sylvester. 
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Berezovsky, who by then had returned to Moscow from Switzer­

land, was briefly considered a suspect, but the case was never solved.68 

With Sylvester's death, the gangster assaults on Logovaz ceased. 

The Invasion of Chechnya 

That autumn, the mob war in Moscow was overshadowed by a 

bloodier conflict in the breakaway republic of Chechnya. The two 

conflicts were related; the Chechen War was a gangster turf war writ 

large. 

Chechen organized-crime groups in Moscow and other Russian 

cities maintained subsidiaries in their ancestral homeland. Chechnya 

was a key transit point in the Russian narcotics trade, and the 

Moscow-based gangsters sent a large part of their profits back to the 

homeland. The same Russian officials and security officers who pa­

tronized Chechen organized-crime groups in Moscow also patron­

ized the Chechen government of President J okhar Dudayev by 

allowing the Chechen government to appropriate millions of tons of 

Russian oil at little or no cost. Chechnya was an important nexus for 

Russia's oil pipeline system, serving as a transshipment point for 

both Caspian Sea oil from Baku and Western Siberian oil on its way 

to the port of Novorossiisk. Most of this oil, whether refined or 

crude, was exported.69 

"How did they export it? Who exported it? Where did this oil 

disappear to? No one ever tried to investigate it," recalls former For­

eign Trade Minister Oleg Davydov. "At least during my term, there 

was never a single appeal by the Chechens nor a single decree [by 

the Russian government] to give them a certain quota, a certain 

amount of pipeline capacity, or whatever. They [the Chechens] op­

erated through frontmen, through some kind of influential individu­

als, who helped them and were paid for their services. "70 

President Dudayev and the warlords and gangsters who con­

trolled the Chechen government were able to sell the Russian oil on 

foreign markets and earn hundreds of millions of dollars, both for 

the republic's treasury and for themselves personally. Meanwhile, the 
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Chechen militias received their armaments from corrupt Russian 

army commanders, based as far away as the Far East. The Russian se­

curity services contributed to building up the Chechen army as well. 

When the Black Sea province of Abkhazia decided to declare inde­

pendence from the Republic of Georgia, unleashing a brief civil war 

in 1993, the Russian security services secretly aided the Abkhazian 

separatists. These fighters were reinforced by Chechen militias, who 

received Russian weapons and training. A number of the most deadly 

Chechen warlords, such as Shamil Basayev, cut their teeth fighting in 

Abkhazia.71 

"Then Jokhar Dudayev decided he had become big and strong 

and stopped sharing the booty with his Moscow sponsors," General 

Lebed says. "So [the Russian government] decided to punish him 

with the army." 

Lebed cited another reason for the decision to invade Chechnya: 

to cover up massive corruption in the military high command. As the 

Russian army was withdrawing from Germany in 1991-94, equip­

ment was sold on the black market by the commanders of the West­

ern Group of Forces. Lebed claims that more than 1,000 armored 

vehicles were sold on the black market, mostly to Serbia and Croatia 

during the Yugoslav civil war. The looting of the arms depots of 

the Western Group of Forces, according to Lebed, was done with 

the connivance of the group commander, General Matvei Burlakov, 

and the minister of defense, General Pavel Grachev. The journalist 

Dimitri Kholodov of the newspaper Moskovsky Komsomolets began 

investigating these charges. In October 1994, Kholodov picked up a 

briefcase that supposedly contained key documentary evidence for 

his case. The briefcase contained a bomb and Kholodov was killed in­

stantly when it exploded in his office. In any case, Lebed says, the 

Western Group of Forces scandal provided another incentive to 

launch the Chechen War. "These so-called generals needed a big war 

to break out somewhere, so that a large number of armored vehicles 

could be destroyed and written off to this war. "72 

Though it was well known that there was an unusual amount of 

corruption in the Western Group of Forces and Russian newspapers 
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frequently alleged that Defense Minister Grachev himself was cor­

rupt (his nickname was "Pasha Mercedes"), I never managed to con­

firm that the decision to invade Chechnya was guided by a desire to 

hide black-market sales of armaments. One thing is clear: In the 

same way that, as RUOP chief Rushailo explained, the businessmen 

targeted by gangsters almost always turned out to be gangster-linked 

themsdves, Russia's invasion of Chechnya was the result of some 

kind of corrupt relationship gone sour. The gangster organizations 

that had taken power in the Republic of Chechnya were linked both 

to such prominent Moscow businessmen as Berezovsky and to nu­

merous top Kremlin officials. 

The Russian army invaded Chechnya on December 11, 1994. 

The decision was made by Yeltsin and a few of his closest cronies: 

Grachev, Soskovets, Lobov, Korzhakov, Yerin, Stepashin-the so­

called Party of War. "This was not the party of war," snarls Lebed. 

"This was the party of business. "73 

Shortly before the invasion began, Defense Minister Grachev 

boasted that "a battalion of paratroopers can take Grozny [the 

Chechen capital] in two hours." In fact, it took two months and the 

most horrific bloodshed. It was not Russia's elite paratroopers who 

did the fighting, but the military units closest to Chechnya-mostly 

underequipped units composed of bewildered eighteen-year-old 

provincial boys. They were sent into the center of the city in long ar­

mored columns, without infantry support or close air support. The 

generals evidently had learned nothing from World War 11-both 

the Battle of Stalingrad and the Battle of Berlin had demonstrated 

that tanks were useless in a big city. "A tank in a city is like an dephant 

in a pit," notes General Lebed. "Any kid can throw gasoline down on 

it, throw down a cigarette and the tank burns." 

From the windows and balconies of the apartment buildings, the 

Chechens attacked the Russian armored columns with antitank rock­

ets and grenade launchers; the tactic was first to disable the lead 

tank, then the last one, then destroy the remaining tanks in the 
middle. The Russians were burned alive in their armored vehicles or 
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picked off by snipers as they tried to climb out. The Russians later re­

turned and blasted the Chechens out of the apartment buildings. 

By the end of January 1995, Grozny was taken and the fighting 

moved to the mountains in the south. The Russian war effort was a 

mess. Some commanders refused to carry out orders to attack; oth­

ers refused to honor cease-fires. Many commanders accepted bribes 

to let encircled Chechen units escape, while others sold weapons to 

their Chechen opponents. The Russians bombed civilian settlements 

indiscriminately. For their part, the Chechens wallowed in blood 

lust: They made videotapes of their slaughter of Russian soldiers and 

publicly cut the throats of Russian prisoners. 

On June 14, 1995, the Chechens achieved a devastating victory. 

Shamil Basayev, the former Moscow "businessman" who had be­

come the Chechens' top field commander, launched a terrorist attack 

in the Russian heartland. He led several dozen elite fighters con­

cealed beneath the canvas covers of dump trucks through seventy 

miles of Russian-held territory; the convoy passed through numer­

ous checkpoints, bribing the guards not to inspect the vehicles. Fi­

nally, Basayev and his fighters were stopped at the Cossack town of 

Budyonnovsk. They stormed the town hall and the police station, 

rounded up 1,500 hostages, and hunkered down in the Budyon­

novsk Hospital. The building was soon surrounded by Russian po­

lice and special forces; several attempts to storm it failed miserably. 

Russian newspapers ran a photograph of one of Basayev's men 

holding his gun out the window from behind a terrified Russian 

woman-the human shield he had found in the hospital corridors. 

Basayev's men executed several Russian prisoners and threw them out 

the windows. 

After a five-day standoff, Russian TV watchers saw a videotape of 

their prime minister, Viktor Chernomyrdin, talking humbly with 

Basayev. Chernomyrdin agreed to let Basayev go. He was provided 

with buses and fuel to facilitate his return to Chechnya. He was also 

allowed to take several dozen Russian hostages back with him. Hor­
rified by the bloodshed at Budyonnovsk (at least 120 people died in 
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the raid), the Russian government agreed to a cease-fire-which was 

to last half a year before the war began again. 

The End of the Old-timers 

By this time, the mob war in Moscow had burned itself out. Neither 

the Slavic gangs nor the Chechens emerged as the victors. They had 

largely destroyed one another. Dozens of thieves-professing-the­

code had been killed. The surviving Chechen bosses tactfully with­

drew into the shadows. Many Slavic bosses went abroad. The Jap 

was jailed in New York, to serve a nine-and-one-half-year term for 

extortion. Mikhas, the boss of the Solntsevo Brotherhood, was im­

prisoned in Switzerland, serving two years before he was acquitted of 

criminal charges. Mter having captured the attention of the entire 

nation in the early Yeltsin years, the traditional gangster bosses re­

treated back to the margins of society. 

The winners were Russia's new businessmen. Many of these men 

had worked closely with the Chechens, the Solntsevo Brotherhood, 

or the thieves-professing-the-code. They had paid the gangsters the 

underworld tax, had used them to eliminate rivals, had even put 

mob representatives on their boards of directors. But now the busi­

nessmen were powerful enough to ignore the old gangsters. 

"Our oligarchs passed relatively quickly through the Mafiya 

shoot-out era," remarked First Deputy Prime Minister Anatoly 

Chubais three years later in an interview with the newspaper Kom­
mersant. The businessmen played a significant role in ending the 

gangster violence. Chubais cited one incident in 1994 or 1995, when 

Berezovsky and other leading businessmen apparently got together to 

"adopt certain principles of coexistence," including "abstaining 

from the use of contract killings. "74 

Berezovsky, by this time a fierce political rival of Chubais, felt 

compelled to reply in the same newspaper. He issued no direct denial 

of the charges. "Do you remember that passage where [Chubais] says 

that we gathered in 1994 and agreed to refrain from contract killings?" 

Berezovsky asked. "This is beyond hypocrisy. Mter all, Chubais is 
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accusing himself first of all. The conclusion we must draw is that all 

this time he [Chubais] has been dealing with gangsters, right? And 

the president [Yeltsin] was the protector of the gangsters? That's to­

tally out of line. "75 

Chubais was remarkably frank about his decision to deal with 

gangsters. "We did not have a choice between an ideal transition to 

a market economy and a criminalized transition," he told me in early 

1998. "Our choice was between a criminalized transition and civil 

war."76 

The civil war materialized anyway-in Chechnya. But in 

Moscow, at least, things had calmed down. In the last days of De­

cember 1994, one of the most powerful Chechen gangsters, Khozha 

Suleimanov, head of the Southern Port group, was assassinated. It 

was the last big killing of the great mob war. 

It had been an extraordinary two years. Bombings, assassinations, 

wealthy businessmen murdering their rivals, gangster bosses fighting 

over the nation's prime industrial assets, top government officials mak­

ing deals with hardened criminals-rarely has any nation gone 

through such anarchy in peacetime. What had brought Russia to such 

a pass? Ironically, it was Mikhail Gorbachev's liberal reforms that gave 

free rein to Russia's gangsters. Along with the political prisoners re­

leased from the gulags, thousands of professional criminals were freed 

as well. More important, Russia's main gangster-business empires were 

established under Gorbachev. Unbeknownst to the Soviet leader, 

many of them were sponsored by such pillars of the Soviet establish­

ment as the KGB and the Central Committee of the Communist Party. 



CHAPTER TWO 

THE COLLAPSE OF THE 

OLD REGIME 

Gorbachev's Reform 

In 1986 I attended Revolution Day celebrations in Moscow with a 

group of Italian Communists. It was still the old Soviet Union. No­

vember 7-the supreme celebration of Soviet power. We were as­

signed a place in front of the National Hotel to watch the parade. It 

was a bitterly cold morning. Armored vehicles were parked along 

Gorky Street: tanks, armored personnel carriers, half-tracks, amphibi­

ous landing craft-the paint glistening on their metal hides. The tank 

drivers, in their leather helmets, shifted on their feet to stay warm as the 

winds swept up the boulevard. The troops had been in place a long time. 

The Soviet army had paraded here on Revolution Day every year 

since the first anniversary of the Bolshevik seizure of power in 1917. 

The most famous Revolution Day parade, of course, was during a 

snowstorm in 1941; Hitler's panzers were poised on the outskirts of 

Moscow, and as the Soviet troops finished marching past Red Square 

they went directly to the front. 

Forty-five years later, the parade was still impressive. At the ap­

pointed hour, the massed troops snapped to attention. The crowds 

grew silent. An open limousine swept into Revolution Square carry­

ing a bemedaled Soviet marshal. The car stopped in front of each 

formation and the marshal's deep voice boomed over the public ad-

46 
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dress system: "Comrades, I congratulate you on the Holiday of the 

Great October Socialist Revolution! " 

"Hurrah! " the troops responded in a mighty cheer. 

Then the marshal drove away, toward the towers of Red Square. 

There was a deafening roar as the armored vehicles' engines were 

started. The tanks rumbled past, wave after wave, shaking the pave­

ment, emitting plumes of exhaust smoke over Moscow's Stalinist 

boulevards. Then the foot soldiers came on, marching in broad 

columns, faces granite-still, their step perfectly timed, their boots 

polished to a winter sheen. 

The Italians were impressed. 

But the Soviet Union was less vigorous and powerful than it ap­

peared. That year a new type of Soviet leader was in power. Mikhail 

Gorbachev was the first of the post-World War II generation. He 

began reforming the Soviet system with an energy not seen in half a 

century. He abandoned the foreign policy of Communist aggressive­

ness and reached an understanding with President Ronald Reagan to 

end the Cold War. At home, he opened the gates of the gulag and 

launched a series of reforms to reinvigorate the country. 

When I met Gorbachev in May 1992, the deposed Soviet presi­

dent impressed me as energetic and straightforward. He had a rich, 

deep voice, embroidered with the accent of the Cossack territories of 

southern Russia. His warm brown eyes immediately convinced you 

that he was well-meaning and honorable. 

"At that time everything was already fermenting in the Party, in 

the country, and in society," Gorbachev recalled. "At first we went the 

way all reformers had gone before us: We began with the idea of ac­

celerating economic growth. We began the modernization of our 

production facilities and the introduction of new technologies. We 

made large investments in microelectronics and machine tools." 1 

Almost immediately, things began to go wrong. In December 

1985 the Saudi oil minister Sheik Ahmed Yamani, the leading figure 

in the OPEC oil cartel, announced that Saudi Arabia would no longer 

support oil prices by limiting its production. World oil prices fell 69 

percent within eight months. With its other industries struggling, the 
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Soviet Union was dependent on its vast production of oil and gas. 

The U.S.S.R. was a petroeconomy-oil and gas typically accounted 

for more than half of the country's cash exports.2 

Dragging the country down further was the endless war in 

Mghanistan. The Soviets' defeat in this war would have a domino ef­

fect: Within a decade, the Russian army would be fighting professional 

Islamic guerrillas, not in the remote Mghan mountains, but within the 

borders of the former Soviet Union-in Tajikistan, Dagestan, and 

Chechnya. In 1986, Gorbachev's regime was rocked by another omi­

nous event: the accident at the Chernobyl nuclear power plant. The 

Soviet Union-a massive, muscle-bound structure, armed with the 

world's most dangerous technology-was self-destructing. Soviet con­

sumers, meanwhile, received few rewards from Gorbachev's reforms. 

New housing developments were even shoddier than before. Durable 

consumer goods, from refrigerators to televisions to automobiles, were 

still hard to obtain. Soviet economic growth rates continued to decline 

and around 1988 the economy stopped growing altogether.3 

With hopes for an economic revival fading rapidly, Gorbachev 

turned his attention to political reform. He launched glasnost (open­

ness) and perestroika (restructuring). For the first time in seven 

decades, freedom of speech was allowed. The press, universities, and 

government institutions became arenas of spirited public debate. 

The Communist Party abandoned its official monopoly on power 

and allowed popular elections to the nation's parliaments. Insofar as 

Russia can be considered a democracy today, the liberties defining 

that term were established under glasnost and perestroika. 

But the reforms produced results quite different from those 

Gorbachev had intended. Once the controls of the central government 

were relaxed, provincial political bosses and enterprise directors did 

as they pleased. Their first impulse was to enrich themselves. 

Vodka 

The clearest example of a Gorbachev reform measure having unex­

pectedly malignant consequences was the anti-alcohol campaign. AI-
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most immediately after taking office, Gorbachev decided to tackle 

Russia's most intractable social problem: vodka. The only other time 

prohibition had been attempted was under Czar Nicholas II, who 

abolished vodka during the First World War. That measure helped 

bankrupt the government and made the monarchy extremely un­

popular. The czar's prohibition remains one of the most under­

appreciated causes of the Russian Revolution of 1917. 

Gorbachev's anti-alcohol policy was not an absolute prohibition­

it merely made vodka very scarce and very expensive. The Soviet pres­

ident was cursed on street corners and at kitchen tables across the 

country. In provincial cities and towns, the anti-alcohol campaign was 

the most visible symbol of Gorbachev's rule. Instead of solving Russia's 

alcohol problem, prohibition merely brought it into the streets-in 

the form of horrendous lines and grubby riots of beggars. 

Most vodka production, meanwhile, moved to the black market. 

Rogue distilleries sprang up across the country. Bootleg vodka was 

produced at collective farms, in food-processing plants-almost 

everywhere-with the connivance of local political bosses, and then 

sold on the street or under the counter in state-owned grocery stores. 

Some of the vodka was produced from cheap perfume, window 

cleaner, or shoe polish. Every year, thousands of Russians died of poi­

soning after drinking these noxious cocktails. 

Prohibition also poisoned the Soviet economy. The state alcohol 

monopoly had long been a pillar of Soviet government finance, typi­

cally accounting for nearly 25 percent of budget revenues. With pro­

hibition, the profits from vodka no longer went to the state, but to 

bootleggers, laying the foundation for Russia's first criminal capital.4 

This bootleg revenue was often invested in "cooperatives"-the 

new private businesses (trading companies, banks, restaurants, 

shops) permitted by the reforms. As the vodka Mafiya evolved into a 

national network, it relentlessly corrupted the government appara­

tus-starting with the local police, then the courts, mayors, and re­

gional Communist Party bosses, and ending with ministers of the 

central government. Soon, the government-the only institution ca­

pable of fighting organized crime-began to crumble.' 
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Mter a few years, the antialcohol campaign was abandoned. But 

it was too late. The damage to government finances, Gorbachev's 

popularity, and the fight against organized crime had already been 

done. 

The Ruble Overhang 

Within a few years after Gorbachev's accession to power, such 

government watchdogs as the KGB and grass-roots Party organiza­

tions, noticed an alarming rise in public discontent. "People's expec­

tations are much higher than our actual real possibilities," admitted 

Prime Minister Nikolai Ryzhkov in 1990.6 

Seeking to address this discontent, Gorbachev allowed wages to 

rise steeply. In 1989, for instance, average incomes rose 12 percent, 

even though the economy remained stagnant. As government rev­

enues fell because of the decline in oil prices and the loss of vodka 

revenues, social expenditures grew. The government financed its 

ballooning deficit by printing money. There was little evident inflation 

because the prices of most products were still rigidly controlled. The 

inflation revealed itself in growing shortages of consumer goods and 

longer waiting lines.7 

The rapid accumulation of money in the hands of the popula­

tion, combined with the growing scarcity of consumer goods, be­

came known as the "ruble overhang." Its size was estimated at 

between 460 billion and 500 billion rubles (about $800 billion at the 

official exchange rates)-half the size of the U.S.S.R.'s gross domes­

tic product. The money was kept either in bank accounts or in cash 

at home. Ideally, this money would have constituted long-term sav­

ings, but in fact it represented the involuntary savings of people wait­

ing to buy something. One way of eliminating the overhang would 

have been to free prices, turning the latent inflation into real inflation. 
But this path would lead to hyperinflation, a social catastrophe. For­

tunately, there were other ways to solve the problem.8 

In October 1989, Federal Reserve chairman Alan Greenspan vis­

ited Moscow to meet with Gorbachev and other top Soviet officials. 
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He argued that the Soviets should not free prices until they tackled 

the weakness of the ruble. "I think [the Soviets] have delayed, if not 

abandoned, the notion that price reform comes first," Greenspan 

told me shortly after his return. "They recognize that they need a 

change in the monetary structure [first]. They do need to get their so­

called monetary overhang out of the market. It's got to be absorbed 

and eliminated before the fixed-price structure is unwound. Prob­

ably the easiest way to get rid of the monetary overhang is to float some 

bonds-ruble-denominated bonds with all of the principal and 

[perhaps] part of the interest being guaranteed in convertible cur­

rencies or gold. "9 

Greenspan also spoke of the necessity of privatization as a means 

of addressing the ruble overhang and cutting the Soviet budget 

deficit. Only after these two steps-issuing government bonds and pri­

vatization-were taken should prices be freed. 

The best Soviet economists had come to a similar conclusion. In 

1990, Gorbachev's adviser Stanislav Shatalin, and a young econo­

mist, Grigory Yavlinsky, developed an emergency series of measures 

called the 500-Day Plan. The plan promised to neutralize the ruble 

overhang, stabilize the currency, free prices, and transform the coun­

try into a market economy. The centerpiece of the 500-Day Plan was 

privatization. Since the state owned all the assets and the population 

had all the money, the 500-Day Plan envisioned a swap. The privati­

zation program would start with such small assets as apartments, 

plots of land, shops, trucks, and small workshops, and move gradu­

ally to large factories, mines, and oil fields. 10 

Partly because of the opposition of the conservative wing of the 

Communist Party and partly because of his own doubts as a Marxist, 

Gorbachev never implemented the 500-Day Plan. This would prove 

to be a fatal mistake. 
Incapable of helping themselves, Gorbachev and his colleagues 

turned to the West. They wanted to borrow $30 billion to buy West­

ern consumer goods and resell them to Soviet consumers at ten times 

the cost. This, they argued, would take care of the excess cash of 

the population and stabilize the ruble, allowing market reforms to 
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proceed. For a few months, policy makers in the West debated 

whether to devdop a new Marshall Plan to help the Soviet Union 

make the transition to democracy, free markets, and prosperity. No 

such aid package materialized. Western governments, perhaps dis­

tracted by other foreign policy concerns, such as Iraq's invasion of 

Kuwait, sent economists, lawyers, and consultants to advise the So­

viets, but no money. 

"For whatever reason, the U.S. government did not come to the 

Soviet Union's aid with either bank loans or with debt reschedul­

ing," Gorbachev would later note bitterly. "It waited until the coun­

try and the ruble had fallen apart to step in." 11 

Boris Berezovsky Goes into Business 

While the crisis worsened in the Soviet Union, Boris Berezovsky 

made his first foray into business. Up until1989 he had been a mem­

ber of the Soviet scientific elite. (In 1991 he would be dected 

correspondent-member of the highly prestigious Academy of Sci­

ences.) As one of the Soviet Union's top scientists, Berezovskywould 

have received a salary of somewhere around 500 rubles a month 

($800 according to official exchange rates). But today he downplays 

the financial incentives that propelled him into business. "It's simply 

that I am better adapted, genetically speaking, for business than I am 

for science," he says. "I was very happy working in science, but in my 

opinion, science is less dynamic than business."12 

Born on January 23, 1946, into a Jewish family that was part of 
Moscow's educated dite, Berezovsky grew up in the Soviet capital 

and received the best education the U.S.S.R. had to offer. He studied 

at the electronics and computer science faculty of the Forestry Insti­

tute. This was one of the Soviet Union's secret scientific institutions­

Berezovsky's faculty was involved not in forestry, but in the Soviet 

space program. He proceeded to graduate school at the famous 

mechanical-mathematics department of Moscow State University. 

Next, it was on to the prestigious Academy of Sciences, where he 

spent twenty-five years researching decision-making theory. 13 
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Apparently he was a good scientist. He earned a master's degree 

(equivalent to an American Ph.D.) in applied mathematics in the 

1970s and then, in 1983, a Ph.D. (a higher qualification than the 

American degree). At the Academy of Sciences, he became director 

of one of the "laboratories" of the Institute of Management, which 

specialized in developing automation and computer systems for in­

dustrial enterprises.14 

Like many people, Berezovsky recognized that Gorbachev's re­

forms were failing; instead of reinvigorating the Soviet Union, they 

were precipitating its disintegration. The anti-alcohol campaign had 

drained the state of revenue and produced a generation of bootleg­

ger millionaires. The black market was flourishing and crime was in­

creasing dramatically. The ruble overhang was becoming larger each 

month. The lines were becoming longer, the shops emptier. 

As a member of the scientific-industrial elite, Berezovsky did not 

need to follow the steps of most other budding Soviet entrepreneurs 

at this time-starting such small enterprises as grocery stores, res­

taurants, or construction companies. He needed only to find a big, 

established Soviet industrial enterprise and attach himself to it. He 

found his target 700 miles east of Moscow, in the provincial town of 

Togliatti-home of Russia's largest auto manufacturer, Avtovaz. At 

the Institute of Management, Berezovsky had worked with the auto 

giant on its automation systems. Now he would approach it with a 

commercial proposition. 

Avtovaz had been established in the late 1960s as a showpiece of 

Leonid Brezhnev's program to provide Soviet citizens with the kind 

of consumer goods the West was enjoying. Italian automaker Fiat 

provided the equipment and the blueprints for the first models. 

When I first visited Avtovaz, in the summer of 1996, the auto plant 

had changed little from its original Italian design. The town of Togli­

atti, named after the 1960s Italian Communist leader, had few distin­

guishing characteristics-there were just rutted roads and shabby 

low-rise apartment blocks. Nearby, gently rising fields stretched to 
the horizon and the Volga flowed majestic and sealike, approaching 

its Caspian estuary. 
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The factory was on the outskirts of town. It was a monster auto 

plant: huge, vertically integrated, and badly run. The technology was 
hopelessly outdated. The factory produced 2,000 cars a day, but 

the vehicles-principally Lada sedans and Niva off-roaders-were 

primitive jalopies (essentially 1960s-era Fiats). It took Avtovaz thirty 
times the man-hours to produce a lousy car that it took a U.S. or 

Japanese factory to produce a good one.15 

The world's top automakers preferred to operate relatively small 

assembly plants, employing flexible manufacturing techniques and 

using large amounts of outsourced parts, usually installed as modules 

directly on the assembly line. But the Avtovaz assembly line was 

quite different. It stretched a mile and a quarter, workstation after 

workstation; there were no modules being slapped in-the cars were 

assembled piece by piece. Evidently, these pieces did not fit properly. 

The hammering was incessant: hammering down the gaskets, ham­

mering in the doors, hammering on the bumpers. On the engine line 

I saw a man screwing in pistons by hand and whopping them with a 

hammer. If there was a robot on the line, I didn't see it. 

It was in this dinosaur that Boris Berezovsky saw his first com­

mercial opportunity. In 1989 he approached top Avtovaz managers 

and proposed a private company to provide computer programming 

for the factory. Most private companies in the Soviet Union were ei­

ther cooperatives or joint ventures with foreign partners. Berezovsky 

was up-to-date on the latest changes to the Soviet commercial 

code-he knew that a joint venture was easily the best route, since it 

entailed significant tax advantages and the right to transfer half the 

profits abroad. At this early stage in his business career, Berezovsky 

already had an international perspective-he wanted to make 

money in Russia while keeping at least some of his earnings abroad. 

As a joint-venture partner, Vladimir Kadannikov, the chairman of 

Avtovaz, suggested the Italian factory-automation specialists Logo 

System; this Turin-based outfit had been working with Avtovaz for 

years and they promised to be a docile partner. 16 

In May 1989, Logovaz was established. The company was a col-
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lection of individuals-Berezovsky, Kadannikov, and a handful of 

the most commercially minded managers of Avtovaz. Kadannikov 

was chairman of the new company, Berezovsky was general director. 

The stated mission of Logovaz was to provide Avtovaz with automa­

tion software. Raising productivity at such a key manufacturing en­

terprise resonated well with Gorbachev's intention to modernize 

Soviet industry. But, almost immediately, Logovaz dropped the busi­

ness of upgrading industrial computer systems and began selling Av­

tovaz's automobiles. 17 

The KGB's New Mission 

That a top Soviet scientist should become a car dealer was not unusual 

in the late Gorbachev era. Even unlikely institutions such as the Cen­

tral Committee of the Communist Party were going into business. 

Housed in a complex of large Art Nouveau buildings on Old Square, 

not far from the Kremlin, the Central Committee was the traditional 

seat of power in the U.S.S.R. The parking lot was usually filled with 

black and gray Volga sedans, immaculately maintained, their drivers 

waiting obediently nearby. The Central Committee buildings con­

tained more than a thousand offices. They were linked by private 

pedestrian overpasses and tunnels. 

The intrigues that went on in the red-carpeted halls of the Cen­

tral Committee building complex are legendary. It has always been dif­
ficult for outsiders to know exactly which faction was opposing 

another. Yet the outcome of these mysterious struggles determined the 

fate of the nation. It was in the Central Committee in the 1920s that 

Stalin emerged victorious and proceeded to have his rivals executed. 

It was in the Central Committee in 1953 that Nikita Khrushchev suc­

ceeded in ousting Stalin's secret police chief Lavrenty Beria and hav­

ing him executed. It was in the Central Committee in 1964 that 

Khrushchev lost his hold on power and was forced to yield to Leonid 

Brezhnev. It was in the Central Committee in 1985 that Mikhail Gor­

bachev was designated leader of the U.S.S.R. 
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The International Department of the Central Committee was in 

charge of organizing overseas-financing schemes for foreign Com­

munist parties. Its staff became adept at using offshore tax havens, 

setting up shell games, and laundering money. The lnternation~l De­

partment's projects in this field were usually given to the KGB for 

implementation. In the 1980s, the KGB set up many fake banks and 

commercial enterprises offshore, especially in Greece, Cyprus, Italy, 

and Portugal. Billions of dollars were transferred to these institutions 

through VE Bank, the Soviet foreign trade bank. The typical mech­

anism involved the sale of a shipment of oil, metal, or timber to the 

KGB-sponsored enterprise abroad at a fraction of the world market 

price. The enterprise would resell the commodity at the market price 

and keep the trading profit for itself. Now, with the Soviet Union's de­

mise imminent, the International Department and the KGB em­

ployed the same scheme for the benefit of the Soviet Communist 

Party itself. 18 

Apart from a few departments of the Central Committee, the 

KGB was the only Soviet institution responding decisively to the de­

teriorating situation. It was given the task of preserving the power of 

the Soviet Union's ruling caste-the Communist nomenklatura­

even if Communism itself should end. Together with the Interna­

tional Department of the Central Committee, the KGB developed a 

strategy to transfer billions of dollars of Communist Party capital to 

captive companies in the Soviet private sector and abroad. It was an 

extraordinary operation.19 

Russians have always been good policemen. In the days of the 

czars, the secret police were not just run-of-the-mill snoops, but part 

of a highly inventive organization, conceiving extraordinary projects 

on a grand scale. In order to divert Russian workers from revolu­

tionary socialism, for instance, the czarist secret police created a se­

ries of monarchist trade unions. These organizations were highly 

successful until they spun out of control and precipitated the very 

event the authorities wished to avoid: a revolution. 

The Soviet secret police were far more zealous than the czar's se­

cret police. Untill991, the KGB was involved in industry, transporta-
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tion, telecommunications, the army, the police, and culture. It also 

had a long history of infiltrating opposition groups. The terms "agent 

provocateur" and "provocation" were an omnipresent reality in the So­

viet Union (and anywhere else around the world where the KGB 

spread its tentacles). A textbook provocation involved infiltrating the 

ranks of the opposition to guide your enemies onto the path of self­

destruction. The Soviet secret police specialized in such operations 

and surreptitiously established themselves in such potentially threat­

ening institutions as monarchist societies, dissident groups, churches, 

Zionist organizations, art circles, and ethnic separatist groups. 

In the fall of 1990, I met Oleg Kalugin, a major general of the 

KGB and former head of the agency's foreign counterintelligence di­

vision. Kalugin described his agency this way: "The KGB was char­

acterized simply by greater flexibility. If the Party administration 

considered that rock music should be banned, for example, the KGB 

argued that rock should be permitted, but kept firmly under its 

control. "20 

When I asked about whether the KGB had infiltrated the nas­
cent democratic movement as well, General Kalugin, who was nor­

mally oblique in his answers, reacted unusually firmly. "Nothing of the 

kind," he snapped. "There never was such a policy." 

Nine years later, when Kalugin and I met in Washington, D.C., 
where the former spymaster was living comfortably in exile, he re­

vealed the true role of the KGB in the birth of "democratic" Russia. 

In the landmark elections of 1990-the first free elections for ana­

tional parliament, as well as republic-level and regional parlia­

ments-the KGB had fielded several thousand candidates; most 

were elected. The KGB helped create the first non-Communist polit­

ical party: Vladimir Zhirinovsky's absurdly named Liberal Demo­

cratic Party. Zhirinovsky's mission was to talk big, serving as a 

lightning rod for nationalist sentiment, but to undertake no radical 

action of any kind. The nationalist group Pamyat, whose extremist 

rhetoric evinced great cries of alarm in the West in the late 1980s, was 

also a KGB creation. Some KGB officers assumed prominent roles in 
the democratic movement; Vladimir Putin, for instance, became a 
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top aide to the most eloquent champion of liberty and democracy, 

Anatoly Sobchak.21 

The man in charge of the KGB's surveillance of the domestic po­

litical scene was General Philip Bobkov. A veteran KGB man, al­

ready in his late fifties by the time of perestroika, Bobkov was the 

head of the KGB's Fifth Chief Directorate. "The mission of the Fifth 

Chief Directorate was very broad: It was to look after the political 

hygiene of the Soviet regime," recalls General Kalugin. "That means 

controlling, first of all, the intelligentsia, as the most infectious part 

of the population. That means controlling the church, as a represen­

tative of a hostile ideology. That means controlling the scientific 

community, and so on. "22 

Bobkov's Fifth Chief Directorate was the arm of the KGB re­

sponsible for persecuting Soviet dissidents, from Aleksandr Solzhe­

nitsyn to Andrei Sakharov. It had perfected the art of planting spies and 

informers among potentially threatening civic groups, and inserting 

KGB agents in leadership positions. With the arrival of Gorbachev, 

however, the Soviet government renounced political surveillance. 

Bobkov's Fifth Chief Directorate soon began to infiltrate the growing 

democratic movement and the new private enterprises. Bobkov him­

self was promoted to deputy chairman of the KGB. He remained re­

sponsible for the Fifth Chief Directorate, but also took control of the 

Sixth Chief Directorate, which had formerly investigated economic 

crimes and was now responsible for overseeing the new cooperatives 

(private businesses).23 

In 1990 a certain Colonel Leonid Veselovsky of the First Chief Di­

rectorate of the KGB outlined the new strategy in a secret memo­

randum to a Communist Party functionary named Nikolai Kruchina. 

Kruchina was in charge of Communist Party property at the Party's 

Central Committee. The KGB memo sought Kruchina's support in 

creating a network of captive banks and trading companies, both in 

Russia and abroad, to collect billions of dollars of government funds 

during the "period of emergency" and keep them for the Communist 

nomenklatura until a more propitious time arrived. 
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"The earnings which are accumulated in the Party treasury and 

are not reflected in the financial reports can be used to purchase the 

shares of various companies, enterprises, and banks," the Veselovsky 

memo states. "On the one hand, this will create a stable source of 

revenue, irrespective of what may happen to the Party. On the other 

hand, these shares can be sold on the securities exchanges at any 

time and the capital transferred to other spheres, allowing the Party 

to keep its participation anonymous and still retain control. ... In 

order to avoid mistakes in the course of this operation during the 

'period of emergency,' it is essential to organize, both in the U.S.S.R. 

and abroad, special rapid response groups, staffed by specially 

trained instructors from the active reserve of the KGB of the 

U.S.S.R., as well as by trusted individuals volunteering their cooper­

ation and by individuals who, for one reason or another, have lost 

their job in the field units or administrative departments of the KGB 

of the U.S.S.R."24 

The strategy was implemented. The ruling Communist Party 

had concluded that since it could not crush the black market, it must 

join it. The new entrepreneurs chosen by the Central Committee and 

the KGB to serve as repositories for this Communist "black trea­

sury" included freelance secret-service agents and gangster business­

men arising out of the vodka economy and the cooperatives. Many of 

Russia's future billionaires obtained their first real capital in this 

manner.25 

Berezovsky apparently was not one of the recipients of the 

KGB's secret funds. He was not one of the Communist Party's au­

thorized millionaires. Among other reasons, he may simply have 

been too old-the entrepreneurs chosen to handle the Communist 

Party funds tended to be members of the Communist Youth League, 

who were in their twenties, while Berezovsky was in his late forties at 

this time. But he could not fail to notice that commercial success in 

Russia depended on official patronage. 
"As the KGB was leaving the scene, it didn't simply disappear­

it left behind various political and commercial blocs, using people 
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whom the KGB had helped in the past," General Kalugin would 
later recall. "Don't forget that the Party retained a significant fortune 

and huge amounts of property. The KGB didn't have this money it­

self-it was the distributor. As soon as privatization began, these 

funds began to disappear. They didn't end up in the government­

since, legally speaking, these were not government funds, but Party 

funds. The money ended up in the black market. "26 

Much of this KGB-distributed money went to foreign bank ac­

counts. General Kalugin himself, while head of foreign counterintel­

ligence, helped set up some of the vehicles for this money. In 1978, 

Kalugin's First Chief Directorate started an economic-espionage 

agency called the Eighth Department to undertake foreign banking 

operations. "We would introduce our people, KGB men who were 

specialists in finance, into both Soviet banks and joint-venture banks 

in London and elsewhere," recalls Kalugin. "On this foundation, we 

developed the ability to manipulate the gold market, for example." 

(As the world's second-largest gold producer, the Soviet Union had 

the ability to influence the price of gold.)27 

Western intelligence agencies were aware of the KGB money­

laundering program, but they decided not to do anything, even 

when it became apparent that a large portion of the KGB money was 

being embezzled by freelance operatives, rogue businessmen, and 

gangsters. When the CIA, for instance, received an indirect request 

from the Russian government in 1992 to help track down the missing 

billions, it decided against it, for fear of jeopardizing its own agent 

network.28 

It was impossible to keep such large-scale financial operations 

completely secret, however. In February 1991 (the last year of the 

Gorbachev regime), a curious story appeared in Russia's newspapers. 

Gennady Filshin, the deputy minister of foreign trade in Boris 

Yeltsin's new Russian government (as distinct from the Soviet gov­

ernment of Mikhail Gorbachev), had apparently been working on a 

deal to buy $7.5 billion in exchange for 150 billion rubles. The coun­

terparty was an unknown British company called Dove Trading In­

ternational. The president of this company was a British fugitive 
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living in South Africa. Under the terms of the Filshin deal, Dove 
Trading would sell the $7.5 billion to the Russian government and 
use the rubles to buy Russian commodities and export-oriented en­

terprises. It was unclear whether the billions of dollars the Russian gov­
ernment received would stay offshore or be repatriated to Russia. 

It was also unclear where an insignificant company like Dove Trad­
ing could get such a huge sum of dollars (later, European law­
enforcement agencies suggested that the British firm might have 

been fronting for a Colombian cocaine cartel). Before the Filshin 
deal could be implemented, however, the operation was leaked to 

the Russian press. The Soviet parliament began an inquiry and the deal 
was aborted. Filshin was forced to resign, but the matter was never 
fully investigated.29 

A similar operation was set up in November 1990 in the offshore 
tax haven of}ersey (an island off the British coast) by the Soviet Cen­

tral Bank and a Paris-based affiliate often used for KGB financial 
operations abroad. This company was known as Financial Manage­
ment Co., or Fimaco. Over a five-year period in the 1990s, Fimaco 

would secretly handle immense sums for the Russian Central Bank 
($50 billion according to the estimates of Russian prosecutor-general 
Yuri Skuratov) and would accumulate hundreds of millions, perhaps 
billions, of dollars in profits offshore. There was no sign that these 

profits were being repatriated to Russia; instead they were distrib­

uted to a number of private banks, consulting companies, and non­
profit foundations.30 

The massive funds the Central Committee and KGB were hiding 
abroad were rarely sent via bank transfer. They had to be laundered 
first. The easiest way of disguising a large movement of funds off­
shore was by rigging foreign trade contracts. Toward the end of the 
Gorbachev era-1990 and 1991-Soviet foreign trade practices 
began assuming a distinctly unorthodox character. 

No one better exemplified the Soviet Union's increasing ten­
dency to conduct its foreign trade through dubious middlemen than 
the notorious international commodities trader Marc Rich. A wun­
derkind oil trader in the 1970s, Rich had fled the United States in 
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1983, when he was indicted for racketeering, fraud, tax evasion, and 

trading with the enemy (Iran). Now a billionaire in his mid-fifties, 

Rich lived in Zug, Switzerland, where he combined the glamorous 

life of big-time international deal-making with the furtive existence of 

an outlaw. Switzerland refused to extradite him, but the United 

States had strong extradition treaties with most other countries in 

Europe. Interpol had a "red notice" on him, giving the highest pos­

sible priority to his apprehension.31 

Marc Rich was a businessman who thrived on the misfortune of 

others. In 1990 he found himself in a tough situation. Metals prices 

had fallen. Two of his big oil trading partners-Iraq and Kuwait­

had dropped out of the world trading system. Many of his traditional 

markets were drying up. When I asked Rich's trading rivals what was 

happening with his business, they painted an unremittingly gloomy 

picture. 

"When there was an embargo on South Mrica, Rich provided 

them with oil, and they paid handsomely for that," noted Dieter 

Boettcher, director of a London-based metals trading subsidiary of 

Metallgesellschaft A.G.: "Now that the embargo is being lifted, the 

margins are slimmer. "32 

Latin America? "Twenty years ago Latin American countries 

like Chile and Venezuela were very much traders' country," said 

Jonathan Platts-Mills, a director of the British conglomerate Lonrho, 

Plc. "But now they've become more sophisticated, dealing directly 

with clients and suppliers. "33 

The Middle East? "The days of wild commodity trading, of the 

incredible deals when you could use your friendship with some 

prince in the Middle East to get oil at $4 a barrel, are long gone," said 

Sveinung Medaas, head of the Moscow office of Salomon Inc.'s oil 

trading subsidiary, Phibro Energy Inc.34 

With many of his traditional markets drying up, Rich found an­

other way to make money: Shortchange the desperate Soviets. 

Throughout the former Soviet Union there was unprecedented tur­

rnoil-profit margins on both oil and metals trading were at least 
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two or three times the average trading margins in other parts of the 

world. The Soviet business became a key part of Rich's $30 billion 
global trading volume.35 

Though Rich maintained very close relations with various Com­

munist Party chiefs, it is unclear what role he played in the KGB 

money-laundering program. He certainly played a part in facilitating 

capital flight out of the Soviet Union. He was also a pioneer in teach­

ing former KGB officers how to go freelance and appropriate inter­

national trading profits for themselves.36 

Rich traded all kinds of products with the Soviet Union. He sold 

grain, sugar, zinc concentrate, and alumina (a bauxite extract that is 

the main component of aluminum) to the Soviets, and they paid him 

back with oil and aluminum, as well as nickel, copper, and other 

metals. The Russian commodities gave Rich tremendous weight on 

some of the most important world commodity markets. Thanks 

largely to his Soviet purchases, for instance, Rich handled 2 million 

tons of aluminum annually, controlling one third of the world spot 

market in this metal.J7 

"[We are providing] Russian companies with investment, know­

how, and help in entering the world market at a time when other 

Western firms are either turning away from Russia or are making 

intolerable commercial demands," Rich declared to the Russian press 

several years later, after his operations had come under scrutiny.38 

In fact, Rich was gouging the Russians, buying commodities at 

insider prices, selling them abroad, and registering his profits in the 

tax haven of Zug, Switzerland. Russian traders would perform the 

same operation repeatedly in the 1990s, but Rich had the distinction 

of doing it first and doing it big. Much of what he was doing was 

technically illegal according to Soviet laws, but he had astute collab­

orators on the inside. His deals usually involved secret arrangements 

with the directors of oil and aluminum enterprises and complicated 

payment schemes that spanned the globe.39 

One of Rich's key counterparties was a forty-year-old entrepreneur 

named Artyom Tarasov, a man who emerged as one of the pioneers 
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of Russian robber capitalism. Tarasov, who was half-Georgian, had 

grown up on the Black Sea coast, had studied at the Mining Institute 

and the state planning agency Gosplan's Higher Economic School, and 

had taken a job with the Moscow municipal government. As soon as 

it became legal in 1987 to establish private businesses ("coopera­

tives"), he started a cooperative called Tekhnika, to trade Russian 

raw materials for personal computers. He made a small fortune. His 

next company, Istok, grew into an export-oriented empire, including 

leased railcars, depots, port facilities, ships, and warehouses.40 

In the summer of 1990, Tarasov took an important role in fi­

nancing the government by participating in the "Harvest 90" cam­

paign. This program was devised by the cash-strapped Russian 

government to pay collective farms with promissory notes, which 

could later be exchanged for imported consumer goods. Tarasov was 

chosen to redeem 10 percent of the outstanding Harvest 1990 

promissory notes. Boris Yeltsin's republican government granted 

him a license to export Soviet heating oil and permitted him to 

keep his earnings abroad-an unprecedented privilege for a private 

trader-with the stipulation that he use the profit to redeem the 

promissory notes. He sold the oil abroad, but Soviet farmers never re­

ceived their consumer goods. It was a famous scandalY 

"Yes, Tarasov certainly was our teacher," Oleg Davydov, a vet­

eran official at the Ministry of Trade, would later note ruefully. "He 

bought heating oil domestically at $36 a ton and sold it for $80 a ton 

abroad. And all the while he appeared on TV teaching us that people 

have to do these kinds of deals, how much money it's possible to 

earn, and that the Ministry of Foreign Trade is such a bad organiza­

tion, because it's preventing people from doing this. Well, the Min­

istry of Foreign Trade was doing exactly the same thing, only it put 

the difference [between domestic and world prices] not into the 

pocket of Tarasov, but into the government budget. "42 

There is no evidence that Berezovsky ever did business with Marc 

Rich or even met him, though the two men briefly shared an interest 

in the aluminum export market. It is a fact, however, that Berezovsky 

adopted many of the capital-flight strategies pioneered by Rich. In this 
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way, the Switzerland-based trader served as a mentor to Berezovsky, 

much as he did to many other Russian traders and financiers.43 

In 1991, another dubious foreign trade operation was exposed. 

This one involved an outfit called ANT, a closely held company es­

tablished by several military-industrial managers with the aid of So­

viet prime minister Nikolai Ryzhkov and several of his ministers. The 

president of the company was a KGB general. Throughout 1990-91 

ANT secretly handled a number of large commodity export deals, 

completely bypassing the Ministry of Foreign Trade. The sales were 

made at prices far below world market levels, with the rest of the 

purchase price being appropriated by unknown counterparties 

abroad. ANT was eventually busted when it tried to export a ship­

ment of tanks, artillery, and other military equipment to buyers 

abroad. The matter was never fully investigated, but Prime Minister 

Ryzhkov was forced to resign.44 

I would later talk to the first post-Soviet prime minister, Yegor 

Gaidar, about capital flight in the last years of the Soviet Union. 

"In the structure of Soviet foreign trade contracts there were lots of 

mysteries," Gaidar said. "We bought all kinds of equipment at ab­

normally high prices and with cash up front, while much of our pro­

duction was sold at very low prices." 

Whatever the nature of these clandestine operations-Fimaco, 

ANT, the Filshin affair-the Soviet Union's gold and foreign ex­

change reserves disappeared sometime around 1990. I asked Gaidar 

what happened. Did the Communist bosses and the KGB smuggle this 

wealth out of the country? "You can't prove that with statistics on for­

eign trade," Gaidar responded. "All the money went to pay for im­

ports or foreign debt service. Whether these imports were necessary 

and at what prices the goods were bought-that's another question. 

But you can't check that in the statistics." 

In the early 1980s, the Soviet gold reserve stood at 1,300 tons 

(about $30 billion in those days). Over a period of just two years, be­

tween 1989 and 1991, most of this gold reserve (approximately 1,000 

tons) was sold. At the same time, the Soviet Union's foreign exchange 

reserves had fallen from $15 billion at the start of Gorbachev's rule 
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to a paltry $1 billion in 1991. Though the true picture of the U.S.S.R.'s 

balance of payments at this time is almost impossible to ascertain, it 

was clear that the Soviet Union lost about $20 billion in capital flight 

in 1990-91.45 

As its coffers emptied, the Soviet Union had no choice but to ac­

cept a reduced status on the world stage. The Berlin Wall fell at the 

end of 1989 and the Soviet client states in Europe broke free. Half a 

year later, after Iraq (a traditional Soviet ally) invaded Kuwait and 

the United States prepared to go to war, Gorbachev supported the 

Western alliance against Saddam Hussein. Inside the Soviet Union, 

Gorbachev's hold on power was steadily weakening. 

In November 1990, I was again in Moscow on Revolution Day. 

This time I did not have an insider's post. I watched the beginning of 

the parade on television and heard the rest of it on the public ad­

dress system still functioning throughout the center of Moscow. I de­

cided to go to Red Square. 

The streets leading up to the Kremlin were empty, blocked by 

heavily manned checkpoints. I tried the back end, by the giant 

Hotel Rossiya. Only authorized personnel were permitted through, 

but with my press credentials and a lot of cajoling, I emerged onto 

Red Square by St. Basil's Cathedral. Officials and Communist ac­

tivists passing me on the way back from the review were tense, 

somewhat bewildered. (A man with a shotgun marching past Gor­

bachev in Red Square had shot at the Soviet president and had been 

arrested.) 

Under the walls of St. Basil's stood a small group of angry middle­

aged activists holding banners and yelling slogans. GORBACHEV AND 

YAKOVLEV [Gorbachev's closest adviser] ARE ZIONIST SPIES! read one 

banner with a large star of David. STOP THE BETRAYAL OF THE FA-

1HERLAND! read another. It was Pamyat-the anti-Semitic group 

that had emerged so visibly in the late stages of the Gorbachev 

regime. Pamyat would later be revealed as a KGB-sponsored provo­

cation, designed to channel Russian nationalist sentiments into a po-
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litically reliable entity and to frighten Western public opinion into 

supporting the moderate Gorbachev as the "only alternative" to ex­

tremist forces.46 

Hearing about a plan for a counterdemonstration of democrats, 

led by Boris Yeltsin and the current Moscow mayor, Gavril Popov, 

I walked around the Kremlin to Revolution Square. Several thou­

sand people-mosdy young, but including elderly intellectual 

types-were there. It was a modey crowd: anarchists, babushkas 
(older ladies), bespectacled young intellectuals, students, as well as 

ubiquitous gray litde men worming their way into every group and 

conversation-KGB agents provocateurs. In the front row was 

Yeltsin, defiant, his huge chest thrust forward in a white shirt, link­

ing arms with Popov, a diminutive, swarthy man, who looked around 

nervously. 

A line of policemen prevented the column from pushing its 

way into Red Square. Some crafty old babushkas emerged from the 

ranks of the democrats. "Please, dear, don't hurt an old lady, let us 

through," they implored the servicemen. "We have a right to go to Red 

Square," the men shouted. "We have Yeltsin with us and Popov." 

The police broke their line and the democrats swept noisily up the 

cobbled street toward St. Basil's and Lenin's Mausoleum. 

"Resign! Resign!" the crowd shouted to the vacant marble terrace 

of the Lenin Mausoleum, where the Politburo had stood just an hour 

before. "Democracy!" they shouted to the Kremlin parapets and the 

government buildings beyond. 

The participants in the official Communist demonstration had 

long since gone. The only ones who remained were the street 

sweepers and a regiment of Communist thugs with their backs 

against the Kremlin wall-burly young men, scowling with that 

brutal glare cultivated by all good Communists. They seemed to be 

either plainclothes members of the KGB or martial-arts specialists of 

the Communist Youth League. A few years later I would see the 
same faces in the organized-crime groups of Moscow. But on that day 

they were guarding the old order against Yeltsin. They glared and 
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shifted on their feet, itching to break free and pummel the bohemians 

and intellectuals parading under the democratic banners. The dem­

ocrats marched past them and dispersed by the statue of Minin and 

Pozharsky. 

The Lausanne Connection 

At this time, Berezovsky was making good money selling Avtovaz 

cars, but, having watched Marc Rich and other commodities traders 

from the sidelines, he wanted to get into the lucrative business of ex­

porting Russian raw materials. For this he needed to find a partner ex­

perienced in trading commodities around the world and in discreetly 

managing international money flows. In early 1991, accompanied by 

Nikolai Glushkov, chief financial officer of Avtovaz and a Logovaz 

founding member, Berezovsky traveled to Lausanne, Switzerland. 

Lausanne is one of the financial capitals of Switzerland-not 

nearly as big as Geneva (in terms of private banking) or Zurich (in 

terms of corporate banking), but well located and boasting low lev­

els of taxation and regulation. It is one of those remarkably prosper­

ous Swiss towns-a village that has sprouted skyscrapers. Expensive 

restaurants, boutiques, and shopping centers grace its cobbled 

streets. The most well-known corporate resident is the International 

Olympic Committee, which twice every four years holds the nations 

of the world in thrall as it chooses the site for the winter and summer 

games. A more discreet resident of Lausanne, but only slightly less in­

ternational, is the big commodities trading company Andre & Cie. 

Established in 1877 and still owned by members of the Andre 

family, the firm trades principally grain and sugar, but also a wide se­

lection of other goods and services around the world. The company's 

headquarters are in the center of town: a large glass building, set 

among lawns and pine trees, with a spectacular view of Lake 

Geneva. In the marble lobby, the security officer sits properly at his 

desk; across from him are paintings and models of oil tankers and 

other bulk carriers. Upstairs, on five or six well-lit floors, ambitious 

young traders work the phones and computers. 
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Andre began doing business in Russia in 1978, when a number of 

big Western corporations were trying to exploit detente. By the time 

Berezovsky approached it, in 1991, Andre was selling the Russians 

grain and sugar, as well as Swiss industrial machinery, and wanted to 

expand its operations.47 

One of the company's point men was Alain Mayor, a middle­

aged Swiss businessman who had been working on Russian projects 

since 1981. Based in Lausanne, Mayor was head of the Russian desk 

of an outfit called Pineo (Financial Compensation), a semiautono­

mous Andre subsidiary charged with procuring payment from coun­

tries without convertible currencies. The Pineo outfit specialized in 

a variety of countertrade deals, barter arrangements, and complicated 

currency-exchange schemes in the darker comers of the global 

market. "It is a very opportunistic operation-this compensation de­

partment at Andre-trying to make business out of any opportunity 

which arises," Mayor recalls. "The basis of making it work is getting 

into contact with partners with whom you feel a common interest. "48 

Alain Mayor quickly realized the implications of the changes un­

leashed by Gorbachev's perestroika. During the Soviet era, business 

in Russia for Western companies was relatively straightforward. It was 

important to have the right contacts and introductions, but basically 

Soviet government officials overseeing the trade deals acted according 

to precise economic principles. Typically the officials were informed 

by the central planners at Gosplan that the U.S.S.R. needed a partic­

ular quantity of a particular type of good; then the only question was 

which Western firm offered the best deal in terms of price, quality, 

and delivery schedules. The Soviet Union had an excellent reputa­

tion as a commercial partner: The Soviet trading establishment was 

an honest counterparty, did not engage in bait-and-switch shenanigans, 

and did not try to renege on the bill. In the late 1980s, once the cen­

tral government began losing its authority and more business was 

handled by semi-independent commercial organizations, the market 

became corrupted-an inside deal among cronies. 

"For the success of deals in Russia, I considered it very important 

to have a partner in Russia," says Mayor. "It wasn't the case before. 
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But since 1990 it became indispensable to have someone who was on 

the inside of the market. And future events would prove that it is on 

the inside of the market that business is interesting, so to speak. "49 

Boris Berezovsky was the partner Mayor had been looking for­

the man who could get Andre into the "interesting" part of the Rus­

sian market. "I really met [Berezovsky] the first time in Lausanne," 

Mayor recalls. "He asked for a rendezvous. [I said] if you have a 

proposition, I'm game. At that time I was very interested in finding 

a partner in Russia. He presented what he was doing, what Logovaz 

was doing in cars. I don't remember what we talked about, but I 

found the person interesting and agreeable. They [Berezovsky and 

Glushkov] said: 'Couldn't we create something together?' We simply 

replied: 'Well, why not?' "50 

One of the Andre staffers involved in the early negotiations with 

Berezovsky was Christian Maret, who would later head up the Swiss 

grain trader's Moscow office. Maret was impressed with Berezovsky. 

"In contrast to the stereotypical Russian businessman, he gave the 

impression of already being much more Westernized," Maret recalls. 

"As a man, I would say, he has lots of ideas, but the problem is to fol­

low his ideas, to put them into practice. Glushkov, on the other 

hand, was more matter-of-fact."51 

The traders from Andre & Cie. were eager to get in on the 

emerging Russian gold rush. "We were interested in buying automo­

biles," says Mayor. "We knew that at the time there was already a lot 

of reexport of Avtovaz cars. We thought it might be interesting to 

have access to this kind of activity, since we were not involved in 

these kinds of things at that time. "52 

Alain Mayor convinced Andre & Cie. to go into business with 

Berezovsky not only as a counterparty but also as an equity partner 

in a series of different companies, beginning with Logovaz. Why 

would a century-old trading house, jealous of its reputation, want to 

get into bed with a little-known entrepreneur in a market already no­

torious for its corruption and criminality? "The choice at that time 

in Russia wasn't exceptional," said Mayor. "It would have been diffi­
cult to find someone with a great reputation in 1991 in Russia, some-
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one with a fantastic track record. There is a lot of intuition when you 

judge the qualities of a potential partner. You meet someone, you 

start something, and then you see what happens next. "53 

For his part, Berezovsky wanted to reincorporate Logovaz and 

retain a foreign-registered company as half-owner, but he was no 

longer satisfied with Logo System as a partner. Automated control 

systems were no longer interesting-he needed an outfit specialized 

in buying and selling. He wanted Logovaz to be co-owned by a Swiss 

company, but not controlled by anyone but the Russians. He turned 

to Andre for ideas. 

Andre found the perfect vehicle for Logovaz, a Swiss company 

called Anros S.A. It had been established by Andre in 1977 for busi­

ness in Southeast Asia. Anros was owned on the basis of bearer 

shares-which means the owners are not identified in a register, they 

are simply individuals who physically possess the shareownership 

certificates. This practice used to be common in the United States 

until the stock market crash of 1929. When Anros was founded in 

1977, 100 percent of the bearer shares were held by Andre. When 

Logovaz was reincorporated on May 28, 1991, Anros was reincorpo­

rated as well-first in June, then in September-with 99 percent of 

the shares eventually belonging to the Russian partners.54 

Formally speaking, Logovaz was still a 50/50 Russian-Swiss joint 

venture, entitled to various tax breaks and to keep part of its profit 

abroad, but in fact all but a small percentage of the company be­

longed to Berezovsky and his Russian partners.55 

In the autumn of 1996 I asked Berezovsky who owned Logovaz. 

"The main shareholders are individuals," he answered. "The number 

of shareholders in [Logovaz] can be counted on the fingers of one 

hand. These are the people who founded the company. Two of them 

have no business other than Logovaz and they are my principal part­

ners." He added that the owners of Logovaz were generally the same 

people who held the top management positions in the company.56 

One of the extraordinary things about the shareholder structure 

of Logovaz, considering the company's later role in nearly bankrupt­

ing Avtovaz, was the presence of several of the top managers of the 
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automaker, including president Vladimir Kadannikov, finance chief 

Nikolai Glushkov, marketing chief Aleksandr Zibarev, and Kadan­

nikov's special assistant on financial matters, Samat Zhaboev. 

"There were people who were on both sides, that's for sure," 

Andre director Yves Cuendet would later admit, "people who were 

both on the side of Logovaz and on the side of Avtovaz. "57 In other 

words, Avtovaz was selling its cars on special terms to an independent 

dealership called Logovaz and engaging Logovaz to handle its fi­

nances at the same time that top Avtovaz executives benefited per­

sonally from the relationship as Logovaz shareholders. 

For Berezovsky the reincorporation of Logovaz represented an ex­

traordinary achievement. The Soviet Union had not yet fallen, and 

here was a Russian businessman, operating without the advice of the 

KGB or other internationally minded parts of the Soviet establish­

ment, setting up a sophisticated international financial structure, 

complete with reputable foreign partners, shell companies, and tax 

shelters. The joint venture with Andre & Cie. confirmed Berezovsky 

as one of the pioneers of Russia's peculiar version of capitalism. The 

car dealer had established the two key elements of the strategy that 

would make him immensely wealthy: a personal connection with the 

managers of a major Russian enterprise and the international finan­

cial network to bleed that enterprise of cash flow. 

The Putsch 

Dissatisfaction continued to grow throughout the Soviet Union. Cig­

arettes were scarce and tobacco riots broke out in many cities; mobs 

of deprived smokers trashed shops, kiosks, and bus stations.58 

The 1991 grain harvest forecast was down 23 percent. Soviet 

farmers began distress slaughters of their livestock. Food stores were 

emptier than usual. There were reports of desperate villagers hijack­

ing freight trains on the Trans-Siberian Railroad. As the govern­
ment's deficit continued to grow, Gorbachev was forced to reduce 

social spending. For the first time in the Soviet Union's history, there 

were coal miner strikes and mass labor unrest. "Gorbachev has only 
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months left in power," Oleg Voronin, a coal miner leader, told me in 

early 1991. Meanwhile, the policy of covering the deficit by printing 

money meant that a monetary explosion was imminent. Something had 

to be done quickly. But the Gorbachev government was paralyzed by 

indecision.59 

My friends talked about an approaching military coup. The So­

viet army was unhappy, having lost its East European client states 

and having been forced to reduce spending and retire 500,000 army 

officers. Army units were now confronting rebellious crowds with 

live bullets in several cities: Vilnius, Baku, Tbilisi. Two Soviet re­

publics-Armenia and Azerbaijan-were engaged in open warfare for 

the disputed territory of Nagorno Karabakh. General Boris Gromov, 

former commander of the Soviet forces in Afghanistan, was often 

mentioned as a candidate for the role of Napoleon to carry out the 

coup d'etat and revive the country. 

Then, on August 19, 1991, an astonishing spectacle unfolded be­

fore the world. On CNN, in yellow, fuzzy pictures, filmed at night, 

there were tanks on the streets of Moscow. Tank and paratroop units 

had seized control of the capital. Gorbachev was being held captive 

at his Black Sea villa. An entity called the State Committee for the State 

of Emergency (GKCHP) had taken power. Unhappy army officers 

and disgruntled Communist Parry members were carrying out a 

Putsch against Mikhail Gorbachev and his reforms. 

The new parliament of the Russian Federation, based in a white 

skyscraper on the Moscow River-nicknamed the White House-was 

holding out, however. The elected president of the Russian Federa­

tion, Boris Yeltsin, had at first been stranded by the coup, waiting 

helplessly in his dacha outside Moscow. By means of an audacious 

sleight-of-hand trick, Yeltsin's loyal bodyguard, Aleksandr Kor­

zhakov, managed to smuggle him into the White House. On the way, 

Korzhakov and Yeltsin passed through a cordon of KGB special 

troops who had apparently been ordered to prevent the Russian 

president from reaching his destination at all costs; surprisingly, the 

KGB troops failed to fire a single shot.60 

The armed forces loyal to the Putsch surrounded the White 
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House, but democratic activists hdd them off during the perilous 

midnight hours. A tense two-day standoff ensued. Several army 

units, including the crack Tula Paratrooper Division of General 

Pavd Grachev and General Aleksandr Lebed, refused direct o:ders 

to storm the democrats' bastion. Instead the paratroopers formed a 

cordon of armored vehicles to guard the White House against "dis­

order and vandalism." It was a key turning point in the siege (both 

Grachev and Lebed would be rewarded with high government posts 

in the Yeltsin government: Grachev as minister of defense, Lebed as 

secretary of the Security Council). 61 

On the third day, the army units retreated. The leaders of the 

coup fled and were soon arrested. Boris Yeltsin made his dramatic 

speech from the White House balcony, and hundreds of thousands 

of joyful citizens cdebrated democracy in Red Square with a gigan­

tic Russian (non-Communist) flag. On Lubyanka Square, in front of 

the KGB headquarters, the KGB-sponsored nationalist organization 

Pamyat led a mob in removing the statue of Fdix Dzerzhinsky, the 

founder of the Soviet secret police. 

Throughout the attempted coup the majority of the Soviet pop­

ulation remained neutral. Their destiny had been decided by a sur­

prisingly small group of politicians, soldiers, and activists. 

With the failure of the August Putsch, the KGB, which had 

served as the "sword and shidd" of the Communist Party, fell apart. 

Its departments were distributed among at least four different gov­

ernment agencies. A huge number of KGB officers, often the brighter 

ones, left the service altogether and formed "mini-KGBs" at private 

companies. The KGB's vast network of agents and informants dis­

persed. Among these individuals were many of the new businessmen 

who had gotten their start with Communist Party funds.62 

Most of the KGB-designated entrepreneurs wanted to keep the 

funds for themselves. Many of the most famous murders that swept 

the Russian business world in the next few years resulted from the 

struggle over these funds. Since the KGB had been an organ not of 

the Soviet Union but of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union, its 

operatives acknowledged neither the call of the new Yeltsin govern-
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ment nor that of the reconstituted rump of the Russian Communist 

Party. The latter was particularly bitter about the success of the 

KGB-sponsored entrepreneurs and kept pointing out that, among 

other things, the entrepreneurs had stolen the Party's funds. 

Parking Communist Party funds in commercial enterprises was not 

the only KGB-sponsored perestroika project that would ultimately 

harm Russia. The KGB also infiltrated and sponsored leading 

organized-crime groups. The FBI, for instance, had long noted that 

the Soviet secret service was behind the rise of many leading Russian 

gangsters, almost certainly including the Jap, Otarik, leading mem­

bers of the Solntsevo Brotherhood, as well as several Chechen gangs. 

It would not be long before the "agents" would break from the con­

trol of the "masters" and transform the country in their own image.63 

Here was the root of Russia's downfall: The KGB and the Com­

munist Party were incapable of playing it straight. They continually 

concocted some kind of double game. They made the same mistake 

that the czarist secret police had made a century earlier-they 

thought they were infiltrating the revolutionary movement and con­

trolling it, but actually they were feeding the revolution. The KGB had 

created the gangsters and the capitalists who went on to destroy the 

Soviet Union. It was an outcome neither a genuine Communist nor 

a Russian patriot could have desired. In retrospect, the Central 

Committee-KGB plan was a colossal mistake: Dr. Frankenstein cre­

ating the monster, only to see him break his chains and run amok. 
For Berezovsky the fall of Communism was good news. He had 

never been particularly close to the power brokers of the Soviet 
Communist Party, but he was on very good terms with new authori­

ties-Yegor Gaidar, Anatoly Sobchak, Anatoly Chubais, and the 

other "young reformers" who constituted Yeltsin's kitchen cabinet. 

Some of them, like Pyotr Aven, the young economist who was Yeltsin's 
new minister of foreign trade, were old family friends; others, such as 

Mikhail Khodorkovsky, the Deputy Minister of Fuel & Energy, 
would soon be close business associates; still others were social ac­

quaintances made in the 1980s. On September 6, 1991, just three 

weeks after the August Putsch, Logovaz received a special export 
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license from the Ministry of Foreign Trade. This gave the car dealer 
permission to export oil, aluminum, and a variety of strategic raw 
materials. Berezovsky could now proceed with his plan to tap into 

Russia's prime sources of hard currency.64 

Death in the Courtyard 

The fall of Soviet Communism was largely a bloodless affair. Offi­

cially only three people died during the Putsch-three democratic 

activists crushed by tanks. There was another notable casualty, how­
ever: Nikolai Kruchina, the man who controlled Communist Party 

property at the Central Committee headquarters at Old Square. Sev­
eral days after the Putsch, Kruchina "jumped" out of his office win­

dow. With this death, Russia's new entrepreneurs could breathe 

easier. The man who knew where all the Central Committee and 
KGB money was parked would not be able to divulge his secrets to 
the world.65 



CHAPTER THREE 

TRADER'S PARADISE 

The Decision to Dissolve the Soviet Union 

Yeltsin's first task after emerging victorious from the August 1991 

Putsch was to get rid of the other man with a claim to the leadership 

of the nation: Soviet president Mikhail Gorbachev. Since Gorbachev 

had assumed his post legally, in accordance with the Soviet constitu­

tion, there was only one way to go. 

In early December, Yeltsin flew to a Belarussian hunting resort 

called Belovezhskaya Pushcha to meet with the leaders of the two 

other big Slavic republics-Ukraine's Leonid Kravchuk and Be­

larus's Stanislav Shushkevich. Together, on December 8, they de­

cided to abolish the Soviet Union and declare independence. This 

decision, made just nine months after a nationwide referendum in 

which 7 6 percent of Soviet citizens voted to keep the union intact, was 

unconstitutional and antidemocratic.1 

The once rigidly centralized Soviet state dissolved into fifteen 

nationalistic and largely anticapitalistic republican governments. In 

the Republic of Georgia, for example, the new president was a for­

mer dissident named Zviad Gamsakhurdia. Upon taking power, 

Gamsakhurdia revealed himself to be an old-fashioned tyrant, turn­

ing his militia goons on political rivals; he was eventually ousted in 
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a coup and died in a shoot-out with government troops in a moun­

tain village. The Ukrainian government was taken over by the 

republic's former Communist bosses, who combined extreme na­

tionalist symbolism with an absolute refusal to change their nation's 

social or economic order. In Kazakhstan, the largest net exporter of 

grain among the former Soviet republics, the government prohib­

ited Kazakh farmers from selling their produce beyond the bound­

aries of the republic. Throughout the former Soviet empire, new 

border posts appeared and venal customs agents haggled over 

burdensome trade duties. Neighboring villages and family mem­

bers suddenly found themselves on opposite sides of international 

frontiers. 

For Russia the geographic change was devastating. Its borders 

were rolled back roughly to those of 1613. At the stroke of a pen it 

lost perhaps 50 million people who considered Russian their native 

language. One person who was particularly outraged by this devel­

opment was the dissident writer Aleskandr Solzhenitsyn. 

"Imagine that one not-very-fine day, two or three of your states 

in the Southwest, in the space of twenty-four hours, declare them­

selves to be a fully sovereign nation, independent of the U.S., with 

Spanish as the only language," Solzhenitsyn fumed. "All English­

speaking residents, even if their ancestors have lived there for 200 

years, have to take a test in the Spanish language within one or two 

years and to swear allegiance to the new nation. Otherwise they will 

not receive citizenship and will be deprived of civic, property, and em­

ployment rights. "2 

The gross domestic product in all the former Soviet republics 

(except for the tiny Baltic states) plummeted. Many years later, the lib­

eral parliamentarian Grigory Yavlinsky would note: "There was no 

doubt that the Soviet Union was politically doomed. But it was 
absolutely indispensable to retain a [unified] free market and a [uni­

fied] distribution system. They [Yeltsin's ministers] not only failed to 

do this-they did everything they could to push the other republics 

away."3 
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Gaidar's Reform 

Thirty-three-year-old economist Yegor Gaidar answered questions in 

a soft, high-pitched voice; he spoke quickly, as if the answer were ob­

vious to everyone. Boris Yeltsin was impressed by him and put the fate 

of Russia in his hands. 

"The socialist economic system is a complete system," Gaidar 

explained. "You cannot pull out one little element, such as con­

trolled prices, and expect it to work. For it to work you need ... an 

effective Gosplan, a system of orders which are obeyed, the ability to 

jail the factory head who does not deliver his goods to the place he is 

supposed to, to fire the head of the local government if he doesn't de­

liver the grain he's ordered to, the ability to seize the grain from a 

collective farm that doesn't want to surrender it. Under these condi­

tions, the system works more or less. 

"This system was disintegrating fast in 1989-90. By the autumn 

of 1991, when we formed our government, it was gone altogether. In 
Gosplan, people were still working, but once no one was jailed any­

more for disobeying orders, the orders were no longer obeyed. 

"Imagine you are the director of a state farm. You are told to sur­

render your grain for worthless money, which is incapable of buying 

anything. Previously, you knew that if you didn't obey, in the best of 

cases you would be dismissed from your job. In the worst of cases, you 

would be thrown in jail. Today, you know that the law says that you 

can't be fired and you won't be jailed. Are you going to surrender 

your grain? Of course not. 

"This situation is very similar to the one that existed in Russia in 

1918. There are only two ways out of the situation. The first is to 

start shooting people again, to requisition the grain and to throw 

people into prison if they don't agree. The other alternative is imme­

diately and without any hesitation to create the necessary conditions 

for money to become valuable again." 

In the winter of 1991-92, the shops were empty. People were 

hoarding supplies. "I knew what was going on with my grain supplies," 
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Gaidar says. "I knew how many railcars of grain I had, how many re­

serves I had. I knew that at best, assuming complete freedom of 

movement and lowered consumption rates, we had enough grain to 

last us until the middle of February." 

Starving to death and freezing in winter-the two great phan­

toms of the Russian imagination. Perhaps Gaidar could not be 

blamed for panicking. "There is no time for discussions," he re­

members thinking. "People will begin to die of hunger."4 

Gaidar knew that freeing prices with the ruble overhang un­

solved would unleash hyperinflation. But on January 2, 1992, all 
prices save for those of a few strategic goods were freed, and they im­
mediately skyrocketed. Shopkeepers scrambled to add zeros to price 

tags. Shoppers wandered around in a daze. By the end of the year, the 

price of eggs had increased 1,900 percent, soap-3,100 percent, to­

bacco-3,600 percent, bread-4,300 percent, milk-4,800 percent. 

Savings accounts, meanwhile, yielded only a few percent interest, 

and salaries increased only slightly. The great mass of savings accu­

mulated by Russians over a generation was wiped out.5 

Gaidar's "shock therapy," as the wags would soon note, was "all 
shock and no therapy." Russia's gross domestic product plummeted 

19 percent in 1992, another 9 percent in 1993, a further 13 percent 

in 1994, and so on for most of the 1990s. By the end, a huge super­

power had been reduced to the status of an impoverished Third 

World country. 

One of the clearest measures of the extent to which Russia's mar­

ket transition was failing was the relentless decline of the ruble/ 

dollar exchange rate. The days when one ruble in Gorbachev's Rus­

sia was equivalent to roughly one dollar was a distant memory-by 

the end of 1992 it took 415 rubles to buy a single dollar. By the end 

of the Yeltsin era, it would take roughly 28,000 rubles to buy one 

dollar. The Yeltsin government did not entertain the idea of tem­

porary currency controls as China had done so successfully through­

out its long economic boom in the 1980s and 1990s. As American 

supply-side economist Jude Wanniski observed at the time, "Money 
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is the government's non-interest-bearing debt to its own people and 

the government should honor that debt."6 

Grigory Yavlinsky argues that Gaidar's government made a huge 

mistake by freeing prices so quickly. There was no burning need to 

capitulate to hyperinflation, Yavlinsky notes. "It is true that there 

was a certain hysteria, but from my point of view there was no threat 

of famine at that time," he says. "The shops had empty shelves, but 

they had been empty in all the past Soviet years as well."7 

The hyperinflation of 1992, combined with the lack of measures 

to protect the elderly, the poor, and the sick from rising prices, 

caused a dramatic decline in Russian life expectancy, but Gaidar saw 

no reasonable alternative to his policy. He would later tell me that he 

could not privatize apartments or garden plots for cash because the 

Communist-dominated parliament was against it; it did not make 

sense to privatize shops, he argued, before prices were freed; and 

government bonds were impossible because the population did not 

trust the guarantees of the government.8 

While price reform was wreaking havoc, other aspects of demo­

cratic reform were being ignored. "They paid no attention to the 

other aspects of building a civilized society: creating an effective gov­

ernment, a workable constitution, enforcing the rule of law, creating 

a viable parliament," says Yavlinsky. "In other words, they com­

pletely failed to create a civil society to serve as the framework for eco­

nomic activity. Even questions of economic policy that did not 

directly stem from the need to free prices were ignored: industrial 

policy, trade policy, de-monopolization, enforcing competition, ra­

tionalizing the tax system, establishing a viable banking sector, creat­

ing clear rules of the game. "9 

The lack of institutional reform helped doom Gaidar's program. 

The Soviets had built their industry in a "rational" fashion, avoiding ri­

valry and duplication among industrial enterprises. When enterprises 

were owned by the state and subject to the dictates of Gosplan, it 

made sense not to create competing outfits. For many goods-pas­

senger cars, tampons, jet engines, laundry detergent-there were only 
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one or two large factories serving the Soviet market. After they were 

freed from government regulation, these enterprises became preda­

tory monopolies, dictating terms to both customers and suppliers. 

"The key question of 1991 was which path were we going to 

choose: Were we going to liberate the old Soviet monopolies or 

were we going to liberate society from the old Soviet monopo­

lies?" says Yavlinsky. "Are we going to free the Communist nomen­

klatura from all control, are we going to tell the Communist 

directors and the Communist nomenklatura: You're free, do what­

ever you want?" 10 

Ali sa 

When Yegor Gaidar broke apart the planned economy, freed prices, 

and abolished Gosplan, chaos ensued. Industrial enterprises did not 

know whom to ship their products to, how to get paid, where to get 

their supplies. In this chaos, trading companies like Berezovsky's Lo­

govaz assumed a central role in Russian wholesale and export trade. 

In March 1992, I visited the headquarters of Alisa, one of Russia's 

top new trading companies. It was a large, nondescript building on 

45 Lenin Prospekt. Alisa's entrance was a bare steel door in the cor­

ner of the building. Inside, two scowling armed men in camouflage 

checked my documents. After placing a brief phone call, one of the 

guards led me down in the basement. We passed a series of dingy 

secretarial offices; cheaply lit corridors and linoleum floors stretched 

out in an underground labyrinth. 

We walked into a windowless den. A green, tasseled lamp hung 

over a round table surrounded by old armchairs and sofas. An ash­

tray overflowing with cigarette butts lay on the table. In the corner was 

a hunting rifle. The room looked more like a poker parlor than a 

conference room. 
Presently my host arrived: German Sterligov, twenty-five years 

old, a thin, scraggly fellow with matted hair and dirty fingernails. As 

cofounder of Alisa, he was one of Russia's richest men. He boasted 

of his exploits and delighted in his scandalous reputation. He 
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pointed to two bullet holes in the wall, explaining that some gunmen 

had shot up the place a few months earlier. 

"We later caught up with them," said Sterligov. "It's like Chicago 

in the 1920s." Then he lit a cigarette and put on a fedora-a parody 

of James Cagney. "Do you want to see how my security service 
works?" 

He pressed a button under the table. Silence. Then there were 
loud noises in the corridor, shouts, running feet. After a painful mo­

ment of anticipation, the door exploded as three muscular men in 

camouflage leapt into the room. They screamed something incom­
prehensible, pointing the barrds of their automatic pistols at my 

heart. I froze. Then they looked around. "Everything okay?" they 

inquired. 

Sterligov nodded and the gunmen left, shutting the door behind 
them. "If it had been a combat alarm, you would have been thrown 

on the ground first and asked questions later," Sterligov said. "Be­
cause you might have had a pistol under the table." 

Sterligov explained that his security agency was called Alisa X and 

contained sixty men, including KGB commandos who had stormed 
the Kabul presidential palace at the start of the Mghanistan War. 11 

Alisa carved out a niche in the new market by sdling strategic ma­
terials from the stockpiles of specialty metals that the Soviet Union 

had hoarded in case of nuclear war. Other Moscow commodities 

traders pointed out that the two nominal owners of Alisa, German 
Sterligov and his older brother, Dimitri, were nephews of Aleksandr 
Sterligov, a major general of the KGB, and now notorious for his 

fierce, Stalinist public declarations. I asked German Sterligov about 
the family connection. "Malicious gossip," he snorted. (Over the 

course of a year, he repeatedly denied any connection to the KGB 
general, but would later admit to having worked for his uncle all 
along.)12 

Sterligov had dropped out of high school, done his military ser­
vice, and then spent the perestroika years bumming around. He 

worked at a Moscow auto factory, got bored, went to the Far East to 
work on the Baikal-Amur Railroad, then floated down to Kazakhstan, 
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where he herded horses for a Chechen entrepreneur. In 1989 he trav­
eled to Nicaragua, Cuba, and the Dominican Republic (where, he 

claimed, he won and lost $28,000 in a Santo Domingo casino in a 

single night). 13 

Mter Sterligov returned to Moscow in early 1990, he and some 

old friends went to work for Artyom Tarasov, the urbane entrepreneur 

who had made a fortune by trading Russian raw materials for per­

sonal computers; Sterligov was also a partner of the fugitive Ameri­

can commodities trader Marc Rich. 

I had first met Tarasov and Sterligov in a small office Alisa was 

renting on the corner of Wall Street and Broadway in New York. 

Tarasov had no official role in Alisa-he claimed the company was 

owned exclusively by the two Sterligov brothers-though it was clear 

he was in charge. He presided over our interview like a wise uncle, an­

swering the difficult questions himself and softly correcting Sterligov's 

more impulsive declarations. 

Tarasov explained that he first met the Sterligov brothers in the 

summer of 1990, when they approached him to set up a trading com­

pany for selling construction materials. The new company, called 

Alisa after German Sterligov's sheepdog, was founded in November 

1990 with $3 million in capital borrowed from a recently established 

commercial bank, Stolichny Bank. "My role here was very small-1 

recommended to the bank that it issue the loan," said Tarasov mod­

estly. "Aleksandr Smolensky [president of Stolichny Bank] had 

worked a long time with lstok [Tarasov's trading company], he 

trusted lstok, he had provided lstok with lines of credit."14 

Stolichny Bank, which Tarasov described at the time as a "half­

private, half-state bank," had been established in February 1990 by 

thirty-six-year-old Aleksandr Smolensky, one of Berezovsky's key 

business associates. In the 1970s and 1980s, Smolensky, like many of 

Russia's future multimillionaires, had been an entrepreneur in the 

black market. According to Russian law-enforcement agencies, he 

had been convicted several times of economic crimes, including theft 

and illegal commercial activity, and had spent time in prison. In 

1988, at the height of perestroika, Smolensky started a successful 
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construction-materials cooperative in Moscow. In 1990 he opened 

his bank, which would grow into a financial powerhouse, playing a key 

role in the 1995loans-for-shares auctions and Yeltsin's 1996 reelection 

campaign. Stolichny remained a closely held institution, revealing 

few operational details to the outside world, but at some point Bere­

zovsky acquired a big stake in Stolichny-25 percent according to 

some government estimates. 15 

The $3 million invested in the Alisa project was one of Stolichny 

Bank's first loans. It seemed reasonable to lend money to a company 

backed by a man like Artyom Tarasov. He was efficient, intelligent, 

and bursting with good ideas. Since Russia had lost most of its good 

ports with the collapse of the U.S.S.R., Tarasov was trying to borrow 

$200 million to establish three new commercial ports: on the Black 

Sea, on the Pacific, and at the old naval base of Murmansk. He also 

planned to create a new private airline on the ruins of the former 

state monopoly, Aeroflot. Yet another project was to establish a new 

Russian export-import bank in Switzerland, registered in the Cay­

man Islands. Tarasov also spoke of his desire to buy Angola's old 

debts to the Soviet Union and then sell them back to the Angolan 

government in exchange for tourist properties on the African coast­

line. These were sensible ideas and would almost all be implemented 

by someone else within a few years. 16 

Tarasov's most important counterparty abroad remained Marc 

Rich. Since 1990, Rich had accounted for a significant portion of 

Russia's exports of oil, aluminum, and other commodities. But one year 

into the Yeltsin regime, his success turned into a political liability for 

Tarasov. The Russian government had finally begun to examine the 

fine print of the trading deals that Rich had signed with Russian ex­

porters. In 1992, when I asked Berezovsky's old friend Pyotr Aven, 

the minister of foreign trade, whether it was true that Rich had 

bribed enterprise directors and government officials to get his deals 

done, he said that Rich probably had. 

"We have a significant amount of information that such long-term 

relationships lead to informal and often corrupt relationships and this 

is not always good," Aven replied evasively. "These are companies that 
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have been working here a long time and they know whom to pay and 

how much, and consequently they buy their goods cheaper than it 

costs to produce them. This is no secret. We approach such compa­

nies carefully." 17 

Though it was clear that Tarasov was the boss of Alisa, German 

Sterligov represented himself as the front man. The youngster rel­

ished the role of the newly rich Russian businessman: In Moscow he 

established a "Club of Millionaires" and gave frequent interviews to 

the newspapers. He boasted that he could not begin to count his 

wealth. Besides cash stored in one of Alisa's five offshore companies 

(in the Isle of Mann, Panama, the British Virgin Islands, and else­

where), Sterligov said that he had bought thousands of tons of strate­

gic metals, 75,000 acres of farmland in central Russia, office space in 

cities across the country, even a valuable art collection, including 

paintings by Kandinsky, Malevich, and Chagall. 18 

His wealth quickly evaporated. When I spoke to Sterligov in the 

summer of 1992, he was tight-lipped, nervous, gloomy. Only once 

did he conjure up his old bluster-when he boasted of having re­

cently sold nuclear-power equipment to a buyer in Iran. "I don't 

know what kind of equipment it was. I am not a specialist. It had 

twelve letters and seventeen numbers." Otherwise, he was full of 

gloom. "Everything is at a standstill. No one has any rubles. No one 

is buying or selling anything. There is no trade turnover. This is a ca­

tastrophe for the country!" 

The real reason for Sterligov's worries was that the authorities 

were cracking down on his windfall trading profits. I asked Sterligov 

which government agency I could contact about his affairs. "Go to 

the KGB," he replied. "The Sixth Directorate [Philip Bobkov's old 

fiefdom-the department responsible for fighting against organized 

crime and illegal economic activity]. They have the best information 
on our affairs." 19 

Within a few months, Alisa was disbanded and its Wall Street of­
fice closed. German Sterligov sank into the shadows. Artyom Tarasov 

abandoned his ambitious projects of building commercial ports and 

setting up investment banks. Marc Rich, meanwhile, was accused in 
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the Russian press (based on information leaked from the government 

authorities) of bribery, illegal export of raw materials, aiding in capi­

tal flight, even laundering drug dollars. Parliament began an inquiry 

and Rich found his most ambitious business plans rolled back. 

Tarasov was never prosecuted for "Harvest 90" or any of the other 

alleged embezzlement operations; in December 1993, he was elected 

to the Russian parliament and received legal immunity.20 

Some of the most famous traders of the early Y eltsin era were not 

so lucky. Many were assassinated. After surviving at least two murder 

attempts (a bomb exploding on his doorstep and an ambush by ma­

chine gunners on a country road), Konstantin Borovoi, the founder of 

the Russian Commodities and Raw Materials Exchange, got out of 

business and entered politics; he, too, was elected to parliament.21 

"Today there are no entrepreneurs in Russia, in the sense of an 

honest and normal understanding of the term," declared the jewelry 

trader Georgi Khatsenkov. "I would compare our economy with 

Nigeria's: a state-mafioso economy, when state institutions merge 

with criminal structures, when there are no normal laws. There is no 

market. There are only corrupt officials, bribes, total anarchy. "22 

Whatever deals commodities traders had struck with the au­

thorities in, say, 1990 collapsed with the fall of the Soviet Union. A 

new group of men had taken power in the Kremlin-one part of the 

Communist establishment (around Yeltsin) was pushing another 

group (the old Soviet government) away from the trough. In the end, 

the early commodities traders (Marc Rich, Tarasov, the Sterligov 

brothers, and others) lost out, but not because they were finally 

hemmed in by the law. They were simply pushed out of the market 

by their rivals. One of the survivors of the free-for-all that character­

ized the first years of post-Communist Russia was Logovaz. 

Dealing in Ladas 

Not long after Boris Yeltsin took power, an American entrepreneur 

named Page Thompson went to Russia in search of deals with Russian 
automakers. Thompson was a retired treasurer of Atlantic Richfield 
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(Arco), the U.S. oil company. With a taste for adventure, he had 

begun a second career selling auto parts to the former Soviet Union. 

Success came quickly. He landed a $4 million contract to sell Good­

year tires to Avtovaz, the auto company that was serving as Bere­

zovsky's cash cow. In the course of the negotiations, he asked 

Avtovaz for a letter of credit from a Western bank guaranteeing its pay­

ment. He was told that the French bank Credit Lyonnais would pro­

vide it. Credit Lyonnais would later collapse in a famous fraud and 

embezzlement scandal, but at the time it seemed a strong and re­

spectable institution. Its guarantee was good enough for Thompson. 

Then the deal turned strange. Thompson was told that he could 

pick up the letter of credit not in Paris (where Credit Lyonnais was 

based), but in Lausanne, Switzerland, where he was supposed to 

make contact with an outfit called Forus Services S.A. He arrived at 

the Forus office in Lausanne to find two Russian men lounging 

around. "They did business in an absolutely empty office, a beauti­

ful office, but it didn't have anything in it, except furniture-just 

empty desks and empty chairs," Thompson recalls. "There were 

three or four rooms, a big bottle of Jack Daniel's, and no people ex­

cept these two guys and a secretary who didn't speak any language 

I understood." 

The letter of credit had not yet arrived. After two days, Thomp­

son was finally presented with the document. It contained the names 

of Credit Lyonnais, Avtovaz, and Thompson's company, but there 

was no mention of Forus Services S.A. 

"It made quite an impression on me," Thompson says. "Rather 

than having the financial VP of Avtovaz call up Credit Lyonnais or 

Chase Manhattan Bank or Deutsche Bank and say, 'We'd like to have 

a letter of credit for a few million bucks,' they ran that letter of credit 

through Forus Financial. When I was treasurer of Atlantic Richfield 

and we wanted to borrow money, I'd pick up the phone and I'd call 

Chase and I'd say, 'We're interested in borrowing a couple of hundred 

million dollars,' and they'd say, 'We're interested in lending it to you 

and we'll come out and talk about it.' I didn't have to call Joe, Mike, 
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and Moe at, you know, the Wilshire Financial Company or some­

thing, to do my borrowing for me at Chase." 

Thompson concluded that this "strange, unpopulated office" 

was the site of a kickback scheme. "It was a company that someone 

powerful at Avtovaz had set up to run these financing transactions, 

charge Avtovaz a fee, and then split the fee among the owners. I 

never knew who the people were ... but Forus was basically a cat's­

paw for some people in Avtovaz. "23 

In fact, Forus Services had been established on February 13, 

1992, by Boris Berezovsky (representing Logovaz), Nikolai Glush­

kov (representing Avtovaz), and the Swiss commodities trader Andre 

& Cie. Though all three founders almost certainly owned a large 

share of the company, the actual ownership structure of Forus was 

deliberately opaque. The Swiss company Forus Services S.A. was 

owned by Forus Holding (Luxembourg), which in turn was owned 

by the holders of bearer shares (including Anros S.A.). The own­

ers of Forus, in other words, were insulated by at least two front 

companies-in vintage espionage terms these would be called 

"cutouts" (the intermediaries insulating the spymaster from the spies 

he runs).24 

Officially, Forus was a financial company trading currencies and 

organizing lines of credit and other financial operations for Russian 

companies abroad. It remained, however, very much an insiders' 

club. Its main significance was not as a financial enterprise but as a 

holding company, owning the shares of some of the most important 

entities of Berezovsky's growing empire. The first institution Forus 

helped establish was Obyedinyonny Bank, registered in Moscow in 

1992. Obyedinyonny would eventually become the primary bank for 

both Avtovaz and Aeroflot. Despite such large corporate accounts 

and the impressive political support Berezovsky could muster, how­

ever, the bank remained a small, private affair.25 

Berezovsky and his Swiss partners, Andre & Cie., went on to cre­
ate numerous other financial companies, the most important being 

Avva, Andava, AFK, and FOK. They also established subsidiaries in 
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such tax havens as Cyprus and the Cayman Islands. They became in­

volved with at least one shell company registered in Dublin, Ireland, 

which in turn was partly owned by shell companies in Panama. It 

was a sophisticated financial network, geared toward getting the 

money out of Russia, maximizing financial flows around the world, 

minimizing taxes, and avoiding scrutiny.26 

But the key to Berezovsky's empire remained his link to Avtovaz. 

Amid the disintegrating Russian economy, the auto industry remained 

remarkably healthy, producing the one domestically made product 

Russians were still eager to buy. Few foreign automakers could match 

the low prices charged by the Russian producers. While the destruc­

tion of Russians' savings accounts in 1992 meant that there was no 

longer a ten-year waiting period for Ladas, demand consistently out­

stripped supply. Blessed with low raw materials costs and incredibly 

cheap labor (the average worker received $250 a month, usually paid 

several months late), Avtovaz should have been an enormously prof­

itable enterprise. In fact, it was bleeding cash and piling on debt.27 

Hundreds of small companies had been created to trade Ladas 

and spare parts; they were independent, but they were financed by Av­

tovaz Bank and they were linked to various members of Avtovaz's 

top management. The giant auto factory became dependent on a 

dealership network that was widely known as one of the most crimi­

nalized segments of the Russian economy.28 

When I asked Avtovaz president Alexei Nikolaev in the summer 

of 1996 about the dealership problem, he admitted that the auto­

maker was selling its cars to the dealers at a loss. "On average, we get 

$3,500 [per car]," Nikolaev explained. "That's the price of an auto­

mobile. In reality, this car has a much higher production cost-ap­

proximately 30 percent higher [$4,700]. "29 

Since most dealers sold their Ladas for $7,000 or more, they were 

making 100 percent gross trading profits. Whether they were Moscow 

gangster organizations or local racketeers outside the Avtovaz factory 

gates, dealers were taking the cars as they rolled off the assembly line 

and walking off with half of Avtovaz's sales revenues. If you were an 

independent dealer trying to purchase cars from Avtovaz without 
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going through the established gangster channels, you were unlikely to 

get any cars, or, if you did, you would receive your vehicles with 

windshields smashed, wiring pulled out, and tires slashed. Or you 

would get shot.3o 

"You can't just go over and become a dealer in Ladas," Page 

Thompson recalls. "If the other people who deal in Ladas allow you 

to become one, you're going to pay for the privilege. Some guy's 

going to show up and tell you that you have a partner." 

Thompson cites the example of one of the biggest Avtovaz dis­

tributors in Moscow, an outfit called Lada Strong. "He had his cars 

stored in two lots and he had to pay one criminal gang tribute for 

Lot A and another criminal gang tribute for Lot B," Thompson says. 

"Through some gaffe, one of his employees moved fifty cars from 

Lot A to Lot B, whereupon the guys who were collecting a tariff 

from Lot A kidnapped him and held him hostage in a cellar until the 

distributor came up with $50,000 for the insult." 

One dealership was a big outfit run by a young Russian busi­

nessman right outside Avtovaz's gates in Togliatti. "He had a whole 

empire over there in Togliatti-he was a huge dealer in Ladas and 

parts and all sorts of hard-to-get stuff. To visit his lair, you came in 

and there was a whole bunch of tough-looking guys lying around 

watching Woody Woodpecker cartoons on TV and bristling with 

firearms. And everywhere he went, there was a car with four armed 

guys in back of him." 

Thompson went into business with this man, selling him sec­

ondhand American cars for shipment to Russia. "He was just a noth­

ing kind of guy," Thompson says, laughing. "He was getting cars 

directly from Avtovaz in Togliatti, basically on credit, selling them in­

stantly, and making $100,000 a month. He borrowed a million dollars 

from Avtovaz Bank for spurious purposes and fled the country. He just 

defrauded and robbed everybody. This is just what the guy told us. 

He boasted about it. But there was someone inside Avtovaz that fed 

him cars that should have gone somewhere else."31 

Thompson says the problem lay in the venality of Avtovaz man­

agers. If you wanted to get a shipment of spare parts, for instance, you 
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had to bribe the manager responsible for spare-parts sales. "I knew 

the guy who used to take the money," says Thompson.32 

I asked Alain Mayor, Berezovsky's primary partner at Andre & 

Cie., about the rampant corruption at Avtovaz. "I think that is the case 

with a lot of Russian companies, not just Avtovaz," he said. "It's a 

question of mentality: Collective property is property that belongs to 

everyone. "33 

Andre & Cie. had plenty of opportunities to witness this corrup­

tion firsthand. In 1993-94, Andre worked on arranging a $100 mil­

lion credit for Avtovaz from the Italian foreign trade bank. They 

were working with Glushkov, Avtovaz's finance director. The money 

was supposed to be paid back over seven years with the sale of Ladas 

in foreign markets like Africa. "It didn't work out," noted Christian 

Maret, head of Andre's Moscow office. "Because each manager of 

Avtovaz had his own pet distribution network. "34 

Page Thompson continued trying to do business with Avtovaz; he 

did a few successful deals, lost money on others, and finally decided 

to stop. "I lost a couple partners," he says. "One of my Avtovaz part­

ners in Bishkek, Kirghizstan, was assassinated in his office. My part­

ner in Togliatti was certainly a major criminal who got fired both by 

Avtovaz, and then by Avtovaz Bank, where they put him for a while 

to dry out. I've just decided that it ain't a game worth playing over 

there."35 

Law-enforcement agents who tried to break the cycle of crimi­

nality paralyzing Avtovaz met grisly ends. In 1994, when Radik 
Yakutian, head of the investigative department of the Samara Region 

prosecutor's office, began looking into organized-crime activities re­

lated to Avtovaz, he was assassinated. The auto company gained the 

reputation as the most gangster-ridden of any large Russian com­

pany. When police finally decided to sweep the automaker in 1997, 

they identified no fewer than sixty-five contract murders involving 

Avtovaz managers and dealers.36 

Berezovsky was subjected to his share of gangland violence (the 

shoot-out at the Kazakhstan Cinema, the attacks on the dealership 

lots, the Logovaz car bombing), but he persevered, and emerged as 
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the largest dealer of Avtovaz cars. In 1991, he told the Russian busi­

ness newspaper Kommersant that Logovaz had received its first 

working capital from a $20 million syndicated loan from six Russian 

banks. That year he was already selling 10,000 Avtovaz cars annually, 

many of them for foreign currency, rather than rubles. Within three 

years, Logovaz would be selling 45,000 Avtovaz cars a year and 

grossing revenues of nearly $300 million on this operation alone.37 

When I asked Avtovaz president Alexei Nikolaev in the summer 

of 1996 about the problem of gangsters controlling his dealer net­

work, he said simply: "The problem exists." 

Nikolaev explained how the problem had developed. Mter the 

collapse of Communism, Avtovaz had a network of several hundred 

dealerships and service stations. But these were still government­

owned enterprises, forced by law to sell their vehicles at low, fixed 

prices. The new dealers (first and foremost Berezovsky's Logovaz) 

faced no such restrictions. "The government effectively drained us of 

all our working capital," Nikolaev complained. "But this small group 

of people [the independent dealers] bought our cars at one price 

and resold them two or three times higher. That way they quickly ac­

cumulated their own working capital. That's how Avtovaz financed the 

creation of an alternative dealer network. "38 

The independent dealers also made money by taking out loans 

from Avtovaz. The automaker typically sold only 10 percent of its 

cars for cash; the rest were sold for barter or on credit. The key to mak­

ing money in Russia in those days was to have capital, which almost 

no one did. In the car-dealership business, the game was to demand 

cash up front from car buyers and delay paying the car company for 

six months or more. This was an incredibly lucrative operation. The 

dealer would sell his Ladas for hard cash and simply sit on the 

money; with inflation running at 20 percent a month, the dealer was 

almost guaranteed a large profit. By delaying payment to Avtovaz for, 

say, three months, the dealer ended up paying half price for his cars. 

After the ruble began to stabilize in 1995, dealers could invest their 

cash in three-month Russian Treasury bills, which had annualized 

dollar yields of 100 percent or more. By 1995, dealers like Logovaz 
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would owe the automaker $1.2 billion-one third of the company's 

total sales.39 

Why did Avtovaz continue to sell to the gangster-dealers who 

were bankrupting the company? Probably a combination of the stick 

and the carrot. The stick was the fear of getting murdered; the carrot 

was payment under the table for Avtovaz managers. "It is not so easy 

to take back the provisions of a contract," Nikolaev mumbled.40 

Berezovsky's particular scheme was called reexport. Export con­

tracts typically stipulated an even lower price for Ladas than domes­

tic dealership contracts, and granted an even longer grace period for 

dealership payments (up to one year). Berezovsky actually sold his 

cars in Russia, but their "export" status allowed him to receive for­

eign currency. The cars remained in the country, but their documen­

tation showed them to be exported and then imported back into 
Russia:n 

"No, listen, Monsieur, 90 percent of cars in Russia are sold in the 

same manner," Alain Mayor protested. "There is not much of a dif­

ference in favor of Logovaz. There are very different conditions ex­

isting as a result of personal relations between people, people who 

were friends with the managers at Avtovaz. "42 

Berezovsky had the best "personal relationship" imaginable, 

since Avtovaz's chairman, head of finance, and head of after-sale ser­

vice owned a substantial portion of Logovaz stock. The relationship 

went beyond car sales. Berezovsky helped set up several companies in 

Russia and abroad to rationalize Avtovaz's finances. One of these was 

the Automobile Finance Corporation (AFK). This outfit was suppos­

edly majority-owned by Avtovaz itself, though it had several impor­

tant minority shareholders, including Berezovsky companies such as 

Forus Holding; AFK's general director simultaneously managed the af­

fairs of other Berezovsky financial companies in Moscow. Owning a 

controlling stake of Avtovaz, AFK served as a vehicle ensuring that 

the auto company would be controlled only by insiders. Theoretically, 

it had been established to rationalize Avtovaz's financial flows (half of 

Avtovaz's cash revenues passed through AFK) and to collect investment 

capital for new automobile projects. In fact, according to Russian tax 
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authorities, AFK was the lynchpin of an elaborate system allowing 

Avtovaz to avoid paying taxes. Avtovaz's cash situation continued to 

deteriorate, no new investment projects materialized, and the car 

company soon had the largest tax arrears in Russia.43 

While Avtovaz dealers like Berezovsky were becoming im­

mensely wealthy, the automaker sank deeper into debt. Avtovaz 

maintained high production levels and was blessed with a good pric­

ing environment (continued strong demand for its cars), but its man­

agers were conniving with crooked car dealers and the factory was 

hemorrhaging money as a result. A large portion of its sales was 

made on the basis of bad quality receivables or cumbersome barter 

arrangements. The company was so short of cash that it could not pay 

its taxes, electrical bills, or workers' salaries. The only thing prevent­

ing the Yeltsin government from declaring the auto plant bankrupt was 

the stigma of having to admit the failure of such a key Russian in­
dustrial enterprise.44 

"We Dismanded Everything" 

One of the most egregious mistakes of the Gaidar team was the hasty 

dismantling of the state monopoly on foreign trade. Here was the 

origin of Russia's great robber-capitalist fortunes. Gaidar's price reform 

laid the foundations for the big private fortunes by destroying the 

old planned economy, but Russia's new tycoons would never have 

gotten so rich if they hadn't been able to exploit the breakdown of 

the country's foreign trade system. 

Gaidar, Pyotr Aven, Anatoly Chubais, and the other "young re­

formers" were acquainted with the reforms of czarist Russia at the 

beginning of the twentieth century. Back then, the most gifted czarist 

ministers, Sergei Witte and Pyotr Stolypin, also tried to establish a 

capitalist economy and the rule of law under very difficult circum­

stances. They succeeded in achieving tempestuous economic growth. 
By contrast, the policies of Yeltsin's team of young reformers were 

both primitive and destructive. 

The old foreign trade network was one aspect of the Soviet 
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system that was not broken. It was a highly efficient system, pouring 

hard currency into Moscow's coffers. A large portion of the Soviet gov­

ernment's revenues came from capturing the difference between the 

domestic price of commodities and the price at which they were 

exported; the Ministry of Foreign Trade was in charge of procuring 

the funds. "[During the Soviet era] the Ministry of Foreign Trade 

was simply a big corporation," veteran foreign trade officer Oleg 

Davydov would later tell me. "It was an effective business organiza­

tion, with representative offices and trading companies all over the 

world. They worked on commission-0.5 percent of sales. "45 

The idea of the state's withdrawing from the export-import busi­

ness and abolishing customs duties may seem sensible, but for Rus­

sia in 1991-92 this measure was disastrous. The country's official 

exports dropped 40 percent in two years; the government suffered an 

even sharper drop in revenues it traditionally received from export and 

import tariffs. Pyotr Aven, the thirty-something economist who 

presided over Russia's trade policy in 1992, was quick to blame such 

external factors as falling oil prices in the late 1980s and collapsing met­

als prices in the early 1990s.46 

In fact, the problem was that Gaidar's price reform was not a 

complete liberalization-a shortcoming that his defenders say lay at 

the root of Russia's subsequent economic decline. The government 

continued to control the prices of Russia's most exportable com­

modities; the domestic Russian price for oil and gas, as well as alu­

minum and other metals, timber, coal, and fertilizer was set at a 

fraction of the level prevailing in world commodities markets. Gaidar 

says the failure to liberalize commodities prices was a "mistake" and 

was forced upon him by political pressure from the conservatives. 

The country functioned on a double price system with respect to its 

key export commodities-one price on the world markets and another 

price (much lower) on the domestic market. This was a license for pri­

vate traders like Berezovsky's Logovaz to make enormous profits. 

Yet, urged on by officials of the International Monetary Fund 

and other Western government advisers, Yeltsin's young reformers 

decided that the state should get out of foreign trade altogether. 
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They eliminated the barriers preventing private traders from buying 

commodities at domestic prices and selling them abroad. Within 

months, 30 percent of Russia's oil exports and more than 70 percent 

of the metal exports were bypassing state trading organizations. By 

1994, the majority of Russia's foreign trade was being handled by pri­
vate trading companies.47 

"We dismantled everything," remembers Davydov. "We began 

liberalization in the absence of any control at all. And when foreign 

entrepreneurs, mostly crooked ones, arrived and taught our entre­

preneurs how to do it, you were no longer talking about a 1 percent 

[commission on the trade], but dozens of percentage points."48 

The first to benefit from the new regime were the directors of the 

main export-oriented enterprises. They simply established trading 

companies abroad and sold them their produce for a fraction of the 

world price; the profit rarely returned to either the enterprise or the 

Russian state. 

Typically, the scheme worked like this. Ivan is the director of an 

oil company called National Oil. Ivan also personally controls an oil­

trading company called Volga Trading. Volga buys a shipment of 

crude oil from National Oil; it pays with an IOU. Volga sells the oil 

on the market for cash. But instead of using the cash to pay National 

Oil, Volga deposits the money in Ivan's personal bank account in 

Switzerland. Putting on his best conscientious face, Ivan then goes to 

Moscow and asks the Ministry of Finance or the Central Bank to give 

National Oil soft credits to alleviate its cash-flow shortage. 

Immediately after the fall of Communism, Berezovsky emerged as 

a big trader in a wide variety of commodities. In the first half of 

1992, according to a petroleum-export yearbook based on Russian 

trade registrations, Logovaz exported 236,000 tons of crude oil (sold 

to counterparties in Switzerland and the United States), 95,000 cubic 

meters of sawn timber (sold to a German company), and an extraor­

dinary 840,000 tons of aluminum (sold to a Hungarian trading com­

pany)-trades that had a gross value of about $1 billion.49 

While the aluminum trades were the most valuable, oil inter­

ested Berezovsky more. In 1992 he helped found the International 
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Business Club of Oil Industrialists. That same year, he created a joint 

venture that included Logovaz, oil producer Samaraneftegaz (then 

still known as Kuibyshevneftegaz), the Samara provincial govern­

ment, and a small Oklahoma-based oil company called GHK Corp. 

He called it a "financial mechanism" for the export of oil from Sama­

raneftegaz, with part of the money going to purchase equipment 

from GHK.50 

Berezovsky was on home ground. Samara's most important man­

ufacturing enterprise was Avtovaz, the source of the Logovaz car­

dealership business. The relationship between Berezovsky and 

Samaraneftegaz was close. He made the oil company one of the share­

holders of his Awa investment scheme in late 1993. At the same time, 

his Swiss financial company, Porus, tried to arrange a $60 million U.S. 

Eximbank loan for the oil company. The loan fell through after the 

Americans uncovered evidence that Samaraneftegaz's managers were 

siphoning off the company's export earnings. Berezovsky, however, 

continued doing business with the oil producer for at least three 

years.51 

One of the local off-takers of Samaraneftegaz crude was the 

Samara Refinery. Since early 1992 the Samara Refinery had been ex­

porting its products through a trading company called Nefsam, a 

joint venture between the refinery and a Belgian-based company 

called Tetraplast, itself owned by a shady entrepreneur linked to 

Otarik, the famous gangster. Virtually none of the export revenues re­

turned to the refinery. In 1993, by presidential decree, the Samara 

Refinery began to be integrated into a newly formed holding com­

pany called Yukos. The Yukos managers were eager to gain control 

of the refinery's exports, but the trading company resisted. In Octo­

ber 1993, Vladimir Zenkin, general manager of the refinery and a 

Yukos vice president, was murdered outside his home. Three 

months after Zenkin's murder, the head of Tetraplast was critically 

wounded when his Mercedes was shot up on the streets of Moscow. 

Shortly after that, another executive of Tetraplast was killed. The 

takeover of the Samara Refinery proceeded fairly quietly after that.52 

To avoid paying taxes, most Russian traders resorted to an old 



Trader's Paradise 99 

KGB trick-false invoicing of imports and exports. High-quality 

Russian timber, for instance, was registered as low-quality timber 

and exported at reduced prices, with the foreign buyers paying the 

extra amount into the foreign bank accounts of Russian government 

officials or traders who permitted the transaction. Aluminum, steel, 

nickel, precious metals, furs, and fish were exported in a similar fash­

ion. Enormous profits were made importing food, clothes, consumer 

electronics, and industrial equipment at inflated prices, with kick­

backs going into the foreign bank accounts of the Russian buyers. 

The biggest Russian enterprises became entangled in crooked 

export deals. Davydov, for example, points to the sales operations of 

Magnitogorsk, built during Stalin's First Five-Year Plan as the largest 

steel mill in the world. "Why did Magnitogorsk sell its steel for $20 

a ton or $30 a ton, when it used to sell it for $110 a ton? It could have 

easily sold it for $100 and if [the trader] had been a professional and 

had known the market, he could have sold it for $111.20. But this is 

a question of personal interests." Most of Magnitogorsk's steel ex­

ports, Davydov explains, were handled by a Canadian company 

owned by the son of the steel mill's general director.53 

The new foreign trade companies tended to hide most of their 

profits abroad. Capital flight from Russia during these years was esti­

mated at $15 billion to $20 billion a year, as crime bosses, corrupt of­

ficials, and factory directors set up bank accounts in Switzerland, 

Luxembourg, Austria, Germany, England, Israel, the United States, 

and the Caribbean.54 

"[The government] didn't take any tax payments from them at this 

time," says liberal parliamentarian Grigory Yavlinsky. "At that time, 

taxes were an abstract conception. "55 

Even a cursory glance at most Russian foreign trade contracts 

would have revealed a pattern of fraud, embezzlement, and tax evasion. 

If a Russian oil producer shipped crude directly to a refinery in Germany, 

for example, the payment never came back along the same path. 

Rather than paying the producer directly, the German refinery typically 

paid an obscure trading company located in some offshore tax haven. 
"We have no idea how much money passes through without 
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paying taxes," said Berezovsky's old friend, Foreign Trade Minister 

Pyotr Aven. (In December 1992, amid accusations that Russia's export 

earnings were being shamelessly looted, Aven resigned from the gov­

ernment and joined the Alfa Group, one of the trading companies he 

had been regulating.)56 

"At that time [1992-94] there was a problem with tax evasion," 

admits Yegor Gaidar. Then he adds reassuringly: "But tax arrears 

were not a serious problem." Of course Russia's traders had no in­

centive to declare their earnings to the tax authorities. Gaidar acted 

as if this were a distasteful but entirely predictable phenomenon. 

"Naturally, as everywhere else in the world, enterprises try to mini­

mize their tax liabilities and use various methods to accomplish this," 

he explains.57 

The government went to great lengths to make it easier for the 

new traders to shelter their windfall profits. For example, Russia had 

an old tax treaty with Cyprus, allowing Cyprus-registered companies 

to take profits out of Russia without paying the 20 percent with­

holding tax (though these companies did have to pay a 4 percent cor­

porate income tax to the Cypriot authorities). The island had been one 

of the KGB's preferred places to launder money. Within months 

after the fall of Communism, Cyprus became home to hundreds of 

trading and financial companies doing business in Russia. Dozens of 

big Russian oil-trading companies, for instance, reregistered as joint 

ventures with a Cyprus corporate entity. Despite the Cyprus arrange­

ment's notorious reputation as the primary channel for capital flight 

out of Russia, neither the Yeltsin government nor the parliament al­

tered the tax treaty.58 

The biggest trading profits were made in oil, Russia's single 

biggest export. The state-owned oil producers and Russian tax au­

thorities were lucky if they recouped half of the value of the oil they 

shipped abroad. The rest was siphoned off by the traders. "And on 

that basis [the traders] bought up the whole government apparatus," 

notes Oleg Davydov.59 

Officials in both the Ministry of Foreign Trade and the Ministry 

of Fuel and Energy complained that they were facing a wave of bribes 
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and threats to pressure them into issuing export licenses. Russia's 

organized-crime groups were determined to get in on the action. 

Their first vehicles were the Special Export firms, trading companies 

with a license to export such strategic materials as oil and metals. The 

Special Export firms increased rapidly in number and, by the end of 

1993, accounted for half Russia's oil exports. At this point, Oleg 

Davydov began to reduce the number of Special Exporters, leaving 

only the big oil producers and the more experienced traders. (Logo­

vaz was among the Special Exporters whose licenses were pulled.)60 

"We were under tremendous pressure, of course, considering 

that most of these organizations were representatives of criminal or­

ganizations," Davydov recalls.61 

Davydov's reforms were too late: The oil industry was already 

one of the main battlegrounds of Russian organized crime. The Spe­

cial Export firms depended on the collusion of the oil companies' 

Soviet-era managers, and they killed managers who refused to work 

with them. The head of the Tuapse refinery (on the Black Sea), for ex­

ample, was assassinated in 1993. That same year, the head of the 

Kirishi refinery (in the north) was badly beaten up. A year later, the 

president of Megionneftegaz, one of Russia's largest oil producers, 

was killed.62 

"We Must Tighten Our Belts" 

On December 14, 1992, with Gaidar's reforms failing, Boris Yeltsin 

named a new prime minister: Viktor Chernomyrdin, the former chief 

of the oil and gas industry. Chernomyrdin was an older man and 

boasted a career as a successful Soviet industrial manager. He 

brought with him a new team: older men proudly calling themselves 

"industrialists" and "government patriots." The change made litde dif­
ference to government policy. 

I went to the former offices of the Communist Party Central 

Committee on Old Square to meet with one of the key members of the 

"new" Chernomyrdin team, Yevgeny Yasin. The old economist was 

one of the "veterans" brought in to correct the mistakes made 
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by the "young reformers." \Vi thin months, Yasin was appointed 

Yeltsin's main economic adviser. I had thought that Yasin, as an older 

man and a representative of the more conservative part of the Russian 

political establishment, would be anxious to address the economic 

mistakes of his predecessors. I was wrong. 

"There are no miracles," Yasin began by telling me. "This coun­

try must drink the cup to the bitter end." He spoke of using the con­

fiscatory character of inflation to realign the economic balance in 

society. "Over the near future-at least a year-we will live under 

conditions of inflation and we must focus on those problems that in­

flation allows us to solve-to establish a more rational relationship be­

tween prices, a different relationship between prices and incomes." 

In other words, Yasin was suggesting dramatically lowering the 

real wages of the average Russian citizen; meanwhile, inflation would 

destroy the remaining savings of the population as a source of do­

mestic capital. In the absence of significant foreign investment, 

where was Russia going to get capital to feed the economy? 

"There is only one method-to tighten our belts," said Yasin. 

"We must lower our living standards." The term "tighten our belts" 

resonated with the popular sacrifices made by the Russian people 

during World War II. But this time there would be no victory-only 

impoverishment and early death for those pensioners whose savings 

would be destroyed by inflation.63 

Later, Grigory Yavlinsky would remember being struck by how 

little reformers such as Yasin or Gaidar seemed to care about the Rus­

sian people. Fundamentally, Yavlinsky argued, the people who guided 

Russia under the Yeltsin regime were both heartless and cruel. 

"[Gaidar and his colleagues believed] that Russia was populated 
by sovki (rotten Soviets), that everything that exists in Russia should 

be wiped out and that only then can you build something new," 

Yavlinsky fumed. "Any methods or means are all right. So let inflation 
destroy everything-that's no problem at all. Because, in any case, all 

that stuff is dead, unnecessary. That's the way Gaidar spoke-'The 
scientific establishment can wait! The northern regions are unneces­

sary for us! The older generation is guilty ... ' The paradox of those 
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years is that they were building capitalism using purely Bolshevik 

methods. A Bolshevik is a man for whom the aim is important but the 

means are not. "64 

Many members of the Yeltsin government often spoke about 

their country with such icy detachment that you thought they were 

describing a foreign land. "The Japanese and the Germans [after 

World War II] had it easier, because their industry was destroyed, 

they were living under an occupation regime and already much had 

been done to clear the ground and allow them to begin anew," 

Yevgeny Yasin told me. "Unfortunately, Russia doesn't find itself in 

such a situation. "65 

The Death of a Nation 

The result of Gaidar's hasty liberalization of prices meant that more 

than 100 million people who had achieved some kind of basic mate­

rial prosperity under the Soviets were plunged into poverty. School­

teachers, doctors, physicists, lab technicians, engineers, army officers, 

steelworkers, coal miners, carpenters, accountants, telephone recep­

tionists, farmers-all had been wiped out. The crash liberalization 

of trade, meanwhile, allowed Russia's natural-resource wealth to be 

looted by insiders. The Russian state was deprived of its biggest rev­

enue source; consequently it had no money for pensions, workers' 

salaries, law enforcement, the military, hospitals, education, and cul­

ture. Gaidar's shock therapy set in motion a relentless decline-eco­

nomic, social, and demographic-that would last until the end of 

the Y eltsin era. 

'While the rest of the developed world continued to grow, the 

Russian economy was shrinking. In the Gorbachev era, the Soviet 

Union had been the world's third-largest economy (after the United 

States and Japan). Naturally, the Russian economy alone would be sig­

nificantly smaller than that of the former Soviet Union. But the real de­

cline occurred after the Soviet Union broke up. From the beginning 

of Gaidar's shock therapy, Russia's gross domestic product shrank by 

approximately 50 percent in just four years. Eventually, Russia would 
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sink below the level of China, India, Indonesia, Brazil, and Mexico. On 
a per capita basis, Russia would become poorer than Peru. Decades 

of technological achievement were lost. Renowned scientific institutions 
fell apart. The Russian cultural establishment disintegrated. And the 
country's assets were sold off.66 

Anyone who traveled to Russia in the early Yeltsin years was 
treated to the spectacle of ordinary Russian citizens trying to get by. 
Outside the ramshackle, hollow concrete structures that were the 
Soviet Union's supermarkets, new private bazaars formed, which in­
cluded not just brawny babushkas selling vegetables, but also little 
huts offering bad-quality imported goods: CDs of disco music, fake 
Nikes, Marlboros, cans of Vietnamese pork. These bazaars sprawled 
out in the mud and the garbage at subway stations, along the big av­
enues, in populated squares. 

On Stoleshnikov Lane, near the legendary Moscow Art Theater, 
around the corner from the Bolshoi Theater, elderly men and 
women gathered daily and formed two parallel lines along what de 
facto had become a pedestrian street. Anyone who ran the gauntlet 
of these pensioners, neatly dressed in their tattered clothing, was be­
sieged with silent pleas to buy a teakettle, a pair of knitted stockings, 
three wineglasses, a secondhand sweater, a used pair of leather shoes. 
Meanwhile, beautiful antique volumes began piling up in the book­
stores, selling for ridiculously low prices-Moscow's intellectuals 
were selling their libraries. In the flea markets outside the city, you 
could buy the highest Soviet battle decorations, the equivalent of the 
Victoria Cross or the Congressional Medal of Honor: the old veter­
ans of World War II were selling their medals to buy a few scraps for 
the dinner table. 

With Russia in a slump far worse than the Great Depression, 
people tapped an old survival instinct. Amid rumors of crop failure 
and impending food shortages, millions of city dwellers traveled to the 
countryside to plant cabbages and potatoes in their garden plots. 
The arable land just outside Moscow was swarming with people dig­
ging and planting. It was back to medieval agriculture. Chubais and 
Gaidar were proud of the fact that mass starvation had been 
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avoided. But it was avoided not because prices had been liberalized, 

but because the Russian people had returned to the countryside. It was 

with a shovel and a sack of seed potatoes that Russians escaped star­

vation in 1992 and 1993. 

Any doubts about the first years of the Yeltsin era's being a disaster 

were dispelled by the demographic statistics. These numbers, even in 

their most general form, suggested a catastrophe without precedent 

in modem history-the only parallel was with countries destroyed 

by war, genocide, or famine. 

Between 1990 and 1994, male mortality rates rose 53 percent, fe­

male mortality rates 27 percent. Male life expectancy plunged from 

an already low level of sixty-four years in 1990 to fifty-eight in 1994; 

men in Egypt, Indonesia, or Paraguay could now expect longer lives 

than men in Russia. In the same brief period, female life expectancy 

fell from seventy-four to seventy-one. The world had seldom seen 

such a decline in peacetime.67 

Each month thousands of Russians were dying prematurely. 

Such a drop in life expectancy, labeled "excess deaths," has always 

been a standard algorithm in demographers' calculations of the 

death toll of the great disasters-whether Stalin's collectivization in 

the 1930s, Pol Pot's rule in Cambodia in the 1970s, or the famine in 

Ethiopia in the 1980s. American demographer Nicholas Eberstadt 

estimated that the number of "excess deaths" in Russia between 

1992 and 1998 was as high as 3 million. By contrast, Eberstadt ob­

served, Russia's losses in World War I were 1.7 million deaths.68 

Many premature deaths occurred among the elderly-the 

babushkas, church ladies, and old men-people who had seen their life 

savings disappear in the great inflation of 1992, who had seen their 

pension checks turn worthless, who did not have families to support 

them, and who simply could not scrape together enough money for a 

nutritious diet or medicine. The stress of finding themselves in the fe­

rocious and unknown world that emerged after Communism was also 

a major (though unquantifiable) factor in killing off the elderly. It was 

a frightening experience for them-coming in the twilight of their 

lives, when they were weak and slow-the feeling of seeing the world 
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turn upside down, the streets become unfamiliar, all the comforting 

supports of life swept away. Many hung on for a while, wandering 

around town; the men became drunks sprawled in the icy gutter; the 

women became bone-thin ladies begging at the entrance of churches; 

then they died. The younger generation had turned its back on its 

elders and allowed them to perish. 

A more visible factor in the rise of mortality rates was the disinte­

gration of Russia's public health system. Hospitals were unsanitary, un­

derfunded, underequipped, bereft of medicine. Suddenly Russia was 

suffering outbreaks of diseases associated with the most impoverished 

regions of the Third World: diphtheria, typhus, cholera, and typhoid. 

Tuberculosis, the great killer of the Industrial Revolution, was 

largely wiped out in the twentieth century with the advent of antibi­

otics and better public hygiene. But in the 1990s, Russia found itself 

with hundreds of thousands of active TB cases and even more dor­

mant cases. The most worrying aspect of this phenomenon was the 

appearance of drug-resistant TB-a highly infectious strain of the 

bacterium resistant to any known antibiotic. The breeding ground of 

this scourge was the prison system-active TB afflicted up to 10 per­

cent of Russia's huge prison population. Under conditions of over­

crowded cells and minimal medical treatment, the disease spread 

rapidly and was transmitted further into the general population. 

Each year some 300,000 people (mostly young men) entered the 

prison system, while a slightly smaller number of convicts were re­

leased upon completion of their term. According to two researchers 

studying Russia's problem, Dr. Alexander Goldfarb of New York's 

Public Health Research Institute and Mercedes Becerra of the Har­

vard Medical School, Russia's prisons were releasing 30,000 cases of 

active TB into society and 300,000 carriers of the dormant bacterium 

every year. If nothing was done to address the problem, Goldfarb 

declared, the number of TB cases would continue to double every 

year, reaching 16 million by 2005 (11 percent of the population).69 

If the living conditions were appalling for the 1 million young 

men in Russia's prisons, they were hardly any better for the 1.5 mil­

lion in the armed forces. Every year, 2,000 to 3,000 young conscripts 



Trader's Paradise 107 

perished-either by suicide, murder, accident, or hazing incidents. 
(The precise number of these kinds of deaths was not released by 
the army.)7° 

The Yeltsin era witnessed an explosion of sexually transmitted 
diseases. Between 1990 and 1996, new syphilis cases identified every 
year skyrocketed from 7,900 to 388,200. AIDS was virtually un­
known in Russia in the years before Communism fell. Since then, fed 
by burgeoning intravenous drug use and rampant, unprotected sex, 
AIDS spread with geometric rapidity through the Russian popula­
tion. The government had no idea of the precise number of people 
afflicted, but based on the growth of visible AIDS cases, Dr. Vadim 
Pokrovsky, the nation's leading epidemiologist, estimated that Russia 
would have 10 million people infected with HIV by 2005 (almost all 

between fifteen and twenty-nine).71 

A significant portion of the increase in mortality rates in Russia 
was due to lifestyle choices: an unhealthy diet, heavy smoking, and 
perhaps the highest rate of alcohol consumption in the world. Drug 
addiction took an increasing toll. Initially, post-Communist Russia 
had served only as a transshipment point for opium and heroin from 
Southeast Asia or Central Asia to the West. Soon the drugs began to 
appear in Russia itself. By 1997, Russia's domestic market had bal­
looned into one of the largest narcotics markets in the world. Ac­
cording to official estimates, Russia had 2 million to 5 million drug 
addicts (3 percent of the population). These were mostly young men 
and womenP 

For the older generation, the poison of choice was alcohol. It 
was impossible to tell just how much alcohol was consumed in Rus­
sia, since so much of the vodka was produced in bootleg distilleries. 
One 1993 survey found that more than 80 percent of Russian men 
were drinkers and that their average consumption was more than 
half a liter of alcohol a day. In 1996, more than 35,000 Russians died 
of alcohol poisoning, compared with several hundred such deaths 
that same year in the United States.73 

Heavy drinking and crime contributed to a spectacular rise in vi­
olent and accidental deaths-the single fastest-growing "cause of 
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death" category. Between 1992 and 1997, 229,000 Russians commit­
ted suicide, 159,000 died of poisoning while consuming cheap vodka, 
67,000 drowned (usually the result of drunkenness), and 169,000 
were murdered.74 

While Russians were dying in increasing numbers, fewer chil­
dren were being born. In the late 1990s, there were 3 million state­
funded abortions each year-nearly three times the number of live 
births. (The total number of abortions was even higher.) Abortions 
had long been used by Soviet women as the primary method of 
birth control. The average Russian woman had three or four abor­
tions; many women had ten or more. As a result of these multiple 
abortions, as well as drug addiction, alcoholism, and sexually trans­
mitted diseases, one third of Russian adults were estimated to be in­
fertile by the late 1990s.75 

Many young Russian women abandoned motherhood not by 
choice but by coercion. Several million Russian women were forced 
into prostitution; of these, several hundred thousand became sex 
slaves abroad.76 

The rapid decline in births, combined with an even faster growth 
in mortality rates, produced a relentless decline in Russia's population. 
In 1992, the Russian population was 148.3 million. By 1999, the pop­
ulation had fallen by 2.7 million people. If it had not been for the im­
migrants coming into Russia from the even more desperate situations 
in Ukraine, the Caucasus, and Central Asia, the Russian population 
would have shrunk by nearly 6 million between 1992 and 1999. 
These figures did not include the millions of Russians (mostly the 
healthier, more enterprising members of the younger generation) 
who had emigrated to Europe and North America unofficially.77 

The most pitiful victims of Russia's social and economic decline 
were the children. In 1992, 1.6 million children were born in Russia; 
that same year, 67,286 children (4 percent of all births) were aban­
doned by their parents. By 1997, the breakdown of parenting had 
grown to catastrophic levels. That year 1.3 million children were 
born, but 113,000 children (equivalent to 9 percent of all newborns) 
were abandoned. Russia had no real program of adoption or foster 
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care, so most of these children ended up on the street. According to 

some Western aid agencies, there were more than 1 million aban­

doned children wandering Russia's cities by the end of the 1990s. 

The rest ended up in the vast state orphanage network. Here they 

were often left in dark, overcrowded wards, haunted by malnutri­

tion, insufficient medical care, and routine abuse by the staff and the 

older orphans. At least 30,000 Russian orphans were confined to psy­

choneurological internaty for "incurable" children; an easily reversed 

speech defect such as a cleft palate was enough to get a child classi­

fied as an "imbecile" and locked up in an institution where he or she 

would essentially be left to die. It didn't need to be this way-95 per­

cent of Russia's orphans still had a living parent.78 

When I first went to Togliatti to interview the directors of Avto­

vaz, I decided to take the train from Moscow. The journey would last 

twenty-four hours, but I usually liked traveling by train in Russia­

rumbling through countryside in those 1930s-era railcars was one of 

the best ways to meet people. 

In the carriage of my Togliatti train was a mother with an ailing 

seven-year-old child. It was hot. The boy was stripped to his under­

wear. He was covered with sores-he had a wiry, blistered little 

body. His mother was evidently taking him home after an unsuccess­

ful attempt to get him treated for some skin disease. The boy was in 

agony. He kept wanting to scratch himself. He was crying. His 

mother applied plasters to the worst of the sores. "Mama ... Mama ... 

it hurts," he called out. 

The boy's suffering continued throughout the night, his cries 

echoing through the darkened railroad carriage. The next morning the 

passengers seemed more silent and subdued than usual; there was a 

palpable sense of people trying to harden themsdves against the 

child's suffering. The boy finally fell asleep in midmorning. I saw his 

mother sitting in the corridor alone, gazing blankly at the passing 

Russian landscape. 



CHAPTER FOUR 

SELLING THE COUNTRY 

FOR VOUCHERS 

A Friend of the Family 

In the winter of 1993-94, most Russians had never heard of Boris 

Berezovsky. He had already made a substantial fortune selling Avto­

vaz cars and trading commodities, but he was only one of a score of 

new business magnates-and he was by no means the wealthiest. 

The breakthrough occurred when the car dealer became a friend of 

the Yeltsin family and an intimate member of the presidential circle. 

One of the key members of Yeltsin's entourage at that time was 

the presidential security chief, General Aleksandr Korzhakov. As 

Yeltsin's drinking buddy and ever-present companion, he helped de­

termine the pecking order among the president's cronies and influ­

enced the appointment of top government officials. I first met 

Korzhakov in the hallways of the parliament in the summer of 1997. 

His days of adventure were largely behind him. A large man, puffed 

up with muscle and fat, he lumbered down the corridor. His attitude 

was friendly, straightforward. His small eyes sparkled merrily as he re­

counted his experiences with the Russian president; they narrowed 

with suspicion when I asked questions that were too searching. One 

could see why so many people who met Korzhakov could not help but 

like him. He had the aura of a high-school coach-inspiring, brave, 

loyal, a pleasure to be with. 

110 
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Korzhakov was a career KGB man, but he was not a spy; he had 

spent nearly two decades in the Ninth Chief Directorate, which was 

responsible for the protection of important people and places (like the 

Secret Service in the United States). He met Yeltsin in December 

1985, when he began serving as the future president's bodyguard. He 

became one of Yeltsin's closest and most trusted companions-Kor­

zhakov even stuck by his boss when Yelstin was expelled from the 

Communist Party leadership and went into political exile. After 

Yeltsin took power, he asked Korzhakov to create the Presidential 

Security Service (SBP). Yeltsin did not trust the old KGB. He 

wanted to create (in his own words) "a mini-KGB-all-knowing, 

powerful, and staffed only by loyal people." 1 

As a national leader, Yeltsin had some unique talents. He was an 

effective speaker-he stood erect, marshaling his impressive bulk, 

his deep voice booming over the audience. His delivery was a bit 

bumbling and slow, but this only made him seem more like a regular 

guy-a strong man who had put away too much vodka the night 

before. 

But after his courageous stand during the Putsch of 1991, Yeltsin 

seemed to relax-it was almost as if he considered his main histori­

cal task accomplished. In managing affairs of state he was lazy and im­

patient; he quickly lost touch with events around him. He typically 

took a nap after lunch. His working day usually ended early. He was 

asleep by 10 p.m. but suffered from insomnia. Often he woke at 

about 2 a.m., complaining of aches and pains, and stayed up for 

hours during the night. But unlike that other insomniac boss of the 

Kremlin, Joseph Stalin, Yeltsin did not work much in the middle of 

the night. He just puttered about. Korzhakov soon noticed that the 

Russian president was prone to long bouts of depression. In the 

spring of 1993, when the newspapers were full of revelations of cor­

ruption among Yeltsin's closest associates, Korzhakov was worried 

that the president would try to commit suicide.2 

Yeltsin was a heavy drinker. This problem often led to embar­

rassing diplomatic incidents, such as his drunkenness at a lunch with 

Bill Clinton in Washington, D.C., in September 1993. But nothing 
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better illustrated the pitiable state to which he had sunk than a hu­

miliating occurrence on August 31, 1994, during a ceremony mark­

ing the departure of the last Russian occupation troops from 

Germany. The occasion was deeply symbolic. The Russian army, 

which fifty years earlier had defeated Hitler and conquered half of Eu­

rope, was finally going home. But with their homeland in a shambles 

and dependent on foreign charity, the Russians were leaving not with 

the aura of victors, but with the stigma of the vanquished.3 

Yeltsin was in Berlin to mark the occasion with the German 

chancellor, Helmut Kohl. The Russian president had started drinking 

early in the morning and by noon his security chief, General Kor­

zhakov, knew he was in trouble. "Everybody was waiting for the cer­

emony to begin," Korzhakov would later recall. "Kohl immediately 

understood the (inebriated] condition of Boris Nikolaevich and 

hugged him in a friendly manner. Then the chancellor threw me a 

knowing glance. With my eyes I implored him to help our president, 

at the very least to support him in the literal sense of the word. Kohl 

understood everything: Gently holding Boris Nikolaevich up by the 

waist, he made his way with him to the ceremony. "4 

After a drunken lunch, Yeltsin reviewed the assembled troops 

and crowds. Walking past the Police Orchestra of Berlin, the presi­

dent impulsively jumped on the rostrum, snatched the conductor's 

baton, and started waving it around, embarrassingly at odds with the 

music. After the music stopped, he launched into a drunken version 

of "Kalinka." The Berlin crowds had never seen anything like it. 

Once Korzhakov realized how debilitating alcohol was for 

Yeltsin, he tried to limit his boss's intake by ordering that no spirits 

be kept in the presidential kitchen and, if necessary, giving him spe­

cially prepared bottles of diluted vodka. But the president resorted to 

crafty ways of getting his booze. "If Yeltsin really wanted a drink, he 

would invite one of his trusted friends for a meeting," Korzhakov re­

calls. "The meetings with [Prime Minister] Chernomyrdin, for in­

stance, always ended with a drink for Yeltsin. But sometimes the 

president would call in one of the aides in the anteroom (never fail­

ing to pick out the weakest-willed one) and order him: 'Go and buy 
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me one.' The aide would immediately run to me and say: 'Aleksandr 

Vasilievich, what am I to do? Boris Nikolaevich gave me a hundred 

dollars and requested that I bring him a bottle.' "5 

Gradually, Yeltsin and his top officials became a single, tight-knit 

clan-they lived together, worked together, played and drank to­

gether. It was a court, in the traditional monarchist sense of the 

word. The picture ofYeltsin that emerges from General Korzhakov's 

memoirs (a huge best-seller in Russia) resembles that of the Roman 

emperor Nero, presiding over a corrupt and deadly imperial palace. 

Yeltsin and his entourage spent enormous amounts of time squab­

bling over trivial amenities-apartments, dachas, furniture, phone 

access, cars, and other status symbols. 

They lived in a specially constructed apartment building on Os­

seneya Street. It was an elite residential unit: large rooms, special 

communications cables, heated floors, saunas. There was bickering 

over who would receive an apartment there and who would not. 

Eventually, the list of residents included Yeltsin, Korzhakov, Yeltsin's 

daughter Tanya Dyachenko, Prime Minister Viktor Chernomyrdin, 

Defense Minister Pavel Grachev, secret police chief Mikhail Bar­

sukov, the journalist Valentin Yumashev, Yeltsin's tennis coach 

Shamil Tarpishchev, and the mayor of Moscow, Yuri Luzhkov. They 

lived together, met each other in the elevators, walked their dogs to­

gether. The residents of this building, like the proverbial nouveaux 

riches, spent a lot of time trying to outdo one another's lifesyle.6 

"Yeltsin was very quickly compromised by all those things that ac­

company limitless power: flattery, luxury, absolute irresponsibility," 

concludes Korzhakov. "All the changes promised to the people 

essentially turned out to be endless changes in the ranks of the top of­

ficials. Meanwhile, after every round of sackings and new appoint­

ments, the government was filled with people who were less and less 

likely to pursue the interests of the state.''7 

The Russian economy was disintegrating and on the streets of 

Moscow the Great Mob War was raging. Yet the Yeltsin government 

seemed incapable of doing anything to reverse the slide. The root of 

the government's impotence was its corruption. Even the highest 
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officials, for all the power they wielded, spent as much time worrying 

about their personal financial security as they did about their service 

to the state. Typically, a government minister received excellent med­

ical care, a car and driver, a big apartment, and the right to rent a 

dacha in a prestigious settlement outside Moscow; but the minister's 

cash salary rarely amounted to more than $500 a month. Naturally, the 

temptation to earn money on the side was overwhelming.8 

Oleg Lobov, deputy prime minister and head ofYeltsin's Security 

Council, was accused of playing a role in arming Aum Shinrikyo, the 

doomsday cult that tried to kill thousands of people in the Tokyo 

subway in 1995 by releasing the deadly nerve gas sarin. During the 

Japanese government's investigation, cult members said that they 

had received the blueprints for sarin gas from Lobov in return for a 

$100,000 payment; Lobov was also accused of having sanctioned 

military training for Aum Shinrikyo members at a secret army base in 

central Russia. Russian prosecutors questioned Lobov, who denied 

the accusations. The investigation never went further, though Lobov 

was quietly dismissed from his government post.9 

The minister of security (the head of the former KGB), Viktor 

Barannikov, was another official who was caught. Barannikov acted 

as one of the main patrons of commodities trader Boris Birstein and 

his Toronto- and Zurich-based company Seabeco. Birstein was lavish 

with his rewards. In early 1993, he invited Barannikov's wife and the 

wife of the first deputy minister of internal affairs on a three-day 

shopping trip to Switzerland. The two ladies bought $300,000 worth 

of furs, perfumes, scarves, watches, and so on (all paid for by 

Seabeco) and carried their loot back to Russia in suitcases. They 

were fined $2,000 for their twenty pieces of excess luggage, but this 

bill, too, was paid by Seabeco. Barannikov and the first deputy min­

ister of internal affairs were fired but never prosecuted. 10 

Prime Minister Viktor Chernomyrdin was widely believed to 

have profited from the privatization of the natural-gas monopoly 

Gazprom and from innumerable oil and gas export deals. According 

to one CIA estimate, by 1996 Chernomyrdin had accumulated a per­

sonal fortune of $5 billion. Asked by a congressional committee to 
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comment on this allegation, CIA director John Deutch diplomati­

cally answered: "I would be happy to talk to you about this particu­

lar point elsewhere." 11 

The "young reformers" were not immune from scandal either. 

Finance Minister Boris Fyodorov, one of the leading young reform­

ers and the great hope of the West to keep the market reform alive in 

1993, signed the permits for Golden Ada. This was a scheme con­

cocted by a young trader named Aleksandr Kozlyonok and an old 

Yeltsin crony who was head of the Committee on Precious Metals 

and Gems to embezzle funds of the Russian government and park 

them abroad. Golden Ada set up trading operations in San Fran­

cisco and Antwerp and, over three years, handled an estimated 

$178 million in diamonds, gold, and antique jewelry, smuggled out of 

the Russian treasury. Fyodorov's signature gave Golden Ada the 

green light to begin operations. 12 

An even more important member of the young reformer camp, 

privatization chief Anatoly Chubais, also earned a lot of money on the 

side, not always ethically. On a six-month sabbatical from his gov­

ernment responsibilities in 1996, Chubais headed up a charitable 

foundation funded with a $3 million interest-free loan from Russia's 

top businessmen. Chubais used the money to invest in government se­

curities. He earned $300,000 in just a few months from these opera­

tions, as well as from "lectures and consultations." A year later, he and 

five close associates in the Russian government-all avowed "dem­

ocrats" and free-market advocates-received $90,000 each as an ad­

vance on a book contract from a subsidiary of Onexim Bank, one of 

the main beneficiaries of Russia's privatization program. (The book 

was eventually published two years later, but it was largely ignored by 

consumers.)13 

The whirlpool of corruption affected distinguished foreigners as 

well. When Chubais was guiding Russia's transition to a market econ­

omy, he relied on American legal experts, economists, and public­

relations consultants. One of the largest American aid projects-a 

program to help develop Russia's securities markets-was coordi­

nated by Harvard University and funded by U.S. AID. In May 1997, 
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U.S. AID canceled the last installment of aid earmarked for the pro­

gram ($14 million) when it learned that the two American consultants 

managing the program had allegedly used inside connections to 

profit from the Russian securities markets. The U.S. Justice Depart­

ment began an investigation, though no charges were brought 

against the consultants. At the same time, an audit by the Russian 

Chamber of Accounts revealed serious misappropriations at the Rus­

sian Privatization Center, a private, nonprofit organization linked to 

Chubais and funded by Western aid money; the Chamber of Ac­

counts discovered that much of this money was distributed directly 

to Chubais's cronies and to key political bosses in return for their 

support of market reforms. 14 

Although the venality of Yeltsin's ministers was common knowl­

edge, little action was taken against them. Even when the details of 

top officials' bribe-taking or embezzlement spilled onto the pages of 

the newspapers, the officials were almost never prosecuted-usually 

they were simply dismissed and left to enjoy their ill-gotten wealth in 

private. By contrast, several overzealous prosecutors and anticorrup­

tion crusaders were fired. Among the first was Yuri Boldyrev, whom 

Yeltsin had appointed state inspector in charge of an anticorruption 

campaign in early 1992; he was fired less than a year later, after un­

covering too much dirt about Yeltsin's inner circle. Vice President 

Aleksandr Rutskoi was also dismissed from his anticorruption post in 

early 1993. Andrei Makarov, yet another chief of a committee inves­

tigating corruption, was dismissed in November. 15 

General Korzhakov recalls how badly Yeltsin reacted to revela­

tions of corruption. "Reporting to Yeltsin about embezzlement in 

[top government circles], I noticed that he didn't like hearing about 

the thievery," he says. "Boris Nikolaevich understood that some 

people, claiming to be his loyal friends and allies, were simply en­

riching themselves on the basis of this loyalty." 16 

Few proclaimed their loyalty more eloquently than Boris Bere­

zovsky. Korzhakov was there when the car dealer was introduced to 

Yeltsin's inner circle. It was during the winter of 1993-94. "We were 
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looking for a publisher for Yeltsin's second book, Notes of a Presi­
dent," Korzhakov recalls. The book had been started in early 1992 as 

a quick description of the August Putsch, eventually becoming a 

memoir of the first two years of Yeltsin's presidency. Yeltsin em­

ployed the same ghostwriter, a journalist named Valentin Yumashev, 

he had used for his 1989 book. In the eyes of the rest of Yeltsin's en­

tourage at the time, Yumashev was a strange bird. Korzhakov recalls 

his "sloppy appearance" and calls him a "hippie journalist." The for­

mer security chief was surprised at how protective Yeltsin was of his 

association with the writer. 

"I had good relations with Yumashev at that time," Korzhakov 

says. "Boris Nikolaevich was not delighted by our close relations. He 

always got nervous whenever I spoke well of Yumashev." Later, Kor­

zhakov would discover that Valentin Yumashev played a key role in 

the Yeltsin family's financesY 

Once Notes of a President was finished, the Russian president 

needed a publisher. "Yumashev declared that a large amount of 

money was needed to publish it," Korzhakov recalls. "Unfortunately, 

neither Yeltsin nor I had ever worked in publishing. As it became 

clear later, several big Russian publishing houses had been ready to 

publish Notes of a President at their own expense and even to pay 

Yeltsin a significant advance. But Yumashev explained the problem 

by saying that without the money of some businessman it would be 

impossible to publish Notes of a President." 
Yeltsin's London literary agent, Andrew Numberg, agreed to 

represent rights outside Russia. But who was going to publish the 

book in Russia? General Korzhakov recalls the following conversation: 

"'Did you notice that all Moscow is covered with Logovaz bill­

boards?' Yumashev asked me. 'Logovaz is Berezovsky.' Yumashev 

made it seem as if the publication ofYeltsin's book at Berezovsky's ex­

pense would be an act of charity and that, of all Russia, only Bere­
zovsky was capable of pulling it off." 18 

Berezovsky's Logovaz advertisements appeared in more places 

than just on billboards. Throughout 1993, Logovaz placed many ads in 
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the cash-strapped magazine Ogonyok, where Yumashev served as 

deputy editor. Two years later, in 1995, when Ogonyok was reorganized, 

Yumashev became general director and Berezovsky half owner. 19 

In any case, Berezovsky was taken on as the publisher. "Yumashev 

brought Berezovsky to the Kremlin and introduced him to me," Kor­

zhakov recalls. "Afterward, Berezovsky was introduced to Yeltsin." 

Berezovsky arranged a quick and high-quality printing of the 

book in Finland. He claimed that he had invested $250,000 in the 

project and that his business partner, Avtovaz boss Vladimir Kadan­

nikov, had committed another $250,000. The book was published 

under the Ogonyok imprint.20 "Berezovsky portrayed his task as an ex­

traordinarily generous act of charity for the benefit of the president," 

Korzhakov noted. 

Andrew Nurnberg claims that several hundred thousand copies 

were sold worldwide outsicie Russia. Even so, Yeltsin's royalties, after 

Yumashev's and Nurnberg's commissions were paid, were almost cer­

tainly under $200,000.21 

"Yeltsin hoped to earn $1 million and repeatedly complained to 

me that 'these scoundrels' had robbed him," Korzhakov notes. "They 

[Yumashev and Berezovsky] understood that they had to fix their mis­

take. They started filling Yeltsin's personal bank account in London, ex­

plaining that this was income from the publication of the book. By the 

end of 1994, Yeltsin's account already had a balance of about $3 mil­

lion. Berezovsky repeatedly boasted that he was the person who had 

arranged the accumulation of Y eltsin 's personal funds. "22 

Among the reported contributors to the Yeltsin "book fund" 

was Golden Ada, the San Francisco-based trading company en­

gaged in embezzling $178 million in gold and diamonds from the na­

tional treasury.23 

Nurnberg says that Yeltsin's bank account at Barclays Bank 

was closed around 1993-94 and that the overseas revenues from 

Yeltsin's book were channeled directly into Yeltsin's Russian bank 

account.24 

Korzhakov, however, tells a different story. "Over the course of 

1994 and 1995, Yumashev visited Yeltsin every month in the Krem-
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lin. No one understood why this badly dressed, sloppy-looking jour­

nalist regularly came to visit the president, would speak privately 

with him and then leave his office after a few minutes. I knew the 

reason for the visits. Yumashev was bringing Yeltsin the interest pay­

ments from the account: about $16,000 in cash every month. Yeltsin 

stored the cash in his safe."25 

The book project was important to Yeltsin because he did not 

have many subsidiary sources of income. "At that time, Yeltsin never 

accepted any money from anyone," Korzhakov says. "There was 

never even a question of his accepting a bribe. He even had trouble 

finding the money to complete the construction of his personal 

dacha [country cottage]. We had to fight hard to convince him to ac­

cept $20,000 that a Japanese newspaper was willing to pay in return 

for an interview. "26 

He was grateful to Berezovsky for the financial windfall his book 

represented. When the Russian edition of Notes of a President ap­

peared, there was a triumphant book party at the Presidential Club, 

the luxurious tennis club reserved for the highest government officials. 

Yeltsin proposed Berezovsky as a member of the club. The tycoon was 

now part of the Kremlin circle. 

"Berezovsky was there often, lobbying for his personal projects," 

remembers Korzhakov. "He knew, for instance, that every morning I 

would definitely be there. He followed in my footsteps and even 

while I was taking a shower would continue telling me about his po­

litical and business projects. I must admit that I was glad that the 

sound of the water muffled his hurried speech." 

Berezovsky's fortunes rose immediately upon the publication of 

Yeltsin's book. "Through his access to Yeltsin, Berezovsky appropri­

ated for himself a unique and leading role among the so-called oli­

garchs," Korzhakov remembers. "In other words, he became the 

favorite of the president's family. Berezovsky was constantly demon­

strating his special relations with the Yeltsin family; he reminded 

people of his closeness to the president on any pretext. High gov­

ernment officials feared refusing Berezovsky, who insisted on spe­

cially favorable conditions for his own business." 
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Using his access to the highest officials of the Russian government 

and his reputation as a close friend of the Y dtsin family, Berezovsky 

hammered away at the privatization projects that would put key state 

industries in his grasp. 

"[First Deputy Prime Minister Oleg Soskovets] did a great imi­

tation of Berezovsky," Korzhakov recalls. "He took a worn-out 

leather briefcase, went out of the room, quietly scratched at the door, 

slinked across the threshold and then, with a hunted look, tiptoed 

sideways up to the table. This was so reminiscent of Berezovsky's vis­

its that we all rolled on the floor with laughter. "27 

Berezovsky would get the last laugh, but for now he had to put 

up with the mockery of Yeltsin's government cronies. He needed 

their help in gaining control of some of Russia's biggest companies. 

Blasting Away the Parliament 

Before mass privatization could proceed, Ydtsin needed to gain ab­

solute power. In the first years after the fall of Communism, he was 

not yet the autocratic ruler he would later become. In early 1993, 

Yeltsin was challenged by a broad alliance composed of Russia's top 

politicians. His hold on power seemed shaky. Constitutionally, the le­

gitimacy of his government was in question-the dissolution of the 

Soviet Union, after all, had violated the Soviet constitution and ana­

tionwide referendum. In addition, the policies of Yeltsin's govern­

ment had proved manifestly destructive to the nation. 

"Boris Ydtsin did not come up to our expectations," stated the 

diamond dealer Georgi Khatsenkov. "He turned out to be com­

pletely incapable of managing the country. Instead of stabilizing the 

situation, he served as the catalyst for Russia's disintegration. We 

need a Russian Pinochet."28 

There was one individual who aspired to that role: Vice Presi­
dent Aleksandr Rutskoi. Young and handsome, Rutskoi was a former 

air force general who had fought in the Mghanistan War. Yeltsin's 

choice of Rutskoi as vice president was supported by Russian patri-
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ots and the military, and Rutskoi's solid support of Yeltsin during the 

Putsch of 1991 had been an important factor in the Russian presi­

dent's victory. 

But Rutskoi retained some scruples, as well as personal political 

ambitions. When he saw Russia's wealth being shamelessly looted by 

Yeltsin's cronies, he rebelled. He promoted himself as Russia's law­

and-order candidate. Yeltsin made Rutskoi chairman of a special com­

mission investigating government corruption. But when Rutskoi 

uncovered massive violations, Yeltsin took him off the job. Rutskoi re­

sponded by going public, appearing on evening TV in April 1993 

claiming he had eleven suitcases full of documentary proof of criminal 

dealings by at least four dozen top officials. The Yeltsin dan denied 

the charges and launched corruption accusations against Rutskoi. A 

few months later, Yeltsin dismissed him (another violation of the 

constitution). 

A bigger problem for Yeltsin was the Russian parliament. Hav­

ing been elected in 1990, the parliament was composed of hard-line 

Communists, but also many Gorbachev-era reformers. It was un­
sparingly hostile to Yeltsin and his policies, opposing both Gaidar's 

price reform and Chubais's plans for mass privatization, blocking 

presidential decrees, and threatening to impeach the president. 

On March 20, 1993, Yeltsin appeared on TV and threatened 

to declare martial law if the political crisis was not resolved. He 

knew that on March 26 an extraordinary session of the Congress of 

People's Deputies would initiate impeachment proceedings against 

him. On March 22, he summoned the chief of the Kremlin guard, 

Mikhail Barsukov: 
"We must be prepared for the worst, Mikhail Ivanovich! Work 

out a plan of action in case we need to arrest the Congress." 
"How much time do I have?" 

"Two days maximum." 
Barsukov devised (and Yeltsin approved) the following plan. If the 

Congress voted to impeach Yeltsin, a security officer would read a 

prepared presidential decree over the public-address system dissolving 
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the Congress. Electricity, water, and heating would be shut off. Failing 

that, tear-gas canisters would be set off in the balconies of the assembly 

hall; troops equipped with gas masks would then arrest the incapaci­

tated parliamentarians and take them to specially prepared prison 

buses outside.29 

On March 28, the Congress voted. It did not gather enough 

votes to pass the impeachment measure. Ydtsin's backup plan proved 

unnecessary. A month later, in a national referendum on April 25, 
Russian voters voiced their confidence in both Yeltsin and his eco­

nomic reform program. Considering the fact that the country was 

falling apart and many people were on the verge of starvation, the 

vote was testimony to Yeltsin's lingering charisma and the Russian 

people's rductance to challenge the Kremlin. In the same referen­

dum, a proposition to dismiss the parliament failed to gain enough 

votes to pass. The dectorai.e, therefore, was sending a message that 

it wanted the constitutional conflict between Yeltsin and the parlia­

ment resolved without the destruction of either side. 

The standoff continued and mutual accusations of corruption 

escalated. Throughout the summer of 1993, in front of an increas­

ingly bewildered populace, the nation's top politicians accused one an­

other of fraud and embezzlement. The Russian press was full of 

revdations about rigged export-import contracts with kickbacks 

going to the secret Swiss bank accounts of top officials. (One garish 

scandal involved an intercepted telephone conversation in which top 

government officials were apparently discussing the assassination of 

Russia's prosecutor-general.) The spurned vice president and anti­

corruption crusader, Aleksandr Rutskoi, meanwhile, joined forces 

with the Russian parliament. 

Finally, at 8 p.m., Tuesday, September 21, Yeltsin appeared on 

national TV and announced that he was dissolving parliament. The 

Russian Supreme Court quickly pointed out that this act was bla­

tantly unconstitutional. Inside the White House, several hundred 

supporters, many of them armed, had gathered under the leadership 

of Rutskoi and parliamentary speaker Ruslan Khasbulatov. Yeltsin 
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declared that they had until October 4 to leave. He surrounded the 

parliament with detachments of paramilitary police from the Min­

istry of Internal Mfairs (MVD). The phones and electricity were cut 

off; the building was under siege. 

On Sunday, October 3, the day before the protesters inside the 

White House were supposed to leave, more than 10,000 parliamen­

tary supporters gathered by Lenin's statue in October Square. They 

broke through police cordons and divided into two columns. One 

group marched to the Ostankino TV tower on the outskirts of 

Moscow-the building from which most of Russia's national TV 

networks broadcast. The second column headed toward the be­

sieged parliament building. There, hundreds of militants broke 

through the MVD blockade and joined forces with the men inside. 

An attempt to take the Moscow mayor's office, however, was re­

pelled by a line of security troops backed by units of the Most Bank 

Security Service.3° 

The confrontation turned bloody. Hundreds of anti-Yeltsin mili­

tants had surrounded the Ostankino TV tower, some armed with 

machine guns and others with rocket-propelled grenades. Inside, 

about eighty men of the elite Vityaz unit of the MVD had all the en­

trances covered. The militants were beaten back as they repeatedly 

tried to storm the building throughout the night. Scores of bodies 

were left on the pavement. 

The next morning, Yeltsin ordered tanks to the center of 

Moscow. They parked on the Novy Arhat Bridge, just under the par­

liament building, and began blasting away. Smoke and documents 

burst into the sky after every hit. Soon the top floors of the building 

were on fire. Militarily, it was a perverse replay of the Putsch of 1991, 

except that the tanks were on Yeltsin's side this time and the battle 

was much bloodier. Thousands of Muscovites looked on from their 

windows and rooftops, watching the grand spectacle of the Russian 

parliament being dissolved with high explosives. 

Meanwhile, using tunnels, special forces units infiltrated the 

parliament building and began clearing it out, room by room. At 
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sundown Rutskoi and Khasbulatov surrendered to the authorities 
and, together with their colleagues, were led to the prison buses 
outside. 

The events of October 3-4 left Russians with a bitter aftertaste. 
Officially, ninety-two people died. Most people put the death toil at sev­
eral hundred, and perhaps higher. Both sides appeared self-serving 
and hypocritical. Rutskoi and Khasbulatov had vowed to fight to the 
death to save Russia, but in the end they meekly surrendered to the 
authorities. The Yeltsin camp accused the militants of high treason, but 
released them in a general amnesty a few months after the batde.31 

In a national referendum on December 12, 1993, two months 
after the attack on the parliament, Yeltsin's proposed constitution 
was narrowly approved-by 60 percent of the votes cast, or 32 per­
cent of the eligible voters. There were serious allegations that figures 
on voter turnout (53 percent) had been falsified in the provinces to 
reach the requisite number, but for the time being, it seemed that the 

constitutional crisis had been resolved. Under the new constitution, 
the president was given enormous powers-something akin to the 
powers of the kaiser or the czar in pre-World War I Europe. As with 

those two sovereigns, the Russian president had to deal with an in­
dependent parliament, but this institution (now called by its czarist 

name-the Duma) was virtually incapable of taking action against 
the president.32 

On the same day they voted for the constitution, Russians also 
elected the new parliament. Most of the chosen deputies were 
fiercely critical of Yeltsin and his government. It seemed to be a 
protest vote, an expression of anger against Yeltsin's brutal dissolu­
tion of the previous parliament. But in Russian politics, hypocrisy 
was the order of the day. The Russian people might have thought 

they were electing an anti-Yeltsin parliament, but in fact the assem­
blage turned out to be an obedient tool of the Yeltsin regime. It 
was not only the parliament's lack of constitutional powers that 
made its threatening postures easy to ignore. It was also that the 
largest parliamentary faction-Vladimir Zhirinovsky's party-was 
secretly supported by the Yeltsin government; the Zhirinovsky 
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party, in return, supported Yeltsin on all key measures that came 

up for a vote. 

Anatoly Chubais Privatizes Russia 

Now that Yeltsin had consolidated his power, the government was 

free to take another dramatic step toward turning Russia into a mar­

ket economy. Yegor Gaidar had already freed most prices in 1992, 

but the vast majority of Russian companies still remained state­

owned. Now, with the parliament removed as an obstacle to Yeltsin's 

will, the way was clear for these enterprises to be privatized. 

For most Russians, their country was changing with terrifying 

speed. It took just four months-between August and December 

1991-to abolish Communism and dismantle the Soviet Union. It 
took only a few weeks in early 1992 for Yegor Gaidar's shock therapy 

to destroy the old planned economy, as well as the life savings of the 

majority of Russia's citizens. Now privatization would be carried out 

with the same ruthless speed. 

The program's architect was a thirty-eight-year-old economist 

from St. Petersburg, Anatoly Chubais, the man in charge of a relatively 

small agency called the State Property Committee (GKI). This 

agency was located in a building across from the Rossiya Hotel. The 

hallways rang with American voices: young advisers on economics, fi­

nance, law, and public relations that Chubais had enlisted to help 

with his privatization crusade. 

"Chubais arrived at the headquarters of GKI in 1991," Gaidar, 

then the acting prime minister, recalls. "At the time there was an 

absolute administrative and organizational vacuum, since the old 

mechanisms of Party and government control had been completely dis­

solved. A significant part of the bureaucracy, on the basis of semi­

legal procedures, was brazenly distributing property. Very often, at 
official meetings of the government, dozens of provincial leaders 

spoke out: 'Give everything to us and we will select the owners.' " 

Everyone wanted the right to distribute Russia's natural-resource 

wealth. The Communists and nationalists wanted most of the property 
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to remain in the state's hands. Regional political bosses wanted to dis­

tribute it to their own cronies. Chuhais decided to go with a small 

group of well-connected businessmen. Gaidar believes it was the right 

thing to do. "Chuhais managed, in the heaviest of circumstances, to 

develop a system and put the privatization process in Russ1a on a 

sound footing," Gaidar says. "He is a very precise administrator, ex­

cellent at defining the tasks at hand and controlling their execution. "33 

I once visited Chubais when he was first deputy prime minister, 

and witnessed his phenomenal work capacity. Our interview was 

scheduled for 9:30p.m., in Chubais's offices. The huge government 

administration building (the White House), including the offices of 

the prime minister, the deputy prime ministers, and their staff, was 

dark-nothing but empty corridors, silent offices, and locked doors. 

Everyone had gone home. But Chubais's wing was blazing with light. 

People were rushing around, negotiating on the telephone, drafting 

documents, setting up meetings. Chubais himself, when he came 

into the conference room for our interview, was slightly breathless, vis­

ibly a busy man. Yet his speech was clear and concise; here, it seemed, 

was a superb technocrat. 

Under Chubais's supervision, privatization vouchers had been 

mailed to every Russian citizen (151 million vouchers). The plan was 

to privatize more than half of Russian industry within two years. The 

most common privatization scenario was to sell29 percent of a com­

pany for vouchers at a public auction, distribute 51 percent among the 

managers and workers, and retain the rest for the state, to he sold 

later for cash or investment promises. 

The vouchers were the most important part of the program, giv­

ing every Russian citizen a stake in the new economy; everyone 

could become a shareholder and the best companies would not be 

bought by the wealthy. The idea was Jeffersonian democracy in ac­

tion-creating the foundations for a solid middle class and a big 

domestic market to drive the economy. Russian citizens' savings 

might have been destroyed by the hyperinflation of 1992, but now 

they could salvage some personal wealth by owning shares in Rus­

sian enterprises. 
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When he introduced the voucher-privatization concept to the 

Russian people in the summer of 1992, President Yeltsin declared: 

"We need millions of owners, rather than a handful of millionaires. 

Everyone will have equal opportunities in this new undertaking, and 

the rest will depend on ourselves .... Each citizen of Russia and each 

family will have freedom of choice. The privatization voucher is a 

ticket for each of us to a free economy. "34 

The stake represented by a single voucher was so small, and the 

Russian securities markets so primitive, that voucher owners gener­

ally could not buy shares directly at the privatization auctions. Each 

citizen had a choice either of investing the voucher in his own com­

pany, through a company-sponsored share-ownership program, or of 

investing it in one of the newly created voucher mutual funds. 

Because they were desperately poor, unsure even if they would 

have enough money to buy food, most people sold their vouchers on 

the street for quick cash. Consequently, the street price of the voucher 

was ridiculously low. In the threadbare winter months of 1993-94, it 

was common to see pimply, shabbily dressed young men standing in 

the metro stations with signs reading I'LL BUY VOUCHERS. The price 

was 10,000 rubles-about $7, or enough for two bottles of cheap 

vodka. With each voucher selling on the street for $7, Russia's vast in­

dustrial and mineral wealth was being valued at about $5 billion. 

Voucher privatization seemed like a good plan, but it turned out 

to be a complete failure. The first mistake was the timing. Privatiza­

tion in Russia should have been carried out before Yegor Gaidar's 

price reform in 1992, as a means of soaking up the ruble overhang and 

minimizing the inflationary threat. This had been the essence of 

Grigory Yavlinsky's 500-Day Plan.35 "I considered privatization to be 

precisely the instrument we needed to deal with the monetary over­

hang-not inflation, which reached 2,500 percent in 1992, but pri­

vatization," Yavlinsky recalls. "I concluded that the correct course 
was to use the accumulated savings for privatization. I proposed 

starting with the smallest things-privatizing trucks, small plots of 

land, apartments, small shops-and to move gradually to larger­

scale privatization." 
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Yavlinsky insisted that the privatization had to be done for 

money. "Privatization addresses the issue of ownership, the replace­

ment of the [old Soviet] management," he said. "Of course the 

money people earned from the Soviet times was quite small, but 

spending even their small savings, they became true property owners." 

You should never get anything for free, he argued. You won't respect 

it properly. All valuable things are gotten by the sweat of the brow. 

"You always have to sell [a property], because only that way do you 

create a real owner. Even if you buy a piece of a company for a tiny 

sum, it is still your money-you would value it, you would look for 

a manager, you would try to build up the business. But when people 

got their vouchers in the mail, they didn't care either way." 

Moscow mayor Yuri Luzhkov agreed, saying that privatization 

didn't make sense when the prices were so low. "We say privatization 

is necessary to create a new owner, so that new owner can use the prop­

erty better and expand production," Luzhkov argued. "Take the pri­

vatization of a factory-the new owner is supposed to manage the 

factory better. But all this is possible only when the factory is sold for 

real money. I will give you a concrete example. I bought Zil, a giant 

automobile company, for $4 million. I don't need to use it as an auto­

mobile factory. It covers 240 hectares of land and I can get $4 million 

back by turning it into warehouses or anything else, for that matter. 

"My [chemistry] institute sold for $200,000. This institute, first 

of all, had a cohort of specialists, every one of whom should have 

been earning $200,000 a year. Second, it had an experimental pro­

duction base on which it was possible to develop the newest tech­

nology. And this enterprise was sold for $200,000! The price of a 

single spectrophotometer! The new owner decided he didn't need to 

keep the institute working. He said: I'm firing everybody, I now have 

free real estate, which I will use to supplement my earnings-! am 

renting out this space and getting $500,000 a year. That's business 

for you!" 36 

Yavlinsky and Luzhkov were ignored. Gaidar argued that he and 

Chubais simply did not have enough time to privatize first; they had 

to free prices to put food on the shelves, even if this meant that 
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people would have to use their remaining savings to buy several 

weeks' worth of produce. Still, even a disorderly fire sale of trucks, 

apartments, shops, and garden plots, and, later, a sell-off of small en­

terprises such as brick factories, lumber mills, and textile workshops, 

would have been far less destructive than Gaidar and Chubais's policy. 

Chubais's second mistake was the speed with which he priva­

tized Russian industry. If privatization had begun earlier, it could 

have proceeded much more gradually. Chubais put everything on 

the block at once-the biggest oil companies, metals and mining 

companies, huge timber companies, automakers, machine-tool mak­

ers, tractor factories, big engineering companies, huge shipping 

fleets, the country's main ports-and ended up by flooding the mar­

ket. As any investment banker knows, getting a good price for a 

company's initial public offering of shares depends on limiting the 

supply. First you sell a small portion of the company, then you offer 

more shares when you see that the demand is there. The sale of In­

ternet companies in the United States in 1995-2000-companies 

with little or no present earnings, but a lot of long-term potential 

(the same sales pitch that was given regarding Russian companies)­

was handled this way and produced high prices as a result. 

Like Yavlinsky, Oleg Davydov, foreign trade minister in 1994-

97, believes that the first target for privatization should have been 

shops, restaurants, and small workshops. Next, the government 

could have sold light industrial enterprises such as textile mills and 

food-processing outfits. "The market always begins with the service 

of people," Davydov notes. "Small enterprise."37 

Instead, Chubais privatized Russia's biggest and most profitable ex­

porters. "All the criminality appeared there, in that sector, which had 

such a huge export potential," Davydov laments. He argues that Rus­

sia's industrial giants in such strategic sectors as oil and gas, metals, alu­

minum, and aerospace, should have been converted into state-owned 

corporations. They would learn to function as autonomous enterprises 
and then they could be privatized gradually, as the market developed. 

There are many such examples in Europe and Japan. 
The final mistake of the Chubais-Gaidar policy was to set the face 
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value of the privatization vouchers at a low figure (10,000 rubles). Ac­

cording to early 1992 prices, the face value of the vouchers gave all of 

Russian industry an implicit value of$100 billion, which was clearly at 

odds both with the size of the Russian economy and with the ten­

dency of equity markets to exceed the value of a nation's gross do­

mestic product. The $100 billion price tag Yeltsin's economists 

attached to Russian industry in 1992 paled in comparison to the value 

attached to such markets as Mexico and Hong Kong, whose equity 

market capitalization at the time was $150 billion and $300 billion re­

spectively. By the end of 1993, when Russians actually were able to 

use their vouchers, inflation and devaluation of the ruble had de­

stroyed 95 percent of the voucher's face value, and Russia's industrial 

and natural-resource wealth was valued at a mere $5 billion.38 

By assigning such a ridiculously low face value to the vouchers, 

the government was telling investors that it considered the securities 

nearly worthless. The Russian state was the loser. It sold its best as­

sets for an insignificant sum. Russia's 151 million citizens lost out as 

well, since very few of them received equity stakes in the privatized 

enterprises. Well-connected investors, on the other hand, got an in­

credible bargain. Perfectly good companies could be bought for one 

times earnings or less. For investors playing the Russian equity mar­

ket that first year, annual returns of 300 percent were not unusual. Sig­

nificant fortunes could be made in a matter of weeks. 

One such insider was Berezovsky. Eventually he would use the pri­

vatization process to accumulate Russia's largest private fortune. But 

his participation in its first stage-voucher privatization-was mini­

mal. He focused on other projects in 1993-94 and left the voucher 

market to other operators. 

The Ultimate Emerging Market 

In the late 1980s, Mikhail Kharshan, thirty-nine years old, had 

started his first business: an adventure-travel agency for foreigners. In 

1992, after the announcement of Anatoly Chubais's privatization 
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program, Kharshan established the First Voucher Investment Fund, 

a mutual fund dedicated to taking vouchers from the population and 

exchanging them for equity stakes in companies. Most of Russia's 

600 voucher mutual funds attracted investors with loud advertising 

campaigns, promising returns of several hundred percent a year. 

Kharshan's First Voucher Fund did not make such extravagant 

claims, but it managed to become the largest mutual fund in Russia, 

receiving 4.5 million vouchers (3 percent of the total); the fund ulti­

mately invested these vouchers in eighty different companies-ho­

tels, fertilizer plants, metals companies. Kharshan had a significant 

advantage over his rivals: He was able to sell the shares of his mutual 

fund through thousands of post offices-an instant retail network of 

impressive proportions. He achieved this feat by paying the Ministry 

of Posts and Communications $1 million a month, as well as by brib­

ing a few officials and using old KGB connections.39 

Kharshan's methods were often unorthodox. One of his favorite 

stories was how he acquired his stake in the Solikamsk Paper Co., in 

the northern region of Perm. With a capacity of 460,000 metric tons, 

Solikamsk was a very large paper mill and virtually the only producer 

of newsprint in Russia. Together with the company's manager, Khar­

shan "convinced" the local privatization committee to hold the 

voucher auction only on the grounds of the plant itself. Since the 

paper company was situated in an area of defense plants, it was offi­

cially off-limits to outsiders. But Kharshan arranged for a high gov­

ernment official in Moscow to call the former Communist Party boss 

running the local administration. Kharshan's people were let through 

by security guards, and he was able to buy 10 percent of the company. 

"We didn't shoot anyone and we didn't violate any laws," explained 

Kharshan, grinning. "These are the normal business practices in 

Russia."40 

Another big player in voucher privatization was Alfa, the well­

connected trading company. Its owners had made a fortune in 1992 and 
1993, exporting oil and metals, importing sugar, and trading other 

agricultural products. In December 1992, Foreign Trade Minister 
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Pyotr Aven, the government official overseeing trading companies 

like Alfa, resigned his post and became president of Alfa Bank, 

sharing power with two other well-connected young men. That same 

month, Alfa set up its own voucher mutual fund, called Alfa Capital. 

Having collected 2.5 million vouchers, Alfa Capital became one of 

the largest mutual funds in the country. It bought stakes in forty-six 

companies, including cement plants and other construction-materials 

producers, food-processing plants, and chemicals companies. Mikhail 

Aleksandrov, Alfa Capital's twenty-seven-year-old investment strate­

gist, gushed to me in the midst of this buying spree: "There are some 

deals where you can't believe the company is in Russia-the machin­

ery is all so new and clean and the assets are so good. "41 

Aleksandrov, who had been trained in finance at one of the top So­

viet institutes and had worked briefly for KPMG Peat Marwick and 

CS First Boston, bragged about how Alfa had beaten the American 

conglomerate RJR Nabisco for control of the Pskov cracker factory. 

Pskov made something similar to a Ritz cracker and sold 56 million 

packs a year. Alfa Capital bought a 14 percent stake in the voucher 

auction in April1993. But RJR Nabisco had its eye on the company 

and bought a 10 percent share in the fall. Control still rested with 

Pskov's management and workers, who retained 51 percent of the 

company. Alfa Capital arrived first, bought out the management and 

workers, and obtained 65 percent of the company-all for under 

$4 million.42 

Aleksandrov noted that Western investors would never be able to 

get assets at such cheap prices. "When an American investor comes 

to Moscow, everybody will try to cheat him," he chuckled. A foreign 

investor needed a Russian stockbroker's help to purchase shares. But 

once he knew that a foreign buyer was interested in a particular com­

pany's shares, the Russian broker would often buy the shares himself 

and then resell them at three times the price. In Russia, front running 

was not illegal, and when it came to foreigners, it was that much eas­

ier. "No one would try to cheat us," Aleksandrov observed. "We 

would catch them and bash their face. We could always hire some Ivan 

to shake the money out of them. "43 
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Stockbrokers and mutual fund managers often paid in blood for 

their activities. One of the victims was Andrei Orekhov, founder of 

the Grant brokerage house. Orekhov tried to run a clean operation 

and play by Western market rules; in late 1994, he even master­

minded the successful defense of the Red October Chocolate Fac­

tory in Russia's first hostile-takeover attempt. But that winter, the 

Russian stock market crashed, disappointing many investors, who 

evidently did not understand that markets can go down as well as 

up. On April18, 1995, Orekhov was leaving his home in Moscow, to­

gether with his six-year-old daughter, Maya, whom he was taking to 

school, when gunmen opened fire on his car. Orekhov and his driver 

were seriously wounded; the little girl was killed.44 

So large was the number of Russian companies being privatized 

that many enterprises could be bought at one times earnings or less. 

The problem was identifying the real jewels. "The audited balance 

sheets are nonsense; only 5 percent of the privatized companies are 

really profitable," mutual fund manager Mikhail Kharshan noted. 

The GKI (state property committee) and the Russian Federal Prop­

erty Fund had more detailed information on companies' balance 

sheets and properties, but they were prohibited from releasing it. 

Kharshan boasted that he managed to get the data anyway-smug­

gled out on computer disks from GKI. As a result he purchased 

some companies at one times earnings or 10 percent of sales.45 

Foreign entities such as CS First Boston, Brunswick-Warburg, 

and stand-alone outfits like the Leukadia Group managed to buy mi­

nority stakes in some good companies. But that didn't mean they re­

ceived the same rights as shareholders had in the United States or 

Western Europe. Most Russian managers felt that outside sharehold­

ers were not putting anything into the company and were simply 

intruding in other people's business. They regarded Chubais's priva­

tization program as a hostile takeover. Some companies would not 

even disclose their corporate charter, let alone open their share­

holder register. Claudia Morgenstern, a senior investment officer at 

the World Bank's International Finance Corp. who was advising the 

Russian government on its privatization drive, said: "Like everything 



134 GODFATHER OF THE KREMLIN 

else in Russia, it's not what the law says, it's people's attitude and 

how they choose to act. "46 

Many of the best Russian companies were bought by their 

Soviet-era managers. Typically, these were men who had secretly di­

verted their companies' cash flow and, using that money, either 

bought vouchers to tender in the primary auction or tried to buy 

shares from their own workers on the secondary market. Since work­

ers often received their meager wages months late, they were eager to 

sell their shares to a management-controlled financial company for 

quick cash. 

The most notable success in these discreet management take­

overs was Gazprom, the Russian natural-gas monopoly. Sitting on a 

third of the world's natural-gas reserves, the sole gas supplier to most 

of the former Soviet Union, and the dominant supplier to Western Eu­

rope, Gazprom was the richest company in Russia. It may have been 

the most valuable private company in the world. If it had been a 

Western company, Gazprom would have been worth between $300 bil­

lion and $700 billion in market capitalization on its gas reserves 

alone. Instead, it sold in the voucher auctions for an implicit price of 

just $250 millionY 

The auction had been rigged. First, most of the tenders occurred 

in remote Siberian towns, where Gazprom ran the show. Second, 

foreigners were forbidden to buy shares. Third, management re­

ceived the right of first refusal on any sale of Gazprom securities on 

the secondary market, as well as the right to refuse to register share­

holders it didn't approve of.48 

In the autumn of 1993, Gazprom managers asked Mikhail Khar­

shan's First Voucher Investment Fund to buy 530,000 vouchers so 

they could tender them in the upcoming auction of their company. 

(This amount represented one eighth of the vouchers that were even­

tually tendered in the Gazprom auction.) Kharshan boasted how he 

ran up the price of the vouchers almost twofold on the stock ex­

change in order to charge the Gazprom managers at least twice what 

they would have paid had they tried to accumulate the vouchers 
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slowly. "They're bureaucrats, and what's more, they're provincial fel­

lows," Kharshan said, chuckling. "They're not very quick. "49 

In the end, however, the Gazprom managers got the better end 

of the deal. With the Gazprom-voucher auction rigged in favor of 

company managers and employees, the shares sold for a terrifically low 

price. In the obscure Republic of Mari El, for instance, the price of 

the shares implied a value of just $80 million for the entire company, 

while in the northern industrial city of Perm, the implied valuation was 

$79 million. The average price at which Gazprom shares sold on the 

voucher auction valued the entire company at $250 million. Flush with 

the vouchers they had accumulated through brokers like Kharshan, 

Gazprom managers ended up with about 15 percent of the company, 

as well as voting control of the government's 35 percent stake.50 

The result of this manipulation of the market and of the careless 

way in which privatization vouchers were sold to the population was 

that Russia's industrial wealth was auctioned off at extremely low 

prices. Below is a table of the largest companies subjected to voucher 

privatization. 

Voucher Value of Russian Companies Compared with Market Value 

(in Million U.S. Dollars)51 

At Voucher At Russian Stock 
Auction Prices Market Prices 

Company (1993-94) (August 1997) 

Gazprom (natural gas) 250 40,483 

Unified Energy Services (electricity) 957 17,977 

Lukoil (oil) 704 15,839 

Rostelecom (telecommunications) 464 4,172 

Yuganskneftegaz (oil) 80 1,656 

Surgutneftegaz (oil) 79 6,607 

These six industrial giants, the crown jewels of Russian industry, 

were valued by the Russian secondary market at least twenty times 

higher than the price at which they were sold in the voucher auctions. 
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The People's Car 

The irony of the intricate maneuvers carried out by Russian man­

agers at the voucher auctions was that they did not need to capture a 

majority stake in a Russian company to control it. "Under Russian 

conditions, there is no difference between control and ownership. If 

you have control over an enterprise, you control the cash flow," 

noted the First Voucher Fund's Mikhail Kharshan.52 

Berezovsky understood this perfectly. He was more interested in 

solidifying his control over the cash flow of Avtovaz than he was in 

acquiring stakes in other companies through the voucher auctions. 

He knew that privatization was not simply a matter of buying shares 

of a company on the market. Soon he would perfect the art of "vir­

tual privatization"-gaining control of companies in which he had a 

minimal equity stake. 

But Berezovsky would not let an opportunity like voucher priva­

tization pass by without exploiting it in some way. Characteristically, 

he chose an unusual way to play the market. Berezovsky realized that 

the voucher program was the foundation for a securities market in Rus­

sia, and he was one of the first individuals to understand how to raise 

capital in this market. His plan was to start an investment fund tak­

ing cash from rank-and-file investors. 

The first Russian stock exchanges were primitive affairs. They 

did not trade shares of Russian enterprises-typically, they had only 

one liquid security available: the privatization voucher itsdf. In early 

1994, I accompanied Sergei Andreyev, a trader for the Russian stock­

broker Grant Financial Group, to the largest exchange in Moscow, the 

Russian Commodities and Raw Materials Exchange. Andreyev's mis­

sion was to purchase 10,000 vouchers for CS First Boston. The ex­

change, which traded commodities in the morning and vouchers in 

the afternoon, resembled a bus station. There was even an ice-cream 

stand in the corner. Crowds of shabbily dressed people milled about 

with suitcases and bags. These were traders who had come from dis­

tant cities with suitcases of vouchers; they were waiting to strike a 

deal, count the money, and leave with suitcases of cash. 
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The afternoon I accompanied him, Andreyev made note of the 

voucher transaction prices on the board. He said he would use the 

board price as a benchmark and then buy from one of the traders in 

the corner to avoid paying the exchange a commission. The voucher 

price at that moment was hovering just above 20,000 ·rubles. "Too 

high," Andreyev said. "Most of these guys are provincials and they 

have to sell. They didn't surrender yesterday and they're not surren­

dering today, but they'll have to give in before they leave at the end 

of the week." 

Accompanying us on this visit to the exchange was a tough guy 

named Aleksandr Fomenko, a former KGB bodyguard who was 

working for the Grant Financial Group. While we were waiting for a 

transaction to take place, Fomenko told me of a case in late 1993, 

when several executives from a Siberian trading company came 

to the exchange with suitcases of vouchers, which they sold for 

$150,000 in foreign currency-cash. They were robbed as soon as 

they left the exchange. 

Most investors were robbed as well, though not at gunpoint. If 
they didn't sell their privatization vouchers for $7 on the street cor­

ner, most Russian citizens usually had no choice other than to invest 

them in one of the voucher mutual funds. Some funds, like Khar­

shan's First Voucher Investment Fund or the Moscow Real Estate 

Fund, were legitimate operations, but they typically produced paltry 

dividends for their investors-not even close to compensating them 

for the effects of inflation. 

Investment fund managers routinely committed gross violations of 

their fiduciary responsibility. When an investment fund made a superb 

purchase in one of the voucher auctions, shareholders in the fund were 

lucky if they received the full capital appreciation of the investment. In 

a typical scenario, an investment fund would purchase a block of 

shares in a company at one of the voucher auctions. Several months 

later, the fund would be approached by a buyer willing to pay twenty 

times the purchase price. The fund then sold the shares at two times 

the price to a company owned by "friends" of the fund's managers; this 

company, in turn, sold the block of shares to the ultimate buyer at ten 
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times the price it had bought them for. "It is a typical paganaka [a poi­

sonous mushroom]-investment funds do this kind of thing all the 

time," observed Andrei Orekhov, general director of the Grant stock 

brokerage. 

Most mutual funds were pyramid schemes, robbing Russians not 

only of their vouchers but of their cash savings as well. By 1994, those 

Russians who still had any cash savings were desperate to put their re­

maining funds in a safe place. With inflation running at 215 percent 

or more, keeping money in the bank was a bad idea, since banks typ­

ically paid less than 50 percent on savings accounts. The only alterna­

tive was to invest in one of the new cash mutual funds, most of which 

were primitive Ponzi schemes. One of the first and most obvious rip­

offs was a mutual fund called Tekhnichesky Progress, which, in the 

summer of 1993, promised a 500 percent annual return and began 

paying out. It attracted some 300,000 small investors and then disap­

peared. Other mutual funds promised equally outlandish returns, col­

lected investments from millions of rank-and-file investors, and then 

vanished. No one knows exactly how much money was lost in the 

pyramid schemes, but it amounted to billions of dollars. Those Rus­

sian citizens who managed to avoid total ruin in the inflation of 1992 

were conned out of their money the second time around. 

The largest pyramid scheme was MMM, originally a trading 

company (a cooperative) established in 1989 by the three Mavrodi 

brothers. They had cut their teeth on the lucrative commodities 

trade. By 1992, MMM comprised twenty different companies, in­

cluding the original trading house, a bank, and a brokerage firm. 

I wanted to meet the boss of the firm-thirty-seven-year-old 

Sergei Mavrodi. But I managed an interview only with his thirty­

year-old brother, Vyacheslav. The MMM headquarters was on the 
outskirts of Moscow, an hour's drive from the center of the city. We 

had to maneuver through a moonscape of shabby high-rise apart­

ment blocks, across some railroad tracks, past crumbling ware­

houses, before we finally arrived at the headquarters: a nondescript 
four-story building that might have been an old school. 

I found Vyacheslav Mavrodi in an agitated state. Two months 
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earlier (on January 30, 1992) the company had been raided by tax in­

spectors, accompanied by twenty policemen armed with machine 

guns. "They presented no warrants and no charges," Mavrodi told me, 

twitching with indignation. "They took all our documents. The tax 

authorities now say they are conducting a normal investigation on 

whether we underpaid our taxes." 

Evidently, the company was still under great pressure. In the 

middle of our interview, Mavrodi took a phone call. It was his 

brother, Sergei. "Yeah, the usual honor guard accompanied me this 

morning," Vyacheslav Mavrodi complained to his brother. "From 

the house all the way here. "53 

After intimidating the company, the Russian government myste­

riously left MMM alone, and it was allowed to organize the country's 

largest mutual fund, attracting the savings of millions of ordinary 

Russians by promising returns of up to 3,000 percent in rubles. It 

turned out to be a classic Ponzi scheme in which latecoming money 

was used to pay off earlier investors. The Russian government had 

no watchdog to investigate the scheme, let alone close it down. In 

the summer of 1994, MMM was finally revealed as a pyramid scheme 

and collapsed.54 

I went to see some of the MMM victims six months later. It was one 

of those bitterly cold Russian days-if you stood outside for too long, 

the cold from the ground would penetrate the soles of your boots, first 

freezing your feet and then the rest of your body. I took a gypsy cab to 

an address in a shabby suburb of Moscow. There I saw a large, lifeless 

building, in which the local MMM office occupied the comer space. The 

office was shuttered. About fifty middle-aged and elderly people were 

gathered outside-a small demonstration. Were they finally rising up 

against the fraud and corruption? No. The MMM protesters, I dis­

covered, were just milling about without clear intent. 

"Mavrodi is a crook and the government should make him give 

us our money back," one elderly gentleman told me. 

"It's not Mavrodi's fault," a babushka broke in. "It's the govern­

ment's doing-they forced him to go bust." 

The boss of the MMM operation, Sergei Mavrodi, was arrested 
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and jailed by Russian authorities for tax fraud and released two 

months later, but in 1994 he won a by-election to the parliament and 

received immunity from prosecution.55 

So it was in Russia in those days-it was unclear who was more 

at fault: the government or the financial wheeler-dealers. It was clear 

who the losers were, however: ordinary Russian citizens. 

Apart from MMM, the most famous cash investment fund being 

peddled to Russian citizens in 1993-94 was something called Awa 

(the All-Russian Automobile Alliance). This was Berezovsky's brain­

child. The Avva plan was to create a joint venture between Avtovaz and 

General Motors to build an assembly line in Togliatti to produce 

a new Russian car. Production would begin in 1996 (the year of 

the forthcoming presidential election) and would eventually reach 

300,000 vehicles a year. The cost of the project was optimistically esti­

mated at $800 million, of which $300 million would be procured from 

the securities markets. Awa, claimed its boosters, would provide Rus­

sia with a new "people's car." Like the other famous "people's car"­

the Volkswagen Beede, which spearheaded the German economic 

miracle after World War 11-Awa would signal the economic rebirth 

of Russia. Not only would Awa be democratic Russia's first big pri­

vately financed industrial project, but it would also revitalize the auto­

mobile industry, which was central to Russia's economic welfare.56 

Even by Russian standards, the rise and fall of Awa was spectac­

ular. The company's launch in October 1993 was attended by enor­

mous publicity. Several weeks after having sent in the tanks to blast 

his political enemies out of the parliament building and around the 

time he accepted Berezovsky's offer to publish his memoirs, Presi­

dent Yeltsin signed a decree awarding Awa lucrative tax breaks and 

customs duty exemptions. Banque Nationale de Paris offered a $150 

million line of credit. Avtovaz, GM, and Awa signed a memorandum 

of understanding on the construction of the new assembly line in 

Togliatti.57 

The Awa project allowed Berezovsky to stride onto the national 

stage as a great statesman and industrialist. Representing a large in-
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vestment in the crucial automaking sector, a joint venture with GM, 

and a new method of financing industrial growth (through private 

investment and the capital markets), Awa symbolized a bright new 

age. As the general director of the Awa project, Berezovsky was able 

to present credentials as a man working for Russia's future. "If Rus­

sia is not to become a Third World country, it must have a well­

developed industrial base," he declared grandly. "If Russia wants to 

secure its economic and political independence, it must develop its 

industry. "58 

In December, Awa began selling securities to the Russian public. 

The first securities were certificates of deposit; priced at $7 (10,000 

rubles) each, accessible to even ~he most impoverished Russian. The 

certificates were sold by traders with suitcases in the metro and bus 

stations, alongside the traders offering to buy privatization vouchers 

(whose face value coincidentally was also 10,000 rubles). The Awa cer­

tificates had no term limits-they could be redeemed for cash or eq­

uity once the new auto plant was built. The holders of the certificates 

could participate in a lottery, where the prizes were thousands of 

new Avtovaz cars (worth about $7,000 each), discounted 30 percent 

to 100 percent.59 

Convinced by the advertising campaign that the plant would be 

built, and eager to participate in the automobile lotteries, more than 

100,000 Russians bought a total of $50 million worth of Awa certifi­

cates. By early 1994, the certificates were trading briskly on Russia's 

main exchanges; along with privatization vouchers, the Awa certifi­

cates were the country's most liquid security.60 

Several months later, GM backed out of the Awa project, 

alarmed by gangsterism and corruption at Avtovaz. Apart from 

Banque Nationale de Paris and the $50 million invested by Russian 

citizens, no other financing for the project came through. There was 

not enough money even to begin construction. Only 650 Avtovaz 

cars were offered at the first Awa lottery. Investors began to suspect 

that Awa was a sham. By the autumn of 1994, the securities had be­

come worthless. 61 
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In the spring of 1995, Avtovaz chairman Vladimir Kadannikov 

admitted to the press that Awa had not collected enough money to 

build the new assembly line. He suggested that the Awa funds be 

used to fund other, more modest Avtovaz investment projects. The 

people's car was dead.62 

When I asked Rene Kuppers, general director of the Swiss fi­

nancial company Forus and one of Awa's founding shareholders, 

about Awa in early 1999, he reacted with contempt. "Bah ... I don't 

know what the company is doing today," he snorted. "It was an in­

vestment which didn't work out, so we wrote off our participation to 

zero."63 

There was one footnote to the Awa story. In late 1996, Avtovaz 

announced that it had found a way to use the Awa funds to build a 

new car after all. The plan was to create a joint venture among Avto­

vaz, Awa, GM, and Valmet, a Finnish manufacturing company, to 

assemble 30,000 Opel Astras in Finland (one tenth of the volume en­

visioned in the original Awa project). The initial investment was 

slightly more than $100 million, with the Russians putting up the 

cash and the Finns forgiving a part of Russia's sovereign debt. In 

early 1997, Foreign Trade Minister Oleg Davydov and Prime Min­

ister Viktor Chernomyrdin inspected the first cars rolling off the 

Awa-Valmet assembly line. "I was with Chernomyrdin," Davydov 

remembers. "They showed him this car, he sat in it, drove around, and 

they gave it to him as a gift. But [the Awa project in Finland] is over. 

They stopped assembling the cars and everything closed down."64 

Periodically, Berezovsky would reassure the Russian public that 

Awa was still alive and well. In an interview with the newspaper 

Sevodnya in June 1996, he declared that the money deposited in Awa 

was still intact; the assets had even increased in value, he claimed, to 

nearly $140 million. None of this, however, made any difference to 
Awa investors (they never got their money back) or to Avtovaz (it 

never got any significant investment from the scheme).65 

For Berezovsky, Awa was a great success. If nothing else, it cre­

ated yet another hollow investment vehicle to reinforce his control 

over his cash cow, Avtovaz. At least part of the Awa money was used 
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to buy a 34 percent stake in Avtovaz (the Berezovsky-linked financial 
company, AFK, owned another 19 percent, while the pyramid 

scheme MMM owned another 10 percent). The automaker was now 

solidly in the hands of its managers-Kadannikov, Glushkov, and 
the rest of the Logovaz cabal. All the companies underlying Bere­
zovsky's car-trading business-Avtovaz, Avtovaz Bank, AFK, Avva, 

and Logovaz-were now bound together in a network of interlock­

ing shareownership arrangements. In the center was Berezovsky. 66 

The Avva investment scheme gave Berezovsky at least $50 million 

interest-free to pay salaries, rent, and security-service fees. When 

Avva began falling apart a year after its inception, no one in the 
Kremlin paused to remember the promises Berezovsky had made 

amid the hoopla of the project's launch. He was already onto bigger 

and better things. And the contacts he had made with President 
Yeltsin had now become an iron bond. 

As the Yeltsin family's favorite businessman, Berezovsky was 
now receiving the protection of General Korzhakov, the SBP chief. 

The car dealer made sure of Korzhakov's goodwill by doing him fa­
vors as well, including offering the SBP staff Avtovaz cars at half 
price ($3,000 to $4,000). Throughout 1994-95, during the tail end 

of the Great Mob War and the feeding frenzy of Russia's privatiza­
tion, General Korzhakov was there for Berezovsky, loyally protect­
ing the tycoon from his rivals and providing him with political 

support as he accumulated state-owned assets. He helped derail the 
police investigation after Berezovsky came under suspicion for mur­

dering the famous TV personality Vlad Listyev. Korzhakov also sent 
his men to attack the security service of Berezovsky's archrival, 
Vladimir Gusinsky, in late 1994. This incident-popularly known 
as "Faces in the Snow! "-shocked Moscow. Later, General Kor­
zhakov would assert that the attack came at the tail end of repeated 
requests by Berezovsky to assassinate his business rival. 67 



CHAPTER FIVE 

THE LISTYEV MURDER 

"The Clearest Illustration of Corruption in Russia" 

As far back as the late 1980s, it had become apparent that the nascent 

Russian market economy operated according to one simple principle: 

Commercial success depended on political influence. If you had good 

political connections, you could become fabulously wealthy. If you 

did not, you would almost certainly fail. The further Russia's market 

evolved, the more prevalent this rule became. Soon, virtually every 

major businessman had to have a "roof." For small-scale businessmen 

the roof often meant the protection of a local gangster boss; the big­

ger businessmen used top government officials as their roof. 

When he published Yeltsin's memoirs and entered the president's 

inner circle, Berezovsky took a major step forward in his business ca­

reer. But this act alone was unlikely to provide him with sufficient po­

litical protection in the long term. His "act of charity" would soon be 

forgotten. He needed to find an ongoing means of earning the grati­

tude of the Kremlin; he needed to find a way of gaining the upper 

hand over his political patrons. So Berezovsky decided to take control 

of the primary vehicle molding public opinion: television. 

His target was the state-owned Channel 1. As Russia's only na­

tionwide TV network, Channell was an extraordinarily powerful in­

stitution-its political clout was equal to that of ABC, CBS, NBC, 

144 
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and Fox combined. It reached 180 million viewers, both in Russia 
and beyond. For many people, Channel 1 was their only source of 

news and analysis. But the network's power went beyond its geo­
graphic reach. For decades Russians had received the official Party 

line from Channel 1-the network essentially told the population 
what to think. 

In the first years of the Yeltsin regime, Channell was losing hun­

dreds of millions of dollars a year. The managers of the network were 

frequently bribed to provide airtime to one production company 

and deny it to another. Businessmen and politicians could bribe a 

TV producer to show a pseudodocumentary program either flatter­

ing them or crucifying their enemies. The network was also the scene 

of mass embezzlement of government funds. The Russian govern­

ment picked up the tab for running Channell; the operating costs­

the transmission costs, the salaries, much of the programming­

amounted to about $250 million annually. The network did produce 

some advertising revenues-about $80 million a year-but few 

of these funds went to the network itself. They were taken either by 

the TV production companies broadcasting on the network or by 

media sales companies (advertising wholesalers). Thus, Russia's 

hard-pressed taxpayers were paying for the accumulation of private 

fortunes. 1 

"Essentially everything that was going on at Channel 1 was the 

clearest illustration of corruption in Russia," Berezovsky would later 

recall. "There were lots of little companies that bought chunks of air­

time. So, on the one hand, there is government funding [$250 million], 

which pays for the signal and the programming. On the other hand, 

there are private companies which ... on the basis of government 

funding, produce the programming, broadcast their programming, 

and receive revenues from advertising. "2 

The advertising business of Channel 1 was dominated by Sergei 

Lisovsky, a thirty-six-year-old entrepreneur who had made his first 

big fortune by starting a chain of Moscow discotheques. Lisovsky's 

flagship disco, U Lis 'sa, was partly owned by Otarik, the gangster­

businessman who would be assassinated during the Great Mob \X'ar. 
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It was here, in April 1993, that mob boss Globus was killed by a 

sniper's bullet, unleashing that war. Lisovsky had greater ambitions 

than just running discos, so he started a publishing business, a video 

retail business, a film company, a TV company, and an advertising 

company. The advertising company, called Premier S.V., was Lisov­

sky's cash cow. By the end of 1994, Premier controlled more than 

half the TV advertising business in Russia, serving as the media sales 

agent (wholesale broker of advertising airtime) for Channell, Chan­

nel5, and Channel6.3 

According to the Moscow organized-crime squad, one of the 

founding shareholders of Premier S.V. had earlier been arrested on 

racketeering charges. Two colleagues in the graphics and design part 

of the business had been murdered. The chief financial officer of 

Premier S.V. was Aleksandr Averin. Known in the underworld as 

"Avera Junior," he was the younger brother of Viktor Averin, the 

right-hand man of Mikhas, the boss of the Solntsevo Brorherhood.4 

This was the crowd Berezovsky would have to deal with to break 

into the advertising business at Channel 1. By late 1993, he had es­

tablished two media subsidiaries, Logovaz-Advertizing and Logovaz­

Press, but his first attempts to carve out a niche in the mass media 

market were unsuccessful. In the summer of 1994, with his political 

influence growing inside the Kremlin, he got his chance. His point 

man was his trusty Logovaz partner, the man who, according to police 

sources, served as his go-between with Russian organized-crime 

groups: Badri Patarkatsishvili.5 

Sometime in June or July, at the height of the mob war, with 

Berezovsky recuperating abroad from the failed car bombing and 

Badri managing affairs in Russia, Logovaz gained a foothold in the 

Channel 1 advertising market. Despite its bloody battles with 

Solntsevo-connected gangsters like Sylvester and Igor Ovchinnikov 

during the mob war, Logovaz signed a deal with Sergei Lisovsky, the 
Solntsevo-connected advertising mogul. Lisovsky had gathered the 

major Channel 1 advertising outfits together to form Advertising­

Holding to monopolize the sale of advertising on the network. Bere­

zovsky's fledgling Logovaz-Advertizing was included as one of the 
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founding shareholders of Advertising-Holding. (Lisovsky held a 49 

percent stake in the new company and served as its general director.)6 

The new monopoly's task was to push the independent produc­

tion companies out of the advertising market (previously Channel 1 

had allowed production companies to put their content on the net­

work for free and to claim a good part of the advertising revenue). The 

plan was for Channel 1 to buy the programming itself and get paid 

back with advertising revenues. The airtime would be sold to adver­

tisers (on a commission basis) by Advertising-Holding. The arrange­

ment involved numerous conflicts of interest and opportunities for 

self-dealing. Berezovsky's Logovaz, for instance, had both an adver­

tising company that bought airtime from Advertising-Holding and a 

share in Advertising-Holding itself. Lisovsky's position was even 

more dubious: He controlled Advertising-Holding, bought airtime 

from it, and was one of the biggest content providers for the net­

work. Such conflicts of interest offered the possibility to transfer rev­

enues out of the network and into the intermediaries? 

Berezovsky was not satisfied with just a piece of the advertising 

business at Channel 1. He wanted to control the network itself. "I 

did not intend to make money [with Channel 1]," he told me in 

1996. "I regarded it as an important source of political influence. All 

the subsequent events-especially the presidential elections-have 
confirmed that. "8 

In the late summer of 1994, having largely sat out the voucher­

privatization process, Berezovsky began lobbying General Kor­

zhakov and President Yeltsin to privatize Channell. He argued that, 

with the 1996 presidential elections less than two years away, Chan­

nel 1 would be a key weapon in the campaign. He promised that it 

would be the "president's channel."9 

"Berezovsky's plan, which he repeatedly explained to me," Kor­

zhakov would later recall, "was to leave the majority stake in the TV 
channel in the hands of the government, while a group of politically 

loyal investors would take 49 percent. He argued that only in this 

way would the channel become financially self-sufficient, while si­

multaneously allowing the president to control it." 10 
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On November 30, 1994, President Yeltsin signed the decree pri­

vatizing Channell. The new company would be called ORT (Russian 

Public Television). 

The Enemy 

That Berezovsky recognized the power of television in 1994 wastes­

timony to his ability to be several moves ahead of his peers. There 

was, however, one man who had understood the importance of TV 

before him: Vladimir Gusinsky. A prominent business magnate, 

Gusinsky was the owner of Most Bank-one of Moscow's largest re­

tail institutions-and NTV, Russia's first independent TV network. 

Berezovsky regarded Gusinsky as his archrival. The origins of the 

epic feud are unclear. In one interview, Gusinsky placed its begin­

nings in the winter of 1993-94-the time of the mob war. Another ver­

sion is that the two men competed over whether the national airline 

Aeroflot would be serviced by Gusinsky's Most Bank or Berezovsky's 

Avtovaz Bank. Others place the feud in the auto-dealership busi­

ness-a rivalry between Logovaz and dealers allied with the Moscow 

city government. Still others locate its origins in television. "When 

NTV was founded, Berezovsky spent a lot of energy trying to get the 

channel shut down," General Korzhakov would later remember. 11 

In many ways the two men were mirror images. Berezovsky in 

particular seemed to chart much of his business career by following 

Gusinsky. In 1989, when Gusinsky established a joint venture with an 

American firm, Berezovsky formed his own joint venture with the 

Italians. In 1991, when Gusinsky established a bank, Berezovsky 

formed his own bank. When Gusinsky's bank started handling 

Aeroflot's account, Berezovsky took the account for himself. After 

Gusinsky started one of Russia's leading newspapers, Berezovsky, 

too, bought a newspaper. When Gusinsky established a TV network, 

Berezovsky decided he had to have a TV network as well. 

In contrast to Berezovsky, who liked to take over existing enter­

prises, Vladimir Gusinsky created entirely new companies. He added 

value to the Russian economy. Irrespective of how he had accumu-
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lated his capital, he established a retail banking network, constructed 

buildings, started newspapers and magazines, created a TV network. 

Unlike Berezovsky, Gusinsky could legitimately claim to have played 

a constructive role in the Russian economy. 
Gusinsky's past is murky. His official biography reports that he was 

born into a Jewish family in Moscow in 1952. In the 1970s, he made 

money as a small-time black-market trader and gypsy-cab driver. In 

the 1980s, he became part of the Communist establishment, organiz­

ing festivals and theatrical events for the Communist Youth League. 

In 1986, the Youth. League chose him to be the director of the cul­

tural program of the Gbodwill Games (an imitation of the Olympics, 

organized by the American TV magnate Ted Turner) in Moscow. 

Gusinsky made valuable acquaintances in the American business 

community, and in 1989 convinced the business subsidiary of the 

American white-shoe law firm Arnold and Porter to form a joint ven­

ture called Most ("bridge" in Russian). The joint venture, which of­

fered consulting services to American companies doing business in the 

Soviet Union, did not last long. Gusinsky soon dropped his American 

partners and reincorporated Most as a bank and holding company.12 

Gusinsky's patron was Moscow mayor Yuri Luzhkov, a tough 

political boss from the Soviet era. Gusinsky had met Luzhkov in the 

late 1980s, when he established several businesses selling clothing 

and jewelry, "importing computers," and "producing construction 

materials." 13 

"[Luzhkov] at that time was responsible for the cooperatives 

[private businesses] of Moscow," Gusinsky recalled. "All the cooper­

ative owners of Moscow knew that if you needed something, you had 

to go to Luzhkov, and it wasn't necessary to call beforehand." 14 

Luzhkov was an excellent man to have on your side. He was a 

highly effective city boss. He liked to refer to himself as a khozyaist­
vennik (business manager). Unlike most Russian managers, he was 

comfortable discussing business plans, cash flows, and economic sta­

tistics; he neither drank nor smoked-another rarity in Russia. In 

contrast to Yeltsin's young reformers, who gave away the bulk of 

the state's industrial holdings, Luzhkov preferred to hang on to 
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city-owned property and sell it only for a decent price. In real estate, 

for example, the city of Moscow received more than $1 billion annually 

from renting or selling its properties-ten times more than the Rus­

sian government received from its holdings throughout the country. 

The city owned and operated two big auto plants, an oil company, the 

local phone and electric utilities, a TV network, one of Moscow's air­

ports, a fast-food chain, part of the local McDonald's chain, dozens 

of hotels, and hundreds of shops and restaurants. While Yeltsin's 

government presided over one catastrophe after another, Luzhkov's 

city government was manifestly an institution that worked. The city 

was able to meet its social welfare obligations. Utility, transportation, 

and public-housing costs were kept low; pensions were paid 

promptly. The roads were relatively well maintained. The subway 

trains rolled on time. Every year, hundreds of new housing blocks, 

schools, and hospitals were built. 15 

In a country where everything was collapsing, Moscow was an 

oasis of prosperity and success. Luzhkov's strategy was not to fight or­

ganized crime (he did not have the power), but to tax it. He presided 

over a city plagued by casinos, corruption, and gangland shoot-outs, 

but he also convinced even the shadiest businesses to contribute to 

his ubiquitous civic projects. An estimated $350 million went to 

build the opulent underground shopping mall at Manezh Square, 

another $100 million to rebuild the Luzhniki soccer stadium, more 

than $100 million to expand the Ring Road highway, and an esti­

mated $1 billion to reconstruct the mammoth Cathedral of Christ 

Savior. One of Luzhkov's greatest achievements was the restoration 

of the historic city center. The prerevolutionary architecture of 

Moscow had deteriorated badly under the Soviets; under Luzhkov 
the buildings were quickly restored. Churches, which had served as 

warehouses or offices during the Soviet era, were reconsecrated and 

restored. Moscow was in the grip of a building boom. New office 
buildings were going up; construction cranes were everywhere.16 

Luzhkov's support allowed Gusinsky to make the Most Group 
one of the largest business conglomerates in the country. Most Bank 

was one of the pioneers of retail banking in Russia. The key to its 
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success was its access to the funds of the Moscow municipal gov­

ernment. Apart from the bank, the Most Group included media 

companies, an insurance company, a security agency, a trading com­

pany, construction materials producers, and a real-estate develop­
ment company.17 

Western journalists marveled at Gusinsky's wealth-they re­

ported on his BMW, his armored Mercedes, his corporate jet, his 

Chelsea apartment in London, his villas in Portugal and Spain, his 

children in Swiss boarding schools, his lavish funding of Russian po­

litical candidates.18 

Perhaps most extraordinary was not Gusinsky's wealth, but his se­

curity service. All big Russian businesses had sophisticated security 

services, but Most's numbered around 1,000 men, and perhaps more. 

According to some estimates, it was one of the largest armed formations 

in the Russian capital (after the army and the police). More important, 

the Most security service had superb intelligence capability, with top 

surveillance and disinformation professionals hired from the KGB. 19 

One of the chiefs of this private army was General Philip 
Bobkov, the former first deputy chairman of the KGB. In April1995, 

when the distinguished Russian-American political scientist Dimitri 

Simes confronted Gusinsky in Washington about the presence of 

Bobkov and other top KGB men employed by the Most Group, 

Gusinsky replied: "We'd be ready to hire the devil himself if he 
could give us security. "20 

Later, Gusinsky told an American reporter about the former 

KGB officers on his payroll: "These people are like fine cars. They'll 

go wherever you drive them. They're professionals, not politicians ... 

Bobkov is a good car. With a good car, whoever is at the wheel is in 

control of where the car is going. "21 

Gusinsky was intent on becoming Russia's Rupert Murdoch. By 

late 1994, he had established a respectable newspaper called Sevod­
nya, concluded a joint venture with Newsweek to publish a weekly 

news magazine called Itogi, created Russia's version of TV Guide, 
and established Ekho Moskvy as the most influential radio news sta­

tion in the country. 
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The centerpiece of his media empire was NTV, the independent 

television network established in the autumn of 1993 by President 

Yeltsin's special decree. Gusinsky raided the state-owned Channell 

for the best onscreen talent, such as TV reporter Yevgeny Kiselev, 

who quickly became the most influential anchorman in the country; 

the Channell producers were encouraged to defect by the prospect 

of higher salaries and equity in the new network. The result was im­

pressive. NTV immediately stood out among Russian TV stations. 

Even though the network presented a lot of pornography, horror, 

and gore (even by American standards), few could deny its excellent 

production values. 

The creation of NTV was opposed by Russia's established TV 

production companies, whose executives were jealous of the special 

favors granted to the newcomer. These producers, led by a Bere­

zovsky ally named Irina Lesnevskaya, succeeded in getting Yeltsin to 

freeze implementation of the decree forming NTV in late 1993. 

There was an immediate response from the Gusinsky camp. Accord­

ing to Lesnevskaya, she received a call from Igor Malashenko, the di­

rector of NTV, the very same day the decree was tabled. 

"Did you do this?" demanded Malashenko. 

"I don't know if it was me or not, but I did have a part in it," 

Lesnevskaya claims she replied. 

"Gusinsky wants to see you," said the TV manager. 

"I am not acquainted with him," Lesnevskaya replied. "If he 

wants to, he can come to REN-TV." 

Gusinsky then picked up the phone, Lesnevskaya recalls, and 

"very politely, almost gently" said that he was not able to come to her 

and asked if she and the heads of all the other independent TV pro­

duction companies would visit him. Lesnevskaya, her son, Dimitri 

(also a TV producer), and three others went to see Gusinsky. 

"Over the course of forty minutes [Gusinsky] ran around the 

room, shouting and screaming," Lesnevskaya asserts. He was out­

raged that "he hadn't taken into account one stupid wench [Les­

nevskaya?] ... that he had been pushing through this decree [to 

create NTV] for half a year and now the decree has been stopped. 
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"He tried to frighten us. He insulted us. He told me [Les­
nevskaya]: 'You have one son. What could be more important for a 

mother than that her son should be alive and well? But on the lOlst­

kilometer mark of the Moscow highway, there are always some kind 

of incidents. He could be accidentally hit by a car, his car could turn 

over, burn up .. .'" 

Lesnevskaya says she and the other TV producers then dropped 

their opposition to the creation of NTV; the presidential decree went 

into force soon thereafter.22 

Once Gusinsky told a journalist what kept driving him forward 

at such breakneck speed. "There is a traveling Russian circus and 

one of the little booths features a squirrel on a wire-mesh wheel," 

Gusinsky explained. "I feel like that squirrel, busy running on that 

wheel. The squirrel thinks it is turning the wheel, but the wheel is 

turning the squirrel. And if the squirrel stops running, its paws get 

caught between the wires, and the squirrel breaks its paws. "23 

"Faces in the Snow!" 

In the late summer of 1994, when Berezovsky returned from his con­

valescence in Switzerland, he went to see General Korzhakov in the 

Kremlin to discuss security matters. Although Berezovsky denies it, 

Korzhakov says that at this meeting and several subsequent ones the 

tycoon tried to convince him to organize the assassination of Gusin­

sky. "Berezovsky insisted that Gusinsky was an enemy of the president 

and represented a mortal danger to Yeltsin," Korzhakov later re­

called. "He would usually say: 'Aleksandr Vasilievich, whatever we do, 

however much we work, as long as these people exist, all our efforts 
will be in vain."'24 

Korzhakov says that, as proof of Gusinsky's bloodthirsty nature, 

Berezovsky cited the car bomb that had nearly killed him. It was Gusin­
sky's idea, the work of the "scum" that ruled Moscow, Berezovsky ap­

parently declared.25 

Answering this accusation in public, Gusinsky told a Moscow 

newspaper: "It was I and the Most Security Service who evacuated 
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Berezovsky and his family after the assassination attempt, and some­
time later I visited them in Switzerland. "26 

Still, according to Korzhakov, Berezovsky was adamant that 

Gusinsky must be killed. I asked the security chief what language 

Berezovsky used in making this request. "In this situation, Bere­

zovsky would use special terminology," Korzhakov says. "Instead of 

the word 'kill,' he preferred to say 'terminate.' It was a term out of the 

gangster lexicon. "27 

If Berezovsky did ask General Korzhakov to kill Gusinsky, why 

did the security chief not arrest him on a charge of attempted mur­

der? It may be that at this early stage in the Yeltsin era this kind of 

dirty laundry (one businessman asking a government official to as­

sassinate another businessman) was not supposed to be aired in pub­

lic. Another factor may have been that such was the contempt for 

the rule of law in Russia at this time that the only question was not 

whether Berezovsky had made the assassination request or not, but 

whether the presidential security chief would carry it out. In any 

case, Korzhakov says he adopted a contemptuous attitude toward 

the affair. "Berezovsky thought that the SBP had been created pre­

cisely to 'eliminate' people whom Berezovsky didn't like," he says. 

"From this moment on, I adopted the firm conviction that Bere­

zovsky was psychologically deranged and already began to keep an eye 

on him." 

Korzhakov claims he felt sorry for Berezovsky. The big security 

chief clearly considered the fidgety financier a weakling who had to 

be protected. "This man had never served in the army, never en­

gaged in any sports. I think that explosion [the car bomb] really 

shook him up. After all, he had seen his driver decapitated in front 

of him. I think Berezovsky never fully recovered from the shock. "28 

Korzhakov goes on to say that once Berezovsky saw that he was 

not going to act on his request, he went over his head-to the Rus­
sian president. Berezovsky began to convince Yeltsin's favorite 

daughter and most trusted adviser, Tanya Dyachenko, that Gusinsky 

was a murderous mafioso and a ruthless enemy of the government.29 

Neither Gusinsky nor his patron, Yuri Luzhkov, had made any 
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moves against the Yeltsin regime. Aware that his success in running 

Moscow was a slap in the face of Yeltsin's incompetent ministers, 

Luzhkov was careful never to challenge Yeltsin directly. The mayor 

had gotten his start in politics under Yeltsin's patronage and the two 

men remained personal friends. In October 1993, when he could 

have swung the balance of power against Yeltsin, Luzhkov stood 

firmly by the Russian president's side. Still, the city of Moscow was 

the only political entity that was at least partly independent of the 

Kremlin (just as Gusinsky's NTV was independent of state media 

policy). For Yeltsin, that was threatening enough.30 

General Korzhakov says that in the late autumn of 1994, he no­

ticed that Berezovsky's lobbying efforts with Yeltsin's daughter had 

paid off. The anti-Gusinsky message had gotten through to the 

president. 

"Once at dinner," Korzhakov recalls, "the president raised his 

voice and turned to Barsukov and me: 'Why can't you deal with this 

guy Gusinsky! What is he doing here! Why is he wheeling around all 

over the place! Everyone is complaining about him, even my family. 

How many times has it happened that Tanya or Naina is driving 

along and the road gets cleared to let this Gusinsky go by. His NTV 

has gotten too big for its boots. It is acting insolently. I order you to 

do something about him."'31 

Korzhakov understood. "This tirade showed that Berezovsky 

had found the right path to Yeltsin's ear," he would later recall. The 

next day, Korzhakov dutifully executed the order. He knew that 

Gusinsky left his suburban residence every morning and took the 

Uspenskoe Shosse into central Moscow to work. Every day Gusinsky's 

convoy-the tycoon's armored Mercedes and several other cars car­

rying heavily armed bodyguards-could be seen speeding down the 

avenue at 90 mph, swift as eagles, ignoring stoplights and traffic. Be­

cause Yeltsin and his family often used the same route into the city, 

Korzhakov claimed that Gusinsky's motorcade presented a security 

threat to the president. The security chief decided to put the motor­

cade under what he called "demonstrative observation. "32 

On Friday, December 2 (two days after the ORT decree was 
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signed), Vladimir Gusinsky left his dacha and headed toward the 

center of Moscow. His motorcade consisted of the Mercedes, a Jeep, 

and a Ford, containing, altogether, a dozen bodyguards and drivers. 

Almost immediately, Gusinsky's bodyguards noticed that they were 

being followed. 

A high-speed chase ensued. Korzhakov's cars tried to wedge 

their way between Gusinsky's car and those of his bodyguards. The 

Gusinsky convoy swerved away and increased its speed. Gusinsky's 

security men thought they were under attack by gangsters. There 

were no distinguishing marks on the vehicles identifying them as cars 

belonging to the government. 33 

The motorcade finally arrived at the Most Group headquarters. 

Gusinsky ran into the building, while his bodyguards remained in the 

parking lot. The SBP men surrounded the building and closed off the 

exit ramps. From his office above, Gusinsky called the Moscow 

organized-crime squad, RUOP The tough men from RUOP soon ar­

rived, confronted the SBP men, noted their license plates, discovered 

that the cars belonged to the Russian armed forces, and slunk away.34 

At five o'clock, the SBP detachment was reinforced. Two 

dozen masked men arrived in buses. They presented no documents, 

sported no identifying insignia. They were dressed in full combat 

gear, with face masks, and were armed with handguns and submachine 

guns. Gusinsky's drivers and guards had locked themselves in their 

cars. After numerous threats, they were dragged out and pushed to 

the ground. "The driver of Gusinsky's armored Mercedes locked 

himself inside the car," Korzhakov would later recall. "He categori­

cally rejected all the demands that he get out. Then a grenade was put 

on the roof of the car. He jumped out as if he had been stung. But 

the grenade was harmless-it hadn't even been primed." 35 

Gusinsky's security men were overwhelmed. Moscow TV cameras 

captured the image of a masked SBP man kicking a prone Most se­

curity guard in the groin. This part of the operation became known 

in popular parlance as "Faces in the Snow!" The Most men spent 

more than an hour facedown in the parking lot, while the SBP men 

trained guns on them.36 
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Desperate, Gusinsky called his friend Yevgeny Savostyanov, 

head of the Moscow FSB-KGB. Korzhakov's men were listening in 

on the phone call. "Zhenya [a nickname for Yevgeny], save me," 

Gusinsky screamed into the phone. "Some kind of bandits have ar­

rived. I called in the cops and they arrived, but couldn't do anything. 
You're my only hope."37 

The FSB-KGB men soon arrived and confronted the attackers. 

These guys were more self-confident than the Moscow RUOP men. 

Their guns appeared. One SBP vehicle had its tires shot out and an 

SBP man was clobbered over the head with a pistol grip. But, like their 

predecessors, the FSB men got nowhere; intimidated, they eventu­

ally turned around and left the SBP to do whatever they wanted.38 

The siege lasted untillO p.m., when Korzhakov's men finally left. 

About a dozen Most men were taken to the local police station and 

booked for illegal possession of firearms; three Most men ended up 

in the hospital.39 

Korzhakov later claimed that a search of Gusinsky's cars re­

vealed an unregistered Makarov pistol, three pump-action shotguns, 

a fake identification card of a Moscow police officer, an unregistered 

radio tuned to the police frequency, and a radio scanner capable of 

intercepting phone calls. According to a later legal investigation, the 

weapons were accompanied by the proper documentation. Philip 

Bobkov and the other KGB specialists who ran Gusinsky's security 

operation were not amateurs.40 

Moscow was shocked by the episode. Several days later, Bere­

zovsky's newspaper, Nezavisimaya Gazeta, offered an explanation. It 

said nothing about Berezovsky's purported role in inciting the raid. 

Citing top Kremlin sources, the newspaper reported that the raid 

had been ordered by Yeltsin after he had read an intelligence brief 

about Gusinsky's political ambitions. The brief claimed that Gusin­

sky and his political patrons [meaning Luzhkov] were scheming to 

have their ally General Boris Gromov appointed minister of defense, 

so that the respected veteran of the Afghanistan War would become 

a national political figure and run for president in 1996:~ 1 

The Gusinsky-Luzhkov group was destroyed in days. General 
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Gromov was dismissed from his post as deputy minister of defense. 

Yevgeni Savostyanov, head of the Moscow FSB-KGB, who had 

come to Gusinsky's aid during the siege, was fired as well. Gusinsky 

sent his wife and children to the West. Soon afterward, Gusinsky 

also fled Russia. He would remain in the West for at least three 

months.42 

Meanwhile, Korzhakov swaggered before the Moscow press. 

"Hunting geese is an old hobby of mine," he quipped. (The Russian 

word for goose is gus-the root of the name Gusinsky.)43 

In January 1995, there were rumors of a warrant out for Gusin­

sky's arrest. Again, it was Berezovsky's Nezavisimaya Gazeta that 

reported the situation in the most lurid colors. Again citing a "well­

informed source in the Kremlin," the newspaper reported a coordi­

nated campaign being prepared against Gusinsky (and his patron, 

Luzhkov), beginning with compromising materials in the press and 

ending with arrests and criminal trials.44 

Gusinsky responded by giving an interview to Euromoney, in 

which he claimed that the December 2 attack on Most was part of an 

assault on Moscow mayor Yuri Luzhkov. Gusinsky's deputy, Sergei 

Zverev, added: "I think that one of the reasons [for the assault] was 

that our competitors wanted to damage us. "45 

Gusinsky's prime competitor was, of course, Berezovsky. The 

auto dealer had succeeded in driving his rival out of the country. 

Luzhkov withdrew into the shadows and loosened his business ties 

with Gusinsky. On Russian Orthodox Christmas, in early January 

1995, Luzhkov and Yeltsin's prime minister, Viktor Chernomyrdin, 

made peace when they both participated in laying the cornerstone 

for the Cathedral of Christ the Savior. Several months later, Luzhkov 

established the Bank of Moscow and transferred many of the munic­

ipal accounts from Gusinsky's Most Bank to the new institution.46 

By this time, it was no longer Vladimir Gusinsky who was in 

danger of being arrested. It was Boris Berezovsky-in connection 
with Russia's most famous assassination: the murder of TV producer 
Vladislav Listyev. 
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Assassination 

The original idea to privatize Channel 1 had come not from Boris 
Berezovsky but from Vlad Listyev-Russia's most popular talk-show 
host and the country's most successful TV producer. An opinion sur­

vey had identified him as one of the most trusted people in the coun­
try, next to the head of the Russian Orthodox Church and the 
straight-talking paratroop general Aleksandr Lebed. Vlad Listyev 

had risen to prominence through his talk show Look, which began in 
1988 and quickly turned into a refreshing forum for honest discussion 
and criticism of the Communist Party. Look remained one of Russia's 

top-rated shows for six years, rivaled by Field of Miracles-another 

Listyev vehicle-a game show modeled on Wheel of Fortune. It was 
Listyev who approached Berezovsky with the idea of helping a 

group of independent TV producers privatize Channell; as the net­
work's leading producer and the originator of the privatization idea, 

Listyev was a natural candidate to lead the new companyY 

As the time for the privatization approached, however, Listyev 
grew concerned about Berezovsky's efforts to dominate the network. 

There were indications that Berezovsky wanted someone else to be 
Channel l's general director. Some Logovaz staff members were 

pushing a close Berezovsky ally, the producer Irina Lesnevskaya, to 

assume the post. But Vlad Listyev was named the general director 

and Berezovsky was appointed deputy chairman.48 

"The privatization of Channel 1 took place at the beginning of 
1995," General Korzhakov would later recall. "There was no auc­

tion-either public or private-for the ownership of the 49 percent 

stake-Berezovsky himself decided who would get shares and how 
many they would get. "49 

In some cases, the choice of shareholders was rudimentary. 

Some of the private banks, for example, were summarily informed 
by Berezovsky that they were shareholders of ORT. The new owners 

of the network were chosen in secret, on the basis of a personal 
agreement among those involved. Since Russian law stated that all 
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privatizations had to be carried out through a public auction, the pri­

vatization of ORT was technically illegal.50 

Among the private shareholders were such well-connected insti­

tutions as Menatep Bank, Stolichny Bank, Alfa Bank, Natsionalny 

Kredit Bank, Gazprom, and the National Sports Fund. Clearly the 

choice of co-owners was dictated not by a company's financial re­

sources but by its relationship with Berezovsky himself, since the 

ORT shareholder register omitted such Russian powerhouses as 

Lukoil, Onexim Bank, and Inkom Bank.51 

The total share capital of ORT was $2 million. Berezovsky's com­

panies bought 16 percent of the shares. Berezovsky had voting control 

over a further 20 percent. Thus, by investing a mere $320,000, he 

gained control of Russia's most important TV network. Would he be 

expected to fund ORT's operating deficit out of his own pocket? Not 

necessarily. The state, with 51 percent of the shares, could be ex­

pected to continue its massive subsidies to the network.52 

Immediately after ORT was privatized, the general director, 

Vlad Listyev, decided to focus on the operation that was costing the 

network millions of dollars in lost revenues: advertising sales. He 

began negotiations with the head of Advertising-Holding, Sergei 

Lisovsky. The advertising magnate apparently offered to pay for the 

ORT franchise and retain monopoly control. But the negotiations 

dragged on. 

"Around New Year I already knew that Vlad would be killed," one 

of Listyev's close friends and business associates would tell me. "He 

had gotten involved with people who had built up their careers with 

completely criminal methods. "53 

On February 20, 1995, Listyev announced that he was breaking 

Lisovsky and Berezovsky's advertising monopoly and instituting a 

temporary moratorium on all advertising until ORT could work out 
new "ethical standards. "54 

"The end of advertising [at ORT] meant millions of lost earnings 
for Lisovsky and Berezovsky personally," noted General Korzhakov.55 

Listyev knew he was playing a dangerous game. According to 

one field report compiled by detectives of the Moscow organized-
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crime squad, RUOP, Listyev knew he was being stalked and would 

probably not survive the spring. According to this report, in late 

February Listyev explained to his closest friends why he would 

be killed. When he embarked on his project to end the advertis­

ing monopoly, Listyev was approached by the advertising mogul 

Lisovsky, who demanded $100 million in damages and threatened to 

kill him. Listyev said he had found a European company willing to 

pay even more for the ORT advertising franchise: $200 million. 

Listyev turned to the primary backer of ORT, Boris Berezovsky, to 

handle the transaction and pay the $100 million to the disgruntled 

Lisovsky. The money was transferred to one of Berezovsky's compa­

nies. When Listyev asked Berezovsky to release the funds, the car 

dealer refused. Berezovsky made a vague promise to provide funds 

in three months.56 

There were other versions of what was happening at ORT at this 

time. According to one of Moscow's larger private investigative agen­

cies, Listyev's prohibition of advertising on ORT was merely a tough 

bargaining position. He was simply soliciting bids for the ORT ad­

vertising franchise; Lisovsky offered ORT $100 million, but Listyev 

was holding out for $170 million.57 

According to his own later explanation, Berezovsky and his aides 

were engaged in some unusual negotiations with various organized­

crime groups at this time. Sometime in early 1995, Moscow police 

allegedly interrogated a gangster boss sitting in jail. The gangster de­

clared that he had been approached by Berezovsky's aide, Badri, 

with a contract for Listyev's assassination. Before the gangster man­

aged to fulfill the contract, he was arrested in a Moscow-wide anti­

crime sweep and thrown in jail. Berezovsky himself was observed 

by police negotiating with another known gangster. On February 

28, the day before Listyev's murder, Berezovsky met with a thief­

professing-the-code (mob boss) identified by police only as "Nikolai" 

and gave him $100,000 in cash.58 

On the night of March 1, Listyev returned home from work to find 

his assassin waiting for him. In the grubby lobby of his apartment 

house, he was accosted by this person and shot dead. 
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"Moscow Is Ruled by Scum" 

Berezovsky had left the day before the murder, tagging along with 

Prime Minister Chernomyrdin on a state visit to Britain. When he 

was informed of the murder, he immediately chartered a private 

plane and flew back to Moscow. There he attended the memorial 

service for Listyev at Ostankino.59 

"On Friday, while I was attending the memorial service for Vlad 

at Ostankino, I was called by my assistants and told that Logovaz 

was about to be searched and visited by the OMON [paramilitary 

police]," Berezovsky recalls. "I was terribly surprised." 

Yeltsin at this time was out of Moscow, so Berezovsky decided to 

use other political patrons. "I turned to [First Deputy Prime Minis­

ter] Oleg Soskovets, who happened to be right there, asked him to 

help me contact the Ministry of Internal Affairs [which had overall re­

sponsibility for the police]." Soskovets contacted Minister of Internal 

Affairs Viktor Yerin, who assured him that no one would touch Lo­

govaz or Berezovsky.60 

At 3 p.m., when Berezovsky returned to Logovaz House from 

the memorial service, the courtyard was swarming with detectives 

from the organized-crime squad and Kalashnikov-toting members of 

the OMON paramilitary unit. They presented a search warrant and 

a warrant empowering them to interrogate Berezovsky as a witness in 

the Listyev case. 

Berezovsky refused to let them search his building. He de­

manded to know their intentions. The standoff continued until mid­

night. Finally, the detectives asked Berezovsky and his assistant, 

Badri, to come down to the police station for questioning. Bere­

zovsky knew that if he went he faced the real possibility of being 

thrown in jail-then his ability to block the investigation would 

be severely limited. So he picked up the phone and called Russia's 
acting prosecutor-general, Alexei llyushenko. Russia's top law­

enforcement official told his deputy to order the police detectives to 

take Berezovsky's and Badri's statements at Logovaz House, rather 

than at the police station. They did so and left.61 



The Listyev Murder 163 

Berezovsky's troubles were not over. He knew that he was one step 

away from being arrested. He knew that with the police evidence 

mounting against him, his survival depended largely on his ability to 

convince President Yeltsin that the affair had been part of a massive 

conspiracy against him. Yeltsin was still away, so Berezovsky went to 

Korzhakov's office in the Kremlin and asked to make a direct video­

taped appeal to the president. He asked Irina Lesnevskaya, one of 

the main TV producers on Channell, to accompany him; Lesnevskaya 

was both an indirect shareholder in ORT and a good friend of Pres­

ident Yeltsin's wife.62 

The appeal is fascinating (see Appendix I). Berezovsky and 

Lesnevskaya sit side by side. Both speak into the camera, addressing 

the Russian president directly, intimately, as "Boris Nikolaevich," 

using his patronymic. Berezovsky, in his usual dark business suit, 

speaks quickly, nervously. Irina Lesnevskaya is emotional, almost 

tearful.63 

"I know who killed Vlad [Listyev]," Irina Lesnevskaya begins. 

She explains that Vlad Listyev had been killed by rival media mag­

nate Vladimir Gusinsky, by the mayor of Moscow, and by the old 

KGB. 

"Boris Nikolaevich, now everything must be done so that the 

case would be handled personally by Korzhakov and the FSB, above 

all not by the police," she pleads. "Because currently a theory is 

being prepared and witnesses are already on hand to the effect that 

Vlad was killed by Berezovsky .... When we were called into the 

prosecutor's office and asked questions, we understood that they 

have only one theory: that the murderer is either Berezovsky or his 

chief deputy, Badri Shavlovich [Patarkatsishvili], that all the evi­

dence points only to Berezovsky." 

Lesnevskaya puts the Listyev murder in a purely political con­

text, appealing to Yeltsin's paranoia. "Now we have come to Kor­

zhakov, because we understand that what has happened is coup 
d'etat," Lesnevskaya continues. "This is worse than the White 

House [the battle over the parliament in 1993 ]. This is worse than the 

GKChP [the Putsch of 1991]. This is inside the city. An enormous or-
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ganization has been created. It controls everything-all the Mafiya or­

ganizations, all the criminals-decides who should live and who 

should die .... " 

Berezovsky, sitting nervously at Lesnevskaya's side, nodding in 

agreement, breaks in. "Boris Nikolaevich," he addresses Yeltsin. "I 

would like to draw your attention to the fact that when you are ab­

sent from Moscow, when there is no one in Moscow who is close to 

you, Moscow sinks into absolute lawlessness .... Boris Nikolaevich, 

you no longer rule in Moscow. Moscow is ruled by scum!" 

This was an appeal to Yeltsin's political self-interest (the presi­

dent always rose to the challenge of destroying his political enemies). 

Berezovsky left Lesnevskaya to make most of the specific allegations. 

"I have no doubts that this ... jesuitical plan to murder Vlad was 

thought up and executed by the Most Group, by Mr. Gusinsky, by 

Mr. Luzhkov, and by that organization that is supporting them­

the enormous pyramid with all its branches-the former KGB," 

Lesnevskaya declares in the videotape. 

The police investigation is all part of the same conspiracy. Why 

is Berezovsky being set up? To get at President Yeltsin of course! 

"The country is outraged [over the Listyev murder]: 'Get rid of all 

the power ministers!' [people are saying]. 'Get rid of Yeltsin!"' 

Lesnevskaya tells the president. "And you no longer have a leg to 

stand on. They have identified the murderer-Berezovsky and 

Badri .... " 

Though other individuals were under suspicion in the Listyev 

murder-on the same day that they tried to search Logovaz House, 

police tried to search the offices of advertising magnate Sergei 

Lisovsky, as well-there was strong evidence pointing to Berezovsky. 

How could he explain handing a known gangster boss $100,000 two 

days before the Listyev killing? Berezovsky admitted to Yeltsin that 

he had paid the gangster boss, but claimed that he had handed over 

the cash to discover who was behind the car bomb outside Logovaz 

the previous summer. Moreover, he had met the gangster in the pres­
ence of two detectives from the Moscow police department and had 
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asked two of his own security agents to record the meeting on video 

"to prove that I was being blackmailed. "64 

But this alibi is problematic. In their videotaped appeal, Bere­

zovsky and Lesnevskaya spend most of the time trying to prove that 

the four witnesses to Berezovsky's transaction with the gangster 

boss-and hence the foundation of his alibi-were in fact agents of 

the political opposition. The two police officers are not reliable wit­

nesses since, according to both Berezovsky and Lesnevskaya, the 

Moscow police force is controlled by Mayor Luzhkov, who is carry­

ing out some kind of "jesuitical plan" to overthrow Yeltsin. Even 

more curious is the role of the other two witnesses-Berezovsky's se­

curity men. Lesnevskaya, with Berezovsky's silent acquiescence, 

claims these two men are Gusinsky's agents. (If this is correct, the 

two security men would likely be witnesses for the prosecution 

against Berezovsky, rather than witnesses for his defense.) Moreover, 

the two security guards, according to Lesnevskaya, are actually the per­

petrators of the murder of Vlad Listyev-though not on Bere­

zovsky's orders, but on Gusinsky's. (Berezovsky does not accuse 

anybody specific of the killing, but supports Lesnevskaya's general 

assertion that a dark conspiracy is under way to overthrow Yeltsin.)65 

Berezovsky made the backbone of his defense political. "Boris 

Nikolaevich, I do not doubt your intentions, your endless dedication 

to the tasks which you perform," he told Yeltsin. "But your people are 

being set up. One by one, your people are being eliminated from 

under you." 

Apart from appealing to Yeltsin's constant fear of political enemies 

(such as Luzhkov), Berezovsky cleverly gathered the support of 

people the Russian president knew and trusted, such as Valentin Yu­

mashev, the presidential biographer, who was present in Logovaz 

House when the police were trying to search the premises. Bere­

zovsky even appealed to Yeltsin's feverish concern about his image in 

America, casually mentioning that during his showdown with the 

police he was entertaining "representatives of Radio Liberty," who 

"witnessed this whole shameful affair." But the most powerful argument 
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was still Berezovsky's contention that he had been set up for the 

Listyev murder because he was Yeltsin's loyal friend. 

The appeal worked. The men in charge of the Listyev investi­

gation, Moscow prosecutor-general Gennady Ponomarev !lnd his 

deputy, were summarily fired. The police were ordered to lay off 

Logovaz and Berezovsky. "He openly used his political contacts 

to escape the inquiry mandated by law," Korzhakov would later 

observe.66 

Berezovsky may have been correct that he was framed for the 

Listyev murder, but was rival TV magnate Vladimir Gusinsky really 

behind the incident? Quite apart from the fact that Gusinsky was 

never questioned by any law-enforcement agencies about the killing, 

the accusations made against the NTV boss in the Berezovsky­

Lesnevskaya videotaped appeal hardly seem credible. Why would 

Gusinsky want Listyev dead? Even though Listyev was Russia's most 

popular TV personality, his murder could hardly be expected to set 

off a revolution, as Lesnevskaya implied in her appeal to Yeltsin. Did 

Gusinsky merely want to stop the creation of ORT as a rival TV 

network? Killing Listyev was clearly not the way to do it. Was the 

purpose of the murder solely to frame Berezovsky? Unlikely, since 

Gusinsky had been on the run for several months, hiding in Western 

Europe since Korzhakov's SBP had raided Most Group headquar­

ters in December 1994. Finally, if Gusinsky really had organized the 

murder and was framing Berezovsky as part of a conspiracy to get rid 

of Yeltsin, the security services personally loyal to the president­

the SBP and the FSB-KGB-would have had every reason to clamp 

down on the TV magnate. Instead, they did nothing and Gusinsky re­

turned peacefully to Moscow several months later. 

When I asked him about Listyev's murder, Berezovsky categori­

cally denied having anything to do with it. He blamed unnamed ad­

vertising and production companies hurt by Listyev's reorganization 
of the network. In other words, he set the Listyev murder entirely in 

a commercial context. It was an explanation quite different from the 

one he gave President Yeltsin in his videotaped appeal.67 
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Berezovsky Becomes a Media Mogul 

The public outcry over Listyev's killing was immense. Tens of thou­

sands of mourners attended the funeral-the biggest turnout since 
Andrei Sakharov's funeral in 1989. People threw flowers and wept 

openly on the streets. 

Yet, for all the importance the Russian nation attached to Listyev's 

assassination, the subsequent investigation was a farce. The first 

prosecutors to look into the case were fired. Five months later, the fed­

eral prosecutor's office announced that it had identified the people 

who ordered the killing. The next day the prosecutor's office re­

canted, saying that the investigation was continuing. Two months 

later, Alexei llyushenko, the acting prosecutor-general and the man 

who had helped Berezovsky avoid arrest, was dismissed; he was later 

arrested on charges of corruption, fraud, and embezzlement con­

nected with one of the subsidiaries ofBerezovsky's future oil company, 

Sibneft.68 

In the summer of 1997, Moscow newspapers reported that a man 

named Igor Dashamirov had been arrested in Tbilisi, Georgia, and had 

been extradited to Moscow for questioning in connection with the 

Listyev murder. Dashamirov was reportedly a member of the Solnt­

sevo Brotherhood. But again there was no follow-up.69 

One evening in early 1999, I visited Pyotr Triboi, the investiga­

tor from the prosecutor's office charged with solving the four-year­

old Listyev murder case. Triboi's office had the musty silence of a 

tomb. A pale bureaucrat in a Soviet-era gray suit, Triboi admitted that 

the investigation was at a standstill. None of the leads had panned 

out; everything had been checked and nothing had produced re­

sults. Triboi seemed resigned to his failure to solve the case. Even 

more worrisome, he didn't seem to understand some of the key de­

tails of the case, specifically the nuances of the advertising business 

of ORT-the business that almost everyone thought was at the root 

of Listyev's murder.7° 

Today, the Listyev killing remains a mystery. \Vhatever the nature 
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of the Berezovsky-Listyev-Lisovsky negotiations and whoever was 

responsible for the murder of Vlad Listyev, Boris Berezovsky and ad­

vertising mogul Sergei Lisovsky both emerged unrivaled in their 

control of ORT. A few months after Listyev's assassinati.on, the 

network announced the end of the advertising moratorium. A new 

company, called ORT-Advertising, would take over the advertising 

franchise, with the monopoly right to sell advertising time on a com­

mission basis. The boss of ORT-Advertising was none other than 

Sergei Lisovsky. 

Later, when I asked Berezovsky about the theory that he and 

Lisovsky were jointly responsible for Listyev's death, Berezovsky 

quickly drew a line between himself and the advertising mogul. "At 

that time, when we were considering the reorganization [of advertis­

ing], we were working against Lisovsky, because we were dissolving 

Advertising-Holding," Berezovsky said. "It was only later [after 

Listyev's assassination] that I decided to make Lisovsky head of ad­

vertising at ORT. "71 

In October 1995, Berezovsky gave an interview to the newspaper 

Kommersant, in which he described his main achievement at ORT 

as attaining "an independent position on the advertising market." 

The next step, he said, was "liberation from the dictatorship of the 

producers. "72 

That the leading TV producer at ORT, Vlad Listyev, was now 

dead made that task easier. A week before Berezovsky's interview 

with Kommersant, another leading producer, Dimitri Lesnevsky, 

gave an interview to Radio Liberty. Lesnevsky's mother and business 

partner, Irina, had appeared with Berezovsky in the frantic video­

taped appeal to Yeltsin after the Listyev murder. Now, evidently, her 

son had grown disillusioned with the man his mother had so fer­

vently defended to the Russian president. Lesnevsky spoke to the 
correspondent about the conflict between the independent TV pro­

ducers and Berezovsky. 
"The conflict arose from the very beginning, since the idea of 

privatizing Ostankino [Channell] originated with the independent 

TV companies," he said. "We approached Mr. Berezovsky with this 
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idea two years ago and essentially gave him the channel as a present. 

We were confident of his financial capabilities and we were confi­

dent that he was a proper person. But over the last two years doubts 

have arisen, the doubts have grown stronger, and today we under­

stand what kind of a person our partner is. "73 

Berezovsky, meanwhile, solidified his control over the network. 

With voting control of 36 percent of ORT's shares, he effectively had 

veto power over any decisions. His power was much greater of 

course. In the absence of a strong shareholder representing the state, 

he effectively ran ORT.74 

It was an extraordinary coup. At the same time that Berezovsky 

was taking control of Channel 1, he acquired several other valuable 

media properties: Channel 6 (which had been privatized with the 

participation of Ted Turner, though the American TV magnate later 

sold out), the magazine Ogonyok, and the newspaper Nezavisimaya 
Gazeta. Suddenly, this former car dealer became one of the arbitra­

tors of Russian politics. He sat at the head of the nation's prime TV 

network and interpreted daily events for the Russian people. He be­

came an architect of Russian national policy. ORT's news service car­

ried out Berezovsky's political dictates at key moments, singing the 

praises of Yeltsin during the election of 1996, touting Lebed after he 

struck a secret deal with the Kremlin during that election, debunk­

ing Lebed once he quarreled with Berezovsky several months later, at­

tacking rival businessman Vladimir Potanin at a key moment in the 

privatization process, attacking Gusinsky occasionally and Mayor 

Luzhkov more or less consistently, and presenting Berezovsky in 

statesmanlike roles. Berezovsky's media empire meant that he no 

longer had to survive in the squalid, bloodstained struggles that 

characterized the auto-dealership business. He had emerged as the 

supreme oligarch, first among equals in the Russian business world.75 



CHAPTER SIX 

PRIVATIZING THE PROFITS 

OF AEROFLOT 

"Our Interest Here Is Clear" 

"Privatization in Russia goes through three stages," Boris Berezovsky 

told me in 1996. "The first stage is the privatization of profits. The sec­

ond is the privatization of property. The third is the privatization of 
debts." 

In other words, it was not necessary to buy an enterprise to con­

trol it. The company could remain in state hands. All one had to do 

was co-opt the management and then funnel the company's revenues 

through your own middlemen, thus "privatizing the profits" without 

spending time and money privatizing the enterprise itself. Bere­

zovsky explained that this first stage, the privatization of profits, "led 

to the disintegration of the enterprises" and "the primary accumula­

tion of capital" by the middlemen. "Once enough capital has been 

accumulated, those people who have accumulated it begin to think 

of how to spend it," he continued. "Some buy property abroad, oth­

ers go to play in Monte Carlo, and others use their money to acquire 
the disintegrating enterprises." 1 

It was a strikingly astute explanation of what was happening in 

Russia. Almost all the big business empires of the early 1990s had 

been created in this way. Berezovsky himself had honed his model to 

perfection. First, in 1989, he began privatizing the profits of the 

170 
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automaker Avtovaz, buying cars from the factory at a price that guar­

anteed him a profit and the automaker a loss. Next, in 1992, he 

entered into the commodities trade, exporting oil, timber, and alu­

minum; like all the other big traders of the time, he privatized the 

profits of the producers by paying them a nominal price while selling 

the commodities abroad at a huge markup. In 1993, with the begin­

ning of the voucher auctions, Berezovsky proceeded to the second 

stage of his model-privatization of property. Together with Avtovaz 

boss Vladimir Kadannikov, he used the Awa investment scheme and 

a number of other financial vehicles to buy a controlling stake in Av­

tovaz. With ORT, he began by privatizing its profits through the TV 

network's advertising monopoly in 1994 and went on to privatize its 

equity in 1995. 

Though he did apply the second stage of his model (privatization 

of property) by buying equity stakes in Avtovaz and ORT, Bere­

zovsky continued to pay more attention to the privatization of 

profits. He knew that control of a company's cash flow was more 

important than the ownership of its equity. With the collusion of 

company management, he established intermediaries to handle the 

target company's finances, sales, and marketing on the most disad­

vantageous terms. By taking control of company management Bere­

zovsky could accomplish a "virtual privatization" without bothering 

to invest money in acquiring an equity stake. Nothing illustrated his 

mastery of this type of procedure better than the takeover of 

Aeroflot. 
"Aeroflot is in a transitional phase between the privatization of 

profits and the privatization of property," he declared in an interview 

with the business newspaper Kommersant in November 1995. "We 

want to participate in both processes. "2 

The company was one of the crown jewels of Russian industry, 

boasting the best assets of the former Soviet airline monopoly and 
dominating Russia's international travel market. The general director of 

Aeroflot, an industry veteran named Vladimir Tikhonov, had begun to 

modernize the airline, upgrading the fleet, signing lease agreements 

with Boeing, McDonnell Douglas, and Airbus for new planes. He had 
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arranged a $1.5 billion U.S. Eximbank loan to purchase Pratt and 

Whitney engines for twenty new Russian-made ll-96M airliners. Fuel 

costs, meanwhile, were dropping precipitously. The airline's future 

looked good. 3 

"Aeroflot is the largest airline in Russia and it is natural that busi­

ness should be interested in it as a source of big profits," Berezovsky 

told Kommersant. "Our interest here is clear. "4 

He began moving in on Aeroflot early in 1995, demanding that 

Tikhonov place all of Aeroflot's Russian accounts with Avtovaz Bank­

Moscow, in which Berezovsky had a significant share. Tikhonov 

reluctantly agreed. Still, Berezovsky wanted complete control of 

Aeroflot's finances. The national airline was being partly privatized, 

with 51 percent of the shares remaining with the government and 49 

percent going to management and workers, but Berezovsky did not 

want equity-he wanted management control, so he could "priva­

tize" Aeroflot's profits.5 

In the autumn of 1995, he approached several top government 

officials, including First Deputy Prime Minister Oleg Soskovets and 

Minister of Transportation Vitaly Yefimov, requesting a management 

change.6 

By late October, Tikhonov had been fired. The new general di­

rector of Aeroflot was Yevgeny Shaposhnikov, a marshal of the So­

viet air force and a former defense minister. Shaposhnikov had 

played a key role in saving Yeltsin during the Putsch of 1991: as air 

force chief, he had refused to carry out orders to bomb Yeltsin's 

White House and had ordered his airborne units to avoid political 

conflicts.7 
In contrast to Vladimir Tikhonov (a respected veteran of the air­

line industry), Shaposhnikov knew nothing about running a busi­

ness. Soon the key positions in Aeroflot were occupied by Logovaz 

officials. Nikolai Glushkov, one of the founding members of Logovaz, 

became first deputy general director (effectively the boss of the air­

line), while other Logovaz men took charge of finance, commerce, 

and sales. All these men were as ignorant as Shaposhnikov about 
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running an airline, but they did have, as Berezovsky put it, "the abil­

ity to count money and make profits. "8 

Andava 

With the management of Aeroflot now under his control, Bere­

zovsky could begin to privatize its profits. His primary vehicle was the 

Swiss financial company Andava S.A., which served as Aeroflot's for­

eign treasury center. I first learned of Andava in the winter of 1996-

97, while exploring rumors of mass embezzlement at Aeroflot. The air­

line had traditionally maintained hundreds of foreign bank accounts, 

managed by a loosely coordinated network of Aeroflot executives, to 

pay its bills abroad. Andava was charged with centralizing these op­

erations in a single overseas financial center. 

A treasury center abroad sounded like a sensible idea. A properly 

run treasury center could add millions to a Russian company's bot­

tom line. It was strange, therefore, that Aeroflot made no mention of 

Andava in its annual reports at the time. Among the "main events" 

mentioned in the Russian version of the 1997 annual report were 

new charter flights to Toronto and a representative office in the town 

of Khabarovsk (in Eastern Siberia), but there was nothing about the 

rationalization of the company's financial operations or about a for­

eign treasury center or about Andava.9 

There were reasons to keep the Andava relationship secret. Al­

though Andava was run by a European manager with a respectable 

record-William Ferrero, the former head of Volvo Group Finance­

Europe-its ownership structure was unorthodox. Unlike other 

treasury centers servicing multinational corporations, Aeroflot's trea­

sury center-Andava-was not owned by the airline; it was owned by 

Boris Berezovsky and his Logovaz partner, Nikolai Glushkov.10 

I visited Andava in Lausanne. The office was located in a small gray 

building, not far from the center of town. I had to go around the back 

and ring the buzzer. No response. It was lunchtime. I returned two 

hours later. Ferrero's gray Porsche 911 was parked outside. Someone 
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was coming down the stairs, so I did not have to ring the outside bell 

this time. I entered and climbed two flights of stairs. There was a door 

with ANDAVA S.A. marked on it. I rang the bell. A bearded little man in 

a cardigan opened the door. I introduced myself. "Mr. Ferrero is on 

the phone," the man said. "Please wait here." He led me to a waiting 

room. I could hear Ferrero's voice from down the hall. Otherwise the 

office was silent. I leafed through several Aeroflot brochures and a 

pamphlet describing Berezovsky's charitable organization, Triumph­

Logovaz. An Aeroflot poster hung on the wall. The office appeared to 

consist of about six rooms-all clean and newly furnished. Ferrero 

and the bearded little man were the only people there. 

Finally Ferrero appeared. He was a tall gentleman, with a blond 

crew cut and a clipped mustache-if he had worn a monocle, he 

could have played the role of a Prussian officer. That impression faded 

when I noticed that Ferrero had a nervous, gawky way of moving. 

He told me that his outfit handled Aeroflot's money in the most 

conservative way possible. "We invest [Aeroflot's hard-currency 

profits] with a triple-A bank, because we can't allow the money to be 

used in our other operations," Ferrero declared. "There was one 

[newspaper] article that said that I had doubled Aeroflot's money in 

one year, or something like that. But if I were capable of doubling 

Aeroflot's money in a year, I wouldn't be running this business-! 

would be on an island somewhere, under the palm trees. "11 

In my preceding telephone conversations with him, Ferrero had 

seemed a man of leisure, not a key financial manager for a billion­

dollar multinational corporation. We would talk for hours. Some­

times, when I called him, he answered his phone himself. He did not 

seem to have any secretaries, just a lot of time for long, leisurely 

discussions. 
Andava had been established on February 3, 1994, in Lausanne, 

Switzerland, as a company jointly owned by Andre & Cie. and an 
outfit called Awa International, registered in Switzerland, with Bere­

zovsky as its director. (Eventually, Andre would sell out its stake and 

Berezovsky and Glushkov would take majority control personally.) 

In keeping with the corporate model Berezovsky and Andre had al-
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ready employed in creating Porus Services, Andava was based in 

Lausanne, affiliated with a holding company in Luxembourg and 

other such enterprises in offshore tax havens. 12 

Berezovsky already had a financial company in Lausanne: Porus 

Services. Why did he need a second one? The fact is that in 1993-94 

Porus was not meeting expectations. Two big investment projects it was 

working on at the time-a $100 million credit from the Italian 

Import-Export Bank for new equipment at Avtovaz and a $60 million 

credit for oil company Samaraneftegaz-collapsed. Porus's direc­

tors-Berezovsky and Glushkov from the Russian side, together with 

Alain Mayor from Andre-decided to try another tack. Rather than 

search for hard-currency credits abroad, why not simply take control 

of Russian companies' foreign revenues?13 

"It was a new opportunity," Alain Mayor told me, "to run opera­

tions of the FINCO type-finance, commerce, personal relation­

ship-type of operations."14 

The initial business plan for Andava was to service the Awa 

investment scheme that Berezovsky had cooked up in Russia. "We 

wanted to create a company that could later become the centralized 

treasury for Awa," recalls Christian Maret, the head of Andre's office 

in Moscow. "If the Awa project had succeeded, that [treasury] would 

have been Andava. That's why it's called Andava [Andre and Awa]." 15 

When the Awa project collapsed, Andava decided to become the 

foreign treasury center for Awa's parent, the automaker Avtovaz. 

Throughout the next year, Andava handled about $100 million of Av­

tovaz's foreign revenues. The change in business strategy was ex­

plained with characteristic candor by Alain Mayor, who reiterated his 

belief that personal relationships were the key in Russia-wherever 

your partner goes, you follow. 16 

"In these deals, we start because of favorable circumstances, because 

the partners are there, because we sense an opportunity to do interest­

ing work with these partners," he told me. "We create the tools to be 

able to work together, but we don't necessarily have a 100 percent de­

termined goal at the beginning." 17 

Andava's new business relationship did not last long. In the 
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summer of 1995, Avtovaz declared that it would no longer supply Lo­

govaz with subsidized cars for reexport. After six years, the auto­

maker had finally decided to liberate itself from Berezovsky's grip. 

The tycoon had promised that his financial companies-Porus, An­

clava, AFK, and Avva-were going to fix Avtovaz's finances and bring 

in massive Western investment. But the automaker continued to lose 

cash and pile up debts; it was being strangled by its intermediaries, 

principally Berezovsky-owned dealerships and financial companies. 

No amount of financial engineering could fix the fact that Avtovaz was 

selling its cars to Berezovsky's Logovaz at a price significantly below 

the cost of production. Moreover, many of the sales to Logovaz were 

not for cash, but for some kind of promissory notes; by 1995, Logo­

vaz owed the automaker at least $40 million. Once Avtovaz declared 

its intention to terminate the Logovaz dealership contract, Bere­

zovsky swung into action: He got Mikhail Khodorkovsky's Menatep 

Bank to bail him out on the Avtovaz debts. But it was too late. The 

contract that had given Berezovsky his first fortune was torn up. 18 

An event that could have been disastrous to Berezovsky's grow­

ing business empire ultimately proved largely inconsequential-by 

the time his relationship with Avtovaz came to an end, the tycoon 

had already found a much more lucrative cash cow: Aeroflot. The in­

termediaries he had used to handle the finances and sales of Avtovaz 

were now redirected to service the airline. It helped that Nikolai 
Glushkov had jumped ship to Aeroflot. Glushkov had been Avto­

vaz's finance chief and the point man in its relationship with Logovaz 

(of which he was a founding partner). In the autumn of 1995, 

Glushkov left his job at Avtovaz and became first deputy general di­
rector of Aeroflot (effectively the chief manager). Once again, he was 

in a position to send business Berezovsky's way. The conflict of interest 

Glushkov had had at Avtovaz was thus replaced with another conflict 
of interest at Aeroflot. 19 

In May 1996, Marshal Shaposhnikov, Aeroflot's inexperienced 

general director, sent a letter to the airline's 152 foreign offices, or­
dering them to remit up to 80 percent of their foreign currency rev­
enues to Andava in Lausanne. (Much later, Marshal Shaposhnikov 
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would tell a Russian newspaper that he had been told to sign this let­
ter by Berezovsky's man, Glushkov.)2° 

"When the foreign representative offices of Aeroflot questioned 
why the airline was not receiving the money it was collecting and 
why it was going into private accounts, they were told that the money 
was being collected for Yeltsin's election campaign," General Kor­
zhakov asserts. "In fact, Berezovsky kept the money for himself. "21 

In the autumn of 1998, I asked Aeroflot's general director, Valery 
Okulov, why the airline worked with Andava. Okulov replied: "An­
clava's operations help us procure credits from abroad. "22 

But the only significant credits Aeroflot managed to procure 
were either guarantees by the U.S. Eximbank (for the purchase of 
Boeings) or were arranged by Andre & Cie. Andava played no part 
in any of these operations.23 

The treasury operations that Andava performed were routine 
foreign exchange operations, expediting payments to leasing compa­
nies and fuel suppliers, and occasionally obtaining small-scale bank 
guarantees. The money from Aeroflot offices around the world was 
kept in Andava's account at the Lausanne branch of the Union Bank 
of Switzerland. Andava managed the money on a trust basis.24 

In the past, these operations had been carried out by Aeroflot's 
own Center for International Payments. If it wanted to execute its in­

ternational transactions more efficiently, Aeroflot could participate 
in the International Air Transport Association's clearinghouse sys­
tem, used by airlines around the world to handle their international 
fuel, maintenance, and landing fees, and the necessary foreign ex­
change operations.25 

But Aeroflot chose to use Andava instead. This cost the airline 
dearly. The fees were unusually high. Most big international banks 
would jump at the opportunity to perform the kind of treasury man­
agement that Andava did for Aeroflot; the fees are typically a fraction 
of a percent of the assets managed. But, according to the May 1997 con­
tract between Andava and Aeroflot, Andava received a commission of 
3.125 percent on the funds it handled for Aeroflot. On an annual 
turnover of about $400 million, that was $13 million a year. Not bad 
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for an operation with only a couple of employees.26 Next, Andava lent 

the money it earned from Aeroflot back to the airline-in the course 

of 1997, for instance, Andava lent the airline $25 million in short-term 

loans-a minuscule amount compared to what the airline needed.27 

Andava, in other words, performed no task that Aeroflot could 

not perform itself. The one delicate operation-the mobilization of 

foreign bank loans-was performed adequately by Andre & Cie. So 

why was Andava necessary? And why were up to 80 percent of the 

export earnings of Aeroflot kept in Andava? "I don't know," says 

Maret. "I can only guess. "28 

With the huge problem of Russian capital flight (the root cause 

of the destruction of the ruble), the Russian Central Bank tried to en­

force stringent rules on the repatriation of capital by Russia's main ex­

porters. Russian law stated unambiguously that export revenues of 

Russian companies had to be repatriated and that half of this sum 

had to be converted into rubles. If a company needed more foreign 

currency, it could always sell its rubles for dollars on the currency 

markets in Moscow. 

"We are not subject to that regulation," Andava's general direc­

tor, William Ferrero, told me. "We are exempted by a Central Bank 

license. "29 

Aeroflot applied for that license on July 5, 1996, not long after 

Berezovsky gained control. But officials at the Central Bank, evi­

dently puzzled by the Aeroflot-Andava relationship, demurred.30 

By early 1997, information about this murky operation began 

emerging, first in Forbes, then in the Russian newspapers, and finally 

in the Swiss press. Aeroflot was operating a "slush fund" in Lau­

sanne, one Russian newspaper declared. The prosecutor's office 

began an investigation.31 

Yeltsin's Son-in-Law 

Yevgeny Shaposhnikov, the old air force marshal who was head of 

Aeroflot, began to question the Andava operation. He was fired on 

March 12, 1997. His replacement as general director was Valery 
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Okulov. An athletic, handsome man, Okulov had worked for 

twenty-two years in Soviet civil aviation, rising to the position of nav­

igator on Aeroflot flights (number three in the plane behind the pilot 

and copilot). His professional career was unremarkable except for 
one fact-he was married to Yelena Yeltsin, the eldest daughter of the 

Russian president.32 

Within two months of Okulov's appointment as general director 

of Aeroflot, the Russian Central Bank gave the airline its exemption 

from Russia's currency-repatriation rules. 

"Using his political connections, Berezovsky was able to get a 

Central Bank license," Korzhakov would recall.33 

Korzhakov referred me to a transcript of phone conversations in 

March 1997 between Berezovsky and the Central Bank chairman, 

Sergei Dubinin. These conversations had been intercepted by an 

undisclosed security agency; the tapes were sent to the Russian 

prosecutor-general's office, where their authenticity was confirmed. 

In the conversations, Berezovsky, though serving as deputy secretary 

of the Security Council at the time (and hence prohibited by law 

from engaging in commercial activities), blatantly lobbies the Central 

Bank chairman to accept the proposal of Nikolai Glushkov-a man 

of "impeccable reputation," says Berezovsky-to license the Andava­

Aeroflot relationship. 

"We are losing time," Berezovsky declares to the Central Bank 

chief. "Time does not stand still. And the affairs [at Aeroflot] are not 

proceeding as they should, though they are going somewhat better, 

of course, thanks to the initiative of Glushkov. But for things to go 

normally for the government, and in the eyes of the government, we 

need certain decisions on your part-decisions which we have not 

been able to receive for already a year. "34 

Dubinin promises that he will order his underlings to move on the 

license application. After receiving this promise, Berezovsky immedi­

ately calls Nikolai Glushkov. The following conversation takes place:35 

BEREZOVSKY: Allo! Kolya! I have just spoken with Dubinin. He is 

the worst sort of cunt, of course. But that's OK. He says that his 
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people have two basic problems. One problem is the transparency of 

the operation. That's precisely what your people don't want. Second, 

he wants guarantees, because he says [Andava] is a small outfit. 

What kind of guarantees can it give? Therefore, it needs a guarantee 

either from an insurance company or from a consortium of banks. 

Do you understand? 

GLUSHKOV: Guarantees for what, Borya? 

BEREZOVSKY: This is what I don't understand, Kolya. 

GLUSHKOV: Because, at present, we are holding our accounts in 

some kind of third-rate banks, who can give no guarantee of any 

kind .... 

BEREZOVSKY: Kolyenka, let's not discuss this issue now. There's a 

woman [at the Central Bank] named Artamonova. Call Dubinin's of­

fice and they will transfer you. I want you to do it right now. 

GLUSHKOV: Okay, I'll do it now. 

BEREZOVSKY: Talk directly with her and tell her clearly that there 

has been a conversation with Dubinin. Dubinin has ordered that this 

issue be resolved in the quickest possible manner. Therefore, set up 

an appointment and let's meet. 

GLUSHKOV: Okay. 

Andava received its license. But the fact remams that the 

Andava-Aeroflot relationship flourished for more than a year before 

it was formalized with a Central Bank license. On what legal basis 

did the activity proceed? 

"I don't know. I assume it was fully legal," says Andava's Ferrero.36 

Unlikely, says Oleg Davydov, who was Russian foreign trade 

minister at the time. "You need permission to leave your money 

abroad," he says. "Gazprom and Lukoil keep money in such ac­

counts, but in order to do so, you need to get permission. "37 

The clients of Andava-first Avtovaz, then Aeroflot-were big, 

prestigious companies. They should have had no trouble convincing 

the Central Bank to grant them the same rights as the oil and gas 

companies Gazprom and Lukoil. 

"I think that in fact Aeroflot made its application when it started 
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working with us and then it took a long time [to get the actual li­
cense]," says Ferrero. "These things here [in the West] can take 

twenty-four hours. Over there [in Russia] it can take months or 

worse. There was a period when the license was in fact there. There 

was a whole period in which the application had been submitted, 

everything had been announced, but the license [officially] wasn't 

there. There has been some confusion about this 'finesse,' if one can 

call it that. "38 

Yet there is no provision under Russian law stipulating that a 

company can operate during this "waiting period" in the same way 

as it can when it actually gets the Central Bank license. 

"We were planning to stabilize the ruble in 1997,'' says former 

Foreign Trade Minister Oleg Davydov. "For this reason, those who 

were concealing hard currency abroad were harming the state 

greatly."39 

The Dublin Connection 

By the mid-1990s, close observers of Russia already knew that many 

big companies were being looted by their managers and intermedi­

aries. The capital-flight statistics (an estimated $15 billion a year) in­

dicated that a huge portion of the profits of Russian enterprises were 

evading both the tax collectors and the shareholders. The looting ru­

ined many of Russia's best enterprises, starving them of investment 

capital, while the capital flight eventually doomed Russia's efforts at 

monetary stabilization. Few outsiders understood the precise mech­

anisms by which a particular company was looted and the capital 

funneled abroad. For this reason the Aeroflot case remains invalu­

able-it is the most detailed example to date of how to loot a com­

pany you do not own. 

As Aeroflot's foreign treasury center, Andava was able to dispose 

of the huge foreign currency profit the airline earned every year. In 

1997, for instance, Aeroflot received $897 million in foreign currency 

revenues, but spent only $646 million in foreign expenses. What 

happened to the difference? Andava transmitted no foreign currency 
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back to Russia, Ferrero said. In fact, much of Aeroflot's foreign cur­

rency profit was going to pay the usurious interest payments ar­

ranged by Berezovsky's financial companies.40 

The oldest of these was the Lausanne-based financial company 

Porus Services S.A. (the outfit American entrepreneur Page Thomp­

son visited to obtain his letter of credit). I visited Porus's headquarters 

in a modern office complex next to the Lausanne Airport. The office 

consisted of several rooms. It seemed as lifeless as the office of its sis­

ter company, Andava, across town. The door was answered by a sec­

retary. There were no signs of other employees or of any work being 

done. I asked to see the general director, Rene Kuppers. "Sorry," the 

secretary told me. "Monsieur Kuppers is traveling in Russia today." 

Porus acted as a financial consultant and intermediary between 

Aeroflot and foreign money markets. Together with Andre & Cie., 

Porus did arrange four syndicated loans from Western banks to 

Aeroflot between May 1997 and the end of 1998. They were short­

term loans (180 days), ranging in size from $40 million to $59 million. 

Porus received a commission for these transactions, though, with 

Andre & Cie. handling most of the work, it was unclear why Porus's 

presence was necessary.41 

Porus was also involved in the murkiest part of Aeroflot's opera­

tions: the overflight or frequency-right payments, which allowed for­

eign airliners to service the Russian market or fly over Russia en 

route to somewhere else. This was a large sum of foreign currency: 

$284 million in 1997 alone. Although these fees accounted for one fifth 

of the airline's revenues, they were mentioned in just one sentence in 

the company's annual report.42 

What did Aeroflot do with the money? The Russian prosecutor­

general's office told me that between 1996 and 1998 Porus received a 

total of $380 million in Aeroflot overflight payments. Half of that sum 

went to repay the syndicated loans Andre & Cie. was organizing. The 

prosecutor-general's office could not find out what had happened to 

the rest of the money, and neither Aeroflot nor Andava could give me 

an explanation. Porus's general director, Rene Kuppers, acknowl­

edged that his company did get overflight payments in 1996 (shortly 
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after Berezovsky took control of Aeroflot, but before the syndicated 

loans) and claimed that the money was used to repay small loans 

($5 million to $15 million) that Forus had made to Aeroflot.43 

Andava, meanwhile, was effectively a loan-sharking operation, 

setting up subsidiaries clearly designed to milk Aeroflot's cash flow. 

In April 1996 Berezovsky's loyal agent in Switzerland and Andava 

board member, Hans-Peter J enni, flew to Moscow to sign the regis­

tration documents creating a company called FOK (United Finance 

Company); Andava S.A. was the sole founder of this outfit. FOK's mis­

sion was similar to Andava's-to gather Aeroflot's funds to pay the 

airline's foreign bills. FOK was also remarkably similar in its mission 

to AFK, the financial company Berezovsky had helped set up to 

handle Avtovaz's payables and receivables in 1994. (FOK and AFK 

shared the same general director, a man named Roman Sheinin.) Be­

sides Aeroflot, two other companies used FOK's services: AFK and 

Transaero (a private company, partly owned by Berezovsky, that was 

Russia's second-largest international airline).44 

The bulk ofFOK's business was with Aeroflot. Nikolai Glushkov 

was the sole signatory on behalf of Aeroflot in the loan contract with 

FOK. He was able to sign the contract despite being a major share­

holder of Andava, the sole founder of FOK. (Berezovsky was an 

even bigger shareholder, of course.)45 

In the last half of 1996, FOK handled $139 million worth of 

Aeroflot's payables; in the first half of 1997, it handled a further 

$82 million. For using this service Aeroflot had to pay "penalties" to 
FOK of $29 million in 1997.46 

Why was the implicit interest rate so high? The trick was having 

more than one intermediary handle a relatively simple bill-paying 

operation. When it received a foreign invoice-say, a fuel bill from 

BP or Mobil-Aeroflot would not pay the bill directly. Instead, it 

passed it on to FOK for payment. FOK, in turn, passed it on to a 
second intermediary, an obscure outfit called Grangeland Holdings 
Ltd., which paid the bill.47 

Registered in Dublin, Ireland, Grangeland had virtually no 
records. Its registration documents described the company in terms of 
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every commercial activity imaginable. The last year that Grangeland 

filed its required annual financial statements with the Irish Compa­

nies Registration Office was 1995; it declared $10 in assets. Less than 

a year later, this outfit would be handling hundreds of millions of dol­

lars of Aeroflot's money.48 

Grangeland was simply a post-office box. Its shareholders in­

cluded two unknown companies registered in Panama. Grangeland 

listed only two directors responsible for the company's activities: 

both employees of the small Swiss accounting firm that serviced 

Andava and Anros S.A. (the anonymous vehicle that owned half of 

Logovaz). Grangeland's banker was the Union Bank of Switzerland 

in Lausanne, the same bank employed by Andava. Andava denies 

any knowledge of Grangeland, although the Russian prosecutor­

general's office says it is in possession of documents received from 

Swiss prosecutors proving that Andava had in fact bought Grange­

land in 1996.49 

The whole Grangeland-FOK-Aeroflot operation was a chain of 

short-term loans. Grangeland's payment of an Aeroflot bill was con­

sidered a loan to FOK, which, in turn, was treated as a loan from 

FOK to Aeroflot. Between FOK and Grangeland, Aeroflot paid hor­

rendous interest costs. Grangeland charged an annual percentage 

rate of 30 percent in hard currency. FOK charged an annual per­

centage rate of 65 percent in ruble terms for the bills it handled for 

the airline-since the ruble declined about 10 percent against the 

dollar during the FOK-Aeroflot operation, this was equivalent to an 

annual interest rate of about 50 percent in dollar terms. The contract 

between FOK and Aeroflot-barely more than a page-was vague, 

speaking of Aeroflot's making its final payment to FOK "taking into 

account the 30 percent refinancing rate of FOK." In other words, 

this left open the possibility that FOK's 50 percent dollar interest 

rate would be added to Grangeland's 30 percent-forcing Aeroflot 

to pay a final interest rate of 95 percent in hard-currency terms.50 

The result of many financial companies' (Andava, AFK, FOK, 

and Grangeland) performing essentially the same task for the same 

group of companies (chiefly Aeroflot and Avtovaz) was significant in-
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terest earnings accumulated abroad. That these intermediaries often 

shared the same managers, the same banks, the same accountants, 

and the same owners made the job easier. 

If Aeroflot was gouged by FOK, Russian tax authorities were not 

getting anything from the Moscow-registered financial company either. 

In its 1996 annual report, FOK stated that it lost 97 percent of its 

pretax profits as a result of foreign exchange losses in its dealings 

with Grangeland. (The ruble was stable against most hard currencies 

at this time.)51 

Besides FOK, Grangeland, and Andava, there were other 

strange middlemen sucking the cash out of Aeroflot. In 1996-97, for 

instance, Aeroflot paid $17 million to an obscure advertising com­

pany called NFQ to produce its in-flight magazine, even though the 

airline had its own advertising and publishing department. "This 

contract was far from the best as far as the interests of Aeroflot were 

concerned," Aeroflot's general director, Valery Okulov, would later 

admit.52 

There were also irregularities in the sale of Aeroflot tickets 

abroad. After the Berezovsky team took control of Aeroflot, the old 

practice of concluding agreements directly with travel agents was 

gradually replaced by a new system, involving an intermediary 

called Aeroflot Tour Group, managed by a former Logovaz executive 

named Leonid ltskov. In 1999, Aeroflot general director Valery 

Okulov went public with his unhappiness about Aeroflot ticket 

agents' losing their business to "unsanctioned" consolidators and 

middlemen, especially those operating in the United States and 

Canada. He did not mention how much money the airline lost from 

the diversion of this business.53 

Meanwhile, Berezovsky's managers at Aeroflot courted Ameri­

can investors. They hired Salomon Brothers to help issue shares in the 

United States in the form of American Depository Receipts. The 

ADRs never materialized. That did not prevent foreigners from buy­

ing Aeroflot's shares in Russia. But Aeroflot's shareholders, including 

investors in the U.S., had no idea what was really happening with 

Aeroflot's advertising contracts or its ticket sales operations. They 
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were not told that the bulk of Aeroflot's foreign currency revenues 

were being handled by two unknown Swiss companies: Andava and 

Forus. Neither did Aeroflot inform its shareholders that one of the 

owners of the Swiss companies was none other than Nikolai 

Glushkov, Aeroflot's chief financial officer and the man with th~ uni­

lateral right to sign financial contracts for the airline.54 

Aeroflot's financial results should have tipped off investors that 

something was amiss. Although murky, the results indicated that the 

airline was not flourishing under the tutelage of Berezovsky's managers. 

Despite solid foreign currency operating profits and massive govern­

ment subsidies in the form of overflight payments, Aeroflot lost 

$82 million in 1996 and $93 million in 1997. Aeroflot had a liquidity 

problem. Over the course of 1997, its cash and cash equivalents de­

creased by $165 million; it developed a net current-asset deficiency 

of $159 million; the debt-to-equity ratio increased from 169 percent 

to 207 percent. In the spring of 1998, Aeroflot begged its old partner 

Andre & Cie. to increase a syndicated loan by $17 million, to cover a 

cash-flow shortage. A few months later, Canadian authorities im­

pounded an Aeroflot plane because the airline had failed to pay a 

$6 million bill to a Canadian hotel operator.55 

Only in 1999 did the roof over Berezovsky and his managers at 

Aeroflot finally collapse. The Russian prosecutor-general's office 

raided the offices of Aeroflot, NFQ, and FOK, among others, and 

opened a criminal case against Berezovsky and Glushkov. In Switzer­

land, the federal prosecutor's office began its own investigation and 

froze the accounts of Andava and Forus. Yeltsin's son-in-law Valery 

Okulov also turned against the Logovaz team: Nikolai Glushkov left 

his post in late 1997, shortly after a particularly damning article about 

Andava appeared in Moskovsky Komsomolets. In February 1999, 
Okulov fired the two remaining Logovaz kingpins, commercial direc­

tor Aleksandr Krasnenker and sales director Leonid Itskov. He also an­

nounced that he was suspending the treasury service contract of 

Andava.56 

News reporters asked Okulov whether the two men had been en-
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gaged in criminal activity. His answer was: "It is rather difficult to dif­

ferentiate between incompetence and embezzlement. "57 

But all that lay ahead. In the autumn of 1995, Boris Berezovsky's 

takeover of Aeroflot, coming on the beds of his rupture with Avto­

vaz, seemed a stroke of genius. The policy he would follow at the 

Russian national airline remains a textbook example of how to pri­

vatize the profits of a company you do not own. Within two months 

after he had established control of Aeroflot, Berezovsky pulled off an 

even greater coup: He privatized one of Russia's biggest oil compa­

nies. True to form, he paid almost no money for it. 



CHAPTER SEVEN 

THE RACE FOR OIL 

"The Meaning of Life Is Expansion" 

For Russia, 1995 was a year of bloodshed and decline. On the TV 

screens every evening, Russians were presented with the carnage of 

the Chechen War. The business community, only just recovering 

from the ravages of the Great Mob War, was rocked by the assassi­

nation of several top executives in the oil and aluminum industries. 

The economy continued its precipitous decline; the nation's popula­

tion continued to shrink. Abroad, Russia's influence sank to a new 

low. NATO was expanding eastward, absorbing Poland, the Czech Re­

public, and Hungary. When NATO warplanes bombed Serbian po­

sitions in Bosnia that summer, Russia protested on behalf of its 

traditional ally, but could do nothing. 

Berezovsky, however, was prospering. In September 1995, he 

told a British journalist how he had once visited the famous dissident 
Andrei Sakharov and asked him the meaning of life. "The meaning 

of life is expansion," Berezovsky remembered the great man's reply­

ing. "From the moment you start reproducing-l'm talking about 

the sexual instinct-it's expansion, in a sense. You're replicating 

yourself. The same with the desire to spread religious or philosophi­

cal ideas: that's expansion too. I think this is my driving motive."1 

Berezovsky was expanding fast. At the beginning of that year, he 

188 
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had been merely a well-connected car dealer and commodities 

trader, under suspicion for the Listyev murder. His company, Logo­

vaz, was in turmoil. The general director, a longtime Berezovsky 

partner named Samat Zhaboev, resigned in March (the same month 

as the Listyev killing); according to press reports, Zhaboev was suf­

fering from ill health. Four months later, on July 22, Zhaboev's old 

deputy at Logovaz, Mikhail Gaft, fell to his death from the balcony 

of his apartment. (Police judged the death to be an accident.) But 

Berezovsky remained relentless in his drive for power. Among the 

companies that fell into his hands in 1995 were some of the nation's 

preeminent enterprises. Such institutions as Channell, traditionally 

the spearhead of the state's propaganda machine, and Aeroflot, the 

national airline, were among the most visible symbols of Russian 

state power. Now they were under Berezovsky's control. Financially, 

however, the tycoon achieved his greatest triumph that autumn, 

when he turned his attention to the lifeblood of the Russian econ­

omy-oil.2 

The Russian Rockefeller 

For decades, Russia had produced more oil than any other country, 

far outstripping its closest rivals, Saudi Arabia and the United States. 

This wealth in oil fields, pipelines, and refineries was controlled by the 

Soviet government. With the fall of Communism in 1991, it was up 

for grabs. The big multinational oil companies rushed in to claim a 

share of Russia's vast oil fields. "This is the last frontier for an oilman 

to find major new reserves," T. Don Stacy, president of Amoco's 

Eurasian subsidiary, said in 1995.3 

"It's the new prize for world oil," declared oil historian Daniel Yer­

gin. "The biggest risk is the risk of not being there. "4 

By 1995 such Western majors as Royal Dutch/Shell, Exxon, 

British Petroleum, Amoco, Chevron, and Texaco had concluded 

major production-sharing contracts. But virtually without exception, 

they were floundering. From the Arctic wastes of Timan Pechora to 

the shores of the Caspian Sea, from Sakhalin Island in the Pacific to 
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the steppes of Kazakhstan and the forests of Western Siberia, foreign 

oil companies were finding the former Soviet Union a very difficult 

place to do business. Permits were being hdd up, contracts renego­

tiated, promised pipeline access withdrawn. The foreigners were 

puzzled by the delays, but knowledgeable Russians knew that native 

businessmen had gotten to the oil fields first and had no intention of 

sharing profits with foreigners. 

No man loomed larger over the industry than Vagit Alekperov. In 
just five years, Alekperov had created Lukoil, Russia's first integrated 

oil company, accumulating more oil and gas reserves than Exxon, 

and turning the company into a multinational giant. Not only did 

Alekperov expand Lukoil aggressively, he also emerged as the power 

broker in almost every big oil deal in the former Soviet Union. His 

career revealed how the Russian oil business worked and how a pri­

vate empire could be built on Russia's premier natural resource. 

Alekperov grew up in Baku, the fabled oil town overlooking the 

Caspian Sea. After studying engineering in the local petrochemical 

institute, he made his mark in Western Siberia. In 1983 he was ap­

pointed director of oil production in the remote town of Kogalym. In 

seven years Kogalym became one of the most productive oil fields in 

the Soviet Union. Alekperov became a legend in his oil town, famed 

for his steely composure in the face of danger. One story involved a 

crucial pipeline leak. Hot oil was gushing from the pipe. Repair 

workers with welding equipment gathered, hut were afraid to work 

on the damaged pipe lest a spark ignite an explosion. Alekperov ar­

rived, assessed the situation, and lay down next to the pipe. "Now 

weld it," he ordered.5 

In 1990 Alekperov, forty years old, was appointed deputy minis­

ter of fuel and energy in Moscow. The Soviet oil industry was falling 

apart, crippled by declining government investment and the disinte­

gration of the planned economy. Alekperov decided to go to the 

West to see how such big multinational oil companies as BP, Agip, and 

Chevron did husiness.6 

"All he wanted to talk about was the company that would later 
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become Lukoil," recalled Thomas Hamilton, an American oil exec­

utive representing BP in the negotiations with Alekperov. "He came 

with a long list of questions about putting an integrated oil company 

together. 'Why won't this work?' 'Why can't I do this?' 'How do I im­

plement this kind of plan?' "7 

Alekperov asked BP to help him create Lukoil and offered a 

strategic partnership. BP refused. "We thought it was a pipe dream," 

remembers David Reardon, one BP executive at the discussions. 

"We couldn't imagine the privatization of the Soviet Union's prize oil 

resources. "8 

Alekperov returned to Moscow to discover that he was regarded 

as somewhat of a saboteur by Communist hard-liners. He was about 

to be fired when his boss at the ministry became embroiled in the 

1991 Putsch against Mikhail Gorbachev. With the failure of that 

coup and the dismissal of his boss, Alekperov was left in charge of the 

Oil Ministry in the final months of the Soviet Union.9 

He moved quickly. First he handed the country's oil assets to the 

state-owned holding company Rosneft and placed his friend Alek­

sandr Putilov in charge. Two of Alekperov's subordinates at the 

ministry headed up the national oil companies of Turkmenistan and 

Kazakhstan. Alekperov then gathered some of the best Russian oil 

properties and some of the country's brightest engineers and incor­

porated them as Lukoil. When the company was privatized, first in 

the 1994 voucher auctions, then in a series of smaller cash auctions, 

Alekperov and his top managers bought a quarter of Lukoil's equity. 

Through his own shares and his right to vote on behalf of the com­

pany pension fund and labor union, Alekperov had undisputed con­

trol of the company.1o 

By 1993, he was ready to expand beyond the Siberian oil fields. 

He chose Baku, where a consortium of Western oil companies (in­

cluding BP, Amoco, Exxon, Pennzoil, and Unocal) had been negoti­

ating for two years with the Azerbaijan government for the rights to 

4 billion barrels of offshore oil. But the $8 billion deal was stalled. The 

Azerbaijani negotiators seemed paranoid about being taken advantage 
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of, but this paranoia did not stop them from demanding large bribes. 

The Russians were complicating matters by demanding a piece of 

the action. 11 

In the spring of 1993, a former KGB general and Soviet Polit­

buro member named Geidar Aliyev took power in Azerbaijan after a 

bloodless coup supported by the Russians. Two months later, Rus­

sian oil minister Yuri Shafranik arrived in Baku, accompanied by 

Alekperov. "Shafranik appeared before the top officials of the Azer­

baijan government and declared that Russia had a right to partici­

pate in the oil project," recalls Rasul Gouliev, who was chairman of 

the Azerbaijan parliament at the time. "Then he introduced 

Alekperov and warmly recommended Lukoil as a business partner. We 

all understood what he was saying." 12 

The Azerbaijani leader, Geidar Aliyev, agreed to sell Lukoil a 10 

percent stake in the Baku oil consortium for a nominal $15 million. 

The Western oil companies were informed that they had a new part­

ner. Amoco's T. Don Stacy recalls the bewilderment he and others 

felt: "Our first feeling was that Lukoil was on the other side of the 

table. But we found that they were businessmen, like ourselves, 

wanting to make a profitable venture, rather than to take advantage 
of either side." 13 

With Lukoil in the Baku consortium, the pieces quickly fell into 

place. The deal was signed, Russia provided pipeline access to the 

Black Sea, and the first Baku oil began flowing to the West two years 

later. "We want to make Lukoil into the biggest oil company in the 

world-in both production and profits," the dapper forty-five-year­

old Alekperov said in late 1995. "The seven sisters now have a 

brother." 14 

Russian industrialists typically went through three stages in their 

relations with foreign businessmen. The first stage was characterized 

by ignorance and bluster ("We don't need your help-we're the best 

already"). The second stage was paranoia-the Russians had be­

come aware that they did not understand how global business 

worked and were afraid to strike any deal at all, since they assumed 

they would be skinned by the unscrupulous foreigners. The third 
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stage was panic-the Russians understood that they could no longer 

survive without striking a deal, so they agreed to do anything, sign any 

deal, no matter how onerous the terms. 

Alekperov, by contrast, was both astute and decisive. "Other Rus­

sian oilmen lack Alekperov's finesse and understanding of the com­

mercial game," noted Thomas Hamilton. "They don't know how to 

make the trade-offs he's willing to make. "15 

Among those trade-offs were gifts of very cheap Lukoil stock to 

influential Russians. One key shareholder was Yuri Shafranik, the 

Russian oil minister who cut Lukoil into the Baku oil deal. Another big 

shareholder was Aleksandr Putilov, head of the powerful state-owned 

oil company Rosneft.16 

Alekperov, together with oil minister Shafranik, soon began to 

put the "Baku squeeze" on Chevron and the Republic of Kazakhstan 

in their giant Tenghiz project. The reserves in this field (9 billion bar­

rels) were equivalent to about three quarters of the reserves of Prud­

hoe Bay, Alaska, when that field was discovered in 1967. By 1995, 

Chevron had sunk $700 million into Tenghiz and had committed it­
self to investing $10 billion more over the next two decades. The ini­

tial results were disappointing.17 

"You can't do such projects alone," Alekperov declared. "You 

have to share." 

Alekperov and Shafranik saw to it that Chevron received only 

a third of the Russian pipeline capacity it had been promised for its 

Tenghiz exports; Chevron was forced to ship its exports via the 

Russian railroads. "If we are included in the Tenghiz consortium, we 

are obligated to solve the pipeline issue," Alekperov said in late 

1995.18 

Within months, Chevron let Lukoil into the Tenghiz deal. It was 

a wise decision. It was impossible to succeed in Russia without a 

strong native partner. The largest American oil company, Exxon, 
tried to persevere in Russia on its own, with the giant Timan Pechora 

project, but got nowhere until it admitted Lukoil as a partner. 

Even as he successfully outmaneuvered the world's best oil com­

panies, Alekperov ran his business like an old-fashioned Turkish 
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pasha. "The one thing that always strikes you is that he has exceed­

ingly good-looking translators," Thomas Hamilton observed.19 

The flight attendants on Alekperov's company jet in which I flew 

in 1995 were demure beauties, the epitome of Eurasian loveliness. 

"Presidential quality for the presidential plane," whispered the chief 

of Lukoil's pension fund, eyeing a particularly striking girl. 

Alekperov also knew how to give gifts. Lukoil, for example, fi­

nanced the aircraft-design bureau, Yakovlev, in building the coun­

try's first executive jet, based on the 100-seat Yak-42. Lukoil had no 

interest in aircraft manufacturing, but these luxuriously upholstered 

executive jets, valued at $19 million each, made wonderful presents. 

He gave one of the jets to Moscow mayor Yuri Luzhkov. He gave an­

other to the president of the natural-gas monopoly Gazprom. In 

1995, as Lukoil's negotiations over the Tenghiz oil project were heat­

ing up, Alekperov gave a jet to the president of Kazakhstan, Nursul­

tan Nazarbaev.20 

For free? 

"Nothing is free," Alekperov said, chuckling, "but the forms of 

payment can differ." 

Dead Man in the River 

Vagit Alekperov had shown what a smart and energetic manager could 

do with a Russian oil company. Whatever the methods he had used in 

accumulating his empire, there was no denying that Alekperov was a 

capable industrialist. He was Russia's first modern oil magnate. 

Berezovsky, too, wanted to be an oil magnate, but he had difficulty 

finding a place at the table. In 1995, the only big oil properties that 

had not been privatized were held by the state-owned oil company, 

Rosneft. Boasting majority stakes in some of the biggest oil fields and 

best refineries in Russia, Rosneft was a formidable company-the 

second largest in the nation. It was proof that President Yeltsin had 

not given away everything to private businessmen. 

Berezovsky was determined to get a piece of it. But he had a 

problem. Though Rosneft was a state company, it was within the 
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Lukoil sphere of influence. Vagit Alekperov's old partner, Aleksandr 
Putilov, was Rosneft's general director; the Ministry of Fuel and En­
ergy, meanwhile, was headed up by another Lukoil partner. Lukoil it­
self owned a stake in one of the best Rosneft properties-the Omsk 
Oil Refinery. 

Early in 1995, Berezovsky was approached by Roman Abramo­
vich, a twenty-nine-year-old oil trader, with a plan. Abramovich was 
a successful commodities trader, supervising a network of companies 
operating out of Switzerland; he was also a business partner of Boris 
Yeltsin's son-in-law Leonid Dyachenko. Abramovich proposed that he 
and Berezovsky separate out the two best Rosneft assets-oil pro­
ducer Noyabrskneftegaz and the Omsk Refinery-and create a new 
company, called Sibneft.21 

Berezovsky had no ambitions to become a professional oilman, but 
he knew that oil was the key to major funding in Russia. "Sibneft in­
terests me because it gives me greater maneuverability," Berezovsky 
would tell me later. "Oil is not only a business in itself, insofar as you 
can sell it or refine it, but the oil business is also a serious financial busi­
ness, insofar as it is a good guarantee for loans. Among other things, 
Sibneft gives me the opportunity to operate other businesses, insofar 
as it gives me the opportunity to attract investment. "22 

With his quarry in sight, Berezovsky approached General Kor­
zhakov and First Deputy Prime Minister Oleg Soskovets (responsible 
for industrial policy overall) with the idea of creating Sibneft. "I have 
good relations with Korzhakov and Soskovets," he told the Russian 
newspaper Kommersant in the fall of 1995. "I deeply respect these 
people. In general, I think it is normal for business and government 
to have good relations. All over the world, government helps business. 
More than that, capital controls the government, though here in Rus­
sia that is still ahead."23 

He also lobbied Pavel Borodin, head of property management 
within the presidential administration, and, more important, Prime 
Minister Viktor Chernomyrdin. In return for Chernomyrdin's support, 
Berezovsky reportedly volunteered to coordinate the funding of his 
"Our Home Is Russia" political party during the 1995 parliamentary 
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elections; he also provided Chemomyrdin with favorable TV coverage 

on ORT. His argument to the prime minister was that ORT needed 

huge subsidies to function and that a privatized Sibneft would allow 

Berezovsky to use the oil profits to fund the TV network.24 

Sibneft was incorporated in the summer of 1995. The one gov­

ernment institution that would have resisted the creation of Sibneft, 

the Ministry of Fuel and Energy, was left out of the backroom deal. 

"The presidential decree creating Sibneft was a surprise even to 

specialists," noted General Korzhakov. "The plan of the develop­

ment of the oil industry of the country had already been approved by 

the government and the appearance of such a powerful company 

was in no way foreseen. "25 

The Omsk Refinery, one of the two key components of the new 

company, was left out of the negotiations. Boasting modern equip­

ment, huge throughput capacity, and a great geographic location, 

Omsk was easily the best refinery in Russia, servicing many of the 

country's biggest oil producers. Though Rosneft retained a majority 

stake (soon to be transferred to Sibneft), the refinery also had im­

portant outside investors: Lukoil owned 10 percent of the stock, and 

foreign investors such as CS First Boston also owned small stakes. 

Omsk, in other words, was well positioned to survive on its own.26 

The general director of the Omsk Refinery was Ivan Litskevich, 

a respected industry veteran. He had dealt with Berezovsky's part­

ner, Roman Abramovich, before, when the Omsk Refinery had sold 

Abramovich oil products, which the trader then sold abroad. But 

Litskevich protested when he heard that Abramovich and Bere­

zovsky planned to take over his refinery and make it part of Sibneft. 

On August 19, 1995, he was found drowned in the lrtysh River. Po­

lice found no evidence of foul play.27 

Deprived of the leadership of its longtime general director, the 

Omsk Refinery quickly fell into line. Berezovsky and Abramovich 

now faced one final obstacle: a company called Balkar Trading that 

owned most of the rights to export crude from Sibneft's chief oil pro­

ducer, Noyabrskneftegaz. Balkar Trading was named for a lawless re­

gion-Kabardino-Balkaria-near Chechnya. The company was run by 
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Pyotr Yanchev, a rival of Berezovsky's in the Avtovaz car-dealership 

market.28 

At the time that Sibneft was being incorporated, Balkar was one 

of the largest oil trading companies in the country. One of its biggest 

contracts was to provide American oil giant Mobil with 25 million 

tons ofNoyabrskneftegaz crude oil (worth roughly $3 billion) over five 

years. Naturally, Yanchev did not want to surrender such a lucrative 

arrangement to a newly formed holding company called Sibneft. In 

his fight to remain in the game, Pyotr Yanchev could count on some 

powerful patrons: Yeltsin's tennis coach, Shamil Tarpishchev; Rus­

sia's acting prosecutor-general, Alexei llyushenko, whose wife served 

as a paid consultant to Yanchev; and Ilyushenko's deputy, who was 

Yanchev's father-in-law.29 

Ironically, it was Ilyushenko who had had overall responsibility for 

solving the Listyev murder; immediately after the murder, llyushenko 

had done Berezovsky a favor by calling off the investigators during 

their attempt to search Logovaz headquarters. But by the autumn 

of 1995, Berezovsky had no more use for llyushenko. At the end of 

September, one month after Sibneft had been incorporated, Yanchev 

was arrested on charges of bribery and embezzlement and thrown in 

jail. llyushenko was dismissed as acting prosecutor-general and, sev­

eral months later, arrested for taking bribes. Most of Balkar's big 

contracts selling Noyabrskneftegaz oil were annulled. The Mobil ex­

ecutives went home.3° 

Berezovsky and Abramovich could now take over Sibneft with­

out much protest. There remained only the technicality of how to ac­

quire the equity of the new oil giant. The means were soon found: that 

infamous mechanism of pseudoprivatization called the "loans-for­

shares" auctions. 

Loans for Shares 

The idea for the loans-for-shares auctions was first mentioned to me 

in 1994 by Boris Jordan, the American investment banker, then head 

of CS First Boston's Russian equity operations; Jordan argued that 
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the Russian government should organize a gigantic debt-for-equity 

deal. In early 1995, he left CS First Boston and established a Russian­

based company called Renaissance Capital; his partner was one of 

Russia's leading bankers, Vladimir Potanin. Together they developed 

the debt-for-equity idea. The plan called for Russia's leading banks to 

lend the cash-strapped government $2 billion, collateralized by big 

stakes in some of the country's best industrial companies. The banks 

would hang on to these equity stakes until the companies could be pri­

vatized in a second round of auctions in 1997.31 

Russia's leading private banks were ready to assume the role of in­

dustrial empire-builders. "In Russia, you can't be comfortable earning 

big profits on trade," Mikhail Khodorkovsky, head of Menatep Bank, 

told me. "No one understands it. You won't be given any peace. 

You'll be invaded by racketeers and assaulted by all the government 

authorities. Even your own parents will stop respecting you. "32 

The real reason was more prosaic. Having made a fortune han­

dling the accounts of Russia's major exporters-most of them still 

majority state-owned-banks like Menatep needed to ensure that 

these companies would continue pouring money into their accounts. 

The banks wanted to use the money earned from handling the ac­

counts of the major exporters to buy the exporters' equity. But Rus­

sia's new banking titans could not afford to pay very much for their 

stakes: They had made billions of dollars in just a few years, but a lot 

of that money had been frittered away on marble lobbies, fleets of 

Mercedeses, mansions in Moscow, and villas abroad. 

No one was more adept at taking over big companies at virtually 

no cost than Berezovsky. The tycoon had invested only a few million 

dollars to obtain a controlling stake in Avtovaz; he had paid just 

$320,000 for a controlling stake in ORT; and he had paid nothing at 

all to take control of Aeroflot. He would have to put up real money 

to purchase a controlling stake in Sibneft, but he was determined to 

pay just a fraction of the market price. 

Out of these considerations-the desire to take over Russia's big 

exporters and the determination to pay almost nothing for the eq-
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uity-the concept of the loans-for-shares auctions was born. It was left 
up to Vladimir Potanin to make the proposal to the government. 

Potanin, thirty-six, was one of the golden boys of the Soviet es­
tablishment. He was smart, energetic, sensible, and efficient. He was 
also well connected. His father was an official in the Ministry of For­
eign Economic Relations. Potanin joined the Communist Youth 
League, studied at a prestigious institute, joined the Communist 

Party at twenty-six, and took a job at his father's old ministry. After 
the Berlin Wall fell, Potanin and some colleagues from the ministry 

established an international trading company called Interros to 
compete with the old state-owned trade monopolies. Helped by the 

support of high officials in the Ministry of Foreign Trade and the 
Communist Party Central Committee, his company quickly ob­

tained key foreign trade licenses, as well as prestigious exporters as 
clients.33 

Mter Yeltsin took power, Potanin moved into banking. He es­

tablished two banks, MFK and Onexim Bank, on the ruins of the So­
viet Union's primary foreign trade banks. The best clients of these 
bankrupt institutions-more than forty top Russian exporters­

transferred their accounts to Potanin's new banks, while the foreign 
trade debts were left with the Russian government. Only a few years 

after their creation, Onexim Bank and MFK ranked as Russia's third­
and fourth-largest banks respectively, with subsidiaries in Switzer­

land, Cyprus, and the Caribbean.34 

Even a sophisticated financial institution like Onexim Bank re­

tained traces of the primitive origins of the Russian banking system. 
I noticed this when I visited Potanin at his headquarters at Onexim 

Bank-a huge, ugly, modern building. First I had to show the heav­
ily armed guards my letter of invitation; then I had to pass my brief­
case through an X-ray machine and walk through a metal detector. 

After getting through a final barrier-Italian-made security doors of 
thick, grenade-proof glass-! finally arrived in the lobby. Why all the 
security? "Gangsters," explained Potanin when we met upstairs. 
"The government is too weak to protect us, so we have to protect 
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ourselves. The most talented government employees, including those 

in the security services, have gone private. "35 

That Onexim Bank's clients included the producers of Russia's 

most sensitive exports-oil, diamonds, precious metals, and arma­

ments-confirmed its privileged status. Potanin never became en­

tangled in political intrigues, never publicly criticized anyone in the 

government. In contrast to Berezovsky, Potanin was discreet about his 

ambitions. "I never considered that banks have a decisive influence 

on the government or that government should be at the service of 

the banks," he told me.36 

But the loans-for-shares concept was precisely about the govern­

ment's being at the service of a few chosen banks. The other top 

Russian bankers eagerly signed on to Potanin's idea. As the most ar­

ticulate and presentable of the bankers, Potanin presented the loans­

for-shares idea to the Council of Ministers in March 1995; he was 

accompanied by Menatep's Mikhail Khodorkovsky and Stolichny 

Bank's Aleksandr Smolensky. Potanin did all the talking. Led by 

Anatoly Chubais and Prime Minister Chernomyrdin, the Council of 

Ministers agreed to the plan.37 

Immediately, Russia's leading bankers began to fight over the 

right to lend the government money in return for gaining control of 

prize equity stakes. Colonel Valery Streletsky, whose Department 

"P" of the Presidential Security Service was responsible for tracking 

government corruption, discovered how the victors of the loans-for­

shares auctions were selected. 

"They were chosen as a result of a multitude of meetings, in the 

course of several months during the summer and autumn of 1995, 

between half a dozen leading businessmen (Berezovsky, Smolensky, 

Khodorkovsky, Potanin, and so on) and government officials," he 

says. "They did not always meet all together. Sometimes they met in 

separate groups, talked things over, came to an agreement. If they 

failed to come to an agreement, they went their separate paths 

through friendly officials in the government apparatus. Then they 

would all meet together again.ln this way the spheres of influence were 

divided." As a result of the horse-trading that preceded the auctions, 
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several of Russia's leading commercial bankers were left out of the 

charmed circle: Vladimir Gusinsky (Most Bank), Vladimir Vino­

gradov (Inkom Bank), Pyotr Aven (Alfa Bank), Vitaly Malkin (Rossi­
isky Kredit Bank).38 

"A key factor at this stage in the privatization process was the at­

titude of Tatyana Dyachenko to this or that banker/oligarch," 

Streletsky recalls. "She would go to the president [Yeltsin] and say: 

This man is a good man and that man is a bad man; this man should 

be supported and that one should not be supported." Mostly, 

Colonel Streletsky says, Tanya advanced the interests of Berezovsky. 

She was good friends with Valentin Yumashev, the ghostwriter for 

Yeltsin's memoirs, Notes of a President. "They saw each other every day, 

constantly called each other on the phone and had a common group 

of friends," General Korzhakov recalls. It was Valentin Yumashev 

who introduced Berezovsky to Tanya Dyachenko.39 

The friendship between the car dealer and the president's 

daughter soon blossomed. Berezovsky, according to General Kor­

zhakov, lavished Dyachenko with presents of jewelry and automo­
biles. "The first major present that Tatyana Dyachenko received 

from Berezovsky in 1994 was a Niva [a Russian version of a Jeep]," 

Korzhakov says. "The vehicle was customized to include a special 

stereo system, air-conditioning system, alarm system, and luxury in­

terior. [This car would have had a market value of over $10,000 in the 

Russian market.] When the Niva broke down, Berezovsky immedi­

ately gave Tatyana Dyachenko a Chevrolet Blazer [a sport-utility ve­

hicle selling in Russia for about $50,000]. "40 

At that time, Tanya Dyachenko's husband, Leonid, was an oil 

trader who was working with the Omsk Refinery; he was particularly 

closely associated with Berezovsky's partner, Roman Abramovich.41 

Berezovsky had chosen his friends well. Gradually, as Yeltsin's 

old comrades disappeared-old warhorses who had been with the 
president in difficult times but now fell victim to corruption scandals 

and political intrigues-the president began relying more on his 

family. Tanya would soon become his most trusted political adviser. 

Indeed, she seemed to be his favorite daughter. The only memorable 
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part of the Notes of a President was a strange story of Yeltsin's offer­

ing baby Tanya his own breast to prevent her from crying on a train 

journey the two were taking together.42 

How could Yeltsin's daughter, who had no knowledge of busi­

ness or affairs of state, be permitted to have a say in the distribution 

of Russia's prize industrial assets? "Tatyana Dyachenko is the only 

person to whom the president listens, whom he boundlessly loves 

and whom he boundlessly trusts," Streletsky continued. "Perhaps 

the president personally did not arrange who won the loans-for­

shares auctions and who lost. That's where [Prime Minister] Cher­

nomyrdin came in-he carried out all the instructions of the 

president, guessed his wishes and was ready to do anything. This was 

all one chain [the businessmen-Tanya-Yeltsin-Chernomyrdin], 

and Tatyana Dyachenko was the connecting link. "43 

One of the first victors in the loans-for-shares auctions was an 

old business partner of Berezovsky's, Mikhail Khodorkovsky. Back in 

1992-93, when Berezovsky made his first foray into commodities 

trading-with several big export deals involving oil, timber, and alu­

minum-his banker on those deals reportedly was Khodorkovsky's 

Menatep Bank. In the summer of 1995, as the scheme for the loans­

for-shares auctions was being worked out, Menatep helped Logovaz 

pay off its debts to the automaker Avtovaz. During the auctions 

themselves, Menatep and Berezovsky's financial companies would 

provide each other with mutual guarantees to ensure each other's 

victory.44 

Mikhail Khodorkovsky's office was a Victorian castle in the 

middle of Moscow. The building was surrounded by a tall wrought­

iron fence, with sharp spikes. The grounds were swarming with se­

curity guards, some in well-tailored suits, others in black uniforms 

and boots. Passing cars were carefully scrutinized. 

"I personally do not own a single share in my company. I just 
have my salary and my car," Khodorkovsky said the first time we 

met. He was the boss of one of the largest business empires in the 
country and was one of the richest men in Russia. His holdings in­

cluded Menatep Bank, a dozen other banks, large quantities of 
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Moscow real estate, a steel mill, Russia's largest producers of tita­

nium and magnesium, as well as a slew of food-processing, fertilizer, 

textile and chemical companies.45 

Still, as he sat drinking coffee by a tiled stove in his office, a Us­

suri tiger skin at his feet, the thirty-one-year-old Khodorkovsky in­

sisted on a humble demeanor-he had the manner of an earnest 

graduate student. He had the classic career path of a Yeltsin-era 

business magnate. In 1987, as a top leader of Moscow's Communist 

Youth League, Khodorkovsky established a trading cooperative fi­

nanced with Communist Party money; the next year, he established 

a bank. In 1990-93, Khodorkovsky entered the Russian government, 

serving first as economic adviser to the Russian prime minister and 

then as deputy minister of fuel and energy. The Menatep Group, 

meanwhile, continued to grow. His trading company made big prof­

its in oil, grain, sugar, and metals. Menatep Bank grew rich off the 

accounts it handled for the city of Moscow and various federal gov­

ernment ministries.46 

Khodorkovsky was careful to obtain the right connections 

abroad, as well. Menatep's first deputy chairman was Konstantin Ka­

galovsky, who was married to Natasha Gurfinkel-Kagalovsky, the 

head of Russian operations for the Bank of New York. (Gurfinkel 

would resign her post in 1999, during the U.S. government's investi­

gation into money-laundering at the Bank of New York.) Khodor­

kovsky tried to make a name for Menatep in the West. In 1994 he 

spent $1 million on full-page ads in The Wall Street Journal and The 
New York Times. He hired Arthur Andersen to audit the books and 

issued ADRs through the Bank of New YorkY 

Some of Khodorkovsky's largest foreign trade deals, however, 

could hardly endear him to the United States. The Russian tycoon 

had worked closely with the fugitive American commodities trader 

Marc Rich. In the course of 1994-96, Menatep sold hundreds of mil­

lions of dollars' worth of oil to Cuba, in return for Cuban sugar. 

Khodorkovsky also helped establish an institution called the Euro­

pean Union Bank on the Caribbean island of Antigua, a notorious 

money-laundering haven.48 
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In the loans-for-shares auctions, Khodorkovsky was interested in 
Yukos, a recently formed holding company that was Russia's second­

largest oil company. Among Yukos's holdings was the producer 

Samaraneftegaz, whose exports were being handled by Berezovsky, 

and the Samara Refinery, which had been rocked by a series of assas­

sinations two years before. As one of the best-endowed oil companies 

in the world, Yukos was the single largest prize in the loans-for-shares 

auctions. A 45 percent stake was being auctioned. In early November 

1995, Menatep brazenly warned outside bidders to stay away. "There 

should be no two opinions about this," Konstantin Kagalovsky, first 

deputy chairman of Menatep, told the press, "We will get Yukos. "49 

A month later, on December 8, a consortium of Inkom Bank, 

Alfa Bank, and Rossiisky Kredit Bank offered $350 million for the 

Yukos stake-by far the highest bid. But the institution in charge of 

registering applications for the Yukos auction was none other than 

Menatep Bank. It rejected the consortium's bid, saying that part of the 

consortium's security deposit was in the form ofT-bills, not cash. A 

Menatep front company won the Yukos stake by paying just $9 mil­

lion over the starting price of $150 million.50 

Meanwhile, the originator of the loans-for-shares idea, Vladimir 

Potanin, had his eye on another prize: the metals giant Norilsk 

Nickel. This company was one of Russia's premier exporters and a 

major shareholder of Onexim Bank. Located just under the North 

Pole, Norilsk had been established in 1935 as a concentration 

camp-one of the worst Soviet gulags. The first directors of the No­

rilsk conglomerate were generals of the NKVD, Stalin's infamous se­

cret police. In the twenty years it was in operation, the Norilsk 

concentration camp cost the lives of more than 100,000 prisoners­

victims of starvation, sickness, exposure, and execution squads. 

Underneath this patch of Arctic tundra lay 35 percent of the 

world's known nickel reserves, 10 percent of its copper, 14 percent of 

its cobalt, 55 percent of its palladium, 20 percent of its platinum, as 

well as significant quantities of coal and silver. Norilsk Nickel mined 

what was probably the richest ore base in the world, with an excep­

tionally high metal content.51 
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Mter 1991, Norilsk managers took control, set up their own for­

eign trading companies, and began looting the company's foreign 

cash flow. Minority shareholders, like Onexim Bank and CS First 

Boston, were powerless to stop the theft. With the loans-for-shares 

auctions, Potanin got his chance: The government was selling its 

equity stake (38 percent of common shares; 51 percent of the voting 

shares).52 

In the Norilsk auction, on November 17, the highest bidder was 

a company called Kont, fronting for Rossiisky Kredit Bank and of­

fering $355 million for the Norilsk stake. Onexim Bank, in charge of 

registering applications for the auctions, disqualified the Rossiisky 

Kredit bid because of "insufficient financial guarantees." The victor 

was a subsidiary of Onexim Bank, which paid $170.1 million, just 

$100,000 over the starting price.53 

Several weeks later, Onexim Bank was also placed in charge of reg­

istering applications for the auction of a 51 percent stake in the oil 

giant Sidanco. Again, Rossiisky Kredit Bank made a bid, but was re­

jected by Onexim Bank, allegedly because Rossiisky Kredit had not 
paid the necessary deposit; Rossiisky Kredit claimed that its repre­

sentatives were not even let in the Onexim Bank building on the day 

of the auction. Onexim Bank's sister company, MFK, won the auction 

by paying just $5 million over the $125 million starting price.54 

By now, it was clear to the general public that the loans-for­

shares auctions were not normal free-market auctions, but rigged 

deals favoring a select group of businessmen. 

The Sibneft Auction 

Boris Berezovsky's loans-for-shares auction-for 51 percent of Sib­

neft-was the last of the series. Sibneft was a glittering prize. It was 

one of the largest private oil companies in the world, with hydrocar­

bon reserves equivalent to those of Amoco or Mobil, though its ac­

tual production was a third of these American giants. Having pushed 

through the incorporation of Sibneft in the summer of 1995, Bere­

zovsky was not about to let anyone else buy its shares.55 
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His vehicle for purchasing the Sibneft stake was a specially 
formed company called Neftyanaya Finansovaya Kompaniya (NFK). 
Berezovsky said he was merely a "consultant" to the NFK bid. In my 
interview with him less than a year later, he dropped this pretense 
and frankly admitted his ownership of NFK.56 

On December 28, 1995, the auction for Sibneft took place. The 
starting price was $100 million. There were two competitors: Inkom 
Bank, whose metals subsidiary, Sameko, offered $175 million for the 
stake, and Berezovsky's NFK, which offered $100.3 million. 

It had been decided months earlier that Berezovsky would win the 
auction, but how was the rival bid to be neutralized? State property 
chairman Alfred Kokh would later tell me what happened.57 

"The auction begins. Suddenly there is the sound of footsteps. The 
door opens. Some gentlemaa walks in and puts a fax down on the 
table of the committee. '1, Ivan lvanovich Ivanov (I don't remember 
his name), the director of the Sameko factory, am withdrawing my 
bid.' That was it. There was no competition. There remained only 
one real bidder and they won." 

What was so strange about that? 

"If I were of sound mind and memory," Kokh replied, "I wouldn't 
think of submitting an auction bid only to withdraw it tomorrow-all 
the more so if we are talking of $100 million or $200 million. The di­

rector of Sameko-Ovodenko, I think his name was-was the one 
who submitted the bid [and he was the one who withdrew it]. Some­

thing must have happened over the course of those several days so 
that, not giving a damn about his owner and boss [Inkom Bank], not 
giving a damn about the fact that he would look ridiculous and would 
be a laughingstock to the end of his days, he-" 

"You think he did this against the wishes of Inkom Bank?" I 
asked. 

"I am 100 percent sure of that. Absolutely." 
"Why did he do it?" 

"Probably he considered his life more important than his 
boss," Kokh answered, chuckling. "He was made an offer he couldn't 
refuse." 
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Still, the auction had to have at least two bids to be valid. Luck­

ily, a company called Tonus-a front for Menatep Bank, which was 

simultaneously providing the financial guarantees for Berezovsky's 

NFK-bid $100.1 million. NFK bid $100.3 million (just $300,000 

over the starting price) and won the auction.58 

Boris Berezovsky thus managed to buy control of Sibneft at an im­

plied market capitalization of less than $200 million. Two years later 

Sibneft was selling on the Russian stock exchange at a market capi­

talization of $5 billion. What had happened in those two years to jus­

tify the 2,400 percent appreciation? Sibneft remained the same 

operation it was before the loans-for-shares: a ramshackle, sloppy oil 

giant, producing the same amount of oil for the same customers. But 

once the company's shares began to trade on the free market, they 

traded at a price closer to their inherent value. 

In the following months, Inkom Bank's boss, Vladimir Vino­

gradov, protested to the press that the loans-for-shares auctions had 

been "fixed." Inkom Bank, though one of the largest commercial 

banks in Russia, had clearly been left out of the game. In the winter of 

1994-95, it was among the list of shareholders of Berezovsky's ORT 

(the ultimate insider's club) but was dropped at the last minute. It had 

been involved in the preparations for the loans-for-shares auctions 

but was subsequently eliminated from the list of designated winners. 

It tried to bid for Yukos but lost. It tried to bid for Sibneft but lost. 

As soon as it publicly protested the results of the Sibneft and 

Yukos auctions, Inkom Bank was subjected to official harassment. On 

January 15, the Central Bank began investigating the bank's solvency. 

Even though Inkom Bank was current on its payments, there was 

widespread press speculation that it was insolvent; it was even briefly 

taken under Central Bank administration. By the autumn of 1996, the 

bank finally agreed to stop fighting the loans-for-shares results; pri­

vately, Vladimir Vinogradov continued to claim that Berezovsky and 

Smolensky were behind the campaign to discredit his bank.59 

Berezovsky continued buying up the rest of Sibneft, putting in 

bids at a cash auction for 15 percent of the company and investment 

tenders for a further 34 percent. No outside investor would put 
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money into a company completely controlled by one of Russia's rob­

ber barons. 

When I interviewed him on the eve of the first investment tender 

(for 15 percent of Sibneft sold on September 19, 1996), Bere:wvsky 

seemed remarkably relaxed. When asked whether he thought there 

would be a foreign bidder for the 15 percent stake, he said it was un­

likely. The risks of doing business were too high for foreigners. "We 

control the process to a much greater degree than Western compa­

nies," he explained.60 

The combined sum Berezovsky and Abramovich promised to in­

vest in Sibneft in return for a 34 percent stake was $78 million, 

spread over three years. This sum was not even sufficient to keep the 

existing oil wells in good shape, let alone boost their productivity.61 

"Government Should Represent the Interests of Business" 

The prime architect of the loans-for-shares auctions, Anatoly 

Chubais, denied that they were rigged and that the government re­

ceived absurdly low sums. "You have to remember, this was an enor­

mous amount of money," he said, referring to the $309 million 

Menatep paid for 78 percent of Yukos.62 

But the Yeltsin government clearly was not motivated by the de­

sire to get the best possible price for the state's assets. One proof of 

this was the fact that no foreign bidders were allowed. "The compa­

nies were sold more cheaply than they would have been if foreign 

participation had been allowed," admitted Potanin. "I wanted to 

allow foreign participation, but my proposal was rejected in the 

government. "63 

How much would foreign strategic investors have been willing 

to pay for the stakes offered in the loans-for-shares auctions? One 

hint can be found in the sale of Lukoil shares in the autumn of 1995. 
In the loans-for-shares auctions, Lukoil bought a 5 percent stake in 

itself for $35 million. Only a few months earlier, the Los Angeles­

based oil company Arco had bought a 6 percent stake in Lukoil for 

$250 million. 
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Another clue suggesting that the loans-for-shares auctions were 

rigged was that each auction had at least two recognized bids, but in 

almost every case, the winner paid only a few million dollars more than 

the starting price. This price was artificial, bearing no relation to the 

companies' market value, as demonstrated in the table below. 

The Six Most Expensive Loans-for-Shares Auctions 

(in Million U.S. Dollars)64 

Auction 
price Market cap Market cap on 

(November- implied by the stock market 
Company %auctioned December 1995) auction price (August 1, 1997) 

Lukoil 5% 35 700 15,839 

Yukos 45% 159 353 6,214 

Surgut 40% 88 220 5,689 

Sidanco 51% 130 255 5,113 

Sibneft 51% 100 196 4,968 

Norilsk 51% (voting) 170 333 1,890 

Among these crown jewels of Russian industry, Norilsk Nickel seems 

to have sold for the most realistic price at the loans-for-shares auctions, 

although it still sold at one sixth of the price it would command on 

the open market less than two years later. The oil companies (the 

first five companies in the table) were the real steal, since their mar­

ket capitalization would rise between 18- and 26-fold within two 

years after the auctions. 

"Why did the state sell its property so cheaply? Because this was 

a corrupt clan selling to itself," asserts Colonel Streletsky, who would 

later write a best-selling book on the subject. "A certain portion of the 

government apparatus had linked up with ... Berezovsky and the 

other [businessmen]. These people knew the best ways to steal, but 

to steal they needed an alliance with the government apparatus. The 

government apparatus, meanwhile, needed money. So, this alliance was 

concluded. "65 

Berezovsky took a philosophical approach to the issue. "It is my 
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fundamental belief that, leaving aside the abstract conception of the 

interests of the people, government should represent the interests of 

business," he declared in a November 1995 interview with the news­

paper Kommersant. 66 

For the Russian state the loans-for-shares auctions were a di­

saster. At a stroke, the government lost a significant portion of its 

revenue-generating capacity. It was a mistake that would manifest it­

self less than three years later, when the state financial system would 

collapse. 

"We made a mistake in privatizing the profitable sectors, the sec­

tors on which the government could have survived," Foreign Trade 

Minister Oleg Davydov would later note. "They [the banks] merely 

grabbed the profits from the government, grabbed them from that 

part of the population who do not get their paychecks. The tragedy 

today is that if these were still state enterprises they would be profitable, 

they would be paying their taxes, they would be paying their workers, 

they would be investing in their capital base. The enterprises would 

have been alive. But these so-called owners arrived and what hap­

pened? There are no profits. There are no tax payments. The plant and 

equipment is getting worn out. And the money escapes abroad. "67 

One of the ironies of the loans-for-shares auctions was that the 

funds Berezovsky and the other oligarchs used to purchase their eq­

uity stakes came from the government itself. In the earlier stages of 

the Gaidar-Chubais experiment with capitalism, the Yeltsin govern­

ment had done everything it could to boost a handful of favored 

banks. These institutions were given loans by the Central Bank at 

negative real interest rates. They were given massive government 

funds to be kept on deposit at below market interest rates. They 

were allowed to seize the profits of Russia's trading establishment 

and avoid paying taxes on their windfalls. Finally, they were allowed 

to participate in the exclusive government bond (GKO) market, 

earning yields of 100 percent or more in dollar terms. Paying such 

enormous interest rates on its domestic debt, th~ Russian govern­

ment was steadily going bankrupt. But such well-connected banks as 

Onexim, Menatep, and Stolichny grew fat on these easy profits. 
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Some of the money went to buy luxury goods, some to buy industrial 

companies in the loans-for-shares auctions. 

The loans-for-shares auctions were merely another stage in the 

Yeltsin regime's strategy of sacrificing the interests of the nation in 

favor of a handful crony capitalists. 

The origins of this corrupt relationship went back to Berezovsky 

and his 1994 book deal with President Yeltsin. As the first major 

Russian businessman to enter the president's inner circle, Berezovsky 

had paved the way for the other oligarchs. Oleg Sysuyev, who would 

serve as Yeltsin's deputy prime minister, would later conclude: 

"Yeltsin made one serious mistake: He gave Big Business the oppor­

tunity to draw impermissibly close to him and to his entourage. 

Nowhere did the law say how close this relation had to be. It was 

purely dependent on what his [Yeltsin's] instinct told him about how 

close this relation should be. As a result, when everybody saw how 

close this relationship was and how it was evolving, they concluded 

that these were the rules of the game set by the head of state. "68 

The loans-for-shares auctions were simply the most public illus­

tration of those rules. The auctions may have advanced the Russian 

state one more step toward bankruptcy (the debt default of August 

1998), but from a Machiavellian point of view, they did have one im­

portant benefit for the Yeltsin regime: They locked the oligarchs into 

supporting Yeltsin for reelection. By arranging the auctions as a two­

stage process-in which the oligarchs loaned the government money 

in 1995 but were prohibited from obtaining full legal control of the 

industrial companies until after the 1996 presidential election­

Chubais and his colleagues ensured that the winners would do every­

thing they could to help Yeltsin's campaign for a second term. The oli­

garchs and the Yeltsin government were now partners in crime. 



CHAPTER EIGHT 

THE BLACK TREASURY 

OF THE YELTSIN CAMPAIGN 

Davos 

Every year in late January, rich and powerful people from around the 

world converge on Davos, the exclusive ski resort in Switzerland. 

The gathering is called the World Economic Forum. 

In early 1996, Boris Berezovsky arrived in Davos to discover that 

the forthcoming Russian presidential election was on everyone's 

mind. Boris Yeltsin was in trouble. Only six months remained be­

fore the elections, and the leading candidate, Communist Gennady 

Zyuganov, was far ahead in the polls. Surveys showed the sixty-five­

year-old Yeltsin's approval ratings hovering between 5 percent and 8 

percent. Among presidential hopefuls, he ranked fourth or fifth. In 

the parliamentary elections the previous December, Russian voters 

had decisively rejected his policies; the Communists and Vladimir 

Zhirinovsky's extreme nationalists had captured two thirds of the 

seats of the lower house. On the eve of the new year, Yeltsin had had 

a heart attack and had checked into the Barvikha Sanatorium.1 

The world business and political community seemed to have 
written off his chances for a second term. Meanwhile, Gennady 

Zyuganov impressed Westerners with his moderate attitudes-there 
would be no Bolshevik-style revolution when the Communists won, 

he told them. "I remember clearly how the business leaders of the 

212 
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West reacted to Zyuganov in Davos," Berezovsky said. "I remember 

the energy with which negotiations with Zyuganov were conducted, 

the concrete nature of the partnership arrangements that were pro­

posed. But we [the Russian oligarchs] had no such alternative-we 

couldn't negotiate partnership agreements with Zyuganov. "2 

The Russian delegation at Davos included such politicians as 

Anatoly Chubais and Yuri Luzhkov, and businessmen like Vladimir 

Gusinsky, Vladimir Vinogradov, and Mikhail Khodorkovsky. Bere­

zovsky knew that the top Russian businessmen must unite behind 

Yeltsin, despite their differences. His first step was to smooth relations 

with his archenemy, Vladimir Gusinsky. The two men met and 

agreed to set aside what Berezovsky termed their "fierce rivalry," and 

to form a united front against the Communists.3 

"I can't say that today there is love and friendship between Boris 

Abramovich and myself," Gusinsky told a Russian newspaper two 

months later. "It's just that at a certain point you understand that by 

continuing to fight, you harm not only your opponent but also your­

self. I don't have a chance of winning a fight with Berezovsky and he 

doesn't have a chance of winning against me. Therefore, we had to 

sit down and come to terms. "4 

Asked about the new unity of purpose that had emerged among 

Russia's oligarchs after Davos, Gusinsky replied: "I wouldn't talk 

about bankers' cooperation. Such things don't exist. Only a tempo­

rary alliance of interests is possible. A financial institution has neither 

friends nor enemies-only temporary allies and rivals. Time passes and 

everything changes. "5 

Uniting the Russian businessmen at Davos was not enough to as­

sure sufficient support for Yeltsin back home, however. Some oli­

garchs-Onexim Bank's Vladimir Potanin, among others-were 

not even in Davos. And, for all his powers of persuasion, Berezov­

sky could not convince powerful Russian industrialists such as 
Gazprom's Rem Vyakhirev or the top oilmen that he was the figure 

to unite them. He turned to Anatoly Chubais. As the architect of 

Russia's privatization, Chubais had given something to almost every 

member of the new elite. He was the right man to run Yeltsin's 
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campaign. He had always been a superb administrator-cold­

blooded, clearheaded, and decisive. His loyalty to the oligarchs was 

strong. He also had the West's support. Both the chiefs of the multi­

national corporations and Western government officials considered 
Chubais their champion in Russia. 

"[Chubais] at that time was essentially unemployed," Bere­

zovsky told the newspaper Kommersant. "I met Chubais face-to-face. 

I asked him to unite us. I'm talking about the financial elite. We all 

trusted him. We knew for certain that with each of us he had an ab­

solutely formal relationship as a government official. That was prob­

ably the main thing: We had no doubts about his propriety. "6 

After the loans-for-shares auctions were exposed as sales rigged 

for insiders only, President Yeltsin was forced to fire Chubais as first 

deputy prime minister in mid-January. But the oligarchs responded by 

lavishly financing the recently established nonprofit organization 

that Chubais took over after he was dismissed from government. 

Stolichny Bank, controlled jointly by Berezovsky and Aleksandr 

Smolensky, gave this charitable organization an interest-free loan of 

$3 million. The money was invested in Russian T-bills, which had 

an annualized dollar yield of 100 percent at the time. Later, the 

prosecutor-general's office would open an investigation into the mis­

appropriation of funds at Chubais's charity. (After nine months, the 

investigation was dropped.) In any case, though he would work in 

the private sector for only half a year in 1996, he declared a taxable 

income of $300,000 from "lectures" and "consultations."7 

For Russia's new business elite, Chubais was the rainmaker-he 

was the man who had allowed them to become fabulously rich. Bere­

zovsky, however, retained a remarkably scornful attitude toward the 

architect of Russian capitalism. "Chubais is good at executing the or­

ders given him by his master," Berezovsky would later recall. "At 

that time [early 1996], he was hired by those who later became 

known as 'the seven bankers' [Berezovsky, Potanin, and the other 

oligarchs]. That's a fact. He was a hired hand with very good wages. 

And he earned his pay well by performing the tasks set by these in-
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dividuals. The task was simple: We had to win the presidential 

election. "8 

Berezovsky and his accomplices returned to Moscow and began 

to take control of the election campaign. General Korzhakov claims 

he was astounded by the new strategy and specifically by the new al­

liance between Berezovsky and Gusinsky. "When [Berezovsky] re­

turned to Moscow, he came to me in the Kremlin and told me that it 

wasn't necessary to kill anybody and that it was better for everybody 

to be friends," Korzhakov recalls. "I was surprised. 'How can you 

ask to kill people one day and be friends with them the next?"'9 

Another powerful oligarch, Vladimir Potanin, was brought into 

the Berezovsky-Gusinsky-Chubais clan. Among government offi­

cials, Berezovsky's trusty ally, the presidential ghostwriter Valentin 

Yumashev, and an old Yeltsin crony named Viktor ilyushin, were en­

listed in the cause. Now only President Yeltsin had to be convinced. 

"We Will Not Give Up Power" 

On February 15, Yeltsin traveled to his hometown, the industrial city 

of Sverdlovsk, to announce that he would run for reelection. It was a 

cold day and he still looked weak from his recent heart attack. His 

voice was hoarse and sickly, apparently from the flu. Seemingly there 

was little chance of a Y eltsin electoral victory. Russians were sick of 

the corruption, incompetence, and poverty. Though often at his best 

in the role of underdog, Yeltsin would need an astounding comeback 

to win the June elections. 

The campaign was officially in the hands of one of the good old 

boys of the Yeltsin administration: First Deputy Prime Minister Oleg 

Soskovets, a former industrial manager and a stout drinking buddy of 

the president's. Soskovets was part of the so-called conservative fac­

tion within the Yeltsin court, which included most of the heads of the 

"power" ministries: Grachev of the Ministry of Defense, Barsukov of 

the FSB-KGB, and Korzhakov of the SBP. This same group had 

arranged the disastrous invasion of Chechnya a year earlier. 
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An old-fashioned industrial manager by trammg, Soskovets 

could speak the language of the provincial Communist bosses who still 

ran most of the country in Yeltsin's name. He wielded his authority 

in the ham-fisted manner typical of Communist Party bosses. A.!atoly 

Chubais would later remember how, in the early years of the Yeltsin 

regime, when the government was preoccupied with destroying the 

remaining power of the Communists, Soskovets would often pigeon­

hole some official giving a report to the Cabinet of Ministers: 

"Are you a supporter of the market economy?" 

"Yes." 

"Okay, then you may continue your report." 10 

Soskovets's campaign strategy was equally primitive, relying pri­

marily on naked authority. The general attitude toward the elections 

was illustrated by his friend and ally, General Korzhakov. In April 

1996 Korzhakov met privately with Viktor Chernomyrdin to urge 

the prime minister to begin exerting his influence among provincial 

political bosses. "The governors listen to you," Korzhakov told him. 

"They know that they are appointed through you, that they are fired 

through you and they fear you. You can simply tell them: 'Sixty per­

cent of the votes have to be for Yeltsin.' And they will do it.'' 11 

That kind of strategy may have worked in the end, but it was not 

producing results in the early months of 1996. Korzhakov soon put 

on an even more brutal face. According to his own account, he was 

transmitting the following message to the Communists: "Watch out, 

lads, don't mess around. We will not give up power." 12 

It appeared that, to keep Yeltsin in power, the elections would 

have to be canceled. 

The Gathering at Logovaz House 

In mid-April, thirteen of Russia's top businessmen gathered at Logo­

vaz House, Berezovsky's opulent mansion in central Moscow, to dis­

cuss the elections. The Group of 13, as they were called, included 

the heads of Russia's largest oil companies, biggest independent TV 

network, largest auto plant, top aerospace firm, and most of the 
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largest banks. They drafted a petition to Russia's warring political 

parties, which was printed on April27 in the top newspapers of the 

country. 

"Society is divided," the letter began. "This schism is growing 

catastrophically with every day. And the fault line dividing us into 

reds and whites, into us and them, passes through the heart of Rus­

sia .... Ultimately victory will go not to the beliefs of one side or an­

other, but to the spirit of bloodshed and violence. The mutual hatred 

of the political parties is so great that they can only take power using 

the means that lead to civil war and the disintegration of Russia." 

The Group of 13 went on to propose their solution: "In this re­

sponsible hour, we, the entrepreneurs of Russia, make the following 

offer to the intellectuals, military men, representatives of the execu­

tive and legislative branches of government, members of the law­

enforcement agencies, the mass media, and generally all those who 

have real power today and upon whom the fate of Russia depends: 

Combine forces to find a political compromise .... Russian politicians 

must be encouraged to make serious reciprocal compromises, to 

come to a strategic political agreement, which can be sealed by law." 

The letter concluded with a threat: "Russian businessmen possess 

the necessary resources and will to influence both those politicians who 

are too unprincipled and those who are too uncompromising." 13 

The letter was interpreted by the Russian and Western media as 

a call to suspend the constitution and for the political parties to 

come to a mutually profitable arrangement among themselves. Per­

haps the most extraordinary thing about the letter was how it intro­

duced a group of top businessmen as the kingmakers of Russia. The 

tone of the letter was peremptory, its message a brazen call for the 

nation's politicians to toe the line. Subsequently, Berezovsky was 

quick to attribute the anticonstitutional aspects of the letter to the 

conservatives in the Yeltsin court: "That whole group-Korzhakov, 

Soskovets, Barsukov-was putting enormous pressure on the presi­

dent to essentially cancel the elections," Berezovsky would tell a Rus­

sian reporter a year later. "And the path they chose was the worst 

and most dangerous. They were discussing banning the Communist 
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Party, dissolving the Duma and postponing the elections for two 

years .... "14 

The Group of 13's appeal for a "compromise" between Yeltsin 

and the Communists was not entirely genuine. The appeal seemed to 

be a fallback plan-a warning to the Communists that the business­

men would not permit a return to a state-run economy if Zyuganov 

won the election. In fact, for several months before the publication 

of their letter, Berezovsky and his business colleagues had been gath­

ering repeatedly at Logovaz House to formulate a strategy for a 

Y eltsin election victory. 15 

Two weeks after the letter appeared, Zyuganov decided to re­

spond to the businessmen's appeal. He proposed a television debate 

with Yeltsin-a "discussion" of the problems facing Russia and the 

means for dealing with them. Yeltsin immediately rejected the offer, 

fearing a spontaneous debate on Russia's decline. 16 

Boris Berezovsky, meanwhile, was busy coordinating the financ­

ing of Yeltsin's campaign. "It is no secret that Russian businessmen 

played the decisive role in President Yeltsin's victory," he would tell 

me later. "It was a battle for our blood interests." 17 

Tanya 

Bolstered by the support of his new allies, Yeltsin decided against 

postponing the elections. Berezovsky and the other oligarchs told 

the president he could win in June. Yeltsin then formed a new elec­

tion staff, headed by himself, with Chernomyrdin and ilyushin as 

deputies. Within this new organization, Chubais headed up the "an­

alytical group" (the common Russian euphemism for a private intel­

ligence operation), but he was effectively the new chief of the 

campaign. "In this way, we gained control of the whole intellectual 

angle of presidential elections," Berezovsky observed. "And the pres­

ident received a new channel of information, which is exactly what we 

were trying to do." 18 

Chubais soon took matters in hand. His headquarters were ini­

tially in the Moscow city administration building, several floors 
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above the headquarters of the Most Group. "Very convenient," 

noted Korzhakov. "At his elbow is Philipp Bobkov with his profes­

sional intelligence officers and all the exclusive information of the 

Most security service." The placement of Chubais's headquarters 

next to the Most Group demonstrated how quickly the political 

landscape had changed-for only a year had passed since General 

Korzhakov's men had attacked the Most Group-"Faces in the 

snow! "-at the instigation of Berezovsky and President Yeltsin.19 

Soon, Chubais's staff was transferred to the President Hotel. 

This heavily guarded building was closed to outsiders. It was run by 

the Kremlin property manager, Pavel Borodin (the focus of the 1999 

bribery and money-laundering investigation by Swiss prosecutors), 

and served as an all-purpose repository for businessmen and officials 

supporting the Yeltsin campaign. 

A key figure in the newly created campaign team was Yeltsin's 

thirty-six-year-old daughter, Tanya Dyachenko. "It was Yumashev's 

idea," Berezovsky remembered. "He called me at six in the morning 

and said: 'I have a completely ingenious idea.' He pronounced only 

one name: 'Tanya.' In my sleepy condition, I did not completely un­

derstand: 'What about Tanya?' He answers: 'Tanya has to work with 

us in the analytical group.' ... I didn't understand it fully at the time, 

but it was indeed an ingenious idea. It opened a direct channel of 

communication to the president. With so little time left [before the 

elections], it was necessary to make decisions with lightning speed. 

And these were decisions that could be taken by no one else besides 

the president. Therefore, there had to be speed of action and trust to­

ward this channel of communication. "20 

Berezovsky, Yumashev, and Chubais all agreed that Tanya would 

be a critical addition to their cause. But how would they approach her? 

And how would they explain her presence to the Russian political es­

tablishment? Korzhakov says that the trio portrayed Tanya's role as 

similar to that played by French president Jacques Chirac's daughter, 

Claude, in softening her father's image in the 1995 presidential elec­

tion in France. In fact, Tanya would serve as much more than a 

public-relations adviser-she would be one of the key figures of the 
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campaign. Around her everything would revolve and the careers of 

long-standing Yeltsin aides would rise and fall. 21 

Speaking about the 1996 campaign, Berezovsky gave Tanya 
credit for her services in the oligarchs' cause. "It is impossible Lo sus­

pect that Tatyana Dyachenko had any aims apart from those that we 

[the oligarchs] all had," he told a Russian interviewer.22 

Apart from being a frequent visitor at Berezovsky's mansion, 

Tanya appeared often at the other headquarters of the Yeltsin cam­
paign (the official one)-the President Hotel. This was Chubais's 

territory. Tanya's presence in the Berezovsky-Chubais group ensured 

the demise of the Soskovets-Korzhakov campaign staff. Berezovsky 

would later recall how the "conservatives" reacted to the new devel­

opment: "At first, they didn't understand fully what was going on, 

since the whole political balance of forces around the president had 

changed fairly radically. "23 

"In the campaign staff Tanya held the post of independent ob­

server," Korzhakov would recall. "In fact ... everybody knew that 

Yeltsin's daughter was completely dependent on the opinion of Bere­

zovsky and Chubais. "24 

"An Insignificant Sum" 

Berezovsky and his colleagues did whatever was necessary to ensure 

Yeltsin's victory. Government officials were not allowed to participate 

in the election campaign, yet virtually the entire government appara­

tus, especially the provincial political bosses, was mobilized. State­

owned TV networks, such as Berezovsky's ORT, were supposed to 

remain impartial, yet they broadcast a continual stream of news pro­

grams, documentaries, and advertisements lionizing Yeltsin and at­

tacking his opponents. By law, Party campaign spending could not 

exceed $3 million, yet the SBP estimated the total spent by the Yeltsin 

campaign at "easily over $1 billion," whereas the Washington-based 

think tank Center for Strategic and International Studies estimated it 

at $2 billion.25 

"The money was spent on local political bosses and on bribing 
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people," recalls Colonel Streletsky, head of the anticorruption de­

partment of the SBP. "It was spent on various fictitious parties, like 

the party of Ivan Rybkin [a moderately left-wing party], for instance, 

and a mass of various social movements, such as the Cossacks. 'Our 

Home Is Russia' [Prime Minister Chernomyrdin's party] also re­

ceived money from this fund. Campaign headquarters were set up 

everywhere .... "26 

Later I asked Chubais how much the Yeltsin campaign had 

spent. "I have no idea," he responded. "But the officially registered 

election fund [$3 million]-that is an insignificant sum."27 

"The Yeltsin campaign was financed mostly by secret contribu­

tions from Russian banks and financial-industrial groups, as well as in­

dividual businessmen," says Korzhakov. "The campaign created a 

slush fund into which this money was dumped; no one accounted for 

it. Berezovsky immediately became one of the main money managers 

of this slush fund. "28 

Much of the money went to pay for flattering documentaries of 

Yeltsin on private TV stations, billboards put up by local mayors, 

pro-Yeltsin rock concerts organized by the entertainment industry, 

leaflets and posters printed by private publishing houses. To a large 

extent, the flow of contributions to the campaign was recorded and 

controlled by campaign headquarters. The system became known as 

the "black treasury." 

"This whole scheme was coordinated in the shadow headquarters 

of the election campaign, at Logovaz House," says Colonel Streletsky. 

"It was thought up by the same people who had thought up the 

loans-for-shares auctions. In the beginning of 1996, they met many 

times at Logovaz House: Berezovsky, Tatyana Dyachenko, Chubais, 

and others. At these meetings, Tatyana Dyachenko represented the in­

terests of her father, Berezovsky represented the interests of the busi­

nessmen, while Chubais was the manager of the campaign itself. "29 

Although many commercial banks handled these funds, Alek­
sandr Smolensky of Stolichny Bank (in which Berezovsky would 

later be reported to hold a 25 percent stake) sat at the head of the 

table.30 
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"Among the bankers, Smolensky had the role of administrator," ex­

plains Colonel Streletsky. "Berezovsky, meanwhile, was the liaison with 

the government authorities. He was the closest to the government au­

thorities and essentially performed the role of connecting link between 

the Kremlin and business. If there was a question that needed to be 

decided with the authorities-any economic question that was of in­

terest to this group of oligarchs-Berezovsky decided it. If Smolen­

sky was the hands, then Berezovsky was the head of the organism. "31 

Berezovsky was eager to portray himself as the chief architect of 

the Yeltsin campaign. He bragged publicly about his preeminence 

and continually denigrated the role of the only other individual who 

could claim the title: Anatoly Chubais. "Not a single idea during this 

campaign came from Chubais," he would later tell Kommersant. "He 

is not an originator of ideas, but a brilliant analyst and executive. 

Very often he would be opposed to our proposals, but then he would 

adopt them as his own. In any case, he executed our proposals and 

in a very capable manner. "32 

The scheme Berezovsky developed to finance the campaign was 

ingenious: Rather than rely on voluntary private donations, the cam­

paign would simply recycle government funds. At a time when 

schoolteachers, doctors, soldiers, and workers were going for months 

without pay, and millions of old people were without pension checks, 

the Yeltsin team decided to throw billions of dollars at the presi­

dent's reelection campaign. Since it was clearly illegal for Yeltsin to use 

budgetary funds to finance his election campaign, these funds had to 

be laundered through the big industrial empires of Berezovsky and a 

handful of other oligarchs. "The funds in the black treasury were not 

only illegal according to the rules of the election campaign; they were 

also the proceeds of black-market or illegal operations," Colonel 

Streletsky observed. It would be the businessmen who would donate 

the hundreds of millions of dollars to the black treasury. In return 

they would receive many times the sum of their contributions in the 

form of government subsidies.33 

"The method of 'recruiting' the businessmen [by the Yeltsin cam-
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paign] had been thought up in advance," notes Colonel Streletsky. "It 
underpinned the privatization process. A small group of businessmen 
was given everything, the whole government pie .... The businessmen, 
including Berezovsky, who won the 1995loans-for-shares auctions had 
been allowed to win, with the understanding that ... the government of­
ficials were doing them a favor, were allowing them to loot, but on one 
condition-that the time would come when the businessmen would be 
expected to donate large sums of money to the election campaign. "34 

During the loans-for-shares auctions, state equity stakes worth 
$14 billion on the stock market in July 1997 were sold to the oli­
garchs for less than $1 billion. This was not the only way in which the 
Yeltsin government paid for the support of Berezovsky and his col­
leagues. The businessmen were promised additional privatization 
windfalls (also worth billions of dollars) after Yeltsin's reelection. Fi­
nally, according to General Korzhakov and Colonel Streletsky, Bere­
zovsky and the other oligarchs received the opportunity to skim the 
campaign treasury.35 

Thousands of different companies contributed to the Yeltsin cam­
paign, Streletsky recalls. Virtually any company that was dependent on 
the Yeltsin government's goodwill could be convinced to give money 
for the reelection. "All these funds were thrown into a communal pot, 
a communal treasury, and then, from this communal treasury these 
funds were distributed," he says. "The money came from a broad 

range of enterprises and structures, but only a narrow group of people, 
including Berezovsky, had access to this communal treasury. This nar­
row group of people left part of the money for the election campaign 
and took part of the money for themselves .... Before the money [for 
the campaign] got to its final destination, it passed through a chain of 
middlemen, each of whom kept a certain portion for himself." 

The mass embezzlement was an open secret among the members 
ofYeltsin's entourage. On the evening of April16, General Korzhakov 
and Prime Minister Chernomyrdin were drinking in the Presidential 
Club. It was a rare opportunity for the two men to compare notes on 
the progress of the campaign. Korzhakov taped the conversation.36 
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CHERNOMYRDIN: We are currently working out the financial side 

of the campaign .... They brought me the plans and I warned them: 

We're going to check everything, all the documents, analyze every­

thing. There are huge sums coming in. These people are so u.ltrust­

worthy that it's better to give the scoundrels an earful from the very 

beginning. 

KORZHAKOV: Of course. Remember how they grew rich off your 

parliamentary campaign for Our Home Is Russia? I got the reports. 

By coincidence, I had a fellow sitting in the Olbi Club, where they 

were all partying. He told me: "I found myself in a sewage drainpipe. 

They got drunk and the conversation turned to how to divide up the 

cash, how to collect it, how to distribute it and to whom. Not one word 

about the elections." 

CHERNOMYRDIN: Scum. Now even Smolensky has gotten wor­

ried .... He doesn't know where the money is going. I want to talk 

this over with Mikhail Ivanovich [Barsukov-the chief of the FSB­

KGB]. 

KORZHAKOV: The fellows over there [in the campaign headquar­

ters] have sticky palms. Chubais decides what the program is and 

who's in charge. The money is doled out accordingly. 

CHERNOMYRDIN: We're talking four million, five, seven, fifteen ... 

KORZHAKOV: Yeah. 

CHERNOMYRDIN: Big sums. You can earn 200 million and in hard 

currency. 

KORZHAKOV: There is a lot to steal. 
CHERNOMYRDIN: They're going to steal it anyway. The question is 

how much. 

"It Made a Mishmash of Their Brains" 

If the Yeltsin campaign was hopelessly corrupt, the Communist can­

didate, Gennady Zyuganov, was hopelessly dull. Moreover, it was 

doubtful whether the Communist Party really wanted the presi­

dency. They seemed comfortable in their role as the opposition 

party. General Aleksandr Lebed, one of the candidates in the election 
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and later Yeltsin's national security adviser, states that since 1993-94, 
the leaders of the Communist Party had been secretly receiving 
funds from the government. The Communist leaders, in other 
words, were less independent than their followers believed.37 

Still, it should have been relatively easy for the Communists to 
win over the election. Russia was collapsing and the Yeltsin gov­
ernment was clearly responsible. The Communists also had a su­

perb grass-roots organization; their corps of 500,000 activists 
covered the farthest reaches of the country. These loyal supporters 
were well suited for running an old-fashioned campaign: door-to­
door solicitations, activists handing out leaflets on the street, mass ral­
lies. But the Communists still had trouble getting their message 
across. They were desperately short of money and they did not have 
TV coverage. 

The lack of a television presence was the fatal flaw of the Com­
munist campaign. Most people in Russia received their news almost 
exclusively through TV. The networks-both private and public­
united around Yeltsin. They unleashed an impressive advertising 
blitz. The president was on the news every night, visiting pensioners 
in the Arctic Circle, promising large funds for neglected communities, 
joking with collective-farm workers, shaking hands with the mayor of 
some forgotten industrial city. "Mr. Yeltsin totally controls the media," 
noted Congressman Lee Hamilton of Indiana during the April 1996 
congressional hearing on Russian organized crime. "The other guy 
[Zyuganov] cannot even get on television. "38 

Most of Russia's mass media depended on government subsi­
dies. Newspapers depended on cheap rates at government-owned 
printing presses; TV stations depended on low rates from the gov­
ernment broadcasting service. The biggest consumer of government 
largesse-Boris Berezovsky's half-state, half-private ORT television 
network-received more than $200 million a year in government 
subsidies. The fact that most of Russia's media operations needed 
government funds to survive clearly gave the government enormous 
leverage in negotiating content. The most effective weapon was 
bribery.39 
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Midway through the campaign, American journalists began un­

covering evidence that Yeltsin's team was bribing cash-strapped 

journalists and their bosses to run flattering pieces about the presi­

dent. Payments ranged from $100 paid to a provincial repotcer for 

a single positive article to millions of dollars paid to the owners of 

the largest Russian newspapers.40 

Colonel Streletsky, investigating the hidden money flows of the 

Yeltsin campaign, found that the largest payments went to the TV 

bosses. Among the campaign documents seized by the SBP, Strelet­

sky says, was a budget entry for the first half of 1996 specifying 

$169 million payable to Berezovsky's ORT. Streletsky says that the 

money had, in fact, been transferred, but only $30 million ever ar­

rived at ORTY 

The birth of the free pr~ss in Russia had been one of the coun­

try's few encouraging developments over the past decade. But there 

was a relapse in the 1996 presidential campaign. Berezovsky went so 

far as to admit that he "didn't believe in freedom of the press the way 

idealists would like to imagine this notion. "42 

Sergei Parkhomenko, editor of the Newsweek-style magazine 

Itogi, even declared to a Los Angeles Times reporter that he was will­

ing to subordinate his journalistic ethics to prevent a Communist vic­

tory. "This is not a game with equal stakes," he said. "That is why I 

am willing to be unfair. That is why I am willing to stir up a wild anti­

Communist psychosis among the people. "43 

The TV networks produced a number of documentaries about 

Boris Yeltsin, focusing on the early years, the good years. One docu­

mentary featured his wife, a cozy grandmother, in her home, talking 

about how happy she was with her husband. Perhaps most important 
was that the president almost always led the nightly news. There 

were some significant news events (the cease-fire in Chechnya, Bill 

Clinton's visit to Moscow, the Russia-Belarus customs agreement), 

but on slow evenings Yeltsin was shown working in the Kremlin or 

visiting workers in the provinces. Zyuganov, on the other hand, was 

rarely seen or heard. Toward the end of the campaign, after Yeltsin 

became ill, the Communists began focusing on whether Russians 
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should elect a seriously debilitated president. They tried to buy ad­

vertising time on state-controlled TV, but were refused.44 

While the Communists were handicapped by their weak public­

relations strategy, the Yeltsin camp received the help of the best for­

eign campaign specialists. One of the first such image-makers was 

Tim Bell, the advertising genius behind Saatchi and Saatchi and Mar­

garet Thatcher's election in 1979. The Yeltsin team also recruited the 

campaign managers responsible for California governor Pete Wilson's 

impressive come-from-behind election victory in 1994. The American 

campaign managers were installed in Yeltsin's campaign headquarters 

in the President Hotel. They were under strict instructions to keep a 

low profile and to venture from the hotel as little as possible. The Cal­

ifornia team was based in suite 1120 of the President Hotel; across the 

hall, in Room 1119, was Tanya Dyachenko. The professional relation­

ship, American political strategist George Gorton bragged to Time 
magazine, was unusually dose: Tanya and the Americans shared the 

same secretary and the same fax machines. She became a key link be­

tween the Americans and the Russian president. "The American con­

sultants were treated like foreign royalty," grumbles Korzhakov. 

"After every routine staff meeting, Tanya immediately ran to them to 

discuss the new information."45 

The Americans suggested such dirty tricks as trailing Zyuganov 

with "truth squads," which would heckle him and cause him to lose 

his temper. They also reinforced the more basic lessons of modern 

political campaigning: daily memos identifying the tasks at hand, 

the points to be hit, the images to be transmitted. They did simple 

things, such as replace a poster of a scowling Yeltsin with a smiling 

Yeltsin. Photograph sessions and TV appearances were strictly cho­

reographed to seem spontaneous. A running series of public-opinion 

polls and focus-group sessions delved into the instinctive reactions of 

the Russian electorate and shifted the Yeltsin campaign accordingly:~6 

Yeltsin was sent on a grueling cross-country campaign-some­

thing that had never been done in Russia before. The Russian presi­

dent put on a miner's hat and descended into the coal pits. He 

visited soldiers at distant army bases. He accepted the traditional 
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peasant gesture of hospitality of bread and salt at obscure rural set­

tlements. At a Moscow rock concert organized by Sergei Lisovsky, 

Boris Yeltsin was even inspired to get on stage and shake his belly to 

the tunes. Russians had never been subjected to a direct-mail campaign 

like the millions of letters bearing Yeltsin's signature sent to World War 

II veterans thanking them for their service (many of the recipients 

apparently thought that the letters had actually been signed by 

Yeltsin).47 

But perhaps the most sophisticated propaganda was produced 

by American-trained Russian advertising men. A company called 

Video International had been signed up to produce Yeltsin's official 

campaign ads-fifteen different advertising spots. The strategy was 

a soft sell. With Yeltsin dominating the nightly news, it was not 

necessary to show him in the campaign spots. Instead, these were 

one-minute biographies of sports stars and factory workers, grand­

mothers and former ministers, farmers and schoolteachers, soldiers 

and artists. Accompanied by sentimental music, these people de­

scribed their struggles, their hard times, their hopes and values; the 

spots would end with Yeltsin's signature: "I believe. I love. I hope. 

B. N. Yeltsin." 

As Washington Post reporters Lee Hockstader and David Hoff­

man noted, "most of the subjects in the ads were closer to the profile 

of Communist supporters, but all said they were voting for Yeltsin." 

Most Russians had never seen this kind of sophisticated media ma­

nipulation. "It made a mishmash of their brains," noted Alexei 

Levinson of the All-Russian Center for Research in Public Opinion.48 

Coins to the People 

Yeltsin proved a good candidate. He listened to his public-relations 

advisers when they told him to use a teleprompter, to wear better 

suits, to smile more. He knew he had to show more vigor and manli­

ness. He also responded to the campaign with a characteristically 
whimsical show of largesse. He would arrive in some impoverished 
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industrial town and promise everybody back wages; he even prom­
ised one woman in the crowd a new car (it was delivered). Yeltsin 
was a czar, throwing silver coins to the people. More seriously, he 
even created a special "President's Fund" to pay Russia's back wages 
and pensions. 

All this generosity was inflationary. Since the Russian economy 
was still shrinking, the money Yeltsin promised had to come from for­
eign currency reserves and foreign bank loans. 

Fortunately, that spring the IMF granted Russia its largest credit 
ever-$10.2 billion over three years. The credit quickly disappeared. 
Despite the cash infusion, the Russian treasury's foreign currency re­
serves declined from $20 billion to $12.5 billion in the first half of 1996. 
The Russian government, in other words, spent at least $9 billion in 
foreign currency during the first half of 1996. Some of the money 
went to the Yeltsin campaign, some to well-connected businessmen 
and government officials, some to pay ordinary Russians their long­
overdue paychecks.49 

Combining sophisticated Western electoral techniques with 
crude pressure applied by loyal political bosses, the Yeltsin election 
campaign gathered steam. The president began to exhibit vitality at 
the office. Suddenly he was achieving notable victories in affairs of 
state, such as the assassination of the leader of the Chechen rebels, 
President J okhar Dudayev. This operation was carried out in spec­
tacular fashion. The Chechen president was killed in the field when 
a guided bomb homed in on the signal of his satellite telephone. Du­
dayev's death was a windfall for the Yeltsin campaign. A cease-fire 
with the Chechen rebels materialized two months later. Russians 
silently breathed a sigh of relief.50 

Yeltsin's statesmanship received another boost on April2, when 
he signed a union agreement with the neighboring republic of Be­
lams-an astute response to Russians' long-standing desire for the 
reunification of the Slavic lands of the former Soviet Union. (In fact, 
it was an inconsequential agreement, since it did not bring the two re­
publics closer in any significant way.) In mid-April, Bill Clinton arrived 
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in Moscow and indulged Yeltsin's chest-heating about Russia's great­

power status-another popular stance for the Russian public. 

The National Sports Fund 

As the Yeltsin campaign was gaining the upper hand over the Com­

munists, a power struggle broke out within the Yeltsin court. Boris 

Berezovsky had turned on his erstwhile patron, General Korzhakov. 

In his interviews and writings, Korzhakov does not specify when the 

quarrel began. As late as the summer of 1995 everything had been fine 

between the two men. Korzhakov had helped Berezovsky grab con­

trol of Aeroflot and establish the oil holding company Sibneft. But that 

autumn, when the loans-for-shares auctions took place, Korzhakov 

was missing. That absence from the kitchen when the state industrial 

pie was divided up was especially apparent in the failure of Inkom 

Bank (particularly close to Korzhakov) to win any loans-for-shares 

auctions; twice Inkom Bank attempted to enter auctions for Russia's 

big oil companies and twice it was unceremoniously rejected. More­

over, Korzhakov was no longer indispensable to Berezovsky as an in­

timate channel to President Yeltsin, since the tycoon now had Tanya 

Dyachenko and Valentin Yumashev. Finally, if Korzhakov's claim is 

true that Berezovsky asked him to kill Gusinsky, the security chief's 

refusal to carry out this request would have revealed him to be less 

than an ideal asset in the violent Russian underworld. In any case, by 

the end of 1995, Berezovsky had grown powerful enough to do with­

out Korzhakov's protection. 

"The entourage of the president found that Korzhakov was a big 

nuisance for them," says Colonel Streletsky. "Korzhakov wouldn't let 

[the businessmen] close to Yeltsin, wouldn't let them approach 

Y eltsin to advance their own mercenary interests. And the aides to the 

president were always worried that Korzhakov was keeping an eye on 

them and not letting them loot peacefully. They decided that Kor­

zhakov had to be removed. "51 

Berezovsky moved fast. In early April he arranged to have Tanya 

Dyachenko initiated into some of the seamier undersides of power pol-
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itics in the Kremlin: He uncovered for her the secrets of the National 

Sports Fund (NSF). The NSF had been founded in 1992 by Yeltsin's 

tennis coach, Shamil Tarpishchev. Tarpishchev exuded the same 

openhearted camaraderie that made Korzhakov so endearing. He 
was tall, with an easy smile, and his rambling gait showed off his 

native physical agility. Yeltsin gave Tarpishchev everything he 

wanted. Like the analogous foundation created by the late gangster­

philanthropist Otarik, the NSF was supposed to collect money for 

the ruined Russian athletics apparatus. 

When Tarpishchev was appointed minister of sports and athlet­

ics in 1993, he withdrew from daily management of the NSF. The 

new president of the foundation was a thirty-three-year-old athlete­

turned-businessman named Boris Fyodorov. The NSF was a fantas­

tically lucrative racket. It was allowed to import liquor and cigarettes 

duty-free and avoided paying most of the taxes due on its profits. Ac­

cording to Colond Streletsky's later investigation, the NSF racked 

up $1.8 billion in profits within two years.52 "This money was 

looted," says Strdetsky. "Only trivial sums actually went to support 

sports. Fyodorov and his friends accumulated huge fortunes at the ex­

pense of the state budget." 

In late 1994, Berezovsky chose Fyodorov as one of the founding 

shareholders of his TV network, ORT. Fyodorov also won the trust 

of another scandal-prone entrepreneur, Oleg Boiko-the man who si­

multaneously bankrolled the "young reformer" Yegor Gaidar and 

engaged in numerous shady business deals. Boiko, an associate of 

Berezovsky's, was an investor in the notorious Cherry Casino, and at 

least one top Boiko executive was seriously wounded in a gangland­

style assassination attempt. In mid-1995, when Boiko's Natsionalny 

Kredit Bank crashed, leaving hundreds of millions of dollars in debts 

to the state-owned savings bank, Fyodorov was appointed president 

of both the bankrupt bank and Oleg Boiko's holding company, Olbi. 
These companies, too, became recipients of NSF largesse.53 

NSF's highly profitable operations aroused jealousy. In March 

1995, the same month that ORT general director Vlad Listyev was 
murdered, Lev Gavrilin, the head of foreign economic rdations for 
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the NSF, was killed by an unidentified gunman. Fyodorov, according 

to Colonel Streletsky, had embezzled $300 million of NSF funds. 

In Russia such large-scale theft almost always involved gangland 

violence.54 

"Part of the [NSF] money went as bogus loans to various com­

mercial organizations," Streletsky recalls. "Fyodorov established 

about eighty commercial enterprises around the NSF, and he distrib­

uted all the money that was coming in among these enterprises. Ulti­

mately, we couldn't find the money in these commercial enterprises 

either. It had already gone further down the line."55 

As one of the key parts of the crony capitalist network under­

pinning the Yeltsin regime, the NSF was expected to contribute to the 

president's reelection campaign. Sometime in late March or early 

April, says Colonel Streletsky, Boris Fyodorov was told to bring 

$10 million in cash to campaign headquarters. Fyodorov arrived at the 

President Hotel with the money in a suitcase and gave it to Chubais. 

General Korzhakov, as a dedicated sports fan and a man who still 

considered it his right to supervise the activities of the NSF, was 

angry that NSF funds were going to his rivals at the Berezovsky­

Chubais campaign headquarters. 

"When we heard about this; we invited him [Fyodorov] for a 

talk," says Colonel Streletsky. "First Korzhakov met with him in the 

morning in the Kremlin; then I met with him in the evening in 

the White House. We told him: You have to return that money to the 

NSF. At that time, preparations were under way for the Olympic 

Games and for the soccer World Cup, and there was no money [to 

finance the teams]. Korzhakov told him: "You have to return the 

money, because this money essentially belongs to the state. "56 

That same evening, Fyodorov went to Berezovsky in Logovaz 

House to convey his problems. Berezovsky invited his buddy, 

Valentin Yumashev, and the presidential daughter Tanya Dyachenko, 

to the interview. He also had the conversation taped. Fyodorov de­

clared that he was being victimized by Mafiya organizations operating 

within President Yeltsin's administration-principally the SBP of 

General Korzhakov and the FSB-KGB of General Barsukov. General 
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Korzhakov was trying to extort $10 million from him as a personal 

bribe, Fyodorov said. He also accused Korzhakov's friend Shamil 

Tarpishchev (Yeltsin's tennis coach and the founder of the NSF) of 

links to organized crime. "Korzhakov and Barsukov will kill me," 

Fyodorov declared. "You must tell the president that he cannot sur­

round himself with bandits."57 

Tanya Dyachenko was shocked by this tale of corruption and 

criminality. "[Fyodorov's declaration at Logovaz House] was a 

clever ploy, thought up mainly by Berezovsky, to discredit Korzhakov, 

Barsukov, and Tarpishchev in the eyes of the president's daughter," 

Colonel Streletsky says. "The spectacle was skillfully planned and ex­

ecuted." The NSF affair, like so many scandals in Russia at the time, 

was never fully investigated, so it is difficult to assess the truth of the 

allegations.58 

"We found out immediately that this spectacle had taken place 

and that a tape had been made," says Colonel Streletsky. "Bere­

zovsky then became terribly frightened. The next day, he himself 

came to Barsukov and brought the tape with him and said: 'Listen, 

I have nothing to do with this, but Fyodorov came and said all these 

awful things. Listen to it.' Berezovsky also kept a copy of the tape to 

use at the appropriate time." Colonel Streletsky says that Bere­

zovsky presented the tape to the security services because he was 

afraid of Korzhakov and Barsukov and wanted to show them that he 

was still on their side. But Berezovsky was doing more than simply 

showing his loyalty to his erstwhile patrons-he was letting them 

know that he was in possession of an extraordinarily compromising 

piece of information.59 

Korzhakov forged on. On May 21, nearly two months after Fyo­

dorov's taped interview at Logovaz House, the NSF chief's car was 

stopped by Moscow regional police; inside, they found a packet of co­

caine. He was arrested. Though the charges were later dropped 

(when cocaine possession was decriminalized in 1997), analysis of 

Fyodorov's urine, hair, and fingernail samples confirmed that the 

NSF chief had indeed used cocaine. (The thirty-nine-year-old Fyo­

dorov would die of a heart attack in 1999.) He was released almost 
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immediately after his arrest, though he was fired as president of the 

NSF. His place was taken by Colonel Streletsky of the SBP.60 

Scare Tactics 

Yeltsin's campaign managers understood that if the election were to be­

come a referendum on his record in office, he would almost certainly 

lose. His record as Russian president could not be defended; it was too 

much of a disaster even for the best spin doctors. The campaign de­

cided to go negative. The Russian people may have hated Yeltsin and 

the job he was doing, but they feared famine and civil war even more. 

They had to be convinced that a Communist victory would be cata­

strophic and that Yeltsin was the only guarantee of stability. 

TV networks repeatecUy aired documentaries about past Com­

munist horrors. In the closing weeks of the campaign, more than a mil­

lion posters were printed with Zyuganov's face and the statement: 

"This may be your last chance to buy food!" The adhesive-backed 

posters appeared in food markets throughout Russia. At the same 

time, the newspaper Kommersant, apparently from its own funds, 

printed 10 million leaflets entitled "God forbid!" describing the di­

sasters that would befall Russia if the Communists won; the leaflets 

were stuffed into Russians' mailboxes.61 

On June 10, Boris Berezovsky gathered the Group of 13 (this 

time minus two of the original signatories) at Logovaz House to sign 

another open letter about the election. This letter unambiguously 

called for a Yeltsin victory. It fiercely criticized the Communist can­

didate, Gennady Zyuganov. The Communists' economic program, 

the Group of 13 said, "is aimed at returning the country, at best, to 

the situation of the mid-1980s." At worst, the letter implied, the 

Communists would produce famine, war, and mass terror. "If the 

measures set out in the [Communist] program are implemented, ca­

tastrophe will strike within four to six months," the Group warned. 

This terrifying prophecy, part of a fundamental shift in the Group's 

strategy, was Berezovsky's idea.62 

"Today, Communist leaders are not concealing what is most im-
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portant to them: to alter the form of property and to make state 

property dominant once again," Berezovsky told a Russian newspaper 

several weeks earlier. "We have conducted a superexperiment, 

which proved ... that this form of property [socialism] generates an 

inefficient economy that cannot secure people's primary needs. This 

entails some simple consequences: If the economy can't provide 

for the people, then we must resort to political means. How? Build 

labor camps, execute a couple of million people, create an external 

enemy-the rest is absolutely clear. "63 

Yeltsin's campaign manager, Anatoly Chubais, still held to this 

line when I spoke with him eighteen months after the election. 

"Communism is the most evil system devised by man," he declared. 

"It can only work with concentration camps and terror. Those are 

the kinds of people we were facing in 1996."64 

Yes, Soviet Communism had indeed been totalitarian and geno­

cidal in the first several decades of its existence, but by the time 

Mikhail Gorbachev arrived, it was an entirely different animal. The 

rump Communist Party of Yeltsin's day was a collection of mostly 

elderly people, intent on protecting the social welfare system. To 

speak of Gorbachev's regime, let alone Zyuganov's Communist 

Party, in the same breath as gulags, famine, and civil war was a bit like 

describing today's South Carolina as a land of Ku Klux Klan gather­

ings and lynchings. 

On June 11, the day after the Group of 13's second letter, a 

bomb exploded in the Moscow metro, killing four people. The 

Yeltsin campaign immediately blamed Communist extremists and 

renewed the call for Russians to "vote for civic peace and stability." 

No one claimed responsibility for the bombing and the perpetrators 

were never found.65 

Recruiting General Lebed 

While the Yeltsin team and the Communists were painting each other 

black, there remained the prospect of the other leading candidates' 

forming a bloc that would be both anti-Communist and anti-Yeltsin. 
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One such candidate was liberal parliamentarian Grigory Yavlin­

sky, co-author of Gorbachev's 500-Day Program. Yavlinsky was in­

telligent and perceptive (he had almost always proved right in his 

analysis of the situation in Russia) and a man of doubtless honef.ty, but 

his appeal to the Russian electorate was limited because he was so 

obviously an intellectual; in any case, he had repeatedly refused to 

ally his Yabloko faction (scoring about 10 percent in the opinion 

polls) with any other party. 

Another strong candidate was the nationalist buffoon Vladimir 

Zhirinovsky, who won the highest number of votes in the 1993 par­

liamentary election campaign. This time, however, Zhirinovsky was 

running a lackluster campaign. He had toned down his extremist 

rhetoric and lost much of his TV exposure; consequently his 

polling numbers sank to arcund 5 percent. In any case, Zhirinovsky 

had long since proved himself to be a mere creature of the Yeltsin 

regime. 

That left General Aleksandr Lebed. A former paratroop com­

mander in the Afghanistan War, General Lebed had come to the na­

tion's attention during a number of internal military operations. 

Under Gorbachev, he had commanded the detachments that vio­

lently put down riots in Tbilisi, the capital of the Soviet republic of 

Georgia. In 1991, he played a key role in swinging army support be­

hind Yeltsin during the August Putsch. Two years later, as com­

mander of the Fourteenth Army, he kept the peace between Russians 

and Romanians in the former Soviet republic of Moldova. Lebed's 

main attraction was his persona: tough, blunt, straightforward, and 

honest. Russia had long been waiting for a man on a white horse 

to bring order to the country, and to many, Lebed seemed to be 

that man. 

Boris Berezovsky had already marked him out. Having cut his 

ties to General Korzhakov, Berezovsky decided upon General Lebed 

as Russia's new strongman. The hope was that, since he was relatively 

ignorant of Kremlin intrigues, Lebed could simultaneously scare the 

opposition and be easily controlled by the men behind the scenes. In 
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the short term, the general's main value was his electoral potential. He 

represented a law-and-order platform and he spoke direcdy to that 

part of the electorate expected to vote Communist.66 

On May 8, Berezovsky and other members of the Group of 13 met 

with General Lebed in Moscow. When the men emerged from their 

two-hour, closed-door meeting, no one wanted to comment on the dis­

cussions. Approached by reporters, General Lebed dismissed specu­

lation that a deal had been struck between him and the Yeltsin camp. 

"They didn't buy me," he stated. "I am not for sale."67 

They may not have bought the gruff paratroop general, but 

Berezovsky and his business associates threw their financial re­

sources behind his campaign. He suddenly became a highly visible and 

impressive candidate, appearing frequendy on television, in the news­

papers, and on billboards. As Lebed's popularity rose, he pulled 

votes away from the Communists.68 

On June 16, Yeltsin won a plurality in the first round of the elec­

tion. He received 35 percent, while his Communist challenger, Gen­

nady Zyuganov, received 32 percent. The big surprise was Lebed, 

who received a respectable 15 percent of the vote. The second round 

of the elections was scheduled for July 3. 

Immediately after the first round, events began moving rapidly. 

On June 18, Yeltsin appointed General Lebed his national security 

adviser and secretary of the Security Council. One of the conditions 

Lebed set for entering the government was the dismissal of General 

Pavel Grachev as defense minister. Grachev was fired the next day. 

From a public-policy perspective, Grachev's dismissal was long 

overdue. Incompetent and boastful, he had presided over the disin­

tegration of the Russian army and its blood-soaked adventure in 

Chechnya. But politically his dismissal was dangerous. Grachev was 

one of the oldest and closest comrades of General Korzhakov, and 

his dismissal signaled that the Berezovsky-Chubais camp was mov­

ing against the whole "conservative" faction within the Yeltsin court. 

This faction, now confined to three men-Korzhakov, Mikhail Bar­

sukov (head of the FSB-KGB), and First Deputy Prime Minister 
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Oleg Soskovets-stood between the Berezovsky-Chubais clan and 

total control of the Kremlin. 

A Box of Cash 

For his part, General Korzhakov had already decided to expose the 

secrets of the black treasury of the Yeltsin campaign. That Yeltsin 

was now almost certain to be reelected made it easier to air the cam­

paign's dirty laundry-there was little danger of derailing his victory. 

Korzhakov had to move quickly. The situation was changing daily. 

"During the presidential election campaign of 1996, Yeltsin ordered 

me not only to participate in important campaign projects, but also 

to control financial management of the election headquarters," he 

said stiffly. "The officers of the SBP discovered serious violations, 

whose essence can be described very succinctly: The funds of the 

election campaign treasury were being ruthlessly embezzled."69 

The same day that Lebed was in the Kremlin receiving his ap­

pointment as national security chief, an operations group from 

Colonel Streletsky's anticorruption department of the SBP prepared 

to go into action. Streletsky's team felt it had little chance of getting 

into the President Hotel-as Chubais's base camp, this was enemy ter­

ritory. Neither could the SBP force its way into Berezovsky's Logo­

vaz House. Fortunately, the Yeltsin campaign maintained a third 

base of operations: Russian government headquarters (the White 

House)-an important repository for documents and cash relating 

to the Yeltsin campaign. 

On the night of June 18, Streletsky's team entered room 217 of 

the White House. This was the office of German Kuznetsov, the 
deputy minister of finance and, according to the SBP, one of the key 

managers of the black treasury. The security men found stacks of 

dollar bills in Kuznetsov's safe, along with receipts for previous 

funds deposited in foreign banks.7° 

"The SBP officers found $1.5 million in cash inside, along with pay­

ment stubs that proved that the campaign funds were being trans­

ferred to the accounts of offshore companies," Streletsky recalls. "We 
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didn't know who owned these firms or what services they provided. 

However, we did understand the mechanism by which funds were 

being transferred from the slush fund into foreign bank accounts. 

"There were prepared money transfer orders into these offshore 

accounts-dummy transfer orders, we call them. The transfer orders 

showed, for instance, that $5 million was to be transferred to a spe­

cific account in the Bahamas for advertising services or printing ser­

vices. We found twenty such accounts. On each payment stub there 

was a number and a date. The stubs that we were able to get were at 

the end of a series: numbers 21, 22, 23, 24. Multiply 24 by $5 million 

and you get $120 million. That gives you an idea of the size of the 

money transfers going on. 

"Part of the funds in the black treasury was kept in cash in safes 

and suitcases; part was kept in banks, where special accounts had 

been opened. Payment was almost always made in cash in order to 

avoid the attention of the tax inspectorate. In order to cash the funds 

that were being held in Russian banks, the money was transferred 

abroad and cashed there. At that point the funds became black 

money. 

"The chain could look like this, for instance: $50 million was 

transferred from a Russian bank to the Bahamas. Then this money was 

transferred to another country-in Europe, for instance, or the 

Baltic States. From there the money was brought into Russia in cash 

and deposited in the black treasury. But not all the money was 

brought back in. For instance, if they took $50 million out of Russia, 

they didn't necessarily bring $50 million back; they could bring back 

only $10 million. No one controlled them at all. They distributed a 

large portion of these funds among their own accounts, wherever 

they wanted. It was a large-scale fraud. "71 

Most of Russia's top banks were involved in the international 

money transfers: Stolichny, Menatep, Rossiisky Kredit, Most, Alfa, 

and so on. The Russian Central Bank did not lift a finger, perhaps be­

cause it was engaged in siphoning off at least $1 billion in IMF funds 

to its own black treasury offshore-the financial company, Fimaco, 

registered in the tax haven of Jersey. 
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"Every one of those people who participated in the Yeltsin elec­

tion campaign, including Berezovsky, wanted to make money out of 

it," says Streletsky. "To do this they artificially inflated their ex­

penses. They created fake contracts for the provision of advertising 

or printing services. Abroad, part of the money was distributed 

among the personal accounts of the bankers and the government of­

ficials, and part was returned to Russia. According to the investiga­

tions [eventually] carried out by the SBP, it became clear that about 

$200 million to $300 million was embezzled from the election cam­

paign-mostly by those businessmen who were close to the cam­

paign headquarters in Moscow. "72 

German Kuznetsov's safe proved to be a gold mine of informa­

tion. After meticulously recording everything they found, Strelet­

sky's men put the $1.5 million back into the safe. They knew that the 

money came from the Finance Ministry, but they wanted to see 

where the trail would lead.73 

The next day, June 19, at 5:20p.m., security guards at the White 

House were waiting as two top Yeltsin campaign aides came down the 

stairs with a heavy cardboard box-the kind that holds paper for a 

photocopying machine; it was full of neatly stacked dollar bills­

$500,000 in cash. The two aides were arrested.74 They were Arkady 

Yevstafyev, a longtime aide to Anatoly Chubais, and Sergei Lisovsky, 

Berezovsky's old partner from the advertising business at ORT. Both 

men had been assigned to top positions in the Yeltsin presidential 

campaign. Lisovsky had left a simple receipt in Kuznetsov's safe-a 

scrap of paper stating "500,000 units Lisovsky."75 

During their interrogation by the SBP and the Federal Security 

Service, the two men pleaded innocent. "A. V. Yevstafyev declared that 

he had no connection to the confiscated foreign currency and gener­

ally did not know from where it had suddenly appeared," the Russian 

prosecutor-general later noted in his report. "S. F. Lisovsky, in his 

short explanation, stated that the confiscated foreign currency was 

intended for payment to artists for concerts they had performed dur­

ing the election campaign. "76 

Colonel Streletsky's arrest of two top Yeltsin campaign workers 
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with the box of cash gave the SBP the smoking gun it needed to 

prove massive fraud and embezzlement by the Berezovsky-Chubais 

campaign team. 

Fyodorov Escapes Death 

On June 19, the same night that the SBP was arresting Yevstafyev and 

Lisovsky for taking a box of cash out of the White House, in another 

part of Moscow the former National Sports Fund president, Boris Fy­

odorov, narrowly escaped death at the hands of an assassin. Fyodorov 

was attacked outside his home. After the first shot, the killer's pistol 

jammed; he then stabbed Fyodorov several times in the neck and 

chest. Miraculously, Fyodorov survived; he fled to Western Europe. 

This was the violent denouement of the strange story that had begun 

with Fyodorov's visit to Logovaz House nearly three months before. 

The next day, Anatoly Chubais called a press conference and 

blamed General Korzhakov. Everyone knew about the general's con­

flict with Fyodorov, involving Fyodorov's dismissal from the NSF. "I 

think it is our common task to try to figure out what role Mr. Barsukov 

and Mr. Korzhakov played in the events associated with Mr. Fyo­

dorov," Chubais declared.77 

He pointed out that Colonel Streletsky, who took Fyodorov's 

place as president of the NSF, also supervised the arrest of the men 

with the box of cash. Both incidents, Chubais claimed, were manu­

factured by Colonel Streletsky and other officers of the SBP. "The 

so-called box of money is a traditional element of a traditional 

Soviet-style KGB provocation," Chubais said. "Recently we wit­

nessed a similar situation in which drugs were planted. "78 

The perpetrators of the crime were never found. If the attack 

had been ordered by Korzhakov, it was a strangely amateurish job, 

considering that the security chief had his pick of the professional as­

sassins of the KGB. 

"My personal point of view is that this was useful only to Bere­

zovsky, to discredit Korzhakov and Barsukov once and for all in the 

eyes of the president," says Colonel Streletsky. "Berezovsky had the 
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tape of the conversation with Fyodorov and the whole country al­

ready knew about the obvious conflict between Fyodorov and Kor­

zhakov. In other words, there were two visible enemies-the whole 

country could see that. There remained only to organize the assassi­

nation attempt. And it was organized. The suspicion immediately fell 

on us."79 

Russia did not yet know the contents of the Fyodorov tape; the 

media had not yet revealed the details of the criminal intrigues Fyo­

dorov described in the tape. But one person had heard Fyodorov's ac­

cusations against General Korzhakov: Tanya Dyachenko. The brutal 

attempt on Fyodorov's life seemed to confirm the terrible things she 

had heard that evening in Logovaz House. 

Colonel Streletsky is convinced Berezovsky or someone else 

from his camp ordered the attack on Fyodorov. "What did this ally 

[Fyodorov] give to Berezovsky?" he says. "An ally is a temporary 

phenomenon. For Berezovsky, people are divided into two cate­

gories: a condom in its packaging and condom that has been used."80 

On July 8, five days after the second round of the election, the 

newspaper Novaya Gazeta published a transcript of the Fyodorov 

tape. That night NTV also ran excerpts on the evening news. The 

tape was leaked to the press, apparendy by the Berezovsky-Chubais 

group, to discredit Korzhakov before the nation.81 

Strangely, Fyodorov himself seemed to vacillate over who was re­

sponsible for the attack. The day after the Novaya Gazeta revelation, 

he gave an interview to the Komsomolskaya Pravda newspaper, rais­

ing the possibility that he had been set up by Berezovsky. "The in­

terview cited in the [Novaya Gazeta] article was pasted together from 

various fragments, including some from various other conversa­
tions," Fyodorov complained. When asked if the famous interview had 

taken place, Fyodorov replied: "Basically, yes. It took place at 40 No­

vokuznetskaya Street [Logovaz House], but someone added a lot of 

something else to what was spoken there. "82 

Fyodorov's wife was more direct. In an interview published in 

Komsomolskaya Pravda, next to her husband's interview, she said 

she believed that the people who had arranged the Novaya Gazeta 
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publication were the same people responsible for the assassination 

attempt.83 

In other words, while Anatoly Chubais was accusing Korzhakov's 

men of staging KGB-style provocations-planting cocaine on Fyo­

dorov in May and planting a box of cash on Yevstafyev and Lisovsky 

in June-the interviews with Fyodorov and his wife raised the possi­

bility that the June 19 assassination attempt itself may have been a 

provocation, intended to tar Korzhakov as the prime suspect.84 

"Either They Shut Up or I'll Throw Them in Prison" 

The truth about the assassination attempt on Fyodorov may never 

emerge. But because circumstantial evidence pointed squarely at 

Korzhakov and because the attack occurred on the same evening as 

the arrest of the men with the box of cash, those members of the 

Yeltsin entourage who wanted to get rid of the security chief gained 

enormous leverage. 

On June 19, Korzhakov was driving home after a meeting with 

Mikhail Barsukov of the FSB-KGB, at which the two men had dis­

cussed the arrest of Yevstafyev and Lisovsky (with the box of cash). 

The car phone rang. It was Tanya Dyachenko, calling him from Bere­

zovsky's headquarters at Logovaz House. "You must release them," 

Korzhakov remembers Tanya screaming at him. "It means the end of 

the election. "85 

Korzhakov refused. 

That night, most of the key players of the Yeltsin campaign 

team-Boris Berezovsky, Anatoly Chubais, Vladimir Gusinsky, 

Boris Nemtsov, Yevgeny Kiselev, Tanya Dyachenko, and others­

gathered at Logovaz House. The meeting lasted deep into the night. 

The group was highly apprehensive. No one could tell exactly how 

much the SBP knew about the corruption of the Yeltsin campaign or 

how far the investigation into the box of cash had advanced.86 

"I spoke with [Moscow FSB-KGB director] Trofimov at one o'­

clock in the morning, at the time when all this was taking place," 

Chubais would later recall. "He lied to me that they didn't know 
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who Lisovsky was, while Yevstafyev had perhaps been detained a 

little bit, but he would be released any moment. "87 

The group at Logovaz House decided that, rather than try to 

cover up the scandal surrounding the box of cash, they should pub­

licize it as a pretext for firing Korzhakov. Late-night NTV programs 

were interrupted by news bulletins that a coup d'etat was in progress 

and that two Yeltsin aides, Yevstafyev and Lisovsky, had been ar­

rested by the plotters. Most Russians heard about the incident the 

next morning. They were told that General Korzhakov and the FSB­

KGB chief were planning to postpone the second round of the elec­

tions and destroy Russian democracy. 88 

Korzhakov found virtually all the members of Yeltsin's en­

tourage arrayed against him. On June 20, President Yeltsin appeared 

on TV to announce that he was firing Korzhakov, as well as Barsukov 

and Soskovets. 

The Western and Russian press believed Chubais's story that Kor­

zhakov was attempting a coup d'etat. Chubais, after all, was the golden 

boy of Russian reform, lionized in the West for privatizing the Russian 

economy, whereas Korzhakov was a shadowy figure, known for his ad­

vocacy of postponing the elections. Newspapers in Russia and the 

West reported the "box of cash" incident as a "provocation" and an "old 

KGB trick of planting currency." Korzhakov, Barsukov, and Streletsky, 

meanwhile, were denied access to the airwaves.89 

Chubais knew that the box of cash was genuine. On June 22, two 

days after Korzhakov was fired, Chubais met at the President Hotel 

with two top campaign managers: Viktor ilyushin, an old Yeltsin 

crony from the Sverdlovsk days, and public-relations adviser Sergei 

Zverev. Their conversation was taped by someone loyal to Korzhakov's 

SBP. "We have to find a means of getting in touch with Korzhakov 

and Barsukov," Chubais told his colleagues, "so we can explain the 

situation to them clearly and unambiguously: Either they conduct 
themselves like regular fellows or we will throw them in prison .... Ei­

ther they shut up or I'll throw them in prison. That is absolutely cer­

tain. You can tell that to them personally from me, as a greeting."90 

The campaign managers admitted that smuggling boxes of cash 
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out of campaign headquarters was standard operating procedure for 

the Yeltsin campaign. Viktor Ilyushin said that shortly after the scan­

dal broke, he discussed the issue with Yeltsin.91 "I told the Boss 

[Yeltsin], when I was talking with him yesterday: 'Boris Nikolaevich, 

right now, if you wanted to, you could catch fifteen to twenty indi­

viduals next to the President Hotel who are carrying suitcases [of 

cash] out of our building .... If we begin to account for the money 

passing through informal channels, we wouldn't be able to hold the 

elections ... .' The president answered: 'I understand.' "92 

Still, the Yeltsin campaign could not afford any more revelations 

about the black treasury. That meant leaning on the prosecutor's 

office to hush up the affair. "Until July 3 [the final round of the elec­

tions] we don't need any noise," Ilyushin said he told the prosecutor­

general, Yuri Skuratov. In the course of his meeting with Chubais, 

Ilyushin placed a phone call to Skuratov. "Yuri Ilyich," Ilyushin told 

him, "a question has come up: Is it possible to arrange things so that 

the documents that you will be receiving from [the FSB-KGB] not 

be seen by anyone but you? That they stay with you for a certain pe­

riod of time, until you have had a chance to get acquainted with 

them and talked everything over with Boris Nikolaevich [Yeltsin]. ... 

Because we have information that if anyone else of your staff handles 

it, this information would very quickly find its way into the camp of 

our opponents .... Yes, it would be best if you keep it yourself. Don't 

let anyone start investigating it. And then we'll decide. Okay? Be­

cause this is what we want. "93 

Chubais and his campaign managers were concerned not only 

with covering up the scandal about the box of cash until the final 

round of the election but also with avoiding the prosecution of 

Yevstafyev and Lisovsky. Throughout the conversation, Chubais and 

Ilyushin voiced their determination not to "surrender" the two men 

to the law. "Our comrades were doing our job for us, they were tak­

ing on the riskiest part of it," Chubais declared. "Hell! They put 

their necks on the line and now we tell them: 'Excuse me, but after 

July 3, you'll have to fend for yourselves.' What kind of attitude is 

that? ... We are the ones who sent them there! "94 
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But what could the Yeltsin campaign do about the documentary 

evidence piling up at the prosecutor's office? In the June 22 conver­

sation, the following exchange took place:95 

CHUBAIS: What if, at the second stage [after the election], we were 

to ask Boris Nikolaevich [Y eltsin] ... 

ILYUSHIN: To bury it completely? 

CHUBAIS: No, to ask Skuratov to send him the documents so that 

he could analyze them. To demand the full package of documents. 

ILYUSHIN: Good idea. [Laughs.] 

CHUBAIS: And then let [Skuratov] try to ask for them back ... 

When the transcript of this conversation was published in the 

newspaper Moskovsky Komsomolets in the autumn, the Berezovsky­

Chubais camp responded that the tape was a forgery. But the prose­

cutor's office sent the tape off for analysis and concluded that it was 

genuine.96 

Though Korzkakov, Streletsky, and the rest of the SBP men were 

widely portrayed as a mysterious and sinister force within the Yeltsin 

regime, during the presidential campaign of 1996 they appeared to 

have been straight enough. When Fyodorov was arrested by Moscow 

police for possession of cocaine, Chubais and the media speculated 

that the affair was a setup; yet a subsequent police and judicial in­

vestigation (when Korzhakov was out of power) revealed that Fyo­

dorov was indeed a chronic cocaine user. When Yevstafyev and 

Lisovsky were arrested with the box of cash, the Berezovsky-Chubais 

camp was quick to declare that this incriminating evidence had 

been planted by the SBP; yet, a subsequent investigation by the 

prosecutor-general confirmed that the two men had in fact purloined 

the cash from the safe of the deputy minister of finance. The published 

transcript of the conversation between Chubais and his campaign 

aides was also declared a forgery; yet, the prosecutor-general's office 

would confirm that it was genuine. These facts suggest that through­

out 1996 Korzhakov and Streletsky were telling the truth, while the 

Berezovsky-Chubais camp was lying. 
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In the subsequent investigation by the prosecutor-general's of­

fice, however, Yeltsin's campaign managers avoided being charged 

with covering up a crime. "A. B. Chubais ... and V. V. ilyushin both 

declared that ... they were not attempting to obstruct the pursuit of 

justice in the case, but only attempting to avoid leaking information 

during the time of the election," the prosecutor-general noted in his 

report.97 

The prosecutor's office began its inquiry into the box of cash on 

the basis of several charges: illegal operations with foreign currency, 

fraud, and theft. The charges of illegal operations with foreign cur­

rency were dropped on January 5, 1997, when this activity was de­

criminalized. The investigation into fraud and theft continued until 

April7, 1997, when it was dropped-not because Korzhakov and his 

men hadn't done their jobs, but because no one could tell where the 

money had come from. 

"Having exhausted all possibilities, the investigation failed to 

identify the source of the confiscated dollars," the prosecutor­

general explained. "There was no proof that anyone had been 

harmed by the event. Neither was the legal owner of the aforemen­

tioned foreign currency identified. All these circumstances allowed 

the investigation to conclude that there was no sign of fraud or any 

other crime." If no one knew who the $500,000 belonged to, in other 

words, how could anyone say that it had been stolen?98 

On July 3, in the second round of voting, Boris Yeltsin sailed into 

his second term with 54 percent of the votes. Western observers con­

cluded that the election was generally free and fair. 



CHAPTER NINE 

OLIGARCHY 

Party Town 

On Halloween night in 1996 I went to a party at an abandoned the­

ater around the corner from the Russian Foreign Ministry. Inside 

were several hundred revelers, mostly Americans, getting down to 

the blaring noise of a Russian band called Two Airplanes. Marijuana 

smoke hung in the air. In a side room, the crush indicated the place 

where the booze was. Two beleaguered bartenders were handing out 

large plastic cups of cheap vodka and cans of German beer. A walk­

ing corpse became entangled in the cobwebs strewn across the door­

way. Prince Potemkin squeezed through, followed by Genghis Khan 

and Heidi the mountain girl. In a smaller room next door, a couple 

were making out in the corner. 

"Moscow is a party town," said Mark Ames, thirty-one, grin­

ning, noticeably the worse for drink. "Ninety-nine percent ofthe ex­

pats came here to make a buck, but they stay for the women-the 

women here are awesome!" An aspiring writer from Northern Cali­

fornia, Ames was the editor of a raunchy expat newspaper called Liv­
ing Here, which specialized in reviewing Moscow's restaurants and 

nightclubs and laughing about its politics. "This party is nothing," 

noted Ames. "There's a group of 100 expats traveling down to Tran­
sylvania to spend Halloween in Dracula's castle." 

248 
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The parties in Moscow had always been great-intense, crazy, 

always surprising. In Russia there were no rules and no social order. 

The 100,000-strong American and European expat community was 

having a blast. There was danger, there was great sex, there was big 

money to be made. Twenty-four-year-old kids from the suburbs of 

New York, who would have been stuck at some pedestrian job at a 

Wall Street bank, suddenly found themselves the star traders for 

some Moscow-based outfit in Russia's booming securities market. 

There was also an older generation of foreigners in Moscow. The 

employees of the big law firms, financial institutions, and multina­

tional corporations-men who were there to run the rep offices or 

simply to clinch a deal. If they were there for a short visit, the West­

ern executives stayed at one of the inordinately expensive business 

hotels. At the Metropol, just across from the Bolshoi Theater, they 

could decamp in opulent suites, swirling with Art Nouveau designs and 

Karelian birch furniture. The smallest single room, looking out at a 

brick wall, was $330 a night; the premier suites were $1,000 or more 

a night. Dinner topped $300 per person, even with mediocre wine. 

Life in Moscow could be dangerous for foreigners, especially 

if they were trying to run their own businesses. The most famous 

murder of a foreigner occurred in the autumn of 1996, with the as­

sassination of an American entrepreneur named Paul Tatum. A forty­

one-year-old native of Oklahoma, Tatum had engineered one of 

the biggest Gorbachev-era joint ventures-a huge new luxury hotel 

called the Radisson Slavyanskaya. By the time the hotel was com­

pleted, in the early 1990s, it was managed by a Russian-American 

company (50 percent owned by the Moscow city government, 40 per­

cent by Tatum, and 10 percent by the Radisson hotel group). The 

partners fell out among themselves, with Radisson and Moscow com­

bining to push Tatum out of the project; lawsuits were filed in an ar­

bitration court in Stockholm. Tatum, meanwhile, adopted the lifestyle 

of a Russian gangster, surrounding himself with bodyguards, flaunting 

his wealth and his numerous girlfriends, and frequenting the wilder 

nightclubs. The combative Oklahoman carried on an acrimonious 

public feud with the Moscow city government and especially with its 
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designated representative, Chechen entrepreneur Umar Dzhabrailov. 

On November 3, 1996, Tatum was shot by an assassin in broad day­

light as he entered a nearby metro station with his bodyguard. De­

spite an international outcry, Moscow police never found the killer. 

The big gangster turf wars of the early 1990s might have been 

over, but assassinations still played an important role in Russian so­

ciety. In 1996, Americans learned of the role of organized crime in 

Russia's once proud sports establishment; Aleksandr Mogilny and 

several other Russian hockey stars playing for the NHL turned to the 

FBI to help them deal with Russian gangsters who had followed 

them to North America and were trying to extort money from them. 

Hockey was one of the few profitable areas of Russian sport. Dozens 

of Russia's best players had left their impoverished country to sign 

multimillion-dollar contracts with NHL teams. Apart from the indi­

vidual contracts, the teams paid the Russian Hockey Federation a 

total of nearly $10 million for the right to sign up the players. This easy 

source of money did not escape the attention of the gangsters. In 

April 1997, Valentin Sych, the venerable president of the Russian 

Hockey Federation, was killed by machine-gun fire as he was driving 

along a country road with his wife. 1 

Charitable organizations were also targeted by organized crime. 

Gangsters were interested in charities' lucrative foreign trade rights. 

By special government decree, favored charities received permission 

to import liquor or export oil duty-free. The huge profits made on 

these operations were supposed to be the government's way of sub­

sidizing worthy social causes. But when an activity produced so 

much money in impoverished Russia, it was certain to attract the at­

tention of gangsters. Boris Fyodorov's National Sports Fund was the 

most famous charity to be caught up in a gangster turf war. In Sep­

tember 1995, the chairman of the Moscow Society for the Deaf, Igor 

Abramov, was killed by gunmen in Moscow. A year later, the presi­

dent of the All-Russian Society for the Deaf, Valery Korablinov, was 

also gunned down.2 

The heavily subsidized Russian Foundation for the Invalids of 
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the Mghanistan War was subjected to an even more horrendous as­

sault. In November 1996, a group of Mghanistan Foundation mem­

bers gathered in the Kotlyakovsky Cemetery for a memorial service 

in honor of their late chairman, Mikhail Likhodei, who had been 

killed by a remote-controlled bomb two years earlier. Someone had 

hidden a powerful remote-controlled bomb in a neighboring tomb. 

The explosion was devastating: thirteen mourners were killed and 

dozens injured. Police had to retrieve some of the body parts from the 

tops of surrounding trees.3 

None of this dampened the spirits of Moscow's wealthy elite. 

The "New Russians," as they were called, had their own social circuit 

in the capital. They enjoyed late dinners in the expensive restaurants. 

A certain portion of the New Russians partied at the same nightclubs 

the foreigners liked, but their principal partying venues were the 

much wilder, more vulgar nightclubs not frequented by the foreign­

ers. The richest New Russians soon abandoned the idea of partying 

in Moscow. The city was the place they made their money. As a place 

for relaxation, it was uncomfortable-too many people pointing fin­
gers in the restaurants and nightclubs. The Swiss Alps or the 

Mediterranean coast-these were the places to have fun. 

Berezovsky did not party. Everything was business, and he at­

tended an evening event only if there were useful contacts to be 

made. Still, he quickly acquired the trappings of Europe's megarich, 

jetting around in his private plane, dropping big money at Sotheby's 

Russian sales, and maintaining lavish residences on Lake Geneva, in 

London's Kensington Palace Gardens, and on the French Riviera, 

where he bought one of the largest chateaux in Cap d' Antibes for a 

reported $27 million. He apparently did not maintain an apartment 

in Paris, but liked to stay in the lavish Hotel Crillon. His presence at 

the watering holes of Europe's billionaires allowed him not only to 

show visiting Russians a good time, but also to mingle with potential 
business partners in the West; among his friends in the international 

business community were important dealmakers such as former junk 

bond king Michael Milken and media magnate Rupert Murdoch 
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(Berezovsky was one of the few guests at Murdoch's 1999 wedding 

aboard his yacht anchored in New York Harbor).4 

The top officials of the Yeltsin government made sure they were 

not left out of the party. In lifestyle (as in most other things) there was 

little to differentiate them from Russia's businessmen. Both the bu­

reaucrats and the businessmen were members of the same ruling 

clan. Most government officials had to forgo the pleasure of wearing 

tailor-made suits while in Moscow; they were more careful about 

driving expensive cars; they dined less often in the best restaurants 

than they would have liked. But the top bureaucrats still could travel 

abroad, vacationing on the Riviera or in Florida. They could relax 

abroad. No one recognized them and, like Russia's businessmen, 

they could enjoy themselves without fear of censure. What an ad­

venture it was-skiing in Gstaad, cruising on yachts in the Ca­

ribbean, shopping at Christian Lacroix and Chloe in Paris. Having 

bought their apartments, villas, castles, and chalets in the West, Rus­

sia's new ruling class increasingly made the West their home. The 

wives spent a good part of their time there. The children were placed 

in the premier European schools. The offspring of Russia's rich and 

powerful (including the children of Tanya Dyachenko, Anatoly 

Chubais, Vladimir Gusinsky, and Berezovsky) were sent to the same 

$40,000-a-year boarding schools in Switzerland and England. 

The New Russians were a tiny minority, numbering in the hun­

dreds of thousands at most, yet they felt they owned the mess that was 

Russia. It was theirs to exploit. As they traveled west, they eagerly 

forgot about the tens of millions of Russians they were leaving back 

home-that same broken mob, complaining, drinking, and dying. 

But the party would soon come to an end. 

Berezovsky Is Appointed to the Government 

At the close of the 1996 campaign, Russian voters thought they were 

electing a revived Yeltsin: a tough political boss, a tireless grass-roots 

campaigner, a man gleefully shaking his stuff at a Moscow rock con­

cert. Voters did not know that his apparent vigor was the result of 
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medications prescribed by the Kremlin doctors. The concoctions 
worked well for a while, but a week before the last round of the elec­
tions, Yeltsin finally collapsed under the strain. In late June, he suf­
fered yet another heart attack and disappeared from public view. 
Only after the election did Kremlin spokesmen reveal the gravity of 
Yeltsin's heart condition, together with the news that the president 
would undergo multiple-bypass surgery. He would be confined to 
his sickbed for the next eight months. 

With the monarch absent from the Kremlin, Yeltsin's closest 
aides took charge. Initially, the leader of this group was Anatoly 
Chubais, the architect of Russia's privatization, the coordinator of 
Yeltsin's election campaign, and now chief of staff. Chubais could be 
counted on to loyally represent the interests of the Group of 13 that 
had installed him back in the Kremlin inner circle. As a precaution, 
banker Vladimir Potanin was appointed first deputy prime minister 
in charge of the economy. 

Now it was payback time for the businessmen who had con­
tributed to Yeltsin's reelection. Vladimir Potanin's Onexim Bank, for 
instance, received huge new government accounts, while Norilsk 
Nickel was allowed to restructure more than $1 billion in tax debts. 
Vladimir Gusinsky's NTV was granted a license to take over all of 
Channel 4 and double its airtime. Stolichny Bank, co-owned by 
Aleksandr Smolensky and Berezovsky, more than doubled in size 

when it was allowed to take over the giant state-owned Agroprom 
Bank (the new, combined bank was named SBS-Agro). 

Later, I asked liberal parliamentary leader Grigory Yavlinsky 
about Yeltsin's second term. "The government that was formed was 
without any clear ideology," Yavlinsky observed. "It was neither red, 
nor white, nor green. It was based solely on personal greed. You got 
a system that was corporatist, oligarchic, and based on monopolized 
property rights and semi criminal relationships. "5 

The one outsider in this cabal was General Aleksandr Lebed. 
The former paratroop general was the only genuine populist candi­
date of the 1996 presidential campaign and he had been rewarded with 
the post of chief of the Security Council. Gruff, uneducated, Lebed 
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suddenly found himself in the center of the political arena. He spoke 

in a deep, gravelly voice, but it was the things Lebed said that made 
him a tribune of the people. "You have to remember that the presi­

dent [Yeltsin] was a member of the Central Committee [of the Com­
munist Party]," Lebed said. "So was Prime Minister Chernomyrdin 

and so was [the leader of the opposition] Gennady Zyuganov. 

They're all from the same nest. But some managed to throw away 

their Party cards in time and take up the democratic banner, while the 
others were late. You can see that these people always seem to disagree, 

but under the table they always manage to come to an understand­
ing. They have always regarded ordinary people as garbage: the 

stones at the foot of the pyramids." 

Like a good military commander, Lebed was concerned with 
the welfare of his men. In an interview with me, he suddenly began 

to speak of the fate of Russia's huge prison population. "There has 

never been an effort to rehabilitate people in prisons, where they 

are kept worse than cattle. You enter the prison system as a man and 
you leave it either as an animal or as excrement. And what about the 

specially trained men in the armed forces?" he continued. "Hun­

dreds of thousands, with unique skills-they were simply thrown 

out on the street. Russia is full of a huge number of malignantly in­
spired people-intent on destruction and killing, full of anger, fury, 

hurt, and vengeance. Until this mood is changed, nothing can be 
done." 

Lebed knew what had to be done to heal the country, but he did 

not know how to do it. "The key to prosperity is that the people 
should be not small and sickly, but big, healthy and strong, that 

people should consider themselves masters of their own land, that 
they should walk with heads held high, fearing nothing," he de­
clared. "That's the Russian national idea." 

Lebed's one indisputable achievement in office was ending the 
disastrous war in Chechnya. The war zone in the south had been 

quiet during the last months of the Russian presidential election, 
since J okhar Dudayev had been killed by the smart bomb and the 
Chechens had agreed to a cease-fire. Only a few days after Russians 
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voted in the final round of the presidential elections, the fighting re­

sumed throughout Chechnya. The rebels had used the cease-fire to 

recoup their strength, infiltrating commandos and ammunition into 

the main Chechen cities. On August 6, 1996, a rebel army under 

commander Shamil Basayev overran the capital, Grozny. The Rus­

sian forces, as usual, were caught flat-footed. More than 500 Russian 

soldiers were killed; news reports carried images of armored cars 

burning, with their dead drivers slumped on the pavement. Within 

days, the battle was lost; some 3 ,000 Russian troops remaining in 

Grozny were trapped in their barracks. 

In Moscow a pale, sickly Boris Yeltsin staggered through the in­

auguration ceremony. Someone else would have to extricate Russia 

from the Chechen mess. On August 12, General Lebed traveled to the 

town of Khasavyurt on the Chechen border to begin peace negotia­

tions. By the end of the month, a deal had been reached and Russia 

had agreed to withdraw its troops. The republic was given de facto 

independence, although the question of Chechnya's official status 

was put off until2001 (when a new man, Boris Yeltsin's heir, would 
be president of Russia). 

Lebed says that he was impelled to make peace by information 

that the Chechens were planning terrorist attacks on nuclear power 

plants at Novo-Voronezh and other Cities. "I knew I had to stop the 

national-level mob war in Chechnya," he says. Lebed received no 

public support from Yeltsin, Prime Minister Chernomyrdin, or other 

top government officials. No one wanted to be associated with the final 

act of Russia's humiliation. 

While Lebed was defending his policy in Chechnya, he lashed 

out at the pervasive corruption and incompetence of his ministerial 

colleagues at home. They, in turn, were dismayed at his insistence on 

remaining true to his word. "I promised my supporters that I would 

stop the bloodbath in Chechnya and I did that," says Lebed. "I also 

promised them I would get rid of crime and corruption. But as soon 

as I fulfilled my first task [peace in Chechnya], everybody became 

scared; I was accused of plotting a coup, forming some kind of 

shadow army. "6 
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On October 17, four months after he was appointed, Lebed was 

fired. Boris Yeltsin even made a rare appearance on TV to fulminate 

against the general and his "insubordination." 

The autumn of 1996 was characterized by what the media 

termed the "sleaze war." The leading figures of Yeltsin's election 

campaign engaged in an extraordinary round-robin of murder alle­

gations, accusing each other of planning assassinations. General Kor­

zhakov, Yeltsin's former security chief, held a press conference in 

which he asserted that in 1994-95, Berezovsky had repeatedly asked 

him to assassinate Gusinsky. At the same time, the newspaper No­
vaya Gazeta published the transcript of Berezovsky's secret 1995 ap­

peal to Y eltsin (in which Berezovsky accused Gusinsky of setting him 

up for the Listyev murder). Korzhakov declared further that Bere­

zovsky and Gusinsky, now allies, had put out a contract on his life. The 

transcript of Anatoly Chubais's efforts to cover up the box-of-cash 

incident also appeared at this time. In addition, former National 

Sports Fund president Boris Fyodorov reappeared after his recuper­

ation in Western Europe and declared that he feared General Kor­

zhakov would have him killed.7 

Amid this extraordinary spectacle, the richest businessman in 

Russia entered the government. On October 30, 1996, two weeks 

after General Lebed was dismissed, Boris Berezovsky was appointed 

deputy secretary of the Security Council. The tycoon had long 

wanted a seat in the government; as this and later government ap­

pointments would show, his preference was for an important­

sounding post, with broad, vaguely defined responsibilities. The 

Security Council was such a post; though it had a tiny staff, it was gen­

erally charged with coordinating the nation's law enforcement and 

military matters. Berezovsky's appointment was supported by Tanya 

Dyachenko and the presidential biographer, Valentin Yumashev; 

Anatoly Chubais signed the papers. The nominal chief of the Secu­

rity Council was a weak-willed bureaucrat and old-time Yeltsin 

crony named Ivan Rybkin. The fox was now guarding the chickens.8 

Several days later, Izvestia revealed that Berezovsky held an Is­

raeli passport. This information was passed to the newspaper by op-
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eratives of General Korzhakov's disbanded Presidential Security 

Service; they in turn had received the information in 1995 from Bere­

zovsky's then archrival, Vladimir Gusinsky. Other Russian news­

papers ran exposes of Berezovsky's past, but the tycoon reacted 

particularly furiously to the reports about his Israeli citizenship­

the revelation jeopardized his appointment to the government, since 

government officials were prohibited from being citizens of foreign 

countries. At first, he denied that he was an Israeli citizen and threat­

ened to sue lzvesti'a. Mter the Israeli government itself confirmed the 

information, the tycoon admitted that he had obtained the passport 

and said he was giving it up.9 

In the furor surrounding his appointment and the revelation of 

his double citizenship, Berezovsky alienated other Russian Jews. "By 

Israeli law anyone who is a Jew by blood, whether he be half-Jewish 

or a quarter, is a citizen of Israel," he declared. "Any Jew in Russia has 

a double citizenship." Russian Jews reacted furiously to this slur on 

their loyalty to Russia, while Berezovsky complained that he was the 

victim of a rising tide of anti-Semitism in Russia.10 

President Yeltsin was in no condition to weigh in on the mat­

ter-on November 5, five days after the Berezovsky appointment, 

Yeltsin underwent multiple-bypass surgery. Despite widespread calls 

in parliament and the press for Berezovsky's dismissal, the tycoon 

hung on. 

Trading Hostages 

Berezovsky's special responsibility in the Security Council was to 

sort out relations with Chechnya. He explained that he was in charge 

of helping to restore Chechnya's economy. "Business has to pay 

up-there's no getting around that fact-just as we paid for the fact 

that the Communists wouldn't take power [in the 1996 elections]," 
he told the newspapers. General Lebed, on the other hand, claimed 

that Berezovsky was interested in Chechnya because he had to 

"cover up his previous business deals involving Chechnya" and 
wanted to lay the foundation for new business deals around the 
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restored Baku-Novorossiisk pipeline. I asked Lebed what business 
deals he was referring to, but the surly former national security chief 

refused to go into details. 11 

General Lebed told the Russian press that Berezovsky had long 
played a strange double game in Chechnya. "Mter the signing of the 

Khasavyurt Agreements [the Russian-Chechen peace deal] ... Bere­
zovsky came to me and started bullying me," Lebed recalled. "When 

he understood that I could not be frightened, he simply stated: 
'What a business you have ruined. Everything was going so well. So, 

they were killing each other, but they've always been killing each 

other and always will be.' "12 

While Russians were outraged at Berezovsky's appointment to 

the government-there were calls in the parliament and the press 

for the tycoon to be fired, for Chubais to be dismissed, and for 

Yeltsin to resign-the Chechen leaders were pleased. Salman 
Raduyev-a warlord responsible for the bloody hostage-taking raid 

into Dagestan a year earlier, several kidnappings, and two terrorist 

bombings in southern Russia in early 1997-praised Berezovsky as an 
"honorable man" and a man he could work with. "He [Berezovsky] 

has a personal interest in this oil [the Baku-Novorossiisk pipeline]," 

Raduyev observed. Remarkably, Raduyev's highly compromising en­

dorsement of Berezovsky was carried in Ogonyok, one of the ty­

coon's own magazines.U 

It was clear from Berezovsky's movements in Chechnya that he 
was on excellent terms with the Chechen leaders. In the aftermath of 

the war with Russia, the country had turned into a cauldron of vio­
lent gangs and militias. The few Russians who ventured there did so 

under heavy guard, for fear of being kidnapped or assassinated. 
Berezovsky, however, traveled often to Chechnya, without body­
guards. His old relations with various Chechen gangs in Moscow al­
most certainly proved useful. "He maintained these connections 

[with Chechen gangs] before the war, during the war, and after the 
war," General Lebed told me. "[It didn't matter that he was dealing 
primarily with Moscow-based gangs.] The Moscow-based organiza-
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tions are the subsidiaries of Chechnya-based ones. When you con­

tact the subsidiary, you contact Chechnya. "14 

The new president of Chechnya was Asian Maskhadov. By 

Chechen standards, he was a moderate. He had been elected presi­

dent in January 1997, after serving as the commander in chief of the 

Chechen forces during the war. His agenda was to enforce the rule of 

law in his war-ravaged land and establish relations with the outside 

world. But Maskhadov's authority scarcely extended beyond the 

capital-most of the country was controlled by independent militias 

and criminal gangs, usually led by the field commanders of Chechnya's 

rebel army. These men, having distinguished themselves in battle, 

were in no mood to submit to Maskhadov. Each warlord ruled his own 

feudal kingdom, largely defined by old clan loyalties and paid for by 

rogue oil refineries, drug- and gun-running operations, and various 

other criminal operations. 

For Russia, the biggest problem in postwar Chechnya was kid­

napping. Over the course of two years, more than 1,300 individuals 

were seized, among them several Russian generals and personal en­

voys of President Yeltsin. The victims were not all Russians. Dozens 

of Western journalists, aid workers, businessmen, and religious mis­

sionaries were kidnapped, too. Typically the victims were shunted 

around various Chechen towns, while their captors negotiated hefty 

ransoms. The hostages were a valuable commodity. Besides arms, 

drugs, and oil purloined from the Baku-Novorossiisk pipeline, 

hostages were the only valuable commodity in Chechnya. They were 

often traded between different Chechen militias for cash. 

Foreigners commanded the highest price. The first foreigner to be 

kidnapped was an Italian photographer, captured in the autumn of 

1996; he was released after the Italian government paid $300,000 

to a Chechen counterparty. Mter this, the ransom demands rose 

steeply, typically reaching $2 million or $3 million per individual. 15 

The first famous kidnapping incident occurred six weeks after 

Berezovsky's government appointment. On December 15, 1996, a 

detachment of gunmen led by Chechen warlord Salman Raduyev 
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seized twenty-two Russian police officers on the Chechen frontier, 

after the policemen had blocked Raduyev from crossing the frontier. 

In a bizarre gesture of intimidation, Raduyev demanded that his men 

be granted "freedom of movement"-otherwise the police officers 

would all be killed. Two days later, the menace represented by mav­

erick warlords like Raduyev was made clear when a group of Chechen 

gunmen broke into a hospital in the town of Novye Atagi and killed 

six Red Cross workers, including four nurses. The next day, Bere­

zovsky arrived in Chechnya for talks with Raduyev and convinced the 

warlord to release the twenty-two Russian policemen.16 

This was the first of many Chechen hostage crises resolved by 

Berezovsky. The tycoon gloried in his humanitarian role. He would 

usually appear on the nightly news welcoming the victims back from 

captivity or boasting of his efforts to procure their release. Bere­

zovsky's prowess in negotiating with Chechen kidnapping gangs 

underlay his claim to be a Russian statesman; the endless series of 

hostage crises, all neatly resolved by Berezovsky, served as a political 

platform for the tycoon to prove his usefulness to the government. 

Not everybody was impressed by his role as a white knight in the 

Chechen hostage trade. General Lebed regarded the tycoon's actions 

as highly cynical political maneuvers. In January 1997, two reporters 

from Berezovsky's ORT television network were seized in Chechnya. 

Lebed flew to Chechnya to negotiate for their release. He was not 

successful. Upon returning to Russia, he claimed that Berezovsky 

had paid some Chechen warlords to block the journalists' release­

in order for the tycoon to arrive a few weeks later and claim credit 

for their liberation. 17 

Whenever hostages were freed, the Russian government repeatedly 

claimed that no ransoms were paid. Chechen president Asian 

Maskhadov disagreed. Chechen gangs never released their hostages 

because of a change of heart, Maskhadov told me; they released them 

because officials came from Moscow with "suitcases of cash." The 

primary channel for these funds to the kidnappers was Berezovsky.18 

Berezovsky himself often boasted of his financial contributions 
to various Chechen groups to buy their goodwill. In the spring of 
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1997, he claimed that he had helped Russian businesses "donate" $1 

million to build a cement plant in Chechnya; he also claimed that 

Logovaz had donated fifty automobiles to the Chechen Ministry of In­

ternal Affairs. In August 1997, Berezovsky boasted that he brokered 

an agreement by Vladimir Gusinsky's NTV to pay a $2 million ran­

som for the release of three NTV journalists. 19 

Over two and a half years, Berezovsky maintained close relations 

with the warlords who either carried out kidnappings or were closely 

linked to the criminals who did. Berezovsky's favorite counterparties 

in Chechnya were not moderate government officials like Asian 

Maskhadov. They were such terrorist leaders as Shamil Basayev and 

Salman Raduyev or Islamic fundamentalists like Movladi Udugov. 

Berezovsky's relationship with Movladi Udugov was particularly 

close; Udugov had been one of the leaders of the Chechen war effort 

and was now a deputy prime minister in Maskhadov's government. 

Maskhadov tolerated this man's presence for the sake of national 

unity, but privately scorned him as a proponent of jihad (Islamic holy 

war)-Udugov's brother was one of the leaders of the Wahabbi sect, 

the most fanatical Islamic fundamentalist group in Chechnya.20 

In Moscow, former officers of the SBP and the Moscow police 

kept track of Berezovsky's Chechen activities. They concluded that 

Berezovsky served as a banker for the Chechen kidnappers, round­

ing up and transferring the ransom payments from the Russian side, 

with Movladi Udugov's Islamic fundamentalist group handling the 

hostage negotiations on the Chechen side.21 

I obtained a tape of several intercepted telephone conversations 

between Movladi Udugov and Berezovsky, recorded either by the se­

curity services (of Russia, Chechnya, or some other country) or by 

some very well-equipped private intelligence agency. It is unclear ex­

actly what is being discussed in these conversations, but it is clearly a 

business deal, probably hostage-related. One of the recordings is 

one-sided, containing only the voice of Udugov. 

"Hello, Boris? It's Movladi. I tried yesterday, but some reason I was 

not able to get through-Okay, Boris, how are our affairs going?-Yes, 

I looked, but nothing has arrived. I'll have a look Monday.-Yes. Yes. 
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I looked on Friday. Maybe it will come on Monday. I'll look then.­

Well, I don't know. Maybe it got delayed for some reason.-Yes.­

What kind of documents?-Okay, I understand.-Okay, Boris, tell 

me, I understand from Kazbek that you will send someone on the 

seventh or the eighth. What's the situation there?-Okay. When can 

we expect him? Monday or Tuesday?-Okay, I understand. Kazbek 

will be there himself to meet him.-Okay. What about those two 

guys?-Because here they are on the verge of taking extreme mea­

sures. So far I have been able to hold them back in the hope that the 

situation can be resolved.-Okay, Boris. I will call you in the evening. 

I'll pick a better phone line and call you.-All the best. Goodbye. "22 

Often Berezovsky acted in Chechnya through Badri Patarkat­

sishvili, the Logovaz partner who, according to the Russian security 

services, had long served as the company's primary intermediary 

with organized-crime groups.23 

Badri's role as Berezovsky's point man in Chechnya is illustrated 

in another of the telephone intercepts I obtained. The conversation 

between Berezovsky and Movladi Udugov is purposefully vague to 

frustrate potential eavesdroppers, but its thrust is clear enough.24 

UDUGOV: Hello? 

BEREZOVSKY: Hello, Movladi. Hello, my friend. 

UDUGOV: Hello. Boris, how are things going with you? 

BEREZOVSKY: Fine. 

UDUGOV: Kazbek arrived today very upset. 

BEREZOVSKY: Why? 

UDUGOV: He never did understand why Badri came there. 

BEREZOVSKY: Then I also didn't understand. I just spoke with 

Badri on the telephone and he said that everything is okay. They dis­

cussed everything and agreed on everything. What do you mean, 

upset? 
UDUGOV: Well, the agreement was that he would bring two and a 

half units. 
BEREZOVSKY: What? 

UDUGOV: That he would bring two and a half units. 
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BEREZOVSKY: Movladi, you got something mixed up. I never said 
that. Mter all, I said right away that I wouldn't be able to resolve this 
issue. I said that I'll do what I am able to do. And I did that. I had 
no other objectives. 
UDUGOV: Well, okay. 

BEREZOVSKY: Maybe you didn't understand me. 
UDUGOV: Well, I don't know. At that time, when we spoke 

together ... 

BEREZOVSKY: I always answer honestly. I said that at the moment 
I wouldn't be able to resolve this issue, but that I'll do what I can. And 
I did what I could. That's all. You must understand. 
UDUGOV: I understand. Boris, I too want you to understand me. In 
other words, after your meeting in Tbilisi I called you and told you 
about the two and a half units. 

BEREZOVSKY: No. You already told me about that in Tbilisi. 
UDUGOV: No, it was Kazbek who spoke about that. 
BEREZOVSKY: Okay, Kazbek. 

UDUGOV: You spoke with Kazbek. For my part, I sent you a fax. 
BEREZOVSKY: Movladi, I am telling you once more, so that there 
would be a full understanding: I never promised to do this. So that 
there would be full understanding-whatever I can do, I will do. 
That's it. 

UDUGOV: Okay, then I didn't understand. Why did he come? To 
give this confirmation? This piece of paper? What's the matter-you 
weren't able to send it by fax? 
BEREZOVSKY: No, no. They had another type of discussion. I 
don't know about this discussion yet, since he flew on to another 
destination. He hasn't come to Moscow yet. 

UDUGOV: Then I understand that there has been no discussion yet. 
He arrived, presented this piece of paper, which was possible to have 
sent by fax ... Tell me, please: Is this the right sum? 
BEREZOVSKY: Absolutely. This is what I am able to do at the mo­
ment. I can't do anything more than that. I told you that. 
UDUGOV: But I thought ... That fax that I sent you-I asked for 
700 or 800 ... 
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BEREZOVSKY: Movladi, okay, so you sent me that fax, but I won't 

be able to do that. \X'hatever I can do, I'll do. And whatever I could 

do, I did. 

UDUGOV: Okay, I understand. But I counted on you to do that at 

my request, but now it appears that they have gotten Kazbek in­

volved in this as well. Okay, so it turns out that we simply didn't un­

derstand each other. Boris, tell me, please, is this issue now closed? 

BEREZOVSKY: No, it's not closed. It seems as if you were not lis­

tening to our conversation. I told you that right now I can't resolve 

this issue. Whatever I can resolve right now, I will resolve. 

UDUGOV: Right now the situation over there is ... It seems you're a 

bit out of touch. Okay. Today, that sum was urgently needed. But 

since it didn't work out, then that's it. 

BEREZOVSKY: Okay, Movladi. You can reach me anytime. So long. 

For the hostages themselves, the ordeal was particularly awful. 

As they wasted away in a pit or a basement somewhere, they were 

often tortured. One American religious missionary, Herbert Gregg, 

spent eight months in captivity and had one of his fingers cut off. A 

twelve-year-old girl, Alia Geifman, the daughter of a businessman in 

the Volga city of Saratov, was kidnapped as she walked home from 

school and smuggled into Chechnya. The kidnappers demanded a 

$5 million ransom; they underlined their demand by cutting off 

two of her fingers, videotaping the operation, and sending the video 

clip to the parents. Alia Geifman was freed after seven months in 

captivity. 

On July 5, 1997, two British aid workers, Camilla Carr and Jon 

James, were kidnapped in Grozny. They had been working for a 

Quaker charity at a home for disturbed children in the Chechen cap­

ital. The British government resolutely stuck by its policy of never 

paying ransoms and discouraging others from doing so in order not 

to encourage further kidnappings. Fourteen months later, on Sep­

tember 20, 1998, the two victims were released. James had been 

beaten repeatedly, while Carr had been raped. Berezovsky proudly 

claimed credit for their release. He even sent his private plane to fly 
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them from Chechnya to London; to the press he boasted that he had 

helped procure the hostages' release by donating computers and 

medical aid to warlord Salman Raduyev.25 

Whether or not procuring the victims' freedom with "computers" 

and "medical aid" contradicted the British policy of not paying ran­

soms, Berezovsky's public boasts about the transaction could only 

serve to worsen the kidnapping spree in Chechnya. Indeed, two 

weeks after Camilla Carr and Jon James were released, four more 

foreigners working for a British telecommunications company­

three Britons and one New Zealander-were kidnapped in Grozny. 

The men had been working on a Chechen government contract to in­

stall a cellular phone system in the city; they were seized 500 meters 

from the headquarters of the Chechen government's antikidnapping 

police unit. Two weeks later, the head of the antikidnapping unit was 

blown up by a car bomb. 

For Chechen president Asian Maskhadov, who was trying to 

turn Chechnya into a normal member of the world community, the 

kidnapping spree was a disaster. Soon, all foreign aid organiza­

tions-from the Red Cross and Medecins Sans Frontieres to the UN 

High Commission on Refugees-fled Chechnya; foreign journalists 

and businessmen also gave Chechnya a wide berth. The country be­

came isolated-the only foreigners seemed to be Islamic fundamen­

talists from the Middle East. 

After the four British telecommunications workers were taken 

captive and his own antikidnapping chief was assassinated, Maskha­

dov decided he had had enough. Together with the president of 

the neighboring state of Ingushetia, Maskhadov declared to Russian 

and British newspapers that Berezovsky was financing Chechen 

organized-crime groups by repeatedly arranging ransom payments.26 

"This was part of [Russian] government policy," Maskhadov 

told me later. "High government officials [specifically Berezovsky] 

would arrive from Moscow with big sums of money. These kidnap­

pings were encouraged. They paid ransoms, maintained contact with 

them [the kidnappers], and ultimately attained their aim of discred­
iting the whole Chechen people. "27 
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Maskhadov's candor about the relationship between Russian 

ransom payments and the kidnapping spree only made things worse. 

A month later, on December 8, the severed heads of the four British 

telecommunications workers were found lined up on the side of a 

highway near Grozny. The headless bodies were found a week later. 

"This Was a Comedy and It Remains a Comedy" 

As Berezovsky played politics in Chechnya, he continued to push his 

own commercial projects, despite being a high official in the Russian 

government. In the spring of 1997, he vigorously lobbied the Russian 

Central Bank to license the Andava-Aeroflot relationship. In March 

1997, Izvestia carried detailed reports of his negotiations to buy 

Promstroi Bank, an institution linked to a convicted fraudster and 

embezzler, Grigory Lerner, who was languishing in an Israeli jail. 

(Berezovsky denied the Izvestia charges.)28 

But the biggest prize that spring was not some shady Moscow 

bank, nor was it the contract to manage the finances of Aeroflot. It was 

the oil company Sibneft, which Berezovsky and his partner, Roman 

Abramovich, had incorporated and taken under management in the 

first round of the loans-for-shares auctions in 1995. In the second and 

final round of the loans-for-shares auctions Russia's prime oil and 

metals properties would now formally pass into the hands of the fi­

nanciers, who had officially only held them as collateral. Each prop­

erty would be sold to the same company that had won the auction in 

1995 and which was consequently charged with organizing the auction 

in the second round. Sibneft was no exception. 

The man responsible for overseeing the second round of loans­

for-shares auctions, head of the GKI (State Property Committee) 

Alfred Kokh, argues that there is nothing suspicious about the or­

ganizers of the auctions ending up the winners. "This happens in any 

advanced country," says Kokh. "It is called underwriting." The big dif­
ference between the loans-for-shares auctions and some initial pub­

lic offering underwritten by a Goldman Sachs or Morgan Stanley 

was that this offering was meant to fail, with no outside bidders 
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showing up and the underwriter taking the stake for himself. But 
this, too, does not particularly bother Kokh. "Once we gave them 
[the oligarchs] the right to sell the enterprise, naturally they said: 
'For two years we have been investing our brains, time, and money 
into this enterprise. Now what am I supposed to do-sell it to some­
one else? Of course I will underwrite the offering completely. I will 
sell it to myself.' "29 

In the second stage of the loans-for-shares auctions, the buyers typ­
ically paid a premium of 1 percent or less over the starting price; the 
bids were as low as they had been in the first round. Potanin bought 
oil giant Sidanco for an implicit market value of $250 million-a 
fraction of the $5.7 billion market capitalization the company would 
command eight months later; Menatep's acquisition of oil company 
Yukos valued the company at $350 million, though it would have a 
market cap of $6.2 billion eight months later. "We couldn't get a bet­
ter price, because the bankers who took control of the enterprises 
under the loans-for-shares auctions were not idiots," Kokh says. 
"They structured the working capital in such a way that everything 
was indebted to their bank. If you were to sell the enterprise to 
someone else, tomorrow you would get bankruptcy proceedings 
against it. "30 

This time Kokh is right. Having squeezed the cash out of Russia's 
prime industrial companies, the financial companies who won the 
first round of the loans-for-shares auctions ensured that none of 
Russia's best industrial companies were financially viable on their 
own. "We are a group of bankrupt companies," Menatep's Mikhail 
Khodorkovsky admitted cheerfully to me. "The whole country is a 
bunch of bankrupt companies.'' At the same time, the intermedi­
aries-not only Khodorkovsky, but also Berezovsky and the other 
oligarchs-had grown fabulously wealthy.31 

On May 12, 1997, the 51 percent stake in Sibneft was auctioned 
off. The starting price was $101 million. Berezovsky's financial ve­
hicle, NFK (Oil Finance Company), was in charge of organizing the 
auction, which was structured to discourage outside bidders from 
participating. While in most of the other auctions bidders only had 
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to show a bank guarantee that they had the money, the bidders for Sib­

neft had to deposit $190 million in cash with NFK. If the bidder 

were to lose, he could get his money back only forty-five days later­

which gave NFK a substantial opportunity to make money off the 

float. Nevertheless, two serious outside bidders showed up: Alfa 

Bank and Onexim Bank. Alfred Kokh recounts how Berezovsky's 

team used the crudest possible measures to ensure that their rivals 

would not succeed. 

"Even the address in the advertisement [for the auction] turned 

out to be some house under construction," says Kokh. "When they 

[the bidders] went there, they found the entrance to be boarded up. 

All the same, they managed to find [the correct] address, went there, 

and were simply barred [by security guards] from entering the build­

ing. Then, when they [the NFK auction organizers] finally accepted 

the bids, they found a whole series of infractions-that this paper 

was blue, but it was supposed to be yellow, and so on." Alfa Bank was 

disqualified because it had apparently not brought all the necessary 

documentation, while Onexim Bank was disqualified because of an 

alleged violation of an obscure bank-transfer regulation regarding its 

deposit. "When I raised this issue with the prime minister, Viktor 

Stepanovich Chernomyrdin," Kokh recalls, "he told me: 'Don't 

interfere.' " 

The winner of the Sibneft auction submitted a bid for $110 million, 

just $9 million more than the starting price. The winner of the 1995 auc­

tion and the organizer of the 1997 auction was NFK (Oil Finance 

Company). The winner of the 1997 auction was called FNK (Finance 

Oil Company). No one knew for sure who was behind FNK. In pub­

lic Berezovsky strenuously denied any connection to the outfit. He was 

already known to be linked with the organizer of the auction, NFK; to 

admit to being the man behind the winner of the auction, FNK, would 

have revealed a conflict of interest. Moreover, Berezovsky was a gov­

ernment official and hence prohibited from engaging in commercial 

activity. The public was told that the owners of FNK were two sub­

sidiaries of Aleksandr Smolensky's SBS-Agro Bank (as Stolichny Bank 
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was now known). But there could be little doubt that the real owner of 

both NFK and FNK was the same man: Boris Berezovsky.32 

"This was a comedy and it remains a comedy," snorts Alfred 

Kokh. In fact, the actions of Berezovsky in acquiring Sibneft were so 

thinly disguised that the quote that comes to mind is Lebed's: "Bere­

zovsky ... is not satisfied with stealing-he wants everybody to see 

that he is stealing with impunity."33 

New Rules of the Game 

The second round of the loans-for-shares auctions was a piece of un­

finished business from the first Yeltsin term. Anatoly Chubais and 

the rest of the government were simply keeping their part of the bar­

gain that had been struck with the oligarchs to get Yeltsin reelected. 

But from now on, Chubais was determined to introduce a more civ­

ilized type of capitalism into Russia. 

President Yeltsin, too, decided it was time to pay attention to his 

reputation; perhaps his experience with open-heart surgery made 

him think of his historical legacy. In March 1997, his convalescence 

over, he returned to the Kremlin. His first measures were designed to 

shake up the government and revive the "reformist" zeal of the early 

years of his administration; he seemed determined to rein in the crony 

capitalism that had stained his regime. The banker and oligarch 

Vladimir Potanin was dismissed from his post as first deputy prime 

minister. In his place, Yeltsin appointed Anatoly Chubais and another 

"young reformer," Boris Nemtsov, the governor of Nizhni Nov­

gorod-a province that was a showcase of successful market reform. 

Not all of the representatives of crony capitalism were dismissed. 

Viktor Chernomyrdin remained prime minister. Boris Berezovsky 

stayed on the Security Council. And Berezovsky's old-time collabora­

tor, Valentin Yumashev, was brought in as Yeltsin's chief of staff. Still, 

Chubais was determined to break with the past. "Today in Russia, we 

have reached a crossroads between two forms of capitalism," he de­

clared. "One form is the oligarchic capitalism of the Latin American 
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type, in which market mechanisms function, which have free price 

formation and private property, but where all major decisions are 

made by the state, which is controlled by large financial and industrial 

groups. The second model can be described as people's capitalism. 

The economic rules in this system are the same for every participant, 

regardless of size. It also means that the antitrust policy of the state is 

applied to everyone, including the largest financial groups. Further­

more, it means that the state is separate from business and that busi­

ness plays by the rules established by the state."34 

This was indeed a new Anatoly Chubais. He wanted to change the 

rules according to which Russia's oligarchs had won their power and 

wealth. Naturally, the oligarchs found this unacceptable. "You cannot 

play according to one set of rules and then declare that from four 

o'clock tomorrow morning you are establishing a new set of rules," 

Berezovsky declared. "Chubais is trying to break the government 

and big capital. But big capital is the real support of the government 

today."35 

Berezovsky repeatedly reminded the first deputy prime minister 

that he had been "hired" by the top businessmen to run the Yeltsin 

election campaign and, later, the Russian government. Chubais, 

however, was determined to assert his independence. "It sounds as if 

the board of directors of Russia has hired its chief executive officer," 

he noted acidly.36 

In the brief period that Chubais and Nemtsov held the upper 

hand in the Kremlin, Berezovsky suffered two of the biggest business 

reverses of his career. The first concerned the natural-gas monopoly, 

Gazprom. This was Russia's wealthiest company; in natural-resource 

terms, it was arguably the wealthiest private company in the world. 

Gazprom owned a third of the planet's natural-gas reserves and 

dominated the gas markets of Russia and Europe. In June 1997, 

Berezovsky convinced Prime Minister Chernomyrdin to name him 

chairman of Gazprom, but the appointment was blocked at the last 

moment by First Deputy Prime Minister Boris Nemtsov.37 

The second reversal for Berezovsky occurred during the privati­

zation of the telecommunications monopoly, Svyazinvest. This hold-
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ing company controlled Russia's long-distance and regional phone 
companies. The government had long spoken of privatizing a por­
tion of Svyazinvest. In 1995, the Italian telecommunications com­
pany Stet was promised a 49 percent stake in the company. This deal 
was never consummated. Next, a consortium of Western banks­
NM Rothschild, ING Barings, and MC Securities-was awarded the 
right to organize a $1 billion public offering for the Svyazinvest 
stake. But at the last minute, this deal, too, was canceled. Two Rus­
sian conglomerates, Vladimir Gusinsky's Most Group and Pyotr 
Aven's Alfa Group, convinced the government that Svyazinvest must 
remain in Russian hands; Gusinsky, in particular, was interested in 
Svyazinvest, since the telecom monopoly had the power to set the 
transmission rates for NTV. In late November 1996, the government 
ordered that the Most Group and Alfa Group be allowed to pur­
chase the 49 percent Svyazinvest stake at a price determined by in­
dependent analysts. This was widely interpreted as payback for the 
contributions of Most and Alfa to the 1996 presidential campaign.38 

Chubais changed the plans for Svyazinvest once again. Now only 
a blocking share (25 percent plus one share) would be privatized 
and it would be sold to the highest bidder at auction. Two rivals 
emerged. One was Vladimir Potanin's Onexim Bank, backed up 
by Renaissance Capital, Deutsche Morgan Grenfell, Morgan Stan­
ley Asset Management, and, most important, hedge fund operator 
George Soros. The other bidder was Vladimir Gusinsky's Most 
Group, together with Alfa Bank, Credit Suisse First Boston, and the 
Spanish company Telef6nica. Gusinsky's most important supporter, 
however, was Berezovsky. 

In mid-July, with only a few days remaining before the Svyazin­
vest auction, Gusinsky and Berezovsky flew to see Anatoly Chubais, 
who was relaxing near St.-Tropez, at the villa of a friend-a Moroc­
can commodities trader who had done some big deals in Russia. 
Their rival, Vladimir Potanin, also showed up. The three businessmen 
arrived in the evening, spent four hours negotiating with Chubais, 

and then flew back. 
"A significant part of the discussion was devoted to the rules of 
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the game," Potanin recalls, "to the fact that these rules, which were 

pretty strict, but fair, were being introduced quickly. Berezovsky, as I 

understood him, thought that these rules ... should be introduced 

more gradually, because they were affecting the interests of those 

who weren't ready for them [i.e., Gusinsky]. Berezovsky argued that 

[Gusinsky's] consortium had done a lot to make this deal possible, that 

it had worked on it, that it could expect some kind of preferential 

treatment." 

Gusinsky, for his part, used the same argument he had once 

made in pushing through the privatization of Channel4 and the cre­

ation of NTV. He had spent a lot of time overseeing the privatization, 

and after all those efforts, it would be unfair to let someone else walk 

away with the company. Gusinsky's argument was strengthened by the 

fact that, except for Chanr.el4, he had not participated in the distri­

bution of federal assets; he had not taken part in either the voucher 

privatizations or the loans-for-shares auctions. In case this kind of 

reasoning with Chubais failed, Gusinsky and Berezovsky issued 

threats. "It was made clear to me and to Chubais that if the other 

consortium was unsuccessful in the Svyazinvest auction, they would 

be dissatisfied and would use various means of exerting ... well, let's 

say, various means of influence, even to the point of unleashing a 

media war or destroying the deal," Potanin recalls.39 

Gusinsky said his consortium could offer $1.2 billion; Potanin 

said he would pay $1.6 billion. "Gusinsky thought, as I understood 

him, that we shouldn't participate [in the Svyazinvest auction], that 

we should take on some other project," Potanin would later recall. Ac­

cording to some reports, Berezovsky and Gusinsky offered Potanin 

lucrative incentives to step aside: control over the government equity 

stake of Russia's electricity monopoly or victory in the privatization 

of the last big state oil company, Rosneft. Potanin felt obligated to 

bid at the Svyazinvest auction. "I didn't believe that I could refuse to 

participate, because that would not have been in the commercial in­

terests of our group, our investors, and our partners," he recalls. 

"And Chubais didn't think he could support this kind of proposal 
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[Potanin's withdrawal], because as a result of competitive bidding 
there would be a higher price and more money for the budget. "40 

On July 25 the Svyazinvest auction took place. The starting price 
was $1.2 billion. Gusinsky's consortium offered $1.7 billion, while 
Potanin's consortium offered $1.9 billion. Potanin's company (a 
Cyprus-registered front called Mustcom) had offered nearly twice 
the sum that the government had received in all the loans-for-shares 
auctions. Nonetheless, the Berezovsky-Gusinsky camp immediately 
claimed foul play. 

The day after the auction, the press war began. Sergei Dorenko, 
Berezovsky's star news anchor on ORT, broadcast two scathing reports 
on the corrupt nature of the Onexim Bank alliance. Initially, the 
Berezovsky-Gusinsky camp focused on the "discovery" that Potanin's 
bid was largely underwritten by the "speculator" George Soros. 
"Some people think money doesn't smell," Gusinsky declared. "For 
me, personally, money stinks. "41 

This line of attack failed. So Gusinsky made a public threat. "I 
think in the near future there will be new information, which will be­
come public and will answer your question about whether there was 
an inside deal [on Svyazinvest] or not," he told the press.42 

Within two weeks, Russian newspapers broke the story that the 
man in charge of the Svyazinvest auction, Chubais's friend Alfred 
Kokh, had taken a $100,000 "bribe" from Onexim Bank in January 
1997. It was actually a book advance paid by a Swiss trading company 
linked to Onexim Bank. Kokh was dismissed from the government 
and the prosecutor-general's office began an investigation. Kokh pub­
lished the book a year later and prosecutors failed to produce a con­
viction, but the book advance represented a clear conflict of interest.43 

In the aftermath of the Svyazinvest auction, Chubais found him­
self so besieged that his life seemed to be in danger. On August 18, 
three weeks after the auction, Chubais's young reformers were sub­
jected to real violence for the first time. That day, in St. Petersburg, 
one of Chubais's closest colleagues, Deputy Mayor Mikhail 
Manevich, was driving along Nevsky Prospekt with his wife when he 
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was shot by a sniper. Manevich was killed and his wife wounded. 

The attack, carried out in the middle of the day on St. Petersburg's 

central thoroughfare, was a brazen show of force. Though police 

later arrested individuals suspected of having carried out the nit, it was 

never discovered who ordered Manevich's assassination and why. 

Chubais felt the threat personally. In the following months, the cor­

ridors of Russian government headquarters (the White House) 

buzzed with rumors of assassination plots against the first deputy 
prime minister.44 

On November 4, 1997, Chubais and Nemtsov visited President 

Yeltsin at his dacha. "We were met by Tatyana [Dyachenko] and 

Valentin [Yumashev]," recalls Nemtsov. "They told me, 'You are 

making the biggest mistake of your career.' I was taken aback-they 

were so pale-and I said, 'Well, maybe, but I am acting according to 

my principles.'" Chubais and Nemtsov spent several hours convinc­

ing Yeltsin that Berezovsky had stepped over the line. Government 

officials were prohibited by law from pursuing business deals while 

in office, but Berezovsky had done so with relish. He had lobbied the 

Central Bank on behalf of his Swiss financial company, Andava. He 

had attempted to take over Gazprom. He had meddled blatantly in 

the Svyazinvest auction. In short, he was the most notorious repre­

sentative of the crony capitalism that sullied the image of the Yeltsin 

government. Nemtsov-who remained untouched by any scan­

dals-spoke of the need to abolish "gangster capitalism.'' The next 

day, Berezovsky was dismissed from the Security Council.45 

A week later, Russian newspapers revealed that Anatoly Chubais 

had done much the same thing as his subordinate Kokh. He and four 

other young reformers in the government admitted to receiving book 

advances of $90,000 each from a publisher linked to Onexim Bank. 

(Again, the book was published two years later, though that didn't 

lessen the conflict of interest.) By Russian standards, this was minor 

corruption; the sums were trivial compared to the hundreds of mil­

lions that were routinely looted from state coffers by crony capitalists. 

Moreover, the precedent for using book publishing contracts to gain 

favor with top government officials had been set by Boris Bere-
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zovsky, when he published President Yeltsin's memoirs in 1994. But 

since the charges concerned Chubais and other young reformers and 

since the scandal came on the heels of revelations that Chubais had 

received a $3 million interest-free loan from Stolichny Bank in Feb­

ruary 1996, Chubais's ability to serve as the standard-bearer of fair­

ness and reform was destroyed.46 

"I agree with Gusinsky, who said that Chubais for him is not a 

deputy prime minister, but a competitor," Berezovsky declared to 

the press.47 

Yuksi 

The war between the Chubais-Potanin and Berezovsky clans now 

moved to the oil industry. The government announced that it would 

privatize Rosneft, the holding company that owned the remaining 

state oil fields. Berezovsky and his partner, the young oil trader 

Roman Abramovich, made the first move by engineering the removal 

of Rosneft's general director, Aleksandr Putilov-a Lukoil man­

and replacing him with one of their men. But at the last minute the 

privatization auction of Rosneft was postponed because of the grow­

ing financial crisis in Asia. 

At Sibneft, meanwhile, Berezovsky was proving to be a mediocre 

oilman. He had succeeded in taking control of this company, sharing 

it 50-50 with Abramovich, but even with massive tax breaks, Sibneft 

remained a highly indebted company; it continued to sell the same 

amount of oil to the same clients. Berezovsky and his partner fol­

lowed the same recipe (the "privatization of profits") that had been 

so effectively applied to Avtovaz and Aeroflot: they surrounded Sib­

neft with predatory intermediaries. The chief intermediary in this 

case was Roman Abramovich's trading company, Runicom, regis­

tered in Gibraltar, based in Geneva. This outfit sold Sibneft's oil and 

oil products for good cash, but delayed paying Sibneft for the ship­

ments. The oil giant's financial statements showed that at the end of 

1997 Runicom owed Sibneft $30 million; in 1998, this figure rose to 

$45 million. Moreover, in 1998 Sibneft gave Runicom an interest-free 
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loan of $124 million, supposedly to import equipment, though the 

equipment never arrived and Runicom later returned the money. It 

helped that the general director of Sibneft was a longtime Runicom 

executive. Such self-dealing on the part of Abramovich and his 

deputy clearly harmed the interests of outside shareholders, but it 

was advantageous for the shareholders of Runicom.48 

In the winter of 1997-98, with the prospects of privatizing state­

owned Rosneft fading, Berezovsky decided to reduce his exposure 

to the oil business. He decided to merge Sibneft with Russia's 

second-largest oil producer, Yukos, controlled by Menatep's Mikhail 

Khodorkovsky. The resulting giant, named Yuksi, would be 60 per­

cent owned by the shareholders of Yukos and 40 percent owned by 

the shareholders of Sibneft; in terms of oil production and reserves, 

Yuksi would be the third-largest private oil company in the world. 

Despite weathering several storms in the privatization of Sibneft 

in 1995-the drowning of the director of the Omsk Refinery and 

the arrest of the owners of Balkar Trading-Berezovsky was letting 

the company go. At heart he was a corporate raider. He excelled at 

taking over companies, but he did not have much aptitude for actu­

ally running them. The oil business, with its long time horizons and 

huge capital investments, was not suited to his character and he was 

not interested in managing a company. The Yuksi merger, therefore, 

was a great move-not only because it was a profitable way for 

Berezovsky to reduce his exposure to Sibneft, but also because it 

united the leading anti-Chubais oligarchs (Berezovsky, Gusinsky, 

Smolensky, and Khodorkovsky) as shareholders in the new com­

pany. On January 19, 1998, the Yuksi merger was announced at a 

triumphal press conference attended by Prime Minister Cher­
nomyrdin and Fuel and Energy Minister Sergei Kiriyenko. Bere­

zovsky, who only a few months previously had styled himself a civil 

servant, flaunted his control of Sibneft and boasted of his key role in 
arranging the merger.49 

Five months later, the merger collapsed. Berezovsky had not 
counted on the resistance of his co-owner at Sibneft, Roman 

Abramovich. Unlike Berezovsky, who was involved in a wide array of 
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businesses, Abramovich was solely focused on oil. Though initially 

agreeing to the merger, Abramovich demanded a higher price than 

Yuk.os was willing to pay. When the deal collapsed, Abramovich was 

left with his controlling stake in Sibneft and his lucrative oil-trading 

contracts. Berezovsky, however, proceeded to reduce his stake in 

Sibneft (he did retain an important minority stake) and move on.50 

The Financial Crash 

By the beginning of 1998, the Russian economy was once again on the 

brink of disaster. The government had not fulfilled its promise to pay 

back wages to the army and other state employees. Plunging T-bill 

prices indicated that government finances were precarious. Someone 

had to accept the blame for Boris Yeltsin's failure to revive the coun­

try the year before. Berezovsky publicly predicted who the fall guy 

would be. "I am sure that Chubais has only a few weeks, if not days, 

left in the government," he told Kommersant. "He will leave the gov­

ernment and, of course, this will happen with the full approval of the 

president. "51 

Yeltsin had a predictable annual routine. Every year, he would 

rouse himself from his winter torpor and shake up the Russian polit­

ical scene. On March 23, 1998 (ten days after Berezovsky's prediction), 

Yeltsin announced that he was firing Chubais. More surprising, 

Yeltsin also fired his longtime prime minister, Viktor Chernomyrdin. 

That same day, Yeltsin called in his minister of fuel and energy, 

Sergei Kiriyenko, and informed him that he was now prime minister. 

"For me it was completely unexpected," Kiriyenko recalls. "Before, 

in my whole life, I had met Yeltsin only twice."52 

The decision to fire Chernomyrdin and appoint Kiriyenko had 

been made not so much by Yeltsin himself as by Yeltsin's closest ad­

visers, principally his daughter Tanya Dyachenko and his chief of 

staff, Valentin Yumashev. Berezovsky, too, had recommended firing 

Chernomyrdin, although he had been opposed to Kiriyenko as the 

replacement.53 

Berezovsky had reason to oppose Kiriyenko. First, he was a 
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young reformer, close to Chubais and Nemtsov. Second, during his 

time at the fuel and energy ministry, Kiriyenko had resisted attempts 

to rig the privatization of Rosneft in favor of Berezovsky and the 

other oligarchs. 

Superficially, Kiriyenko's appointment seemed to be good news 

for Russia. The slow-moving Chernomyrdin had long epitomized the 

corruption and incompetence of the Yeltsin regime, while Anatoly 

Chubais's reputation had been irreparably damaged by the book 

scandal. But the dismissal of both men upset the delicate balance 

that had kept the different factions within the Yeltsin entourage 

from destroying one another and bringing down the whole regime in 

the process.54 

Berezovsky's press organs led the fight against Kiriyenko. The 

tycoon was supported by the Communist Party; twice, the 

Communist-dominated Duma refused to approve Kiriyenko's ap­

pointment. Finally, on April 24, Kiriyenko managed to garner 

enough votes to become the new prime minister. By this time, Bere­

zovsky had managed to convince the Kremlin to let him back into 

the government: On April 29, he was appointed executive secretary 

of the Commonwealth of Independent States, the largely symbolic 

trade association uniting most of the states of the former Soviet 

Union. Almost immediately Kiriyenko was subjected to in1mense 

pressure to appoint agents of the oligarchs to the government staff. 

When it became clear that he would not bend to their will, the oli­

garchs began to undermine his administration. 

On May 12, Siberian coal miners went on strike to protest the 

continual delays in paying their meager wages; the miners shut down 

the pits and, more important, blocked the Trans-Siberian Railroad 

for two weeks in July, causing hundreds of millions of dollars in dam­

age to the Russian economy. One group of miners camped out in 

front of Kiriyenko's government headquarters; Berezovsky and 

Gusinsky's TV networks featured them regularly on the evening 

news with their placards, meetings, and concerts. There was nothing 

strange about the long-suffering miners protesting their fate, but the 

timing of the protest was odd. In a thinly veiled fashion, Kiriyenko ac-
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cused Berezovsky and other oligarchs of financing the miners' 

protests against his government. "The sudden organization of the 

miners' protest in the spring was not an accident," he told me later. 

"I don't want to go into details ... but these coal miners' strikes were 

encouraged and financed to some degree."" 

Kiriyenko was also facing significant financial pressure from the 

oligarchs. He would not have been hurt so badly by the oligarchs' 

opposition if the financial position of the government had not been 

so vulnerable, but Chubais, Kiriyenko, and other young reformers 

had grossly mismanaged the government's finances. The most prof­

itable parts of Russian industry had been given away to a handful of 

unscrupulous tycoons, who proceeded to strip the assets, avoid pay­

ing taxes, and squirrel their newfound wealth offshore. Having built 

up these private business empires at the expense of the Russian state 

and the majority of the Russian population, the government found it­

self essentially bankrupt. To avoid financing its yawning budget 

deficit by printing money and unleashing a new bout of hyperinfla­

tion, the government simply refused to pay the army, the schools, the 

hospitals, and the pensioners. It also borrowed heavily from the very 

banks it had subsidized with government funds and assets a few 

years earlier. 

The primary form of government debt was the zero-coupon T-hill 

(GKO), usually with a three-month maturity. As designed by 

Chubais, the GKO market represented another massive subsidy to 

Russian banks at the expense of the Russian treasury. Only Russian 

banks were permitted to buy GKOs; foreign institutions were ex­

cluded. With competition at the GKO auctions thus limited to a few 

Russian institutions, the annualized yield on these securities ranged 

from 60 percent to 200 percent in dollar terms in 1995-98. If foreign 

banks, with their huge funds, had been allowed into the GKO 

market at this time, the yields would have been a fraction of this 
astronomical rate. The government's T-hill policy ruined Russia's 

domestic credit market-what company could borrow funds at dollar­

based interest rates of 100 percent?-and bankrupted the govern­

ment with high debt-service costs. The banks that collected these 
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huge interest earnings-Onexim, Menatep, Alfa, and Stolichny, 

among others-put almost nothing back into the Russian economy. 

The most dramatic increase in GKO emissions came in 1996, when 

the Y eltsin regime needed a quick infusion of cash to boost the 

economy during the elections, but the emissions continued to rise 

with every year, reaching $70 billion two years later. By the time 

Kiriyenko became prime minister, all the proceeds of new GKO 
emissions went to pay off the old GKOs. The GKO operation had put 

the Russian government on a treadmill and now the treadmill was 

moving too fast for the government to keep up. With the govern­

ment forced to sell more GKOs at ever higher interest rates simply 

to service its debt, it was clear that something would have to give. 

The GKO operation had become a pyramid scheme.56 

In April and May, Russian banks began unloading their GKOs en 

masse. Ironically, it was not the foreign institutions that led the flight 

out of the GKO market, but Russia's supposedly patriotic, home­

grown banks. The giant Berezovsky-linked bank, SBS-Agro, and 

other well-connected financial institutions were desperate for new 

government subsidies, and when they did not get them, they had no 

choice but to liquidate their government securities portfolio. 

"Why was there such an acute conflict between Berezovsky and 

SBS-Agro on the one hand and the government on the other?" ob­

serves Kiriyenko. "These banks had grown up at a time of hyperin­

flation, when it was possible to benefit from state monetary outflows, 

and when state property was divided up [at minimal cost]. These 

banks were unable to survive without the constant inflow of state 

funds. SBS-Agro was basically bankrupt by June or July."57 

In late June, the oligarchs briefly reunited in a meeting reminis­

cent of the Group of 13 and placed their demands before the gov­

ernment. "The representatives of big business told us that it was 

imperative to create a council of economic mutual aid," Kiriyenko 

recalls. "This would be a council of oligarchs, which would give the 

government recommendations and advice. They made us under­
stand that if the government agreed to the creation of such a council, 
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they would support [the government]. Otherwise the oligarchs 

would pursue policies to bring this government down." 

Kiriyenko refused. He continued to insist that Russia's top 

financial-industrial groups pay their taxes and he rejected their pleas 

for a bailout. Berezovsky and his allies continued to talk down the Rus­

sian market, while fleeing the GKOs as fast as they could; at the same 

time, their media outlets portrayed the Kiriyenko government as an 

ineffectual, fly-by-night administration. The crisis of confidence in 

the Kiriyenko government and the Russian economy deepened. 

To avert the looming catastrophe, President Yeltsin recalled his 

disgraced former economics czar, Anatoly Chubais. Chubais was still 

the official most trusted by Western financial institutions; if anyone 

could negotiate a new loan with the IMF, he could. By falsifying 

some financial figures and hiding the catastrophic state of the Russian 

economy, Chubais managed to convince the IMF and several com­

mercial banks to put together a $23 billion loan package. (Later, 

Chubais would tell the Russian press how the government had mis­

led foreign creditors: "We ripped them off.") The first IMF installment 

($5 billion) disappeared within days, sold to well-connected Russian 

banks desperate to unload their rubles.58 

On August 17, 1998, the GKO pyramid collapsed. The Russian 

government announced that it was dropping its support for the ruble. 

Within weeks, the ruble lost three quarters of its value and inflation 

increased to more than 100 percent on an annualized basis. Western 

investors were hit in several ways at once. First, the ruble was deval­

ued massively; second, the government suspended its service of the 

GKOs and most other government securities; finally, the government 

declared a ninety-day moratorium on Russian banks honoring their 

foreign currency commitments. According to some estimates, foreign 

banks and investors lost $40 billion in the Russian debt market and 

$8 billion in the equities market; other estimates put the combined 

losses at more than $100 billion. In the aftermath of the crash, stock 

markets around the world plunged 5 percent or 10 percent or more; 

such institutions as Citibank, Chase, BankAmerica, and Credit Suisse 
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declared that most of their profits that year had been wiped out by 

the collapse. Russian losses caused a major hedge fund, Long-Term 

Capital Management, to collapse spectacularly-so big was the threat 

to the world monetary system from this collapse and other aftershocks 

of the Russian crisis that the U.S. Federal Reserve felt obliged to or­

ganize a bailout of the hedge fund. The world's most famous hedge 

fund operator, George Soros, saw his investments in Russia, including 

the $1 billion invested in the telecoms holding Svyazinvest, almost 

completely destroyed by the financial collapse. "I was fully aware that 

the robber-capitalist system was unsound and unsustainable and I 

was quite vocal about it; nevertheless I allowed myself to be sucked into 

the Svyazinvest deal," Soros would later write. "It was the worst in­

vestment of my professional career."59 

As most of Russia's commercial banks collapsed during the de­

valuation, ordinary Russian citizens once again saw their savings de­

stroyed. The financial crash symbolized the final breakdown of 

Russia's post-Communist economic reform. In the midst of all the 

failures of the Yeltsin era, Chubais and the young reformers could at 

least claim one success: stabilizing the ruble and taming inflation. 

This monetary stabilization was the reason the young reformers had 

subjected the Russian population to such suffering-why the econ­

omy had been reduced to half its former size, why salaries were left 

unpaid, why social services were allowed to break down. Now the 

monetary policy, like the rest of the Russian economy, lay in ruins. 

On August 23, less than a week after the crash, Yeltsin fired 

Prime Minister Kiriyenko and his entire cabinet. Berezovsky and the 

other oligarchs had attained their goal of bringing down Kiriyenko, 

but in the process they had hastened the collapse of the Russian 

economy and destroyed much of their own personal wealth. Now 

that the young reformers had been routed, the political momentum 

seemed on Berezovsky's side. At his urging, Yeltsin chose the old 

stalwart, Viktor Chernomyrdin, as his next prime minister. It was a dis­
tinctly uninspired choice. Chernomyrdin was widely regarded as in­

competent and corrupt; moreover he was being returned to a post 
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from which he had been fired five months earlier. This time both 
Berezovsky and Yeltsin were blocked by unprecedented opposition 

from the parliament. Twice the Communist-dominated Duma re­

fused to ratify Chernomyrdin, despite heavy pressure from the 

Yeltsin camp. Finally, facing the prospect of a constitutional crisis in 

addition to the economic disaster, Yeltsin withdrew Chernomyrdin's 

candidacy. On September 10, he nominated a man acceptable to the 

parliament, former foreign intelligence chief and foreign minister, 

Yevgeny Primakov. The sixty-eight-year-old Primakov was regarded 

as clean, patriotic, and conservative. His nomination was ratified by 

the Duma the next day. 



CHAPTER TEN 

VLADIMIR PUTIN 

TAKES POWER 

Eavesdropping on the President 

The alarmist predictions about Primakov's ushering in Communist 

economic policies or printing money and presiding over a bout of 

hyperinflation never materialized. The ruble stabilized, inflation de­

creased, business confidence began to recover. Primakov's diplo­

matic manner helped create a new political consensus in Russia while 

his plodding, old-fashioned way of speaking reassured the public. 

For Berezovsky, however, Primakov represented a threat. The fi­

nancial crash had discredited Yeltsin and his entourage. With Pri­

makov's appointment, political power shifted to the prime minister and 

the Duma. Both the Duma and Primakov's government were staffed 

largely with either Communists or patriotic liberals, both equally 

hostile to crony capitalism. There was talk of Yeltsin's serving out his 

term in a strictly symbolic role, with real power left in the hands of 

Primakov and his ministers. There were also rumors about bringing 

the more rapacious businessmen to justice. 

Berezovsky's influence on the Yeltsin family was weakening. He 

no longer held exclusive claim to being what the press discreetly 

called the family's "financial adviser." Yeltsin's daughters and sons-in­

law had developed relationships with other businessmen, including 

Berezovsky's partner, Roman Abramovich, whose nickname inside 

284 
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the Yeltsin family, according to General Korzhakov, was "the 

Cashier." While these and other financial relationships would be ex­

posed only later, top Russian government officials such as former 

Prime Minister Sergei Kiriyenko began to notice that Berezovsky 

was losing his control over the Kremlin inner circle. 1 

"After spending five months at my job, I got the impression that 

all the stories that Berezovsky tells about his ability to influence the 

president directly is pure fiction," Kiriyenko told me. "Berezovsky is 

able to project a demonic image quite brilliantly. He does this thanks 

to the fact that he has access to good information, and as soon as he 

finds out that someone, somewhere, is trying to do something, he im­

mediately appears in public with a similar suggestion, so that the 

next day, everyone will think that it was done because Berezovsky 
mentioned it. "2 

Berezovsky got his information on the inner workings of the 

Yeltsin administration in two ways. He continued to maintain close 

contact with key members of Yeltsin's staff and he employed surveil­

lance technology to listen in on important people's phone calls. He 

used the services of a powerful private intelligence agency called 

Atoll, which he had set up several years earlier with the help of 

General Korzhakov's SBP; Atoll was equipped with state-of-the-art 

surveillance technology. While many big businesses in Russia main­

tained their own intelligence agencies, Berezovsky's outfit was spe­

cial. It was engaged, according to Russian prosecutors' allegations, in 
spying on the Yeltsin family.3 

"When the press began to write about the financial relations of 

Tanya Dyachenko and Berezovsky [in 1998], the president's daugh­

ter decided to terminate her relationship with Berezovsky," remem­

bers General Korzhakov. "But he began to blackmail her, promising 

that he would tell the press the whole truth about the finances of the 

president's family. "4 

In the autumn of 1998, several fly-by-night Websites posted the 

transcripts of intercepted telephone conversations between top gov­

ernment officials. Among the transcripts were numerous discussions 
between Berezovsky and Tanya Dyachenko. Although the pages were 
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withdrawn after a few days and the transcripts seemed to contain 

little incriminating information, the Russian prosecutor's office sus­

pected that Atoll was behind the operation and that the Website was 

meant as a warning to Dyachenko and others in the Ye!tsin en­

tourage that dirty laundry could be aired very quickly.5 

The telephone intercepts forced the hand of the Primakov gov­

ernment. It decided to move against Berezovsky. 

Arrest Warrant 

As I prepared for a trip to Russia in the winter of 1998-99 to continue 

my investigations on Berezovsky, I was warned by former Foreign 

Trade Minister Oleg Davydov that the situation in the country was 

tense. Galina Staravoitova, a liberal woman parliamentarian and a 

friend of Chubais's, had just been assassinated in the lobby of her 

apartment house in St. Petersburg. This was not a good time to start 

digging up stuff on Berezovsky, Davydov said. 

"With a guy like that, you have to be very careful," Davydov told 

me. "He has contacts with the criminal world, so to speak. Therefore 

you have to conduct all these matters with him carefully. Over there 

we don't talk-we shoot. Or there are compromising materials that 

appear in the papers. I think that ... if you try to collect information 

about [Berezovsky] in Russia, you will run into problems .... They 

can do anything. What they did with Staravoitova is only one thing. 

With a foreign journalist they aren't going to think twice about it."6 

In fact, Russia was becoming a safer place. The government of 

Yevgeny Primakov was launching the first concerted crackdown on 

organized crime since the fall of Communism. Investigations were 

begun of numerous famous people; the prosecutors seemed deter­

mined to uncover the links between the Yeltsin entourage and the 

bandit capitalists. During my stay in Moscow that winter, I unwit­

tingly witnessed the beginning of the crackdown on the empire of 

Boris Berezovsky. 

On the morning of February 2, 1999, I was standing by the win-
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dow of my room in the Hotel Baltschug, enjoying a cup of coffee and 

looking at the pink dawn over the roofs of Moscow. Suddenly, three 

white vans screeched up to the building across the street. A dozen men 

in face masks, camouflage uniforms, and automatic rifles jumped 

out. Then, accompanied by other men in brown leather jackets, car­

rying briefcases and video cameras, they entered the building. 

It was the headquarters of Sibneft. The raiders were members of 

the police and the prosecutor-general's office. Officially, the police 

were looking for evidence connected with Berezovsky's private intel­

ligence service, Atoll. The next day the prosecutor-general's office 

announced that it had opened a criminal case against Andava and 

Porus Services for alleged money-laundering and currency-law vio­

lations connected to Aeroflot. Again, the prosecutor-general's of­

fice was looking for much more-it was investigating suspected 

fraud, embezzlement, and tax evasion perpetrated by a network of 

Berezovsky-linked companies. Aeroflot's offices were raided, as were 

those of NFQ (advertising company) and FOK (financial company). 

On the same day that police searched Aeroflot's offices Yeltsin's 

son-in-law Valery Okulov fired nine top managers and directors-in­

cluding the remaining Berezovsky appointees. He also announced 

that he was terminating the special relationship between Andava and 

Aeroflot.7 

Berezovsky's primary TV network, ORT, was cut off from gov­

ernment subsidies and subject to bankruptcy proceedings. ORT's 

advertising chief, Sergei Lisovsky, was raided by the tax police. Bere­

zovsky fought back by obtaining the promise of Australian media 

magnate Rupert Murdoch to invest in the network. Meanwhile, Atoll, 

the Berezovsky-linked intelligence agency, was shut down, pending 

an investigation. The first half of 1999 witnessed numerous criminal 

cases against various individuals and companies-all of them offi­

cially unrelated, but all of them somehow linked to Berezovsky. 

The outfit investigating organized crime at automaker Avtovaz 

was the Samara division of the MVD. Mter the headquarters of the 

Samara MVD were destroyed in a fire in February 1999 (consuming 



288 GODFATHER OF THE KREMLIN 

all the documents inside and killing at least sixty people), the MVD an­

nounced that it was opening a criminal case against fraud and money­

laundering at the automaker. At the same time, the prosecutor-general's 

office began criminal proceedings against Aleksandr Smolcnsky of 

SBS-Agro Bank. Smolensky was Berezovsky's closest ally among the big 

Russian bankers; SBS-Agro, in which Berezovsky reputedly held a 25 
percent share, was the third-largest bank in Russia and the authorized 

bank of the Presidential Administration. Smolensky himself was ac­

cused of embezzlement in connection with the Chechen bank fraud 

of 1992-93, though this case would later be dropped. Prosecutors 

also opened an embezzlement and money-laundering case against 

Anatoly Bykov, a Berezovsky ally in the aluminum business.8 

The prosecutor-general, Yuri Skuratov, was also presiding over 

an investigation of 780 top government officials on the suspicion that 

they had used inside information to play the GKO market. Among 

the suspects Skuratov named publicly were Anatoly Chubais and 

several other young reformers. The inside knowledge of the govern­

ment's financial strategy had apparently enabled government offi­

cials to cash out of the government securities market in the summer 

of 1998 and to transfer their profits to foreign currency accounts 

abroad just before the GKO market was suspended and the ruble 

crashed.9 

The Russian government's newfound zeal in going after the big 

crooks and criminals in early 1999 was echoed abroad. The collapse 

of the ruble the previous summer had convinced the West of the 

folly of supporting a Russian government that connived with a 

handful of crony capitalists to loot the country. Western govern­

ments were finally curbing the money-laundering resulting from the 

oligarchs' depredations in Russia. In the autumn of 1998, the U.S. 

Treasury Department, together with the FBI and the Justice De­

partment, began a secret money-laundering investigation into at 

least $7 billion funneled out of Russia through the Bank of New 

York. Federal officials disclosed that at least part of this money 

came from criminal activities such as kidnapping. The source of the 

rest of the funds was less clear. It was now apparent that even the 
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most venerable American financial institutions had been infected by 

Russian organized crime. 

The most suspicious portion of the Bank of New York money 

flow originated with a group of obscure Moscow institutions: Fla­

mingo Bank, Sobin Bank, DKB, and MDM Bank-all at least partly 

owned by SBS-Agro. Among the managers of these banks were sev­

eral close friends of Berezovsky and Roman Abramovich. American 

investigators found no immediate evidence that either Berezovsky, 

Abramovich, or Aleksandr Smolensky was aware of the alleged 

money-laundering activities of their obscure affiliates, but the fact 

that SBS-Agro was named in the Bank of New York investigation 

posed potential problems for Berezovsky in the future. 10 

In Switzerland the federal prosecutor's office began investigating 

several cases of alleged embezzlement and money-laundering perpe­

trated by top Russian officials. The most famous of these involved 

bribes allegedly given by the Swiss-Albanian construction company 

Mabetex to Pavel Borodin (the Yeltsin crony who managed the 

Kremlin's real-estate holdings) and to members of the Yeltsin family. 

The Swiss also began to focus on Berezovsky and his shenanigans 

with Aeroflot's foreign cash flows. In the early summer of 1999, 

Swiss prosecutors raided Andava, Porus, and a number of other 

Swiss enterprises linked to Berezovsky; they also froze these compa­

nies' bank accounts, as well as the personal bank accounts of Bere­

zovsky, his Aeroflot partner, Nikolai Glushkov, and numerous other 

individuals connected with the operation. Later that summer, when 

Berezovsky requested entry into Switzerland for medical treatment (he 

was rumored to have hepatitis), he was denied an entry visa. 11 

With Berezovsky being pressed by law-enforcement agencies at 

home and abroad, President Yeltsin had no choice but to jettison 

his longtime companion once again. On April2, 1999, Berezovsky 

was dismissed from the post of executive secretary of the Common­

wealth of Independent States. On April 6, because both Berezov­

sky and Glushkov failed to present themselves to answer questions 

on the Aeroflot case, the prosecutor-gener~l's office issued warrants 

for their arrest. The charges were "illegal business activities" and 
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"money-laundering." The arrest warrants were transmitted to Inter­

pol, obligating foreign governments to arrest Berezovsky and Glush­

kov on sight.12 

Berezovsky remained remarkably cool. When the wartant was 

announced, he was in Paris, staying at the Hotel Crillon on the Place 

de la Concorde, across the street from the American Embassy. He 

granted an interview to Britain's Sunday Telegraph, in which he denied 

the charges against him, labeling them a political intrigue, and de­

clared his intention of going home to Russia. At this moment a key 

government official spoke out in Berezovsky's defense. The minister 

of internal affairs, an old Yeltsin loyalist named Sergei Stepashin, de­

clared that if Berezovsky came back to talk to the prosecutors, he 

would not be arrested. 13 

Berezovsky returned to Russia and spoke to the prosecutors on 

April 14; the arrest warrant was duly revoked. Berezovsky declared 

that he was being persecuted by Primakov and the former KGB for 

political reasons. Perhaps. But the fact remains that the Primakov 

administration was the first government of the Yeltsin era to make a 

determined effort to hold Berezovsky and other crony capitalists ac­

countable to the law. It would also be the last Yeltsin government to 

do so. 

Sidelined and discredited though he was, President Yeltsin still re­

tained the constitutional power to dismiss the prime minister and his 

government. Back in January 1999, Primakov had attempted to bro­

ker a nonaggression agreement among the different branches of gov­

ernment to guarantee political stability for the next eighteen months. 

The Duma, which had been gathering votes to impeach Yeltsin, 

would promise not to take action against the president. Yeltsin, in 

turn, would promise not to dismiss either the Duma or the Primakov 

government until the end of his term. Yeltsin, on the advice of his en­

tourage, refused to sign the agreement. 14 

From Yeltsin's point of view, the Primakov administration was 

spinning out of control. Primakov may have brought stability and 

trust back to the Russian political arena, but the corruption investi­

gations at home and abroad were extremely dangerous for Yeltsin-



Vladimir Putin Takes Power 291 

they threatened not only to bring down crony capitalists like Bere­

zovsky, but to tarnish Yeltsin's daughter Tanya. Moreover, Primakov 

did not offer enough of a guarantee that Yeltsin himself would not face 

prosecution once he left office. For all his diplomatic assurances to 

President Yeltsin, Primakov was overly concerned with restoring the 

rule of law and punishing the guilty. Finally, Primakov's government 

evoked loud protests from the United States and other Western gov­

ernments. On March 24, the United States and its NATO allies 

began bombing Serbia to force it out of the province of Kosovo. Pri­

makov prepared to take a hard line against the NATO attack and the 

world suddenly faced the prospect of a Cold War-style confronta­

tion between Russia and NATO. President Clinton called Yeltsin to 

express his concerns. For Yeltsin, always sensitive to the approval of 

the West, this was another black mark against his prime minister. 

The task before Yeltsin and his entourage was clear: They had to 

head off the investigations and they had to assure the accession of a 

friendly politician to the Russian presidency in June 2000. 

On May 12, Primakov was fired. His replacement as prime min­

ister was Sergei Stepashin, the man who, as minister of internal affairs, 

had promised to protect Boris Berezovsky from arrest.15 

"The dismissal of Primakov was my personal victory," Bere­

zovsky stated in an interview with Le Figaro several months later.16 

Berezovsky Triumphant 

With Primakov gone, the last vestiges of political consensus evapo­

rated. The Duma pressed ahead with impeachment measures against 

Yeltsin. This was the chance for the Duma to assert itself and defy the 

president. In the past such direct legislative challenges to President 

Yeltsin had been foiled with the help of wide-scale bribery of Duma 

deputies. On May 15, the Duma collected a large majority on all five 

charges-that Yeltsin had unconstitutionally broken up the Soviet 

Union in 1991, that he had illegally shelled the parliament in 1993, that 

he had permitted the deterioration of the military, that he was guilty 

of genocide in allowing the massive rise of Russian mortality rates, and 
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that he was guilty of starting the illegal war in Chechnya in 1994. But 

on no count did the parliament manage to obtain the necessary two­

thirds support, mostly because some 100 parliamentary members 

were absent from the proceedings. (Zhirinovsky's large parliamen­

tary bloc, notorious as the most corrupt in the parliament, was absent 

en masse.) 17 

In arranging Primakov's dismissal, Berezovsky overcame one of 

the biggest threats he had ever faced. Even for such a master of po­

litical intrigue, it was an amazing feat. Just a few months previously, 

he was a wanted man, hounded by Russian prosecutors. With his 

businesses the focus of money-laundering investigations in Switzerland 

and the United States, a life of exile promised no comfort. If Bere­

zovsky was to survive as a free man, he would have to triumph polit­

ically in Russia. And this is what he did, by reasserting his influence 

in Yeltsin's inner circle and becoming, once again, the chief power 

broker in the Kremlin. Now he began to strengthen his hold on the 

government. 

The new prime minister, Sergei Stepashin, was an old Yeltsin 

loyalist. A career MVD bureaucrat, Stepashin had seen his influence 

soar under Yeltsin; he had served as head of the FSB-KGB, minister 

of justice, and then minister of internal affairs. Stepashin may have 

been a proven team player, but he was not an unprincipled creature 

of Berezovsky or the rest of the "family." To ensure that the new gov­

ernment would obey his wishes, Berezovsky pushed other, sub­

servient politicians to the fore. 

The new first deputy prime minister (number two in the govern­

ment and the man in charge of managing the Russian economy) was 

Nikolai Aksyonenko, former head of the massively inefficient and 
corrupt Ministry of Railways. Aksyonenko was a protege of Bere­

zovsky and Roman Abramovich. Together with the new fuel and en­

ergy minister, Viktor Kalyuzhny, Aksyonenko helped Sibneft get 

lucrative oil-export contracts; Aksyonenko also began to take control 
of the most important natural-resource monopolies, such as the oil 

pipeline monopoly Transneft. The new minister of internal affairs 

was Vladimir Rushailo, former head of the organized-crime squad of 
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the Moscow police. Rushailo had worked closely with Berezovsky in 

the hostage negotiations in Chechnya and was widely rumored to be 

"Berezovsky's man." Another important Berezovsky agent in the 

government at this time was Aleksandr Voloshin, Yeltsin's chief of 

staff. Five years earlier, Voloshin had helped Berezovsky set up the 

Avva investment scheme; his appointment as Yeltsin's chief of staff in 

February 1999 marked a reassertion of Berezovsky's control over 

President Yeltsin's entourage. Subsequently, Voloshin proved cynical 

and effective in spearheading the defeat of the Duma's impeachment 

initiative, intimidating the independent press, and pulling the strings 

behind important government appointments. 18 

Berezovsky might have placed several of his men in key govern­

ment positions, but this did not mean he controlled the government 

completely. £AJthough the investigations into Berezovsky's operations 

by Russian prosecutors lost steam, the criminal cases against him and 

his allies remained open. Abroad, the inquiries actually gathered mo­

mentum. The Bank of New York matter went public. The boldest 

measures of the Swiss federal prosecutor's office in the investigation 

of Berezovsky and Kremlin property boss Pavel Borodin were un­

dertaken not during the Primakov era, but when Stepashin was 

prime minister. In Hungary, meanwhile, the most obviously thuggish 

individual targeted by Russian law-enforcement authorities, Krasno­

yarsk Aluminum boss Anatoly Bykov, was arrested and extradited to 

face murder charges in Russia. Stepashin, in other words, may have 

been loyal to Yeltsin, but he refused to take the necessary action to 

derail the criminal investigations against Berezovsky and other mem­

bers of Yeltsin's entourage.19 

On August 9, Stepashin was fired. His replacement was Vladimir 

Putin, the head of the FSB-KGB. 

It was a strange choice. Until recently, the forty-six-year-old 

Putin had had a distinctly unremarkable career. He had joined the 

KGB in 1975, after obtaining a law degree at Leningrad State Uni­

versity. He finished the Andropov Academy (the KGB training insti­

tute), was assigned to the First Chief Directorate (the KGB's primary 

foreign espionage arm, then under the command of General Kalugin), 
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and spent seven uneventful years in his hometown, Leningrad. Only 

in 1984 did Putin finally get his coveted foreign posting, but instead 

of being assigned to one of the key Western capitals, he was sta­

tioned in a Soviet satellite country, East Germany. And he was not even 

posted to East Berlin, but to a provincial capital, Dresden, which 

boasted only ten KGB members on staff. Putin worked as a member 

of this staff for six years, collaborating closely with the Stasi (the 

East German secret police) and traveling occasionally to the West. 

In 1990, once the Berlin Wall had fallen, he was recalled to Russia; 

again he was posted not in the center of the action-Moscow-but 

off to the side, in Leningrad. The KGB by this time was suffering 

from budget cutbacks and a massive reduction of personnel. Lieu­

tenant Colonel Putin, like hundreds of thousands of other secret­

service men, was demobilized into the KGB reserve.20 

Living in a humble communal flat with his wife and two daugh­

ters, Putin functioned under a standard KGB cover, as foreign affairs 

assistant to the dean of Leningrad University, working with foreign stu­

dents and foreign teachers. In August 1991, when the hard-liners' 

coup against Gorbachev failed, Putin knew that his old career was fin­
ished and he resigned his commission from the KGB. Fortunately, he 

was picked up by his old law school professor, Anatoly Sobchak, the 

eloquent democrat who had been elected mayor of Leningrad two 

months before the coup. Sobchak appointed Putin deputy mayor 

and placed him in charge of the Committee for Foreign Relations 

(responsible for dealing with foreign diplomatic missions, foreign 

humanitarian aid, foreign trade, and foreign investment). In 1994, 

the former KGB man was appointed first deputy mayor and placed 

in charge of privatization and tax collection from the private sector.21 

Under Sobchak and Putin's rule, St. Petersburg did not prosper. 

Although the city was largely spared the violence of the mob war and 

other excesses of the Yeltsin era, it sank steadily into debt and 

poverty. On June 16, 1996, Sobchak was voted out of office. His 

loyal associate, Vladimir Putin, left with him. 

Again, Putin found a political patron from the distant past: Ana-
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toly Chubais, a Leningrad native, who had known both Sobchak and 

Putin from the early days of the democratic movement. In August 

1996, Chubais was President Yeltsin's chief of staff and head of the 

Presidential Administration. This institution was responsible to 

Yeltsin alone (unlike other government institutions, which were re­

sponsible to the prime minister); it was based in the former Central 

Committee complex on Old Square. Within a few years, the Presi­

dential Administration had ballooned to 2,400 employees. These of­

ficials covered the gamut of government affairs in Russia-from 

overseeing the oil industry to setting media policy. The Presidential 

Administration was an extraordinarily powerful institution: Like its 

predecessor on Old Square-the Central Committee of the Com­

munist Party-the Presidential Administration was both omni­

present in Russian life and so secretive that it was known to most 

citizens by rumor only. 

Just as Soviet leaders had been chosen inside the secretive Central 

Committee, so the succession to Yeltsin was determined by murky in­

trigues within the Presidential Administration. At first, Putin was 

posted as deputy to the Kremlin property chief, Pavel Borodin. 

Borodin's department seemed to epitomize the corruption of the 

Yeltsin government (as of the publication of this book, the investigation 

into Borodin's activities in Switzerland is still open). Putin apparendy 

kept his nose clean; his particular task was to manage Russian state 

property abroad. In March 1997, when Berezovsky's longtime ally, 

presidential ghostwriter Valentin Yumashev, took over from Chubais as 

head of the Presidential Administration, Putin was promoted to 

deputy chief of staff and, in July, first deputy chief of staff. Putin's new 

responsibility was to head up the Control Commission, serving as a 

kind of presidential auditor checking on the work of Russia's provin­

cial governments. He developed a reputation for industriousness and 

severity. The governors, so brazen in defying the Kremlin up to now, 

began to fear the surly technocrat vetting their affairs for the Kremlin. 

Berezovsky's camp quickly sized up Putin as a man who would go 

far. In September 1997, Berezovsky's newspaper Nezavisimaya Gazeta 
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published a long analysis of how Anatoly Chubais was trying to take 

control of the levers of power in the Kremlin (this was a month after 

the Svyazinvest auction). Among Chubais's ambitions, the newspaper 

alleged, was to take control of the FSB-KGB by firing its current 

director, Nikolai Kovalev, and replacing him with Vladimir Putin. 

Chubais had brought the former KGB lieutenant colonel to Moscow, 

and Berezovsky's newspaper was worried that at the head of the FSB­

KGB Putin would loyally execute Chubais's orders.22 

Less than a year later, Putin did indeed take over from Kovalev 

as the head of the FSB, but it was Berezovsky, not Chubais, who was 

responsible for the change. Berezovsky had his own reasons for re­

placing Kovalev. When Kovalev headed up the FSB, Berezovsky was 

hit by the publication of compromising documentation from the 

Aeroflot-Andava relationship. Though the FSB's role in exposing 

this scandal is unclear, Berezovsky came to regard Kovalev as a 

threat. (Later, Kovalev would make his political orientation public by 

joining the Fatherland-All Russia movement of Berezovsky's archri­

val, Moscow mayor Yuri Luzhkov.) Kovalev's career ended when 

the FSB chief was hit by a scandal of his own. In April1998, Alek­

sandr Litvinenko, a lieutenant colonel in the FSB's organized-crime 

squad, and several colleagues announced that they had been ordered 

to kill Berezovsky. It was a strange revelation. Litvinenko himself, 

while a career KGB man, had moonlighted as Berezovsky's body­

guard; his FSB department had worked with Berezovsky on numer­

ous Chechen kidnapping crises. Most knowledgeable observers 

concluded that the alleged FSB plot to assassinate Berezovsky was a 

fabrication. (A year later, Litvinenko would be arrested on charges of 

illegal searches and other violations of duty.)23 

"My personal opinion is that this was some sort of a trick," says 

Sergei Kiriyenko, who served as prime minister at the time the scan­

dal first broke. "I doubt that the FSB ever planned any action against 

Berezovsky. I think that Berezovsky was just trying to play up his 

own importance and attract attention to himself. "24 

In any case, the scandal was used as an excuse to fire Kovalev and 

install Vladimir Putin as head of the FSB in July 1998. The appoint-
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ment came as something of a shock for the FSB. Putin had reached 
only the rank of lieutenant colonel before retiring nearly a decade ear­
lier, and now he was running the entire secret service. He moved 
quickly to consolidate his position, firing more than three dozen top 
FSB generals and division heads and replacing them with loyal sub­
ordinates. He soon proved his political loyalty to his boss, President 
Yeltsin, by destroying the career of prosecutor-general Yuri Skuratov. 

"Prosecutor Skuratov, who was working on corruption and re­
peatedly declaring that he intended to root out corruption in Russia, 
unexpectedly stumbled on a link to the Kremlin," notes former KGB 
general Oleg Kalugin. "Instead of ordering the investigation to be 
stopped in time, he let the investigation move ahead. As a result, the 
names of the members of the Yeltsin family, and of Yeltsin himself, as 
well as of his financial sponsors and underwriters, all entered into the 
historical record. Skuratov was told to stop the investigations, but he 
had slipped from [the Kremlin's] control."25 

Putin initiated an investigation of Skuratov. In early February 
1999, when the prosecutor's office announced that it had opened 
criminal cases against Berezovsky and other Yeltsin cronies, Russian 
government TV showed a videotape of a naked man identified as 
Skuratov frolicking in bed with two prostitutes. Immediately, the 
Kremlin announced Skuratov's resignation. The prosecutor-general, 
however, found supporters in the upper house of the Russian parlia­
ment, the Federation Council, which had the right to ratify the dis­
missals and appointments of the prosecutor-general, and refused to 
accept Skuratov's resignation. Over the next year, Yeltsin would re­
peatedly attempt to fire Skuratov and evict him from his office, but 
the Federation Council would repeatedly retain him in his post. 

"Still, Yeltsin was convinced that Putin was a completely reli­
able, loyal member of the family [the Yeltsin clan]," notes Kalugin. 
"Putin was a man of Prussian-style obedience: Once the president 
orders something, Putin will do it. This made him irreplaceable for 
President Yeltsin. "26 

With Putin appointed prime minister in August 1999, Bere­
zovsky and the rest of the Yeltsin clan could be confident that the 
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corruption investigations would be curtailed. But what would happen 

after Yeltsin left office in June 2000? The family decided that Putin 

was the man to guarantee that there would be no retribution after 

the change of power. Yeltsin officially designated Putin his heir to 

the Russian presidency. The Yeltsin clan also established a pro­

Kremlin political party called Unity-an ad hoc collection of loyal of­

ficials and celebrities-to contest the December 1999 parliamentary 

elections. Berezovsky and his Kremlin allies mobilized all their re­

sources to win votes for Unity in the parliamentary elections and to 

get Putin elected in the subsequent presidential contest. The Krem­

lin had an overwhelming array of power at its disposal. It had the 

armed forces and the police. It had control of the government 

budget and the cash flow of Russia's wealthiest companies. It domi­

nated the airwaves with its TV stations. The one thing the Kremlin 

did not have was a viable presidential candidate. That Putin was en­

dorsed by such widely hated individuals as Yeltsin and Berezovsky 

could only hurt him; Putin's popularity ratings in the summer of 

1999 hovered between 2 percent and 5 percent-far behind the 

leading political party, Fatherland-All Russia, led by anti-Berezovsky 

politicians Yevgeny Primakov and Yuri Luzhkov. 

Pressed by money-laundering investigations abroad and almost 

certain to lose both the parliamentary and the presidential elections 

in the coming months, the tight-knit group of kleptocrats who con­

stituted "the family" were facing a grim future. Berezovsky knew 

that he would not be able to duplicate the feat of 1996, when the mo­

bilization of billions of dollars of cash and a crushing propaganda 

campaign in the media enabled Yeltsin to stage a come-from-behind 

victory. This time the Kremlin did not have a complete monopoly of 

the media, since a number of national newspapers and at least one 
national TV network (Gusinsky's NTV) supported the Primakov­

Luzhkov alliance. Moreover, the Primakov-Luzhkov alliance was a 

much more attractive alternative than the Communists had been in 

1996. In any case, the Russian people could not be fooled twice-they 
would not vote for the designated Kremlin heir just because they 
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were told to do so. A victory for Putin and Unity would require 

some dramatic external event. It would require a war. 

The Second Chechen War 

A year earlier, Berezovsky had warned the Russian political estab­

lishment about Chechnya and reminded everybody of his central 

role in keeping the militants there at bay. "With respect to the war in 

Chechnya ... it is a dangerous ddusion to bdieve that this question 

has been resolved," Berezovsky told the press in the spring of 1998. 

"When Nemtsov and Chubais demanded that I be fired [in the au­

tumn of 1997], they should have thought about who would work on 

this problem in the future. It is clear to everybody that with my de­

parture, the situation [in Chechnya] has not improved. It is slowly get­

ting worse. From this moment, I believe that Chubais and Nemtsov 

are fully responsible for what is going on in Chechnya. "27 

It was less than two months after this prediction that Berezovsky 

was reappointed to the Russian government as executive secretary of 

the Commonwealth of Independent States. His relationship with 

various Chechen warlords and terrorists again assumed an official 

character. Berezovsky had correctly identified Chechnya as a key fac­

tor influencing Russia's political process. Chechnya was his trump 

card. Over the years, he had stayed afloat in the Russian political 

game by wielding his influence in this gangster-ridden state. Now, in 

1999, with the end of the Yeltsin era approaching, Berezovsky played 

his Chechen hand to the full. 

In early March 1999, a personal envoy of President Yeltsin, 

MVD general Gennady Shpigun, was kidnapped at Grozny Airport. 

Sergei Stepashin, then serving as minister of internal affairs, declared 

that the act was an insult to the Russian government that could not 

be overlooked. Stepashin, first as minister of internal affairs, then as 

prime minister, devised a plan to punish the Chechens by bombing 

the terrorist training camps, and to establish a security zone by oc­

cupying the northern (pro-Russian) part of the republic up to the 
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shores of the Terek River. This military operation was supposed to be 

carried out in August and September. The question was how to get 

the Russian population behind the new war-in order not to end up 

with the same kind of mass opposition that had sapped the war ef­

fort during the First Chechen War of 1994-96.28 

The Chechens themselves provided the solution. In the first days 

of August 1999, a force of several thousand Chechen fighters crossed 
into Dagestan, occupied several villages, and proclaimed an Islamic 

Republic. The Chechen force was led by two men. One was Shamil 

Basayev, the terrorist commander famous for his bloody hostage­

taking raid on a hospital in Budyonnovsk in 1995. The other was a 

mysterious man named Khattab-an Islamic fundamentalist from 

Saudi Arabia who had taken part in numerous wars in Afghanistan 

and Central Asia and who was reportedly linked to the Saudi terror­

ist Osama bin Laden (the prime suspect in the U.S. embassy bomb­

ings in Africa in 1998). Khattab was a member of the Wahhabi 

movement, an Islamic fundamentalist sect financed by Saudi donations 

and expanding rapidly in Chechnya and Dagestan; another man 

linked to the Wahhabi movement was Berezovsky's longtime hostage­

negotiations partner, Movladi Udugov. The villages in Dagestan oc­

cupied by Basayev and Khattab were well known for their sympathies 

to the Wahhabi brand of Islam, although the rest of the Dagestani 

population was fiercely hostile to the incursion by the Chechens. 

The invasion of Dagestan provided the Russian government with 

an excuse to deploy massive force in the Northern Caucasus: The 

Chechens were the aggressors, the Kremlin was fighting to defend its 

territory, and the Dagestani population was overwhehningly behind 

the Russians. The Chechen force attacking Dagestan, though large 

and well-equipped, was a private operation-the largest of a number 

of independent militias that had sprouted up throughout Chechnya 

with the help of outside donations, ransom payments, black-market 

trading, and other criminal operations.29 

A month after the Dagestan incursion, I called the president of 

Chechnya, Asian Maskhadov, who strongly denied any connection 

with the fighting. "Basayev [the commander of the militants] is an 



Vladimir Putin Takes Power 301 

ordinary citizen of Chechnya," he declared. "He can go to Dagestan, 

to Kosovo, to Bosnia, hut he represents only himself, Shamil Basayev. 

In no way does he represent the Chechen people, let alone the gov­

ernment. These people, who have grown their beards long and are 

preaching the Great Jihad are controlled and financed by someone 

else, including the financial oligarchs who surround Yeltsin in 

Moscow."30 

Maskhadov was referring primarily to Berezovsky. Berezovsky 

had donated $1 million in cash, possibly more, to Shamil Basayev. 

Berezovsky would later admit to having donated the money, al­

though he claimed it was for the "reconstruction of a cement 

factory." Berezovsky, of course, had a more consistent, long-term 

financial relationship with Movladi Udugov, whose brother was one 

of the leaders of the Wahhabi sect. On several occasions the tycoon 

transferred money to Udugov, apparently as part of hostage negotia­

tions. The recorded phone conversations between Berezovsky and 

Udugov, filled with discussions of money-transfer arrangements, ap­

parently occurred as late as July 1999-less than a month before the 

Chechen attack on Dagestan. The newspaper Moskovsky Komsomo­

lets, which reprinted portions of telephone intercepts, speculated 

that the negotiations between Berezovsky and his Chechen counter­

parts concerned the attack of Basayev and Khattab on Dagestan, but 

there is nothing in the conversation to prove that-it could well 

have been yet another routine hostage negotiation.31 

To the extent that Berezovsky represented the interests of the 

Yeltsin regime in Chechnya, the Kremlin had been undermining the 

moderates, supporting the extremists financially and politically, and 

consequently sowing the seeds of conflict. At best, it was simply a 

misguided policy: Berezovsky and his Kremlin allies were simply too 

clever for their own good and ended up with the double game ex­

ploding in their faces-much like the KGB's double game in financ­
ing private entrepreneurs and organized-crime bosses in the late 

1980s ended up hastening, not preventing, the disintegration of the 
Soviet Union. The worst-case scenario is that the Berezovsky strategy 

with the Chechen warlords was a deliberate attempt to fan the flames 
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of war. Why would the Kremlin (acting through Berezovsky) want to 

support the Islamic fanatics that later ended up shedding so much Rus­

sian blood? Maskhadov argued that it was all about the de:;ire of the 

Yeltsin clique to hang on to power. 

"Soon there will be elections for the Russian parliament and for 

the presidency," says Maskhadov. "For the Russian government, this 

is a big problem. The president [Yeltsin] is sick. The people sur­

rounding him are interested in who will take power afterward. If 
someone from the opposite camp takes power, they won't be able to 

avoid arrest. Therefore, at any cost, they must bring one of their own 

people to power. Do you understand? And what better excuse than 

Chechnya could they find to declare a state of emergency and post­

pone the elections?"32 

It took only a month for the Chechen war to spread from the re­

mote mountains ofDagestan to the heart of Russia. On September 9, 

at 5 a.m., a bomb went off under an apartment building in a shabby 

working-class neighborhood of Moscow. Inside, more than 100 

people were sleeping. The building itself was a standard eight-floor 

block-one of the thousands of cheap residential units thrown up in 

the days of Leonid Brezhnev. The building collapsed entirely; the in­

habitants were crushed under the rubble. Preliminary estimates put 

the death toll at ninety-four. A few survivors were pulled out in their 

ripped and bloodied nightclothes. 

Four days later, shordy after midnight, an even more powerful 

explosion destroyed another Moscow apartment building, killing 

118 people. Russia had been hit by an unprecedented wave of ter­

rorism; in just over three weeks, five blasts in Moscow and two 

provincial cities claimed the lives of at least 300 people. 

The blasts transformed the Russian political landscape. Prime 

Minister Putin declared the nation besieged. Paranoia swept Russia's 

cities. Police and FSB operatives imposed a regime of heightened se­

curity. Horror and grief gave way to fury against the Chechens, who 

were officially blamed for the bombings. Within days, Russian pop­

ular opinion rose overwhelmingly in support of the war in Chechnya. 

Putin's approval ratings surged. The young prime minister talked 
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tough, voicing ferocious determination to wipe out the terrorists 

even if he caught them in the outhouse. He was now the leader of a 

war effort against a terrorist state that threatened peaceful Russian 

citizens in their homes. 

No one claimed responsibility for the blasts. The Kremlin 

blamed the same Islamic militants who had invaded Dagestan, but the 

top Chechen warlords, including the terrorist commander Shamil 

Basayev, denied that they or their cohorts had anything to do with the 

bombings. No evidence surfaced linking any individuals or groups to 

the bombings. Arriving on the eve of the crucial 1999-2000 elec­

tions, the blasts were reminiscent of the mysterious bombing of the 

Moscow subway a week before the presidential elections of 1996-

an incident the Kremlin had blamed on "Communist extremists" 

and that conveniently reinforced the Yeltsin regime's claim to being 

the only force guaranteeing peace and stability in Russia. 

The fact that Berezovsky, together with other members of the 

Yeltsin inner circle, had long maintained a secret relationship with 

Chechen extremists gave rise to the suspicion that the 1999 apart­

ment bombings had been organized by the Russians themselves. The 

French newspaper Le Monde carried reports of the Russian arms­

export monopoly providing Shamil Basayev's men with weapons and 

of a meeting in the resort town of Biarritz in the summer of 1999 be­

tween Berezovsky, Aleksandr Voloshin (Yeltsin's chief of staff), and 

Chechen rebel commanders. Later, Le Monde quoted Berezovsky as 

saying that the man he met in Biarritz was not a Chechen com­

mander, but Vladimir Putin, on the eve of Putin's appointment as 

prime minister. The mystery surrounding the apartment blasts deep­

ened. On September 22, six days after the last explosion, police in the 

provincial town of Ryazan found a bomb in the basement of a local 

apartment house; the local FSB unit treated the find as a terrorist in­

cident and prepared to make arrests. However, FSB headquarters in 
Moscow declared the next day that the bomb had been a fake and that 
it had been planted as part of a security exercise to test the vigilance 

of local authorities. Because of contradictory statements by local and 
federal authorities and the lack of a proper investigation into the 
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incident, what actually happened in Ryazan remains unclear. A week 

later, the French newspaper Le Figaro asked former Security Coun­

cil chief Aleksandr Lebed if the Russian government had organized 

the terrorist attacks against its own citizens. "I am almost convinced 

of it," Lebed responded.33 

Lebed's pronouncement created a sensation-it was the first 

time a top Russian official had publicly voiced a suspicion that had 

merely been hinted at in the national press. Lebed's public-relations 

staff later claimed that the general had been quoted out of context. 

Berezovsky flew to Krasnoyarsk, where Lebed was serving as gover­

nor, to talk to the maverick general. It is not known what the two dis­

cussed. But after Berezovsky's visit, Lebed fell silent; he remains 

conspicuously absent from the Russian political scene to this day.34 

Lebed's accusations were echoed several days later by Chechen 

president Aslan Maskhadov, who stressed the tremendous boost the 

terrorist incidents and the subsequent war hysteria gave to the Krem­

lin clan's political hopes. "Chechnya [is] a testing ground for all 

these political games, a pawn in all these preelection maneuvers [in 

Moscow]," Maskhadov told me. "Today there is indeed the smell of 

war. \'Y/e will probably have a big war here, a big conflagration. But 

the fault is wholly with the Russians. All this fundamentalism, ex­

tremism, and terrorism has been artificially created."35 

Maskhadov alternately blamed Berezovsky and the Russian "se­

cret services" for the terrorist wave. The Chechen president did har­

bor an animus against Berezovsky, if only because of the tycoon's 

repeated support of the extremist elements in Chechnya at the expense 

of Maskhadov's own presidential authority. Moreover, now that he 

had been dragged into a new war with Russia, Maskhadov had an in­

terest in demoralizing the Russian side by portraying the Kremlin as 

scheming behind the backs of Russian soldiers. Still, the allegation 

should be treated with respect-Maskhadov was an experienced ob­

server of how Berezovsky and other members of the Yeltsin clan op­

erated in Chechnya over the years. 

It is hard to believe that Prime Minister Putin was behind the 

bombings. While it is true that the blasts, more than any other event, 
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ensured Putin's victory at the polls, there is nothing in the man's past 

to indicate that he would commit such a monstrous crime to gain 

power. On the contrary, Putin's past career betrays an unusual dedi­

cation to a fixed code of conduct (albeit an authoritarian one); there 

is nothing to suggest the bottomless cynicism necessary to massacre 

one's own people to promote one's career. If the explosions were or­

ganized by the Russians themselves, it is likely that they were the 

work of maverick members of Putin's camp. The new prime minis­

ter, after all, did not control all the levers of power in September 

1999. He relied largely on the independent political bosses such as 

Berezovsky, acting for his benefit or in his name. 

Some Russian newspapers speculated that Berezovsky may have 

been behind the bombings. If Berezovsky had arranged the Septem­

ber blasts, the crime would bind Putin to him forever. Even if Putin 

had known who was behind the explosions, he would not have been 

able to say anything at the time. The new prime minister was just 

finding his bearings in the Kremlin; a shattering revelation such as 

that the terrorist bombings had been organized by the Kremlin 

clique would have destroyed both Putin's political hopes and the 

Russian war effort against the Chechens. Neither could Putin reveal 

Berezovsky's role in the bombings (if in fact the tycoon was involved) 

later, after winning the presidential election, since he would have to 

admit that he had initially covered up the crime. Hence, if Bere­

zovsky was in any way involved in the bombings, this secret would re­

main an iron bond attaching Putin to Berezovsky.36 

But all of this is speculation. There is simply too little evidence 

either way. The most likely explanation is that the attacks were in 

fact carried out by Chechen militants or by Islamic extremists acting 

on behalf of their embattled coreligionists. Both Shamil Basayev and 

other commanders such as Salman Raduyev had carried out terrorist 

assaults against the Russian civilian population in the past and had 

boasted of their exploits. The Wahhabi commander, Khattab, was 

linked to the notorious international terrorist Osama bin Laden. 

Chechen field commanders gloried in a murderous ferocity toward 

their foes. These men publicly executed Russian prisoners of war 
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and civilian hostages by cutting off their heads with large hunting 
knives, and videotaped the procedure. Clearly, there were plenty of 
candidates in the bowels of the Chechen underworld capable of car­

rying out the 1999 apartment bombings. 

In the aftermath of the blasts, the Russian war effort swung into 
high gear. No longer was it a matter of a border war or mere punitive 
strikes against terrorist training camps. The old Stepashin plan of a 
limited war, with Russian forces waging a quick, relatively bloodless 
campaign to secure a defensible border on the Terek River, gave way 
to an all-out drive to subdue all of Chechnya. More than 100,000 
Russian troops converged on the small country. Within weeks, they 
had passed the Terek River and had surrounded Grozny. 

The Russian war effort was characterized by several idiosyn­
crasies. Although the stated enemies of the Russians were Shamil 
Basayev, Khattab, and other extremist warlords, it was that part of 
Chechnya loyal to the moderate president, Aslan Maskhadov, that 
was attacked first. The extremists were left mostly untouched. Two 
obvious targets for Russian warplanes, for example, were the Grozny 
homes of Shamil Basayev and Khattab, which the warlords had con­
verted into command centers. These houses should have been tar­
geted on the first day of war, yet Russian airplanes ignored them in 
favor of other objectives such as an old propeller plane sitting on the 

tarmac at Grozny airport or the central marketplace of the city. A 
New York Times correspondent even visited Basayev in his home at 
this time and published an article in which she described the house 
as swarming with the warlord's lieutenants. Yet, it was only several 
weeks later that Basayev's house was bombed, by which time the ter­
rorist commander had long since disappeared into the bunkers of 
Grozny.37 

For all the claims by Russian political and military leaders that 
this would be a "smart" war, with minimal casualties, the conflict 
soon degenerated into the same kind of war of attrition that had 
characterized the First Chechen War. The rapid Russian advance 
through northern Chechnya was followed by a horrific battle for 
Grozny-a relentless series of Russian assaults against well-fortified 
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Chechen positions in the ruined city. The carnage in Grozny lasted 

for months, before the rebels finally abandoned the city and fled to 

the mountains of the south; thousands of people on both sides were 

killed, but the war continued. 
The Second Chechen War only solidified the hatred felt by many 

Chechens toward the Russians. Russia was now facing a terrorist 

threat for the foreseeable future-a threat that would force the coun­

try to tighten domestic security arrangements and become more of a 

police state. I asked Oleg Sysuyev, a former deputy prime minister 

and an adviser on Putin's campaign staff, whether the continuing 

problem of terrorism would harm Russia's nascent democracy. "Un­

doubtedly," Sysuyev replied. "Such strong support of Putin, mosdy 

connected with the war, is a worrying phenomenon. It will be difficult 

to avoid the recurrence of terrorist incidents and it will be difficult to 

avoid very harsh countermeasures by the authorities, which will un­

doubtedly harm democracy."38 

Aluminum Magnates 

Berezovsky felt sufficiendy at ease under the new administration to em­

bark on one of the biggest business takeovers of his career. In the au­

tumn of 1999 he began preparations for assuming control of some 

of Russia's largest aluminum companies. The purchases were an­

nounced on February 11, 2000. The oil company, Sibneft, disclosed 

that certain "shareholders of Sibneft" had purchased controlling 

stakes in the Bratsk and Krasnoyarsk aluminum smelters-the two 

largest in the country. On the same day, a spokesman for the owner 

of Russia's fifth-largest aluminum smelter, Novokuznetsk, an­

nounced that a controlling stake in the smelter had been bought by 
Logovaz. At a stroke, Berezovsky, Abramovich, and certain other 

partners had taken over two thirds of the Russian aluminum indus­
try. It was a huge prize. Russia was the second-largest aluminum pro­

ducer in the world, after the United States. Aluminum was one of the 
country's top foreign exchange earners. It was also one of the most 
gangster-infested parts of Russian industry. 
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All three of the aluminum smelters bought by Berezovsky and 

his allies had been controlled by the Trans-World Group, an interna­

tional trading company that had risen from obscurity in 1991 to 

dominate Russia's aluminum industry. Like Logovaz in its various 

commercial forays, Trans-World somehow always managed to find 

itself in the center of the roughest spots of the Russian metals busi­

ness and emerge victorious. 

The key figure in the Trans-World Group was Lev Chorny, a 

trader from Tashkent, Uzbekistan. Crippled from a childhood bout 

with polio, Lev Chorny joined his older brother, Mikhail, in a num­

ber of commodities trading deals in the early 1990s, including timber 

export. In 1991, the Chorny brothers hooked up with David 

Reuben, a small international metals trader based in London. The 

men set up a loose partnership. The Chornys would manage the pro­

curement of aluminum in Russia; their interests abroad would be 

represented by a Monte Carlo-registered company called Trans-CIS 

Commodities. David Reuben, through his London company, Trans­

World Metals Ltd., would sell the aluminum to foreign buyers. 

Overall, the partnership would become known as the Trans-World 

Group. Its business was founded on barter arrangements. Trans­

World would provide aluminum smelters with raw materials (princi­

pally refined alumina) and would lend the smelters money to produce 

the aluminum; it would be paid with finished aluminum for export. 

Trans-World managed to obtain most of the best barter contracts in 

the Russian aluminum industry. By 1994, it owned majority or block­

ing stakes in Russia's biggest aluminum smelters and controlled two 

thirds of the country's aluminum production; it also owned significant 

stakes in other large Russian metals companies. In terms of metal 

produced, Trans-World could claim to be the third-largest aluminum 

company in the world.39 

The key to Trans-World's success was the Russian side of the op­

eration, or, more specifically, Lev Chorny and Trans-CIS commodities. 

Chorny had good political protection in the Kremlin. His partner in 

Russia was Vladimir Lisin, former deputy to First Deputy Prime 

Minister Oleg Soskovets. Top Kremlin patronage did not prevent the 
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Chorny brothers from being dogged by allegations of organized­

crime associations, however. In 1995, for example, the MVD an­

nounced that it was investigating Trans-CIS for involvement in the 

Great Chechen Bank Fraud of 1992-93; the MVD claimed that 

Trans-CIS got its first capital by using fictitious banks in Chechnya to 
defraud the Central Bank. No corroborating evidence was found 

(the Central Bank archives in Grozny were destroyed during the 

First Chechen War) and no charges were ever brought against either 

of the Chorny brothers.40 

The one prize that seemed to evade the Chornys was the giant 

Krasnoyarsk Aluminum Smelter. Trans-World had had a barter con­

tract with the smelter and had bought a 20 percent stake in it, but 

in the autumn of 1994 the smelter's general director turned against 

the brothers, canceled the barter contract, and attempted (unsuc­

cessfully) to erase their stake from the share register. Faced with the 
prospect of losing one of their most lucrative export contracts, the 

Chornys fought back. The key personality at Krasnoyarsk was not 

the general director, but a thirty-three-year-old entrepreneur named 
Anatoly Bykov. A former athletics trainer, Bykov had formed a 

much-feared association of sports clubs in Krasnoyarsk in the late 

1980s. He soon went into business, taking control of local hotels, 

casinos, and car dealerships. But Bykov's biggest prize was the Kras­

noyarsk Aluminum Smelter. The sportsman had started a metals 

trading company in the summer of 1992 and over the next five years 

would relentlessly proceed to gain total control of the smelter. The 

battle for Krasnoyarsk Aluminum was exceptionally bloody, even by 

Russian standards; at least five top executives were assassinated 
gangland-style.41 

Some of the most famous murders connected to Krasnoyarsk oc­

curred in 1995. That year, Yugorsky Bank, based in an imposing new 

skyscraper in central Moscow, decided to move beyond its traditional 
oil-finance business and enter into a partnership with Krasnoyarsk 

Aluminum. In early 1995, Yugorsky Bank hired Vadim Yafyasov as 
vice president. Yafyasov had worked in the Ministry of Metallurgy, in 

a department charged with granting metals export licenses. Shortly 
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after joining Yugorsky Bank, Yafyasov was appointed deputy general 

director of Krasnoyarsk Aluminum. On the evening of April11, 1995, 

Yafyasov was shot dead in his car as he was arriving home. Three 

months later, it was the turn of Yugorsky Bank's president, Oleg Kan­

tor; hitmen ambushed Kantor's car, first killing his bodyguard with a 

pistol shot to the head and then murdering Kantor himself, stabbing 

him repeatedly and finally eviscerating him. It is unknown to this day 

who killed the Yugorsky Bank executives and why.42 

Krasnoyarsk had another relationship that promised indepen­

dence from the Chorny brothers-an association with a New York­

based metals trading firm called AIOC. This outfit was run by a 

thirty-four-year-old South African named Alan Clingman; it rose 

from obscurity to become one of the most successful traders in Rus­

sian aluminum, copper, nickel, zinc, steel, ferroalloys, coal, and pre­

cious metals. "I'm making close to 100 percent on my equity," 

Clingman boasted to me in 1994. By 1995, AIOC had a particularly 

fruitful relationship with Krasnoyarsk Aluminum. It owned a small eq­

uity stake in the smelter and, more important, it had the barter con­

tract for Krasnoyarsk's exports. Late in the summer of 1995, AIOC's 

point man in Russia, a trader named Felix Lvov, booked a flight 

abroad. He arrived at Sheremetevo Airport, passed through customs 

and passport control, and waited to board his flight. He was ap­

proached by two men who identified themselves as law-enforcement 

agents and asked him to follow them. Several days later, a man wait­

ing for a bus on the highway a few miles from the airport stepped 

into the woods to relieve himself and discovered Lvov's decompos­

ing body. The murder remains a mystery. But AIOC never recov­

ered. It lost the Krasnoyarsk barter contract and less than a year later 

declared bankruptcy and disappeared.43 

Trans-World, meanwhile, regained its position at Krasnoyarsk. 

By 1998, it controlled the smelter in partnership with Anatoly 

Bykov. Still, the Chorny brothers continued to be hounded by law­

enforcement authorities. On February 21, 1997, Minister of Internal 

Affairs Anatoly Kulikov made an extraordinary appearance in front 

of the Duma and declared that Russia should take steps to protect the 
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strategically important aluminwn industry from organized crime. He 
stated that almost all the deals concluded by the Bratsk and Krasno­

yarsk smelters are controlled by mobsters and reported that he had 
asked the prosecutor-general's office to forward the results of its in­
vestigations of Lev and Mikhail Chorny. "Mafiya structures are mo­

nopolizing the market, destroying it, and turning economic relations 
into relations between criminal syndicates," Kulikov declared three 

weeks later in a letter to Kommersant. Again, as in 1995, the MVD's 
investigations into the Chorny brothers' activities went nowhere and 
no charges were ever filed.44 

After such a tumultuous but profitable foray into the Russian 
aluminum industry, why did Trans-World Group decide to get out in 
1999? Neither Lev Chorny nor David Reuben commented to the 

press. But it appears that Trans-World's cozy arrangement in Russia 

was coming under pressure. Its primary partner at the Krasnoyarsk 
Smelter, Anatoly Bykov, was in jail in Hungary. Trans-World had lost 
control of the crucial Achinsk Alumina Combine, and the Putin 
government was raising the tax burden on the barter arrangements 
that had been the key to Trans-World's profits in the past. There 

had long been talk of a rift between Trans-World's London-based 
chief, David Reuben, and the Russian chief, Lev Chorny. (Lev's 

brother, Mikhail, had already gone off on his own with the Sayansk 
Alwninwn Smelter.) Reuben's operation in London, striving to stay 

clean, had never delved into the details of how operations in Russia 

were run-it was merely the Western marketing arm. In this sense, 
it was probably Chorny who decided to split, exchanging an increas­
ingly ineffective partner (Reuben) for more politically connected 
ones (Berezovsky and Abramovich).45 

Partnership with Berezovsky promised to give Lev Chorny a new 
lease on life. Chorny had lots of liquid capital but little political in­

fluence (especially after Soskovets was fired in the swnmer of 1996). 
Berezovsky, for his part, was perpetually strapped for cash (his great 
wealth lay primarily in nonliquid assets), but he could provide the 
political protection Chorny desperately needed. Berezovsky and 
his partners thus gained control of one of Russia's biggest sources of 
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foreign exchange revenues. Berezovsky also had the added pleasure 

of striking a blow against his old rival Anatoly Chubais, who was 

now chief of Russia's electricity monopoly, UES. Chubais was allied 

with Russia's second-largest aluminum company, Siberian Aluminum. 

Helped by rate hikes initiated by Chubais's electric companies, 

Siberian Aluminum had long been moving onto Trans-World's turf. 

Now Siberian Aluminum was beaten to the punch.46 

While the aluminum business seemed to be an unexpected de­

tour for Berezovsky, there were certain signs that he had been in­

volved with aluminum before. A 1993 oil-and-gas yearbook, 

compiled by a Los Angeles-based trade publication and the big ac­

counting firm Ernst & Young, listed the major commodity export 

contracts fulfilled in the first ye:us of the Yeltsin regime; the yearbook 

listed Logovaz as having exported 840,000 tons of aluminum in 

1991-92. This was a massive shipment-worth about $1 billion at 

the time. I was never able to confirm this shipment with any other 

source; if Logovaz really did export such a large amount of alu­

minum, it seems likely that it was merely lending its name and Spe­

cial Export status to a deal concocted by someone else. In any case, 

Logovaz's Special Export status was withdrawn two years later and 

Logovaz was nowhere to be seen in the aluminum business for the 

duration of the 1990s.47 

Berezovsky, however, maintained close relations with the key 

leader of the Trans-World Group, Lev Chorny. Over the years, theca­

reer paths of Berezovsky and Lev Chorny seemed to pass at the same 

time through the same places. In 1992-93, for instance, when Bere­

zovsky was establishing contact with Chechen organized-crime 

groups for protection in the auto market, Trans-CIS Commodities 

was allegedly using Chechnya as an offshore registration center to 

perpetrate bank fraud. In 1994-95, Berezovsky and Chorny shared the 

same political patrons: First Deputy Prime Minister Oleg Soskovets 

and security chief General Aleksandr Korzhakov. In 1997, Logovaz 

and Trans-World found themselves allies in the fight against Vladimir 

Potanin's Onexim Bank in the loans-for-shares auctions. In 1998, 

Lev Chorny was said to have participated in Berezovsky's bid for a 
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tdecommunications company, PLD Tdecom. In 1999, both men 

were widdy mentioned as collaborating in the takeover of the influ­

ential newspaper Kommersant. Still, while the career paths of Bere­

zovsky and Chorny seemed remarkably synchronized in many 

respects, it was impossible for outsiders to know the exact rdation­

ship between the two men. 

After he'd taken control of the automobile, tdevision, airline, 

and oil industries, Berezovsky's entry into the aluminum business 

represented his fifth major foray into business. Evidently he fdt he had 

a friend in Vladimir Putin. In many ways, Berezovsky had served as 

the new prime minister's patron. He had played an important role in 

Putin's elevation as head of the FSB in the summer of 1998. He had 

played an even more important role in Yeltsin's choice to replace 

Stepashin with Putin as prime minister a year later. He was also play­

ing a key role in the media campaign building up Putin's popularity 

in the run-up to the elections. But none of these factors guaranteed 

Berezovsky immunity from prosecution. 

Legal Immunity 

The wave of nationalism unleashed by the Chechen War changed 

the political landscape for the 1999 parliamentary elections. The 

pro-Kremlin party, Unity, grew from complete obscurity into one of 

the most popular political organizations in the country. At the same 

time, Luzhkov and Primakov's Fatherland-All Russia Party, which a 

few months earlier seemed guaranteed to win the parliamentary 

elections (and the presidency afterward), sank relentlessly in the 

opinion polls. 

Berezovsky played a key role in these devdopments. His TV net­

work, ORT, may not have been the only one in the country, but it 

was still the dominant source of news and information for most of the 

population. Generations of Russians had been conditioned to swal­

low the official Party line served up by Channel 1. Berezovsky made 

sure that the network supported the Chechen War, glorified Putin, and 

promoted the prime minister's party. At the same time, ORT's star 
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news anchor, Sergei Dorenko, began a weekly roundup of the news, 

broadcast every Sunday evening, which he used to excoriate the 

Luzhkov-Primakov alliance. Luzhkov, the pugnacious Mos~ow 

mayor, was accused of incompetence, corruption, and murder. It was 

more difficult to find dirt on the former prime minister, Yevgeny Pri­

makov, so the Kremlin publicity managers attacked him on his age­

one set of billboards in Moscow and other cities pictured nothing 

more than a wheelchair. The pro-Putin propaganda campaign was 

extremely effective and, as in 1996, it was Berezovsky who master­

minded the key strokes (with the help of the anchorman Dorenko). 

"Dorenko alone was able to determine the results [of the parliamen­

tary elections] in December," Putin's campaign aide Oleg Sysuyev 

would tell me later. "This is a!1 exaggeration, perhaps, but it has a 

large measure of truth. "48 

Berezovsky had decided to run for a seat in the Duma himself. Per­

haps it seemed strange that the master of Kremlin intrigue wanted to 

dedicate time and money to become an elected member of parlia­

ment, but Duma membership had one very alluring advantage: It 

conferred immunity from prosecution. Rather than holding its 

elected officials to higher standards of behavior than the average cit­

izen and subjecting them to even greater legal scrutiny, the Russian 

constitution placed the parliamentarians above the law. 

As a result, the most outrageous criminals found shelter from the 

law inside the Duma. There were gangsters like Sergei Skorochkin, 

who had actually killed people while serving as a parliamentary 

deputy. Skorochkin admitted to gunning down two men in his con­

stituency (he claimed they were gangsters putting the squeeze on 

him); but he had parliamentary immunity and was never investi­

gated. Several months later he was murdered. And there was Sergei 

Mavrodi, who had been jailed for defrauding millions of investors 

with his MMM pyramid scheme. During the 1995 parliamentary 

elections, the MVD announced that at least 83 candidates standing for 

the 450 seats were ex-convicts. Among the elected members of par­

liament were murderers, pimps, casino magnates, and drug dealers. 

Not surprisingly, the Duma became the scene of mob-related vio-
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lence: at least three parliamentary deputies were murdered, as were 

more than a dozen staffers.49 

Alongside earnest and legitimate parliamentarians, there was a 

tremendous array of charlatans and criminals. The Duma became a 

huge barn, beneath whose roof all sorts of disreputable figures bayed 

before the TV cameras. No man epitomized the spirit of the parlia­

ment more than the nationalist buffoon Vladimir Zhirinovsky. The 

Russian economy may have been in ruins and Russian society torn 

apart by lawlessness, but at least the country had freedom of speech. 

Zhirinovsky was a great speaker. Russians loved watching his antics­

throwing a glass of water at the young reformer Boris Nemtsov, scuf­

fling with a female parliamentarian, pretending to throw punches 

over the shoulders of friends restraining him. The next day he would 

be threatening Germany and Japan with nuclear annihilation or ac­

cusing the head of the FSB-KGB, Sergei Stepashin, of being an agent 

of the Mossad. Zhirinovsky's role in Russian politics was only to en­

tertain. He was there to show all Russians that parliamentary democ­

racy was a joke. During the 1999 campaign, when Zhirinovsky was 

asked why he had so many reputed gangsters on his party's electoral 

list, he answered that he was glad to have them, because "the leaders 

of the shadow economy represent the real power in the country. "50 

Not surprisingly, with rare exceptions, such as its refusal to ratify 

Chernomyrdin as prime minister in September 1998, the Duma 

proved a remarkably malleable institution. Often, it failed to assert 

even the meager powers it was entitled to under the Yeltsin constitu­

tion. In most of the key votes, such as the ratification of Yeltsin's 

prime ministerial candidates or the defeat of the impeachment mea­

sures, the Kremlin managed to obtain a majority by bribing or black­

mailing dozens of lawmakers. The Duma may have been useless in 

defending the interests of Russia, but it proved highly effective in de­

fending its core constituency: Russia's new criminal class. Over the 

years, the parliament did nothing to fight against organized crime. It 

was not until1997-four years after the beginning of the mob war­

that the Duma finally passed an organized-crime bill that gave the au­

thorities the legal weapons to fight racketeering. A money-laundering 
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bill was passed only in the summer of 1999, but was vetoed by Presi­

dent Yeltsin.51 

In his run for the Duma in the autumn of 1999, Berezovsky chose 

an obscure constituency: the autonomous republic of Karachaevo­

Cherkessk-an impoverished corner of the North Caucasus, with 

300,000 inhabitants. The native Karachai people had long retained fra­

ternal relations with the Chechens. Like the Chechens, the Karachai 

had been deported en masse by Stalin because of their alleged col­

laboration with the Nazis. The governor of Karachaevo-Cherkessk 

was Anatoly Semyonov. An ethnic Karachai, Semyonov had served as 

the Russian land forces commander during the First Chechen War. 

Several months after the end of that war, General Semyonov was 

cashiered, pending an investigation that he had approved the sale of 

Russian armaments to the Chechen militias. Though Russian com­

manders were commonly accused of selling arms to the Chechens 

during the First Chechen War, the specific charges against General 

Semyonov were never proved and the case was dropped.52 

On December 19, with the support of General Semyonov, Bere­

zovsky easily won his seat in the Duma and received his long-coveted 

parliamentary immunity. The Russian prosecutor-general's office con­

tinued to pursue its case against Berezovsky, but the tycoon could 

now be certain that the case would not come to trial unless the Duma 

voted to lift his parliamentary immunity. Berezovsky's partner in Sib­

neft, Roman Abramovich, had also won a seat in parliament, repre­

senting the constituency of Chukotka, a frozen wasteland opposite 

Alaska, notorious as Russia's most impoverished and primitive region. 

The December parliamentary elections were a gigantic triumph 

for the Kremlin. The recently formed Unity Party garnered a sur­

prising 23 percent of the vote, just behind the Communists, who 

won their usual 24 percent. The only two real opposition parties, 

Luzhkov and Primakov's Fatherland-All Russia and Yavlinsky's 

Yabloko faction, performed terribly, winning 13 percent and 6 per­

cent, respectively. 

Putin's triumph over his political foes encouraged President 

Yeltsin to take the step his entourage had long been considering. On 
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December 31, in his traditional New Year's Eve address to the na­

tion, Yeltsin announced that he would not serve out the remainder of 

his term; he was resigning the presidency immediately and handing 

over his powers to Vladimir Putin. The presidential election would 

be moved up by three months, to March 26, 2000. 

Yeltsin's abrupt resignation made a mockery of the spirit of Rus­

sia's democratic constitution. He had not violated the law, but the 

cynical political calculation behind the move was clear. The premature 

ending of his presidency caught the opposition off-guard, while it was 

still reeling from its defeat in the December parliamentary elections. 

The war in Chechnya had not yet degenerated into a bloody mess, 

harming Vladimir Putin's popularity. Finally, Yeltsin's resignation 

meant that Putin had the advantage of running for president as an in­

cumbent. The transfer of power seemed less democratic than monar­

chic-a reigning king resigning in favor of his designated heir. 

Yeltsin's farewell speech was marked by an extraordinary apology. 

"I want to ask for your forgiveness," he told his audience, "for the fact 

that many of the dreams we shared did not come true and for the 

fact that what seemed to us so simple turned out to be tormentingly 

difficult. ... The pain of each of you has called forth pain in me, in my 

heart-sleepless nights, tormenting worries about what needed to 

be done so that people could live better and more easily." 

Several days later, in an unusual display of Christian piety, Yeltsin 

and his family traveled to Jerusalem to celebrate Orthodox Christ­

mas in the Holy Land. Berezovsky went along as well. 

The same evening that Yeltsin made his resignation speech, 

Vladimir Putin, the new acting president of Russia, signed a decree 

granting Boris Yeltsin and his family an array of benefits and privileges, 

including immunity from criminal prosecution. 



EPILOGUE 

Berezovsky's most destructive legacy was that he hijacked the state for 

his private interests. In other countries, powerful businessmen lobby 

the government to advance their interests. Berezovsky took control of 

the men who ran the government and forced the state to feed his 

business empire. 

He and other crony capitalists produced no benefit to Russia's 

consumers, industries, or treasury. No new wealth was created. Bere­

zovsky's business ventures involved taking over existing enterprises 

that already were either highly profitable or exceptionally well­

endowed with resources. He did not make these companies health­

ier or more competitive; on the contrary, they stagnated or declined 

under his tutelage. His takeover of the TV network ORT did not 

produce any improvements in programming or production effi­

ciency; it remains today an uninspired channel that most probably 

would be bankrupt if not for massive state subsidies. His takeover of 

oil giant Sibneft did not produce significant improvements in pro­

ductivity or financial management. Aeroflot, in spite of its monopoly 

position in a booming market, expanded lethargically and was beset 

by cash-flow difficulties. The grandiose investment project Avva col­

lapsed ignominiously. The only major bank with which Berezovsky was 
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involved-SBS-Agro-collapsed as well, leaving depositors with no 

means of withdrawing their money. Berezovsky's business career has 

been dependent on the corruption of government officials or state 

industrial managers. The only significant business enterprise he cre­

ated from scratch was the network of Logovaz car dealerships. But 

even here, his profits were based not on providing superior service or 

finding a new market niche, but on the collusion of Avtovaz man­

agers in providing him with cars at a price lower than their produc­

tion cost. 

If Berezovsky was incompetent as a business manager (in the 

Western sense of the term), as a master of political intrigue he was sec­

ond to none. From the time he first entered Boris Yeltsin's inner 

circle, in 1993, Berezovsky proved unstoppable in his rise to power; 

no other operator in the Kremlin matched his combination of cre­

ativity and ruthlessness. Berezovsky masterminded two successful 

presidential election campaigns (in 1996 and 2000) to put his chosen 

candidate on the throne. He survived corruption scandals, a car 

bomb, murky Kremlin intrigues, a murder investigation, even an ar­

rest warrant. Time and again, his opponents breathed a sigh of relief, 

believing that he was finally finished, but he outmaneuvered them 

and saw them destroyed. 

Berezovsky's success both in making money and in claiming to be 

a valuable statesman in the government's service was due in part to 

his relationship with some of Russia's strongest gangsters. On several 

occasions, he made his way between warring organized-crime groups 

and somehow emerged the winner. In the end, except for the need to 

maintain relations with the Chechen gangsters who had emerged as 

that country's rebel leaders, Berezovsky managed to separate himself 

from the sordid world of mob turf wars. He was a man of big ideas, 

drawing up a grand strategy and leaving his subordinates and inter­

mediaries to deal with the execution. 

"It is truly impossible in many instances to differentiate between 

Russian organized crime and the Russian State," observed U.S. Con­

gressman Benjamin Gilman, opening the special hearings on Russian 

organized crime in April1996. "Many aspects of the Russian State 
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are virtually a full-fledged kleptocracy-dedicated to enriching 

those in power and their associates." 1 

When FBI director Louis Freeh was asked in those same hearings 

whether a "permanent criminal culture" was emerging in Russia, he 

replied: "The jury is probably still out on that. I think they are at an 

obviously critical time ... as to who is really in charge-the criminals 

or the democratically elected officials. "2 

Freeh was speaking diplomatically. Organized crime in Russia 

was not some kind of shadow government-it lay at the core of the 

Yeltsin regime. And what of Boris Yeltsin-the giant who slew Com­

munism and ended decades of Soviet imperialism? His legacy is one 

of almost unmitigated failure. The elections that he presided over 

were free but not fair. The mar.ket was free but not open to outsiders. 

The freedom Yeltsin brought was the freedom enjoyed primarily by 

a handful of political bosses and crony capitalists. For the Russian 

people the Yeltsin era was the biggest disaster (economically, socially, 

and demographically) since the Nazi invasion of 1941. 

To the extent that Russia has free speech and democratic ac­

countability, these principles were largely established in the late Gor­

bachev years. Yeltsin was supposed to further the aims of glasnost 

and perestroika, but neither freedom of speech nor democratic ac­

countability was expanded in any significant way. Democracy be­

came a curse word-to be called a democrat became synonymous 

with being labeled a crook. The two concepts that were supposed to 

lead Russia to a Western-style future-privatization and democ­

racy-were discredited. On the streets of Moscow, people began to 

speak of privatization as "grab-it-ization" (prikhvatizatsiya) and of 

democracy as "shitocracy" (dermokratizatsiya). 

The failure of democracy and capitalism in Russia in the 1990s will 
have far-reaching consequences. Russia has always been one of the 

world's great ideological battlegrounds. In the nineteenth century, it 

was the standard-bearer for the principle of absolute monarchy and 

the divine right of kings against the principle of republican govern­

ment. In the early twentieth century, Russia was the birthplace of 

Communism and totalitarianism. In the 1990s, the "American 
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model" was tested on Russian soil. Mter the fall of Communism, the 

United States was left as the world's only superpower and faced the 

historic challenge of exporting its ideology to its former geopolitical 

rival. The American model had political, economic, social, and cul­

tural components. Could it work in a country as large and as old as 

Russia? The history of the Yeltsin regime suggests that it could not. 

It is unlikely that the United States will again have such an op­

portunity to establish its system of values in Russia. In 1991, when 

Yeltsin came to power, Russia was virtually a blank slate in ideologi­

cal terms. Communism had been discredited. No other ideology had 

surfaced to take its place. Russians were looking to America. They 

wanted to be allies, friends; they wanted to emulate America. The in­

troduction of American values was the underlying, unspoken justifi­

cation for the reforms of the Yeltsin regime. When these reforms 

failed, the infatuation with America died as well. 

Perhaps the problem is that the American model, both as pre­

sented by American policy makers and as understood by the Rus­

sians, was a perverted version of the real thing. Western policy 

makers and advisers mistakenly believed that all it would take to pro­

pel Russia from Communism to a Western-style future was to dis­

mantle the old state command system and open up the economy to 

free markets and private ownership. They overlooked the need to 

prepare the state and society for this change. 

Private property or free markets alone do not guarantee a high 

level of civilization. Even the most impoverished countries have pri­

vate property and free markets. What they lack is a healthy state and 

a healthy society. Today, these are the two essential preconditions for 

civilization. 

There are several salient characteristics defining a healthy state: a 

good legal code and the means to enforce it; the equality of all citizens 

before the law and the state; a sound financial basis allowing for the 

provision of such public goods as national defense, law enforcement, 

transportation, education, medical care, and pensions; an efficient 

and effective government apparatus. A healthy state is uncorrupted 

by wealthy individuals, powerful businessmen, or special-interest 
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groups; it is an honest broker for all the conflicting interests of soci­

ety. Finally, a healthy state protects the weak from predation by the 

strong. 

A healthy state should not be confused with a powerful state. 

The U.S.S.R. was powerful but not healthy. Its power was based on 

fear, arbitrary rule, bureaucracy, corruption, lawlessness, and the ab­

sence of independent local governments or civic organizations. The 

Soviet Union's terminal illness was the result of its failure, despite 

massive propaganda, to encourage a sense of duty or civic responsi­

bility among both the masses and the elite. It failed to produce citi­

zens. Those who believe that a healthy state means a strong central 

government forget that the central government is merely the top of 

the pyramid. The foundation is the network of local governments 

and independent civic associations competing with the central gov­

ernment in addressing local and national needs. Without a broad 

foundation of such local and civic institutions, a strong central gov­

ernment is a fragile structure-a tall tower on a shallow base. The So­

viet Union was such a structure. Over the course of seven decades, 

the Communist dictatorship destroyed churches, elected local gov­

ernments, independent trade unions, professional associations, char­

itable organizations-all independent institutions, in other words, 

that could challenge the Communist Party's monopoly on power. In 

the end, the U.S.S.R. collapsed because of the hypertrophy of state 

power. 

A healthy society can be defined by the strength of its system of 

values-a factor as important as it is difficult to measure. The nation 

that Boris Yeltsin inherited lacked the values that are the foundation 

of prosperity and democracy. How can private enterprise flourish 

when society is suffused with envy? How can the economy grow 

when the value of honest work is universally derided? How can de­

mocracy flourish when no one wants to take responsibility for the 

common good? The pervasive nihilism in Russia is the result of the 

Communist regime's destruction of such key building blocks of a 

healthy society as family, religion, and independent civic association. 

Boris Yeltsin's Russia was not a nation of citizens, but a mass of frac-
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tured families and isolated individuals. Russians were subjects, not 

citizens. 

The fact that Boris Yeltsin inherited an unhealthy state and an 

unhealthy society made it difficult for his reforms to succeed. Yet, 

Yeltsin and his ministers did little to address the problem. The Rus­

sian state grew more corrupt, more inefficient, more arbitrary in its 

exercise of power. Russian society grew even sicker than it had been 

under the Communists; there was a decline in both family values and 

the sense of civic responsibility. The disregard for the value of other 

human beings, already rampant under Communism, deepened 

under Yeltsin's watch. Often it seemed that Russia's perverted value 

system rewarded any activity that victimized one's neighbor; this 

criminal mind-set became so dominant that adhering to principles 

of honesty, decency, or law-abidance became equivalent to moral 

dissent. 

In the absence of either a healthy state or a healthy society, the ap­

plication of such Western liberal principles as privatization and free 

prices could only precipitate Russia's destruction. While Chubais 

and other young reformers naively followed a lopsided version of the 

American model in macroeconomic policy (neglecting the role of 

good government and healthy social values in breeding America's 

success), Russia's businessmen were guided by a perverse under­

standing of American capitalism on the microeconomic level. When­

ever I asked Russia's business magnates about the orgy of crime 

produced by the market reforms, they invariably excused it by point­

ing to the robber barons of American capitalism. Russia's bandit 

capitalism was no different from American capitalism in the late 

nineteenth century, they argued. 

Communist propaganda had always maintained that making 

money in a free market was a purely predatory and criminal activity. 

Soviet schoolchildren had been taught that the United States, as the 

paragon of capitalism, was controlled by a ruthless, superrich elite; they 

were taught that all the great financial and industrial empires power­

ing the American economy had immoral origins-behind every for­

tune was a legacy of theft, lies, even murder. The American captains 
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of industry were little more than crooks and criminals. Russia's new 

business magnates had all absorbed this image of Western capitalism 

in school; when they went into business, they acted accordingly. 

"Perhaps our criminals are the most powerful people in the 

country today, but this is just a phase," they would say. "Just like 

America. Look at all your great capitalists-Rockefeller, Ford, 

Carnegie, Morgan: They all started out as criminals as well." 

The old American robber barons may have bent the rules occa­

sionally, but they were neither criminals nor looters. On the contrary, 

the robber barons, whatever their moral flaws, helped turn the 

United States into the strongest economic power in the world. They 

built the railroads that opened up the country. Carnegie built the 

world's largest steel industry. P.ockefeller created the world's largest 

oil industry. Ford invented a way to mass-produce automobiles for the 

American middle-class consumer. Morgan financed America's indus­

trialization and turned Wall Street into a market where small in­

vestors would not be defrauded. No, Berezovsky and his colleagues 

could in no way be compared to the robber barons of American 

history. 

In its scale and rapaciousness, the looting of the state that took 

place during the Yeltsin regime was unprecedented-it was, per­

haps, the robbery of the century. At the root of the disaster was the 

Russian penchant for playing the double game, for pursuing an es­

sentially dishonest policy. Rather than consistently following a set of 

clearly defined principles, the Russian mentality was to say one thing 

and do another. This tendency to play the double game was evident 

in the KGB's willingness to finance organized-crime groups and the 

new commercial banks in the 1980s in hopes of controlling them and 

prolonging the existence of the Soviet Union. It was also evident in 

the Yeltsin regime's sponsorship of a handful of crony capitalists in 

hopes of using them to create a genuine free-market economy. It was 

evident in Russia's long, tangled relationship with Chechnya. 

The West, too, betrayed a penchant for the double game. The 

fact that the Yeltsin regime had turned into a gangster state was often 

blithely dismissed; Russia's lawless market was described as "raw 
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capitalism" or "frontier capitalism," with the implicit analogy to the 

American nineteenth century. The Clinton Administration, in partic­

ular, while trumpeting the principles of democracy and the free mar­

ket, repeatedly ignored evidence that the Yeltsin regime was a 

kleptocracy. In 1998, a top Russia analyst at the CIA told The New York 
Times that the Clinton Administration routinely discouraged reports 

about the corruption of the Yeltsin regime. One such report about 

Prime Minister Chernomyrdin (said by the CIA to have amassed a per­

sonal fortune of $5 billion by 1996) was returned by Vice President 

AI Gore with a "barnyard epithet" scribbled across it. This self­

delusion on the part of the Clinton Administration was confirmed in 

a 1999 article by Fritz Ermarth, a veteran CIA Russia hand and for­

mer chairman of the National Intelligence Council. Ermarth spoke of 

American policy makers' "disdain for analysis about the corruption 

of Russian politics and their Russian partners." Ermarth attributes 

this primarily to the "warping of intelligence analysis to fit political 

agendas" and to "a cynical Washington habit of ... preserving the 

image of a foreign policy success. "3 

The·U.S. government's repeated praise of the Yeltsin regime as 

"democratic" and "reformist" damaged the liberal principles on 

which Western societies are based. The issue came to a head during 

the 1996 Russian presidential elections, when the Clinton Adminis­

tration was faced with a choice of supporting either Yeltsin or the 

Communist candidate, Gennady Zyuganov, who was said to repre­

sent a return to the Cold War past. There was no reason for the 

United States to favor either one. When one is faced with a choice be­

tween two evils and not compelled to choose either one, the correct 

course of action is to abstain. But the Clinton Administration aban­

doned the stated U.S. policy of staying aloof from other countries' 

political processes and threw its weight behind Yeltsin, promoting 

his campaign with both rhetoric and money. 

Berezovsky's career in the 1990s undoubtedly was very exciting: 

All around him, history was being made-Communism was de­

stroyed, the Soviet Union fell apart, democracy and free markets 

were proclaimed, huge fortunes were acquired. But what was left at 
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the end of it all? Russia was ravaged and destroyed. Millions of Rus­

sians died premature deaths. Most of Berezovsky's companions of 

the road ended up as nonentities, despised by their survivors. 

Eventually, of course, Russia's era of self-destruction will draw to 

a close and the nation will undertake the difficult task of rebuilding. 

Vladimir Putin may well be the man to accomplish this task. But first 

he will have to deal with the corruption and crony capitalism epito­

mized by Boris Berezovsky. 



APPENDIX I 
Boris Berezovsky Appeals to the Prestdent 

Immediately after the murder of Vlad Listyev, on March 1, 1995, 

Moscow police fingered Boris Berezovsky as a possible suspect. Con­

cerned that he was on the point of being arrested, Berezovsky went 

to the offices of General Korzhakov's SBP to record a personal 

videotaped message to President Yeltsin. He was accompanied by 

Irina Lesnevskaya, a top TV producer at ORT and a close friend of 

the Yeltsin family. This is a transcript of the videotape, which was 

recorded sometime in the first days of March 1995. The document is 

important not only for the facts it reveals, but also as an illustration 

of the subtle ways in which both Berezovsky and Lesnevskaya at­

tempt to win the president's trust and support. 

LESNEVSKAYA: Boris Nikolaevich [Y eltsin], I am turning directly 

to you. 

I know who killed Vlad [Listyev]. 

After you signed the decree on the establishment of NTV-I be­

lieve it was in November of 1993-1 was appalled. How could this 

be? Speaking with you on November 7, at your dacha, during the 

interview with [inaudible], you promised me that we would have an 

327 
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alternative television, an independent television, where all indepen­

dent TV companies could come and produce independent program­

ming. And suddenly, one TV company, supported by one banK, is 

given a whole TV channel. 

I called Naina losifna [Yeltsin's wife]. I cried, I wept, I explained 

to her that you have again been misled. I don't know if this was the 

cause, or if something else was, or if someone said something to you, 

but you stopped your decree before it had a chance to be ratified by 

all the interested parties. 

Within eight hours, I got a call from Igor Malashenko, the direc­

tor of NTV, who said: 

"Did you do this?" 

I said: "I don't know if it was me or not, but I did have a part 

in it." 

"Gusinsky wants to see you." 

I said: "I am not acquainted with him. If he wants to, he can 

come to REN-TV." 

Gusinsky snatched up the telephone and very politely, almost 

gently, said that he could not come to visit me and would be very 

grateful if all the independent TV companies could come to him. 

That's how all of us-Vlad Listyev, I (Irina Lesnevskaya), my 

son, Dimitri Lesnevsky, Andrei Razbash, [unintelligible], all those 

who today present the programming of ATV, REN-TV, and Vid on 

Channel 1-arrived at Gusinsky's. 

Over the course of forty minutes he ran around the room, shout­

ing and screaming, shouting that he hadn't taken into account one stu­

pid wench, that the institutions [of government] are working [on 

this], that he had been pushing through this decree for half a year 

and now the decree has been stopped. 

He tried to frighten us. He insulted us. He told me: "You have 

one son. What could be more important for a mother than that her 

son should be alive and well? But on the lOlst-kilometer mark of the 

Moscow highway, there are always some kind of incidents. He could 

be accidentally hit by a car, his car could turn over, burn up ... " 
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In short, he frightened us so badly that we signed a joint agree­

ment, our whole TV company, that we would be producing our pro­

grams for NTV and giving them to this channel. 

It is true, our programs are actually transmitted on this channel, 

just as they are on NTv. 

Exactly in a week's time, the decree on NTV was signed and en­

tered into force. 

Two or three weeks later, we got a call from a journalist acquain­

tance of ours who -said: "Folks, you need a security service." I have 

to mention names, yes? Ivan Konnov, who works at NTv. Ivan Kon­

nov called and said: "Folks, you need a security service. You never 

know, but Gusinsky will not forgive you. I will send you some lads." 

Two guys came and told us that they are currently without work, 

that they used to work for RIA, that RIA has collapsed, that every­

thing there has been looted, that they are ready to create a ready­

made security organization for journalists, that this would not be 

expensive-$300,000 or $400,000. We gasped. We don't have this 

kind of money. They started painting scenarios: liquidate the liq­
uidators, fatal injections, umbrellas [the Bulgarian dissident assassi­

nated in London], and so on. Then he [sic] said: You have partners, 

I heard you're planning to incorporate Channell. Gusinsky has such 

an organization, while you are all undefended. How can this be? You 

have Berezovsky, you have someone else there, banks-put us to­

gether and we will establish a good organization. 
Well, we said our goodbyes, apologized, said that we don't need 

this, that we don't play these kinds of games, that we're journalists, 

after all, and that we don't intend to establish an organization similar 

to Gusinsky's. 

He came again, two weeks later-two of them, Sergei Sokolov and 

Sergei Kulishev-and said, folks, how can this be? and began again 
to tell us all kinds of things and asked us, if we didn't want to do this 
thing, if we could introduce them to Berezovsky, because Berezovsky 

would probably be interested in such an organization. 
We did a very stupid thing, Boris Nikolaevich. We are gullible 
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people. We brought these people over to Boris Abramovich Bere­

zovsky, told him about them, introduced them, and left them to sort 

things out. 

Two weeks later there was the explosion of the car at Logovaz. I 

don't remember the date, it's not important, it could have been three 

weeks later. In any case, Boris Abramovich took them on a temporary 

basis, to look at their work, study them, what kind of lads are they, 

what do they offer, what are they all about, and they started hanging 

around Logovaz. They were not signed up permanently. 

Then the explosion took place. The perpetrators were never 

identified. The driver was killed, the bodyguard was crippled, Bere­

zovsky was wounded. Our incorporation [of Channel 1] was 

stopped; all the documents gathered dust on the shelves. We thought 

that Berezovsky would never return after such a blow ... These lads 

disappeared; we didn't see them anymore. 

In September Berezovsky returned-it could have been August. 

We went to Logovaz and saw the two Sergeis, who are next to Bere­

zovsky, already permanently employed in his organization. The hap­

hazard process of the incorporation came to its logical conclusion 

and finally you signed the decree on the incorporation of Channel 1. 

Mter Vlad Listyev was chosen ... Often meeting with Sokolov 

and Kulishev at Berezovsky's, they were always complaining to me 

that he doesn't let them close to him, that he tells them to leave the 

room when he has visitors, that Berezovsky isn't giving them access to 

all the information and how are they supposed to protect him if he con­

ducts himself in this way and is always visible. [They complained] 

that at Gusinsky's the organization was up and running, that they 

were trying to create one here, but that they were being blocked. And 

he [one of the security agents] was surprised that Vlad had been cho­

sen general director and not me. Vlad was a such and such ... 

Well, to make a long story short, in order not to exhaust you, 

after the murder of Vlad, we swore that we would do everything to, 

first, find out who did it and, second, to take our revenge. How can 

we take our revenge? Only by calling a press conference, making a 

film, writing an article. 
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Now we have come to Korzhak.ov, because we understand that 
what has happened is a coup d'etat. 

This is worse than the White House [the battle over the parlia­
ment in 1993]. This is worse than the GKChP [the 1991 Putsch]. 
This is inside the city. An enormous organization has been created. 
It controls everything-all the Mafia organizations, all the crimi­
nals-decides who should live and who should die ... 

In short, I am certain that this [Listyev's murder] was done by 
these people [the two security agents], on orders from the Most 
Group [Gusinsky]. These people were infiltrated in our midst so 
that we could introduce them to Berezovsky. 

The facts speak for themselves. Boris Nikolaevich, now every­

thing must be done so that the case would be handled personally by 
Korzhakov and the FSB, above all not the police. Because currently 
a theory is being prepared and witnesses are already on hand to the 
effect that Vlad was killed by Berezovsky, and this will continue ... 

This theory appeared tonight. 
[Aside] Wait, Sasha, turn the camera here. It's not important. 

This is for Boris Nikolaevich-he will understand that we are 

nervous. 
When we were called into the prosecutor's office and asked 

questions, we understood that they have only one theory: that the 
murderer is either Berezovsky or his chief deputy, Badri Shavlovich 

[Patarkatsishvili], that all the evidence points only to Berezovsky. 
But we have spent the whole past year all together! We understand 

that this is unrealistic and impossible! Therefore ... Please continue. 
BEREZOVSKY: Good day, Boris Nikolaevich. 

You know that this assassination attempt that was carried out on 
the seventh of June of last year still has not been solved, although 
you gave a clear order to the minister [of internal affairs] to seriously 

undertake this task. 
All the same, from time to time, I was visited by officers of the 

Regional Administration of the Moskvoretsky Region [RUVD-the 
regional administration for internal affairs], who proposed various 

theories. 
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The last time they came was not long ago. They warned me 

ahead of time that they would be coming-this was about three 

weeks ago. They came to me and brought one other person. My vis­

itors were Sergei Lvovich Kozhivin and his assistant. They brought 

with them a person whom they introduced as a thief-professing-the­

code [a gangster boss], and said that this person knew who had or­

dered my assassination the last time and that currently a new 

assassination was being planned. 

In return for telling me who did this, who is planning it cur­

rently, they demanded a guarantee-not they, but this person who was 

the thief-professing-the-code-a guarantee in the form of payment 

and a guarantee in the form of protecting him against future actions 

that could cause problems for him. 

All this was taking place in the presence of officers of the 

Moskvoretsky RUVD and they were the initiators of this meeting. 

I said that I would have to think about it. I asked them what sum 

of money they were thinking about. They mentioned $500,000 and 

said it could be paid in installments. We agreed to meet once more, 

at which time I was supposed to give them their answer. 

I had asked my security agents, Sergei Sokolov and Sergei Kuli­

shev, to record the conversation onto an audiotape and a videotape, 

in order to have proof that I was being blackmailed. So this conver­

sation was recorded on audiotape and videotape by Mr. Sokolov and 

Mr. Kulishev and we agreed to a follow-up meeting at which we 

would discuss the terms of the agreement and the sum of money I 

would pay. 

For the following meeting they once again came to visit me. I 

had collected the money for the meeting-$200,000-and in the 

course of the bargaining session, also recorded on tape, in the pres­

ence of the RUOP [the regional police administration for organized 

crime] officers, Sergei Lvovich Kozhivin and one other officer, I 

handed over a sum of $100,000 to this person by the name of Niko­

lai who had been characterized by the RUOP officers as a thief­

professing-the-code. 
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The transfer of the money took place on the twenty-fifth of 
February. A day before the murder-the first of March-early in 

the morning, I flew to London as part of our delegation led by 
[Prime Minister] Viktor Stepanovich Chernomyrdin. There, in the 
evening, I received news that Vlad Listyev had been murdered. I im­
mediately took a charter flight and returned home. 

Of course at that time I had absolutely no idea about the pre­
ceding events and Vlad's death. 

On Saturday ... Was it Saturday or not when you were flying off 
with Aleksandr Vasilievich [Korzhakov] and Mikhail Ivanovich 

[Barsukov]? Was it Friday? When was the holiday? 
On Friday, when you ... After the memorial service ... While I 

was attending the memorial service for Vlad at Ostankino, I was 
called by my assistants and told that Logovaz is due to be searched 
and visited by the OMON [paramilitary police]. 

I was terribly surprised and turned to Oleg Nikolaevich 
Soskovets, who happened to be right there, asking him to help me con­
tact the Administration of Internal Affairs or the Ministry of Internal 
Affairs so that I could understand what was happening. 

Oleg Nikolaevich got in touch with Viktor Feodorovich Yerin 
[the minister of internal affairs], and Viktor Feodorovich assured 
Oleg Nikolaevich that this was all a misunderstanding and that noth­

ing would happen. 
When I arrived, after the memorial service, at about three 

o'clock in the afternoon, at the office of Logovaz, or rather the visi­
tors' center of Logovaz, I found there armed men from OMON and 
officers who introduced themselves as the officers of RUOP. They 
presented a search warrant and a warrant empowering them to in­
terrogate me in my capacity as a witness. 

I asked them what they were planning to find in the Logovaz vis­

itors' center and why they needed a search warrant. 
To this question, after approximately one hour of discussions, 

they answered that they needed only the corporate charter of Russian 
Public Television [Channel 1]. Of course, this charter of Russian 
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Public Television was immediately presented to them, but all the same, 

it remained completely unclear why this had to be accomplished by a 

group of armed men and why it necessitated a search warrant. 

After this, in the course of nine hours, they engaged in outright 

intimidation and blackmail. Ultimately, they demanded that we go to 

RUOP to give our statements there. Well, this whole affair was al­

ready smelling like a provocation. 

I contacted [acting prosecutor-general Alexei] Ilyushenko, 

through an assistant of Aleksandr Vasilievich Korzhakov, since he 

was absent at the time-he was with you ... I contacted Ilyushenko, 

Ilyushenko gave a direct order to his first deputy, Uzbekov, and Uzbe­

kov immediately telephoned Logovaz and gave a direct order to the 

RUOP officers there not to take me and my deputy, Badri, to the po­

lice station, but to take our statements here, in place. 

Still, they failed to execute this order of Mr. Uzbekov and this in­

timidation continued for nine hours. 

LESNEVSKAYA: Logovaz was surrounded by armed ... 

BEREZOVSKY: In the course of all this time, Logovaz was sur­

rounded by a group of armed men, and so on and so forth. 

Now, yesterday, NTV aired a program, Itogi, where essentially or, 

shall we say, in thinly veiled fashion, I was identified as the person who 

both masterminded and executed the murder of Vlad Listyev. And 

correspondingly it became clear that this theory had been developed 

not recently-it was all prepared ahead of time. Already, according 

to other sources, there was a thief-professing-the-code sitting in jail 

who had made a declaration that my deputy, Mr. Patarkatsishvili, 

contracted for Vlad's murder and that only due to the fact that this 

thief-professing-the-code had been arrested by the law-enforcement 

agencies was he unable to fulfill the contract. 

From this it becomes absolutely clear that all of this has been 

planned ahead of time, since this man had been arrested before 

Vlad's murder, and therefore the source of all these actions now be­

comes completely clear. 

Boris Nikolaevich, I personally have no doubts that all this is a 

provocation. 
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Boris Nikolaevich, I would like to draw your attention to the fact 

that when you are absent from Moscow, when there is no one in 

Moscow who is close to you, Moscow sinks into absolute lawless­

ness. Nothing could have stopped these people from their unques­

tionably lawless actions. 

At that time, Radio Liberty ... the representatives of Radio Lib­

erty ... were present in the offices of Logovaz and generally they too 

witnessed this whole shameful affair. 

At that time, in the course of that whole time, Valentin Yumashev 

was present as well; he saw it all with his own eyes and undoubtedly 

will tell you all about it. 

But the most important thing, Boris Nikolaevich ... The most 

important thing, Boris Nikolaevich, I would like to say that realisti­

cally it is very difficult to tell nowadays who is the real authority. I am 

not telling you this to egg you on in that action that you have already 

decided to take. By now this is completely insufficient. Boris Niko­

laevich, you no longer rule in Moscow. Moscow is ruled by scum! 

Boris Nikolaevich, I do not doubt your intentions, your endless 

dedication to the tasks which you perform. But your people are 

being set up. One by one, your people are being eliminated from 

under you. 

Thank you. 

LESNEVSKAYA: I would like to continue. 

Boris Nikolaevich, we, the assembled bankers and independent 

TV companies, did not unite in vain. We wanted to make Channell 

into a channel that would be inaccessible to the Mafiya, into a presi­

dential channel, your channel, Boris Nikolaevich, because we believe 

myou. 
I know that two years ago, when I made a documentary about 

you and then a second one, I know that I got on all the lists. On the 

first day as soon as the power in the country changes, we will be 

eliminated. 
Four times I refused to make a documentary about Luzhkov. 

The orders and various telephone calls continue to this day. 

I have no doubts that this theoretical construct, this jesuitical 
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plan to murder Vlad was thought up and executed by the Most 

Group, by Mr. Gusinsky, by Mr. Luzhkov and that organization that 

is supporting them-the enormous pyramid with all its branches­

the former KGB. 

Who benefits from all this? Very simple. To whom, Boris Niko­

laevich, did you give that TV channel? These are people who killed 

the standard-bearer, the best journalist in the country! And you, 

meanwhile, fire Pankratov, fire Ponomarev ... It's these people who are 

your enemies. 

And so Luzhkov at last ... 

The country is outraged. "Get rid of all the power ministers! Get 

rid of Yeltsin!" And you no longer have a leg to stand on. They 

have identified the murderer-Berezovsky and Badri Shavlovich 

[Patarkatsishvili] ... 

The theory is fantastically jesuitical, but it's convincing. This is 

more than a coup d'etat. 

Therefore, I turn to you, Boris Nikolaevich, a person whom I 

trust, notwithstanding the many disappointments of the past several 

years. I love your family and your wife, and I know that she, too, is 

partial to me. Therefore, I am turning to the family-! have one 

son ... We did a very interesting thing. We wanted to create a good 

TV channel, in order to free it from the filth, from the Mafiya and from 

the stench that is now boiling up in Ostankino. 

I ask you: Listen to the end to everything we have told you and 
take measures. 

Thank you. 



APPENDIX II 
The Yeltsin Campaign Covers Up 

On June 19, 1996, two workers from the Yeltsin campaign, Arkady 

Yevstafyev and Sergei Lisovsky, were arrested by members of General 

Korzhakov's SBP as they were trying to smuggle a box with $500,000 

in cash from Russian government headquarters (the White House). 

The next day, General Korzhakov was fired. 

With only two weeks to go before the final round of the presi­

dential elections, the Yeltsin campaign was anxious to cover up the 

box-of-cash incident. The campaign was terrified that Korzhakov 

would expose the mass corruption that had surrounded their cam­

paign. The following conversation took place in the President Hotel 

(the headquarters of the Yeltsin campaign) on June 22, 1996, among 

campaign managers Anatoly Chubais, Viktor ilyushin, and Sergei 

Zverev. The conversation was secretly taped by someone close to 

General Korzhakov's SBP. 

The tape, which was later deemed authentic by the prosecutor­

general's office, illustrates not only the mentality of the Yeltsin en­

tourage during the election campaign, but also the ease with which 

they ordered the law-enforcement authorities to derail the investiga­

tion and toe the Party line. The following is an excerpt from the 

conversation. 

337 
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CHUBAIS: I'm telling you. The language here must be completely un­

ambiguous. We have to tell [Korzhakov] to his face: Either your guys 

shut up or we'll throw them in prison. That's all. We have so much ev­

idence, together with documentation, that there will be enough for 

each of them to get fifteen years. All the blood, all the looting that 

they're responsible for. To the last detail. And it [the evidence] is in 

pretty secure locations. Many locations. If anything happens to any of 

us, we will publish this material immediately. I personally drew up the 

plan two months ago, worked it out to the last detail, because I knew 

whom I was dealing with. Now the picture is the following: Either 

they shut up or I'll throw them in prison. That is absolutely certain. You 

can tell that to them personally from me, as a greeting. 

ILYUSHIN: I do not fit this role and therefore I won't do it. Will 

Berezovsky be able to do it? After all, he is sort of in contact with 

them. He's friendly with them. 

ZVEREV: No, no. We shouldn't pick on Berezovsky. Over there he's 

well [unintelligible]. 

ILYUSHIN: I understand it this way: If I am fired tomorrow, I will be 

beyond the Kremlin wall and won't be able to enter into any doors. 

But what forces do they still have after they have been relieved of 

their duties? Who is helping them operate? Are they doing it just by 

themselves? Or do they have this whole apparatus still functioning 

under their command? 

CHUBAIS: First of all, of course, it is still functioning without their 

leadership. Secondly, Aleksandr Vasilievich [Korzhakov]. There is a 

rumor that in July he is going to be returned to his post. The same 

Krapivin [head of the Federal Guard Service] ... 

ILYUSHIN: Under the orders of Chernomyrdin? 

CHUBAIS: I doubt it. According to the witness statement ... 

ILYUSHIN: Yes, but what happened there ... What do we do with the 

Boss [Yeltsin]? We have to talk to him. 

ZVEREV: We have to finish the job. 

CHUBAIS: Arkady Yevstafyev understood the situation perfectly. 

He understood perfectly well the risks he was taking. Absolutely and 
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clearly. He didn't even pose any questions. A completely reliable guy. 

[Unintelligible] yesterday with a box of a million dollars. 

ILYUSHIN: Lisovsky? 

CHUBAIS: No, Arkady. About Lisovsky [unintelligible] in this 

scheme. It is precisely Lisovsky who should withdraw into the shad­

ows. Yevstafyev was carrying out ... It was decided: Forward! H we 

consider [unintelligible] that person. It's clear that he is obligated to 

sacrifice himself, but in such a way that all this ... 

ILYUSHIN: I told the Boss, when I was talking with him yesterday. I 

told him: "Boris Nikolaevich, right now, if you wanted to, you could 

catch fifteen to twenty individuals next to the President Hotel who 

are carrying out-carrying suitcases [of cash] out of our building." 

He was sitting with a stone expression. I told him: "Because if we 

begin to account for the money passing through informal channels, 

we wouldn't be able to hold the elections. Therefore, we haven't had 

any interruptions so far, but to organize [unintelligible] is simple 

enough." The president answered: "I understand." 

CHUBAIS: We, the people who support the president, would lay our 

heads down for him. Literally. 

ILYUSHIN: This is what I have to suggest. You, Anatoly Borisovich 

[Chubais], have a talk with him, keeping in mind certain details of 

yours. I will talk with the Boss on Monday as well. While, with respect 

to the basic ... I will report to him, first of all, that I had the meeting. 

After all, I went to him for permission to meet with the representa­

tives of the power ministries [the security services, the armed forces]. 

I will tell him that the meetings took place and will say that, in our 

opinion, we have to have a directive from Skuratov [the general 

prosecutor] not to surrender these guys [Yevstafyev and Lisovsky]. 

And to support them, naturally, to control the course of events, so they 

wouldn't end up ruining everything. 

CHUBAIS: At what time are you going to see him? 

ILYUSHIN: I usually talk to him at nine o'clock. 

CHUBAIS: I had better make my report afterward. 

ILYUSHIN: On Tuesday. 
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CHUBAIS: If it were during your meeting, I would make my ap­

pointment later. 

ILYUSHIN: I have an appointment with him at nine o'clock, either 

by telephone or I go to see him ... 

CHUBAIS: I will [unintelligible] call him at the same time. The main 

thing is to take it away from Skuratov [unintelligible] and put it 

under the president's control. 

ILYUSHIN: The twenty-third for me is completely open ... 

ZVEREV: Korabelshchikov [an assistant to Yeltsin] said that ... 

ILYUSHIN: He [Yeltsin] is going on vacation, yes? 

ZVEREV: Yes. 

CHUBAIS: Is he going to be at the office? You're going to meet him 

at the office, right? 

ILYUSHIN: If he's not going to be at the office, I will try to visit him 

at his dacha. For you, it will be even easier to meet with him at the 

dacha, right? 

CHUBAIS: No. He bawled me out the last time. That time with all 

that Chechen business. 

ILYUSHIN: Okay. I will talk it over with him on Monday, either by 

telephone or I'll go see him. 

CHUBAIS: That's very important-whether he's at the office or at 

the dacha. At the office I'll contact him directly, but at the dacha I 

won't contact him. So let's coordinate our actions, Viktor Vasilievich. 

What you wanted to say was [unintelligible] to protect these guys. 

The FSB must be given an order to protect them. Krapivin must be 

given an order to protect them, so that they would know that it is the 

president who is ordering it. With respect to the prosecutor­

general-a request for him to hand over the complete set of docu­

ments for [unintelligible] of the president. 

ILYUSHIN: And we keep them ourselves ... 

CHUBAIS: Our comrades1 were doing our job for us, they were tak­

ing on the riskiest part of it, put their skins on the line ... 

ILYUSHIN: I am talking in general. Because they had a question: 

What are we going to do with Sobchak? I said-exactly the same 

thing. 
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CHUBAIS: Who exactly had this question? 

ILYUSHIN: Skuratov. I said: "Until July 3, we don't need any noise." 

ZVEREV: We have to divide our tasks into two parts. There's noise 

here because of the elections. And the personal security of these toil­

ers2 also probably needs to be guaranteed in some way. 

ILYUSHIN: I raised this question, but only having the preelection 

period in mind. I have to tell you honestly that I did not discuss what 

will happen after the elections, since I am convinced that we will all 

have to make our own way. I can't offer you much help there. 

ZVEREV: If the elections turn out well, we'll have a chance to make 

our way out. 

CHUBAIS: Let's keep in mind the simple things. Hell! They put 

their necks on the line and now we tell them: "Excuse me, after July 3 

you'll have to fend for yourselves." What kind of attitude is that? I 

am categorically opposed to this kind of approach. These people are 

threatened under criminal statutes. Yes, so it turned out that ilyushin 

and Chubais are here and they are over there. But we are the ones who 

sent them there! And not just anybody. 

ILYUSHIN: So, we will work in this direction. 

CHUBAIS: Yes, we must answer for this with our heads. How am I 

going to look them in the eye otherwise? Are you crazy? 

ILYUSHIN: I agree with this formulation of things. 

CHUBAIS: Whatever happens ... So, you did your job and after­

ward we split up, so to speak. What happens afterward-you get 

five years in prison. Sorry, but it happens. It happens to everybody. 

ILYUSHIN: No, maybe I didn't focus the conversation on this, but I 

fully support this position and perhaps in this case I didn't figure out 

my point of view well. Of course, I will certainly continue my dis­

cussions with Skuratov about this. That's the right thing to do. 

CHUBAIS: There is a key question: Should we prevent the transfer 

of documents to Skuratov? 

ILYUSHIN: But we won't be able to do anything. When I got a call 

from Trofimov [head of the Moscow FSB] yesterday, he told me that 

I [Trofimov] am obliged to transfer the documents. 

CHUBAIS: I don't believe Trofimov. Not a single word he says. 
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ILYUSHIN: When I spoke with Skuratov today I didn't ask any 

questions. He said that today all the documents will be transferred 

to him. 

CHUBAIS: Trofimov organized it all personally. I spoke with Trofimov 

at one o'clock in the morning, at the time when all this was taking 

place. He lied to me that they didn't know who Lisovsky was, while 

Yevstafyev had perhaps been detained a little bit, but he would be re­

leased any moment. 

ILYUSHIN: I can tell you more about Trofimov. As far as I know, he 

was fighting with Barsukov [former head of the FSB] almost from 

the beginning. But Trofimov, as a military man, was obliged to carry 

out the orders of his superior. I wouldn't yet strike Trofimov from 

the list of the people who can smooth out the situation, although, of 

course, I can't guarantee anything. 

CHUBAIS: I have no doubt that Trofimov is on the other side of the 

barricades. I don't know what kind of relations he had with Bar­

sukov, but I have no doubts that he is an enemy who wants to destroy 

us. This was completely obvious from his attitude toward us. I had a 

personal conversation with him at one o'clock in the morning. It was 

completely clear what position he was taking. 

ILYUSHIN: But we won't be able to block the transfer of the docu­

ments to the prosecutor's office if the prosecutor's office requests 

them. 

CHUBAIS: Why? First there is the [unintelligible] of the president to 

Skuratov. Second, the directive to Kovalev [the director of the FSB] 

to string things along. That's all. 

ILYUSHIN: The fact that it will be strung along-that's without a 

doubt. But the transfer [of the documents from the FSB to the pros­

ecutor's office] will already take place today. 

CHUBAIS: But in the prosecutor's office, there is Ilyukhin [Viktor 

llyukhin, one of the leaders of the Communist Party, chairman of the 

Duma Security Committee and a former member of the prosecutor's 

collegium] and he has the run of the place there. 

ILYUSHIN: What if I ask Skuratov to keep the documents to himself? 

[Ilyushin calls Skuratov on the phone.] 
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ILYUSHIN: Yuri llyich, a question has come up: Is it possible to 

arrange things so that the documents that you will be receiving from 

Trofimov not be seen by anyone but you? That they stay with you for 

a certain period of time, until you have had a chance to get ac­

quainted with them and talked everything over with Boris Nikolae­

vich [Yeltsin]. 

[Skuratov answers.] 

ILYUSHIN: It must be done precisely in this way. Because we have 

information that if anyone else of your staff handles it, this informa­

tion would very quickly find its way into the camp of our opponents. 

[Skuratov answers.] 

ILYUSHIN: Yes, it would be best if you keep it yourself. Don't let 

anyone start investigating it. And then we'll decide. Okay? Because 

this is what we want. 

[Telephone conversation ends.] 

CHUBAIS: What if, at the second stage, we were to ask Boris Niko­

laevich [Yeltsin] ... 

ILYUSHIN: To bury it completely? 

CHUBAIS: No, to ask Skuratov to send him the documents so that 

he could analyze them. To demand the full package of documents. 
ILYUSHIN: Good idea. [Laughs.] 

CHUBAIS: And then let [Skuratov] try to ask for them back ... 

ILYUSHIN: You have to understand that my relations with him 

[Yeltsin? Skuratov?] are also, so to speak, formal. I can't tell him 

what I would tell to any old person. 

CHUBAIS: I understand. 

ILYUSHIN: Moreover, I know that Skuratov has been very heavily 

influenced by the guys [Korzhakov and Barsukov]. 

CHUBAIS: Yesterday, Barsukov's guys tried all day to get through on 

the various TV networks. 

ZVEREV: Television has been closed to them, but the radio ... 
CHUBAIS: I'll ask Boris Nikolaevich [Yeltsin] as well. 

ILYUSHIN: That's the best. Because he has been informed of every­
thing. You have a different level of trust with him. I am somewhat on 

the sidelines in your relations. 



344 GODFATHER OF THE KREMLIN 

CHUBAIS: Generally, Skuratov is reasonable enough. He's not the 

problem. The problem is in the prosecutor's office and generally. 

ILYUSHIN: All the better that we worked all these things out ahead 

of time. 

CHUBAIS: We have to find a means of getting in touch with Kor­

zhakov and Barsukov, so we can explain the situation to them clearly 

and unambiguously: Either they conduct themselves like regular fel­

lows or we will throw them in prison. Because this continuation of the 

conflict at such a critical time will simply lead to ... 

ILYUSHIN: They haven't calmed down, have they? 

CHUBAIS: See for yourself. The information is coming to the sur­

face. Where else could it be coming from? 

ILYUSHIN: How would they organize a channel for this informa­

tion? Let's think about it. Who are they using? 

ZVEREV: What about Georgi Georgievich [Rogozin, the deputy to 

Korzhakov]? 

CHUBAIS: That's for sure. 

ILYUSHIN: That's for sure. 

CHUBAIS: He's gotten so cocky that now he's started hinting that 

the FSB should be given over to them ... 

ILYUSHIN: I will say that he [Rogozin] is conducting himself ... Of 

course, he is working for several intelligence agencies at the same 

time, but he is judging things too harshly ... 

[End of tape.] 
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NOTES 

Unless otherwise noted, the interviews cited in this book were con­

ducted by the author. The simple notation "Berezovsky interview," for 

example, refers to the author's interview with Berezovsky. "Bere­

zovsky interview with Kommersant-Dazty," however, refers to his in­

terview with the newspaper. 

In cases of multiple citations for a single paragraph, the order in 

which the citations appear is deliberate. The first citation typically 

refers to the first significant fact or assertion mentioned in the para­

graph, the second citation to the second assertion, and so on. If sev­

eral citations refer to a single assertion in the paragraph, they are 

presented in order of importance, with the most important source 

coming first. 

For a more extensive description of the sources cited in this 

book, see the List of Sources. 
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